

Sweden's Ban on Sex-Purchase Morality politics and the governance of prostitution Östergren, Petra

2024

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Östergren, P. (2024). Sweden's Ban on Sex-Purchase: Morality politics and the governance of prostitution. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Sociology, Social Anthropology]. MediaTryck Lund.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

• Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or recognise.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



Morality politics and the governace of prostitution

PETRA ÖSTERGREN
SOCIAL ANTHROPOLOGY | FACULTY OF SOCIAL SCIENCES | LUND UNIVERSITY



Sweden's Ban on Sex-Purchase

THE 1999 SWEDISH BAN on sex-purchase has been hotly debated in politics, the media, and academia. This study focuses on the attention the ban has received as an unprecedented approach to governing prostitution, the highly polarised political environment in which it exists, and the multiple political-legal contradictions it displays. Using material gathered through a multisited method from 2009 through 2019, social anthropologist Petra Östergren shows that the offence is a variant of traditional anti-prostitution laws and argues that its distinctive and puzzling features are comprehensible within the framework of morality politics.

THE THESIS REFINES the concept of morality politics, offering new insights into how issues like prostitution, homosexuality, abortion, and drug use are perceived, discussed, and governed in liberal democracies. Östergren suggests these are 'consensual crimes' rooted in religious

notions of sin and seen as risks to social order. These issues are typically addressed by repressive, restrictive, or integrative policy models that seek either to reform those engaged in marginalised practices or to grant them civil rights. The study demonstrates that Sweden's ambivalent civic and legal stance toward sex workers reflects an exclusionary logic, linking it to the historically subordinate status of women's labour and state punishment of 'sinners'.









Sweden's Ban on Sex-Purchase

Morality politics and the governance of prostitution

Petra Östergren



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Sociology at Lund University to be publicly defended on 13th of December at 9.00 in G:a köket, Allhelgona Kyrkogata 8, Lund.

Faculty opponent
Professor Sara Johnsdotter
Malmö University

Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY

Document name: PhD Theis
Date of issue 13 December 2024

Author(s): Petra Östergren Sponsoring organization:

Title and subtitle: Sweden's Ban on Sex-Purchase. Morality politics and the governance of

prostitution.

Abstract:

This essay thesis examines Sweden's 1999 ban on purchasing sexual services, considering the attention it received as an unprecedented approach to governing prostitution, the highly polarised political environment in which it exists, and the multiple legal contradictions it displays. Using material gathered through a multisited method from 2009 through 2019, the study shows that the offence is a variant of other anti-prostitution laws directed at sex workers and their clients. Moreover, the thesis argues that the highly charged emotions surrounding the ban, as well as its conflicts and contradictions, are comprehensible if analysed within the framework of morality politics.

The thesis contributes empirically to studies of prostitution policy, theoretically to the conception of morality politics, and methodologically to the anthropological analysis of law and policy. It proposes an empirically grounded typology of prostitution policies: the repressive, aimed at eliminating the sex industry through punitive measures; the restrictive, permitting the trade to operate under strict conditions, regulated by both criminal and civil law; and the integrative, which does not criminalise consensual sex work but regulates the industry and protects sex workers through sector-specific labour and trade legislation. Its major theoretical contribution is a refinement of the concept of morality politics that offers new insights into how issues such as prostitution, homosexuality, abortion, and drug use are perceived, discussed, and governed in liberal democracies. These all involve 'consensual crimes' rooted in religious notions of sin and regarded as posing a risk to social order. They are typically addressed by the three distinct policy models, while the governance agenda either seeks to reform those who engage in these marginalised practices or to grant them equal civil rights. Empirically, the thesis demonstrates that the ambivalent legal and civic status of sex workers in Sweden is based on an exclusionary logic inherent in all anti-prostitution law, suggesting a link to the historically subordinate position of women's work, as well as to the discriminatory treatment of 'sinners' and other social outliers.

These conclusions are the result of following the sex-purchase ban over a long time and across four related socio-legal domains: established law, political discourse, policy implementation, and impact, including a close scrutiny of how the ban relates to general legal principles and rules according to the source of law. The thesis consists of six introductory and summary chapters, two published articles, and two essays that have not yet been published.

Key words: morality politics, prostitution policy, sex-purchase ban, Sweden

Classification system and/or index terms (if any)

Supplementary bibliographical information

Language English Number of pages:

ISBN: 978-91-8104-159-0 (print) 978-91-8104-160-6 (pdf)

Recipient's notes Price Security classification

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature Date 2024-10-31

Sweden's Ban on Sex-Purchase

Morality politics and the governance of prostitution

Petra Östergren



Copyright Petra Östergren

Paper 1 © Routledge

Paper 2 © Sage

Paper 3 © by Petra Östergren. Unpublished manuscript.

Paper 4 © by Petra Östergren. Unpublished manuscript.

Faculty of Social Sciences
Department of Sociology, the Division of Social Anthropology

ISBN 978-91-8104-159-0 (print)
ISBN 978-91-8104-160-6 (pdf)
ISSN 1101-9948 Monographs in Social Anthropology 28

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2024





Table of Contents

Abstract	12
Abbreviations	13
List of papers	14
Preface: My research trajectory	15
Previous findings and conclusions	17
Studying prostitution policy again	19
'You've gone native!'	20
A new direction	
Developing a policy typology	23
Turning to law	24
Taking my time	
The results of the thesis	28
1. Introducing the study: Research questions and key terms	30
Peculiarities and contradictions	32
Aims, central questions and conclusions	35
The thesis's anthropological approaches	37
Outline of the thesis	38
The chapters	38
The articles	
Key terms	45
Sex work or prostitution?	
Consent in law versus life	
Repressive – restrictive – integrative	51

2. Understanding the ban: Disciplinary and political contexts	53
Anthropological studies of sex work	55
Social science scholarship on prostitution	58
Previous studies of the sex-purchase ban	59
Legal studies of the ban	59
Social science studies of the ban	64
Two distinct perspectives on the sex trade	
Two takes on the ban	66
My approach	68
Why the ban was instituted and what it means	
New conclusions raise new questions	71
3. Morality politics and prostitution law: Theoretical frameworks and concepts .	.76
Common concepts and frameworks	
Neoliberalism, carceral feminism and governmentality	77
Moral panic	79
Morality politics	80
Definitions in the field	81
My analytical approach and terminology	
Benefits of the framework	84
My definition of morality politics	86
The issues of morality politics	
The governance of morality politics	
Theoretical insights and new questions	94
4. To 'follow' a law: Methods and materials	99
A multisited method and its concepts	00
Following what, where?1	01
Achieving depth1	02
Studying a law through its different domains	04
Domains and materials1	05
The domain of law1	
The domain of discourse	
The domain of implementation	12
The domain of impact	
Concrete contributions this method made possible 1	14

Doing research in a highly politicised field
Representativeness
Hostility toward researchers
Theoretical insights from this stigmatised field 124
My political stand
5. Banning sex-purchase in Sweden: The historical regulation
of prostitution and the development of the new offence
The historical regulation of prostitution
Prohibition: From the 18th century to the mid-19th century 128
Restriction: From the mid-19th century to the early 20th century.130
Relative laissez-faire: From the early 20th century to the 1980s 131
The policy pendulum
The origins of the ban on purchasing sex
Civil society movements: The shift to repression
in the 1970s and 1980s
Female MPs unite: The sex-purchase ban gains approval 137
The Swedish legislative process
Combining normative rules and pragmatic,
extraordinary strategies
The multiple forces and actors behind the ban
Two decades with the ban
Increased state repression
Emerging criticism and resistance
An uneven battle
6. The articles
Article I. Sweden
Article II. From zero tolerance to full integration:
Rethinking prostitution policies
Article III. At the crossroads of destruction and civilisation:
Morality politics and the Swedish ban on buying sex
Article IV: 'What if it were your daughter?'
Ambivalence and belonging in prostitution law

7. Conclusions: Toward an anthropological theory of morality politics 269				
Acceptance and critiques of this project	271			
Contributions and further research	275			
Acknowledgements	282			
References	285			

Abstract

This essay thesis examines Sweden's 1999 ban on purchasing sexual services, considering the attention it received as an unprecedented approach to governing prostitution, the highly polarised political environment in which it exists, and the multiple legal contradictions it displays. Using material gathered through a multisited method from 2009 through 2019, the study shows that the offence is a variant of other anti-prostitution laws directed at sex workers and their clients. Moreover, the thesis argues that the highly charged emotions surrounding the ban, as well as its conflicts and contradictions, are comprehensible if analysed within the framework of morality politics.

The thesis contributes empirically to studies of prostitution policy, theoretically to the conception of morality politics, and methodologically to the anthropological analysis of law and policy. It proposes an empirically grounded typology of prostitution policies: the repressive, aimed at eliminating the sex industry through punitive measures; the restrictive, permitting the trade to operate under strict conditions, regulated by both criminal and civil law; and the integrative, which does not criminalise consensual sex work but regulates the industry and protects sex workers through sector-specific labour and trade legislation. Its major theoretical contribution is a refinement of the concept of morality politics that offers new insights into how issues such as prostitution, homosexuality, abortion, and drug use are perceived, discussed, and governed in liberal democracies. These all involve 'consensual crimes' rooted in religious notions of sin and regarded as posing a risk to social order. They are typically addressed by the three distinct policy models, while the governance agenda either seeks to reform those who engage in these marginalised practices or to grant them equal civil rights. Empirically, the thesis demonstrates that the ambivalent legal and civic status of sex workers in Sweden is based on an exclusionary logic inherent in all anti-prostitution law, suggesting a link to the historically subordinate position of women's work, as well as to the discriminatory treatment of 'sinners' and other social outliers.

These conclusions are the result of following the sex-purchase ban over a long time and across four related socio-legal domains: established law, political discourse, implementation, and impact, including a close scrutiny of how the ban relates to general legal principles and rules according to the source of law. The thesis consists of six introductory and summary chapters, two published articles, and two essays that have not yet been published.

Key words: morality politics, prostitution policy, sex-purchase ban, Sweden

Abbreviations

DemandAT The research project Demand-Side Measures Against Trafficking

Jämy The Swedish Gender Equality Agency

(Jämställdhetsmyndigheten)

LGBTQ+ Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Queer/Questioning,

plus other sexual orientations and gender identities not covered

by the letters in the acronym.

NGO Non-Governmental Organisation

NMT The Task Force Against Prostitution and Human Trafficking

(Nationella metodstödet mot prostitution och människohandel)

RFSU The National Association for Sexuality Education

(Riksförbundet för sexuell upplysning)

RFSL The National Association for Sexual Equality (Riksförbundet för

sexuellt likaberättigande)

Roks The National Organisation for Women's Shelters

(Riksorganisationen för kvinnor och flickor i Sverige)

S-kvinnorna The Social Democratic Women's Association

List of papers

Paper I

Östergren P (2018) Sweden. In: Jahnsen SØ and Wagenaar H (eds) Assessing prostitution policies in Europe. Routledge, pp. 169–184.

Paper II

Östergren P (2020) From zero tolerance to full integration: Rethinking prostitution policies. In: Davy Z, Santos AC, and Bertone C, et al. (eds) *The SAGE handbook of global sexualities*. SAGE Publications, pp. 569–599.

Paper III

Östergren P (manuscript unpublished) At the crossroads of destruction and civilisation: Morality politics and the Swedish ban on buying sex.

Status: Revising for submission.

Paper IV

Östergren P (manuscript unpublished) 'What if it were your daughter?' Ambivalence and belonging in prostitution law.

Status: Revise and resubmit.

Preface: My research trajectory

I first heard that Sweden was about to criminalise the purchase of sexual services just a few months before the bill was presented in Parliament in 1998. Like most Swedish feminists at the time, I believed prostitution was a bad thing, although I lacked actual knowledge of the sex trade. Yet, I thought there was something peculiar about the offence and the discourse around it. Only the act of paying for sex was to be criminalised. The politicians and civil society actors who advocated the ban sought to punish men who purchased sexual services for the unjust gender order that prostitution epitomised, without negatively affecting women who sold sex. That assertion did not seem correct. If the customers were criminalised, surely the women would also be affected, since the police would monitor and hinder their business. I wondered, what did the women themselves think?¹

When I looked into the issue, I discovered that the views of sex workers were not represented in the legislative preparatory work for the ban or in political and public debate. Although the proposed law was criticised by major consultative bodies because they feared it would complicate the women's situation, it was nonetheless adopted by Parliament. The Social Democrats, the country's largest party, endorsed the ban, and with the Left and Green parties they had a parliamentary majority.

I brought up the question with an acquaintance, Anna. We had socialised in queer settings, and she had been open about her experiences. She sighed and laughed at my naivety. Things would get worse for the women who sold sex when the ban was introduced, she said. Did I not understand what it was like to be a 'whore' in Sweden? 'Here, it doesn't matter what a prostitute says and what impact the laws have on us', she declared.

The puzzling features of the ban and of its approval piqued my interest in the country's prostitution policy, an engagement that has continued for over two decades.

¹ All translations of works originally published in Swedish are my own, unless otherwise indicated.

As an author who was identified with feminism and taught self-defence to women, I was a public figure who had access to the media, especially as so few came forward to oppose the sex-purchase ban (see Gould 2001). Both as an individual and together with sex workers, I wrote articles and participated in TV and radio debates where we appealed to politicians to reconsider their position and allow sex workers to participate in the decision-making process about a policy that directly concerned them (see, for example, Andersson and Östergren 1998a, 1998b). It soon became apparent that our effort was futile. The political direction was set. Sex workers began to organise for the first time in Sweden since the 1970s, and I became more interested in understanding the ban itself and its hegemony in the Swedish debate. As my acquaintance had suggested, there was significantly more political leeway in other countries for sex workers' voices to be heard. Additionally, countries such as Germany and the Netherlands were moving to decriminalise aspects of the sex trade. Most Swedish legislators strongly opposed the idea, being convinced the ban would help to counteract what they saw as 'the destructive forces' in society (SOU 1995:15, 227). They described prostitution as 'evil', a threat to a modern, 'civilised', and egalitarian society because it is associated with poverty, drugs, and violence, consists of an unequal transaction, and harms the relationship between men and women in general (Messing and Wallström 1999; RP 1997/98:55, 100; Sahlin 1995).

Resuming my studies in social anthropology, which I had paused a few years earlier, I examined the equality premises that were the stated reason for such a one-sided penal provision and the arguments about sex, gender, and prostitution expressed in the preparatory works that formed the basis for the sex-purchase ban (Östergren 1999). In another study, I explored the inherent paradoxes in Swedish prostitution policy (Östergren 2003). Why did policymakers advocate for the criminalisation of buying sexual services in the name of feminism, despite the policy negatively affecting sex workers? And why did Sweden tighten its antiprostitution policy while other countries liberalised theirs? Here I examined policy material for the period 1997-2002, including parliamentary motions, party manifestos, and other texts by the parliamentary parties, public bodies, and NGOs in the field; and statements by politicians, officials, and NGO representatives and by the ban's advocates, such as intellectuals, psychologists, and scholars. I also interviewed some 15 sex workers in Sweden to gauge how the sex-purchase ban and other legislation and policies affected them and to elicit their views on Swedish prostitution policy. I went on to explore these questions in a book for a

general audience (Östergren 2006). By then, I sought to understand the emotionally charged nature of the debate and the breadth of support for this measure. In addition to prostitution policy, this study encompassed the debates about pornography and other forms of sex commerce from the mid-1970s to the mid-2000s and included more interviews with sex workers as well as authorities and politicians.

Previous findings and conclusions

I identified three major waves of grassroots movements against pornography and prostitution since the mid-1970s that were not only influential discursively, but also led to strict regulation of sex clubs, harsher punishment for procuring, and bans on violent erotica, as well as the ban on sex-purchase. The first wave in the mid-1970s was led by leftist and women's organisations, as well as many Christian groups, and criticised all forms of commercial sex. The second wave, which emerged in the mid-1980s, focused primarily on pornography, and included both sexual health advocates and radical feminist organisations. The third wave, in the early 2000s, aimed to eradicate both prostitution and pornography. In contrast to earlier campaigns, this wave was led by women in high official and political positions.

Despite some differences in emphasis and rhetoric, the same arguments against porn and prostitution recurred: they lack the emotional components good sex ought to have, or are based on violence and the degradation of women; they have damaging consequences, as women are harmed, relationships between men and women deteriorate, and equality in gender relations is hindered; they are caused by social ills, as women who sell sex have a troubled past, or are forced to do so by economic necessity; they are a consequence of a capitalist and unequal society that commodifies women; and the sex industry itself involves exploitation, coercion and abuse and is a large, profit-hungry enterprise.

Drawing on Gayle Rubin's (1992) well-known contribution to anthropological and feminist research on sexuality, I showed how these arguments could be understood as expressions of axiomatic ideas that, according to Rubin, tend to reappear in both conservative and radical political contexts. While their rhetoric may differ, the core ideas are based on the same principles and tend to reproduce existing norms. For instance, 'hierarchical systems of sexual value' protect and

privilege some sexualities, while others are rendered invisible, stigmatised, and prohibited by 'sex laws'. Rubin identifies sexual essentialism, the belief in a natural sexuality differing for men and women; 'sex negativity', which judges all forms of non-normative sexual behaviour by its worst examples; and a 'domino theory of sexual peril', the notion that something seemingly harmless can escalate into chaos, necessitating strict boundaries between sexual order and societal disorder.

These ideas permeated Swedish anti-porn and anti-prostitution discourses. For instance, 'good' sexuality is linked to love, intimacy, and genuine human connection, requiring mutuality and responsibility, rather than a temporary transaction between strangers. Behind what the politicians who supported the ban considered to be a new ideology of gender equality lay traditional notions of gender and sexuality, which feminists have long challenged. The same applies to the perceived need to strengthen the repression of prostitution to combat the threat posed by other countries' more liberal legislation.

I demonstrated that the exclusion of sex workers' critical voices helped to establish a consensus opinion favouring the ban. Sex workers' views were either not represented or were distorted. As social psychologist Gail Pheterson (1996) noted, the pervasive stigma surrounding prostitution led policymakers and feminists to fail to stand in solidarity with sex workers or even recognise the harms being done to them. Furthermore, policymakers justified the Swedish policy by invoking a radical feminist definition of prostitution as a form of male violence against women. This ideology regarding commercial sex was presented as self-evident, effectively marginalising alternative viewpoints and rendering them incomprehensible.

Instead, I argued that we should understand the Swedish policy on commercial sex in terms of its symbolic meanings (Shore and Wright 1997). I suggested that the prostitution policy was used to reinforce a sense of Sweden's national identity as morally superior to the rest of Europe, a view articulated by anthropologist Don Kulick (2003) in his parallel work on the sex-purchase ban. Finally, I proposed that the policy, as well as the long-standing grassroots resistance to commercial sex, could be seen as a means of creating security for women. Anthropologist Carol Vance (1992b) has argued that the essentialist understanding of male sexuality as aggressive, uncontrollable, and easily provoked leads the women's movement to control public expressions of male sexuality by emphasising women's vulnerability. For many Swedish feminists and women policymakers, this approach resulted in calls to repress all forms of commercial sex. These strong

symbolic values, rather than practical considerations, rendered the policy's contradictions irrelevant, and the harm it causes to sex workers and its lack of concrete results seemed beside the point.

As one of the few Swedish feminists to openly present a critical analysis of the sex-purchase ban and national prostitution policy, my work gained attention at home and abroad. I was interviewed and spoke at meetings and seminars in Sweden and elsewhere. While that was satisfying, it was also exhausting. Prostitution and its governance are highly charged issues, which are academically interesting, but what anthropologist Susan Dewey (2013: 4) describes as a 'hotly contested political and ideological terrain' can become burdensome, as many feminists at the 1982 Barnard conference on sexuality had experienced (Vance 1992a; but see also Hammond and Kingston 2014; Ward and Wylie 2014). I vowed never to engage in the issue again. Yet things took a different turn because my book gained attention in the academic world.

A professor who reviewed the book wondered why I had not produced it as a PhD thesis. I responded that I doubted that any university would accept work that was so controversial and that funding would be available. He assured me that admission and a grant would be available. And so it was.

Studying prostitution policy again

Given the attention my work had received and the antagonism expressed by policymakers in Sweden, I thought it best to examine what happened in other countries. In 2008, Norway and Iceland voted to introduce a similar criminal offence, while Finland had introduced a ban on buying sexual services from people subjected to human trafficking in 2006. Several studies were underway in the Nordic region (see Bernstein 2010a; Bucken-Knapp et al. 2009; Danna 2012; Dodillet 2009; Erikson 2011; Holmström et al. 2008; Mattson 2015; Scoular 2015; Skilbrei and Holmström 2016). I intended to focus on what happened when the ban was considered far beyond its geographical, cultural, and political origins in Nordic countries.

My research plan was to examine how the offence was framed and changed when it was proposed in new cultural settings, a strategy that was common in legal and policy anthropology at the time (see Clark et al. 2015; Merry 2006a; Shore et al. 2011). It turned out that the countries I investigated – Australia, Italy, New

Zealand, Taiwan, and Spain – rejected the idea as a national policy. It was not until 2014 that a country outside the Nordic region, Canada, introduced client criminalisation (followed by Northern Ireland in 2015, France in 2016, Ireland 2017, and Israel in 2018). Why so few countries adopted the Swedish policy was not a suitable research question. I needed a new approach.

'You've gone native!'

Ever since the sex-purchase ban was introduced, Swedish legislators and its proponents have made much of its uniqueness, claiming it was the first time a one-sided anti-prostitution law was introduced in the world.

It is a unique day, wrote two Social Democratic ministers in an opinion piece in the country's largest evening newspaper, *Aftonbladet*, when the ban came into force on January 1st 1999. This law was something the world had never seen before, they said. That was particularly important to Swedish leaders at the time, given the inherently unequal and immoral nature of prostitution and the worrying, liberal policy trend elsewhere in Europe (Messing and Wallström 1999). They touted Sweden's policy as an exemplary advance.

This sentiment was continuously repeated by state authorities and civil society actors engaged in the struggle against commercial sex, especially as sex workers began to openly demand legal change and more feminists allied with them.

In the winter of 2007, I wrote an article together with five other feminists (Bankier et al. 2007), published in the country's second major evening paper, *Expressen*. We wished to draw attention to an upcoming court case involving a sex worker who had brought charges against her former partner for procuring. We were concerned that she might not receive a fair trial, given that her ex-partner was a police officer who was acquitted some years ago in a domestic violence case. At that time, the court believed what he claimed, that they were not in a relationship but that she had manipulated him to have sex with her a couple of times and he acted in self-defence when he tried to make her leave his home one morning (Göteborgs Tingsrätt 2002). This raised doubts about whether the legal system would recognise a sex worker's right to resist harm. We asked if a 'whore' ever can win against a police officer, and called on feminists to stand in solidarity

with sex workers and to collectively advocate for a new prostitution policy that safeguards sex workers from abuse.²

In response, a counter article was published in *Expressen*, which interpreted our goal as normalising prostitution in order to dismantle the ban on purchasing sex. This push for 'legalisation' had to be stopped, it said. The unique ban had to be defended because of its normative effects; it deters Swedish men from purchasing sex. The forty signatories included representatives from all the political women's associations and major trade unions, as well as well-known researchers, business figures, police officers, sports leaders, writers, artists, and pop musicians (Andersson et al. 2007).

Nearly twenty years after the ban's inception, the sentiment was punchily articulated by a well-known feminist opinion maker, Nina Rung.

Our sex-purchase ban is unique in its design because the legislature aimed to protect the most vulnerable individuals. And this is the beauty of it. The sex-purchase ban not only addresses the highly skewed situation where older, wealthier men buy their right to climax from younger, vulnerable, and impoverished women. It also focuses on the safety of these women and their opportunity to receive help. The sex-purchase ban acts as a tool, a Swiss army knife, if you wish. (Rung 2017)

Here Rung, a consultant to authorities on matters of abuse, describes women sex workers in childlike terms, as if they are innocents who are vulnerable to predatory men and in need of rescue, also a common belief among the ban's proponents. But the Swiss army knife that is supposed to shield them is wielded by the police who enforce this criminal law, increasing their vulnerability.

Claims about the uniqueness or necessity of a proposed criminal law are a timeworn way for politicians to gain public support. From a research perspective, assertions about the uniqueness of a penal provision are more troubling. Researchers also talk of the law's exceptionality, regardless of their stance on client criminalisation (see, for example, Eduards 2007; Gould 2001; Kulick 2003; Svanström 2006a). Indeed, I formerly did so myself. Even some years into my doctoral research, when asked what kind of law the ban was, I unhesitatingly responded, 'The sex-purchase ban is unique'. I was a critic of the repressive policy,

² The police officer, who had met the sex worker when he was working in an anti-prostitution unit, was acquitted this time as well, although the chairman of the court wanted him convicted (Göteborgs Tingsrätt 2007).

but I was just as convinced as the Swedish political establishment and research community that this law was unprecedented. When I mentioned this to my supervisor, he leaned back in his chair, shook his head, and said I had 'gone native'.

Trying to understand a social phenomenon from within, based on ethnographic material gathered during an extended period of fieldwork, is central to a social anthropological analysis. Instead of observing from a distance, observers should live with whatever may initially seem peculiar or odd and at least empathise with why people act as they do. The goal is to understand the logic behind the social phenomena we study, but also to find the universal in the exceptional (Agar 1986). Understanding worldviews and moral universes is an anthropologist's task, but so is avoiding uncritically adopting their subjects' views, in this case the government's and majority society's description of reality.

Brought up short by my supervisor's laconic remark, I had to acknowledge the importance of questioning the uniqueness of the Swedish ban. In fact, there are many penal provisions directed only at the clients of sex workers, such as the offences of kerb crawling (driving slowly along the edge of the road to contact a sex worker), or communicating about sex in exchange for payment, which were in place in countries such as the UK, Canada, and some US states long before the Swedish ban (Bernstein 2001; Campbell et al. 2018; Weitzer 2012). If the Swedish ban on sex purchases was not unique, then what did this criminal offence exemplify?

A new direction

To find answers, I had to change my perception of the ban's field, which guided me toward legal and social scientific studies of prostitution policy and scholarly work on morality politics, a specific class of controversial issues that includes sexual and other behaviours related to the body which carry a high emotional charge.

Rather than concentrating on the reasoning of those who supported the ban and its impact on sex workers, I recognised the opposite and equally potent forces in the ban's field, which affected all those involved. Widening my focus, I explored the entire controversial terrain, which was filled with moral and political conflicts, differing narratives, and a set of social actors that spanned victims, perpetrators, and witnesses as well as supporters and critics. The interactions in this field were dialectical, not merely oppositional, but the issues remained curiously unresolved despite the sense of urgency that animated them.

What could be seen was on one hand a strengthened and increasingly national political commitment to combat prostitution by penal provisions, whose severity was sharpened after the ban's passage. On the other hand, intellectuals, social commentators, and politicians began to criticise it, and sex workers engaged in more organised resistance. The once dominant anti-porn, anti-prostitution movement faced significant pushback, and though Parliament and the establishment rallied behind the ban, popular opposition emerged and spread. International interest in the ban did not lead many countries to adopt it. Instead, the law seemed to trigger a critical international countermovement, as sex workers, human rights organisations and researchers openly articulated their criticism of the 'Swedish model' and their support for the rights of sex workers. Moreover, by this point, several countries had partially or fully decriminalised prostitution, including the Netherlands (2000) and Germany (2003). In 2003, Aotearoa New Zealand revoked all previous prohibitions on prostitution-related activities and passed the Prostitution Reform Act (PRA), a comprehensive regulatory framework under existing labour and business law, complemented by specific laws and measures to provide domestic sex workers with protection from potentially exploitative situations.

This dual policy trajectory led me to draw parallels to other political issues in the 'morality politics' of democratic societies. There are few opposing trends toward the criminalisation and decriminalisation of domestic labour or the recreational, entertainment, and hospitality sector, but they are rife in the governance of drugs, abortion and commercial sex. By looking more closely at the field as whole, I became more aware of the intense emotions triggered by these issues and the opposing political developments, resulting in a better understanding of what is at stake in morality politics. I saw these dynamics being played out with regard to the ban on purchasing sex and recognised the similarities with other offences related to sex work, such as the ban on procuring, as well as other issues related intimately to the body.

Developing a policy typology

The first theoretical step toward understanding what I was observing was the development of a refined typology of prostitution policies, which I later realised helped to delimit the definition of morality politics.

In 2012, I was asked to lead a Swedish sub-study for a European project on policy measures directed at the demand side to counter human trafficking in a range of sectors, Demand-Side Measures Against Trafficking (DemandAT 2014–2017), which was merged with some researchers' doctoral projects, including my own.³ The Swedish research aimed to compare demand-side measures in various prostitution policies. I immediately encountered a problem: there were no convincing categories or classification systems on which to base to systematic comparisons. Using data from our own and others' ethnographic studies, I proposed a three-fold typology of repressive, restrictive, and integrative policy regimes (Östergren 2017a), which yielded policy recommendations (Östergren 2017b) and insights into how clients seek to prevent sex workers from being exposed to crimes by third parties when sex purchase is illegal (Johansson and Östergren 2021).

Although the typology is an instrumental rather than interpretive approach to anthropological policy (Shore et al. 2011; also Yanow 2011), it reveals similarities in how issues such as prostitution, drugs, homosexuality, and abortion are governed, which shaped the direction of my thesis and brought clarity to one of the puzzles inherent in my observations. While the 'peculiarities' of antiprostitution legislation such as the Swedish ban make sense in terms of morality politics, which some scholars define as 'a unique political category' (Mooney, 2001: vii), how do we know morality politics when we see it? However illuminating and relevant the concept might be, it is necessary to delimit the field in order to avoid the risk of generalising from a series of unique cases. My observations from the ban's field, in conjunction with legal scholarship, could alleviate this problem.

Turning to law

Turning to law, in the dual sense of jurisprudence and established law, proved essential for the direction this thesis has taken. Even though I was acquainted with some of the early legal studies of the ban, I had little fundamental understanding of what constituted the source of law (*rättskällan*), its significance for established law (*gällande rätt*), how the ban on purchasing sex operated legally, or the detailed criticisms that legal scholars made of the ban.

_

 $^{^{\}rm 3}$ DemandAT was an EU 7th Framework research project.

For a doctoral student in social anthropology without legal training, jurisprudence can be daunting. This high-status discipline spans a wide range from the legal system of a single country through the systems of laws characterised as Roman and continental to legal philosophy. Legal systems and their foundational principles are complex, so the resulting legal analysis can be equally complicated (see Latour 2013). Once I found a way into the literature, thanks to the lawyer Paul Pascalau (2018) who contacted me while he was working on an MA dissertation on the ban, it revitalised my research.

I learned how the Swedish legal system is structured and how the ban on purchasing sex relates to adjacent and relevant regulations, whether it adheres to or violates legal principles, and how the sources of law have handled discrepancies. Those discrepancies constitute valuable ethnographic material when discussing the legal status of sex workers in Sweden and elsewhere and assisted me in finding one of the missing links to a refined theory of morality politics: that this class of issues concerns 'consensual crimes' which are rooted in religious notions of sin and regarded as posing a risk to social order. Hence, in this study, the sources of law are fundamental ethnographic material, while jurisprudence has been crucial not only for interpreting this data but also for highlighting the ban's intra-legal conflicts and contradictions. Moreover, it helped me to understand police practices. Anna and other sex workers had told me that police would yank open car doors while they serviced their clients and even film the raids, a practice that clashed with the political purpose of helping the women. It turned out that the judiciary needed witnesses or technical evidence to arrest and convict their clients, since according to established law the offence of buying sex turns on consent and is not intended to protect sex workers, but rather public order.

Taking my time

As policy anthropologist Susan Wright (2011: 29) recognise, in anthropological research 'the research problem' typically arises late in the study. When they find no explanations for their field observations in the empirical and theoretical literature, anthropologists identify the problem the remaining fieldwork and analysis should focus on. This has been my experience in this study, where extended time has been essential.

While building on insights from my previous work, the articles and chapters in this thesis are based on my observations within the field of the sex-purchase ban

between 2009 and 2019. I have 'followed' (Marcus 1995) the ban and 'studied through' (Reinhold and Wright 2011) the field's different domains of law, discourse, implementation and impact. Just as I previously employed a multisited methodology, this time I approached the ban as surrounded by a field of activity where people feel, think, and act, which can be observed in statements, tangible actions, and law and policy measures.

The materials on which this thesis is based come from politicians, government officials, social agencies, legal experts, NGO representatives, and sex workers. I had informal conversations with many of them and conducted semi-structured formal interviews with those who were willing to speak with me on the record. I collected their statements as expressed publicly in meetings, articles and commentaries; legislative and other law and policy documents; and government inquiries, official reports and juridical opinions. The material is primarily from Sweden, and it is compared with similar material from other liberal democracies. I analysed this voluminous body of material by focusing on patterns and contradictions, contextualising and comparing them with other prostitution laws and policies, as well as seeing them in connection with the governance of other issues of morality politics.

A comparative perspective turned out to be crucial to this project. My fieldwork in Aotearoa New Zealand, which had decriminalised prostitution and brought sex workers under the civil laws that apply to all working people as well as specific occupational regulations to shield sex workers from harm, made it possible to conceive of a way of handling prostitution that neither treated it as a necessary evil nor sought to abolish it. Interviewing people from the national sex workers' organisation, which had a hand in shaping the policy, as well as politicians, public officials, police, social workers, lawyers, and academics helped me to understand concretely what an inclusive approach looked like and how it worked in practice. This research inspired the concept of an integrative prostitution policy in the typology of prostitution policies I developed and in the analysis of the legal status of sex workers.

My experiences in New Zealand cast a bright light on Sweden's policies and practices, revealing their exclusionary nature and how much they had in common with other regimes that criminalised the act of selling sex. This diverse Pacific island nation gave me a window on another reality, and its just and reasonable way of handling sex work enabled me to see more clearly the injustice that marked policies in Sweden and other countries and subject them to analytical scrutiny. It

made me consider the relationship between morality politics and a country's image of itself. Policy decisions might be indicative of broader discourses surrounding notions of belonging and marginalisation, inclusion and exclusion within the national body, particularly when policymakers approach the law as it relates to 'sinners' and other social outliers in terms of moral systems centred on imagined familial relationships.

A 'long-term cumulative research trajectory' (Falzon 2009: 17), even when it was not planned in advance but has resulted from pursuing a subject through a variety of activities, is especially valuable when studying legislation because legal processes are slow-moving. It can take decades for a parliamentary bill to reach a vote, become law, come into effect, and be established in practice. It takes time for legal dilemmas to show themselves, their effects to be evaluated, and potential corrections made, all of which may reveal the problematic or self-contradictory premises and consequences of the original legislation.

Being part of the debates and studying Swedish prostitution policy ever since the sex-purchase ban's adoption have yielded significant insights into the processual dynamics and features of morality politics. Paternalistic policies, which criminalise what consenting adults do in private, rarely achieve their aim of eradicating the behaviour they define as an offence. The individuals targeted will not only find ways to continue their practices, but they and others will take offence against the policy's intrusions and effects. When a paternalistic policy does not have the desired results or meets resistance, its proponents react by attempting to impose further prohibitions and punishments, which are also doomed to failure. 'Consensual crimes', such as prostitution, drug use or abortion, generate especially fierce, never-ending conflicts, not only because they involve core values but also because resolving them is inherently impossible since they generate an escalating, emotional spiral.

Twenty years after the law was introduced, I attended a seminar in central Stockholm organised by the Swedish sex worker association Fuckförbundet, together with the International Committee on the Rights of Sex Workers in Europe. The theme was '20 years of the Swedish model: What have we learned?' with the aim to share knowledge and discuss the effects of models seeking to 'end demand', particularly regarding the health and rights of sex workers. I presented my typology at the seminar. The 150 participants included sex workers, lawyers, researchers, service providers, public health professionals, policymakers, and advocates. Among the community and academic reports presented and discussed

was Fuckförbundet's report on the issues faced by sex workers in Sweden (Fuckförbundet 2019). But Swedish politicians and officials did not attend. They had been invited but either did not respond or declined, some at the last minute. Instead, the political establishment celebrated the supposed success of the sexpurchase ban at another event a few weeks later; no sex workers or critics were invited. This was the first time an international conference that supported sex workers' rights was conducted in Sweden, and it was also the first time sex workers marched through the streets demanding their rights. Nonetheless, no mainstream media reported on the event.

The seminar concluded my observations of the sex-purchase ban's field of activity. It was clear that, even though the twenty years since its passage had generated broad and powerful criticisms, Swedish policymakers chose not to heed them. Just as Anna had observed when we met in the winter of 1998, the politicians did not care about how the laws affected 'a whore', yet another example of the typical characteristics of morality politics.

The results of the thesis

By analysing the ban's political and legal course in depth and over time, this thesis shows that the offence is a variant of other anti-prostitution laws directed at sex workers and their clients, and that the highly charged emotions surrounding the ban, as well as its political-legal conflicts and contradictions, are comprehensible if analysed within the framework of morality politics. This means we can understand the Swedish sex-purchase ban as an example of the repressive measures that contemporary liberal democracies direct at what consenting adults do with their own bodies, particularly concerning their sexuality, reproduction, and end of life, as well as how they choose to enjoy themselves. These 'consensual crimes' have roots in religious notions of impurity and prohibitions against 'sin' and are an outgrowth of what were previously offences related to vice and violations of public decency. In addition to anti-prostitution laws, they include anti-gay, antidrug, anti-abortion, and anti-gambling laws. Prohibitions such as these seek to reform those who engage in these undesirable activities, in order to fit into national conceptions of what constitutes morally acceptable behaviour in their own 'civilised' society, rather than to reform societal structures so that these activities can be conducted safely and securely.

Finally, in this thesis, I invite readers to change their perceptions of how to study and approach the governance of prostitution, as I have done. Instead of studying the governance of sex commerce as a special case, analytically linking it only to sexuality and gender, as is most common and is exemplified in my earlier work, we should also situate it in relation to the governance of other issues of morality politics. I hope scholars studying the governance of drugs, abortion and other contentious issues can also find benefits in bridging these issues empirically and analytically. Doing so has the capacity to transform our research questions. For example, why are prostitution and drug use still subject to repression in Sweden, while abortion and homosexuality have been recognised as rights? How is a country's morality policy choices indicative of its notions of 'civilisation' and destruction, of who and what are to be included in or excluded from the national body? This thesis offers a conceptual framework for exploring such matters.

Furthermore, approaching the issues raised by commercial sex through the lens of law in a liberal democracy may help us to avoid being caught up in the intractable sex wars that characterise public debate. Several decades of social scientific research and abstract arguments have not led to ideological or political shifts, or even facilitated coming to grips with the concrete issues involved. Arguments that can be dismissed as experiential or contrasted with other experiences, or discussions about which feminist or humanitarian understanding of the sex trade should take precedence – is it oppression or gainful work? – are unlikely to be resolved. In contrast, arguments in favour of the liberal Rechtsstaat's brand of defensive criminal justice are indisputable. It is possible to cut the Gordian knot of prostitution policy by debating legal principles over substantive issues. Should a Rechtsstaat use law to criminalise the actions of consenting adults in private that are not injurious to other interests? Or should it use the law to give vulnerable groups access to the protections other citizens enjoy from its enforcement? Ultimately, it all comes down to whether people who engage in the sex trade are to be incorporated into or marginalised by the nation's social and legal fabric.

1. Introducing the study: Research questions and key terms

The Swedish ban on purchasing sex, which came into force on 1 January 1999, makes it illegal to obtain, or try to obtain, a temporary sexual service in exchange for payment. The criminal acts include sexual acts where at least one of the parties' genitalia touches the other's body. Besides money, payment can consist of other things agreed in advance by the person selling sex and the one purchasing it, such as drugs, meals, or gifts. The law also applies when someone else pays for the sexual service or when the sex worker and client have ongoing contact, where each purchase is considered a temporary sexual liaison (RP 1997/98:55; RP 2004/05:45). When the ban was introduced, it was framed as a special law (SFS 1998:408) and later incorporated into the Penal Code under sexual offences (köp av sexuell tjänst 6 §11). However, the offence is based on the seller having given consent, and the ban's object of protection – what it is designed to protect from harm – is not the sex seller but public order (Högsta Domstolen 2001).

Initially, the penalty for the offence was a fine or imprisonment for up to six months, which in 2010 was raised to a fine or imprisonment for up to one year. In 2022, fines were phased out and the minimum punishment was set at twelve months in jail (Riksdagsskrivelse 2010/11:251, 2021/22:433). The number of reported and convicted crimes varied from year to year according to police priorities, but between 1999 and 2019, 9234 people were reported and 3594 convicted. As in other countries, the Swedish prostitution sector consists of many gender constellations of sellers and buyers (men, women, and transgender people), and the sex-purchase offence is gender neutral. But, with a few exceptions, the reported and convicted perpetrators have been men who purchased sex from women (Fjelkegård et al. 2022).

The proposal to prohibit men from paying for sex was pushed by a broad coalition of civil society actors and members of Parliament from the early 1980s,

and it featured in the widespread grassroots movement against pornography and prostitution during the mid-1970s. First to advocate for the proposal in Parliament were women from the Liberal and the Centre Party, and gradually women from all the other parties except the Moderates agreed (see Chapter 5 for a more detailed history of the ban). When the bill came to a vote in the spring of 1998, the Left and the Green parties fully supported the ban, as did the governing Social Democrats. The Centre and Liberal parties were divided; the Christian Democrats believed that both buying and selling should be prohibited; and the Moderates remained entirely opposed (Riksdagens protokoll 1997/98:112). When the Moderates formed a coalition government with the other centre-right parties in 2006, however, they all backed the one-sided ban. The government expanded existing efforts to influence other countries to adopt similar legislation, facilitated by the significant international attention the ban had received as a novel, feminist anti-prostitution measure (Regeringens skrivelse 2007/8:167).

Ever since its inception, the Swedish sex-purchase ban has been hotly debated in politics, the media and academia. It has been both applauded and contested by policymakers and civil society actors, both nationally and internationally, as either an inspiration or a negative example for others. An extensive body of scholarship has considered its effects, meanings, and the reasons why Sweden was the first country to adopt a ban on purchasing but not selling sexual services. This study focuses on the attention the ban has received as an unprecedented approach to governing prostitution, the highly polarised political environment in which it exists, and the multiple political-legal contradictions it displays.

In this introductory chapter I first detail the peculiarities and contradictions that form the basis of my overarching research question: What does the ban exemplify? Next, I summarise the study's aim, methodology, and results, and its position within anthropology. I then provide an outline of the thesis: the chapters that present the study (called the Kappa) and the four articles' research questions, methodology, and results. Finally, I define and discuss the key terms used throughout the thesis.

Peculiarities and contradictions

Some people both in and outside of Sweden regard the ban on buying sex as a step forward. They perceive it as a modern gender equality measure, where the state directs its strictest instrument of governance, the criminal law, at clients, who had not previously been targeted by anti-prostitution legislation. The fundamental idea behind this approach is that prostitution is a form of male violence and structural oppression of women, so the sex trade should be eradicated, and only the men who pay for the services should be punished. Prostitution is also commonly equated with human trafficking, and the ban is said to reduce sex commerce without any adverse effects. This is the perception expressed by Swedish legislators (RP 1997/98:55; SOU 2010:49; RP 2021/22:231) and by NGOs and researchers informed by a radical feminist ideology (Ekberg 2004; MacKinnon et al. 2011; Raymond 2004; Waltman 2021; CATW n.d; EWL n.d.). The legislators also regard the ban as an important instrument in counteracting the proposal to decriminalise prostitution and give the sector and its participants legal status, which is supported by social movements and has been enacted by some countries (RP 1997/98:55; Le Drian and Wallström 2019).

Those both in and outside of Sweden who oppose the ban believe it worsens the situation of sex workers without reducing the market for sexual services. This critique has been formulated by sex workers' organisations and other human rights groups and has gained traction as Canada, France, Northern Ireland, Norway and others have introduced variants of a sex-purchase ban inspired by the Swedish legislation. Opponents argue that prostitution encompasses a diversity of experiences, and that the vulnerable situation of sex workers is best alleviated by decriminalising the sector and bringing sex workers under the provisions of labour, business, and other civil laws (Amnesty International 2016a; ASIJIKI 2015; ASWA and RA 2011; Fuckförbundet 2019; HRW 2019; ILGA 2018; NSWP 2018; UNAIDS 2012; UNDP 2012; WHO et al. 2013). They regard the New Zealand Prostitution Reform Act (PRA), enacted in 2003, as the best alternative to punitive measures. With the explicit objective of upholding the human rights of sex workers, shielding them from exploitation, and improving their occupational health and safety, PRA is the only national prostitution policy that fully decriminalised the trade and integrated it into sector-relevant employment, contract, and civil law. These conclusions are shared by a majority

of social scientific studies of sex work (see Benoit et al. 2018b; Bruckert and Hannem 2013; Dewey et al. 2015; Fitzgerald and McGarry 2018; Goodyear and Weitzer 2011; Harcourt et al. 2010; Holmström and Skilbrei 2017; Kilvington et al. 2001; Lyon 2014; Platt et al. 2018; Scoular 2004; Sexhum 2020; Vanwesenbeeck 2017; Wagenaar et al. 2017). The PRA retains some discriminatory elements, however, particularly the exclusion of noncitizens from its provisions.

The fact that these opposing views have remained much the same from the 1990s to the present is profoundly puzzling. What is it about the Swedish ban that elicits such strong, diametrically different reactions and opinions and engages so many people in so many countries over such a long time? How can we understand these two opposite policy trends, as some democracies impose repressive measures, such as criminal laws against purchasing sex or both parties agreeing to exchange sex for money, while others have decriminalised sex work? And how can we make sense of the idiosyncrasies of the Swedish offence relative to its political aims and legal environment?

One obvious contradiction lies in the political versus legal purposes of the ban. Politicians and legal authorities claim it is intended to protect women who sell sex, as they are the 'weaker' party being 'exploited' for the satisfaction of someone else's sexual desire (RP 1997/98:55, 104). Yet the law presumes that both parties have given their consent to the transaction, and the object of protection is not women who sell sex but public order, meaning the general public's perception of morally acceptable behaviour. The ban is also gender neutral, although it is mostly applied to men. Another, though disputed, idiosyncrasy is the ban's effect on women who sell sex. While politicians argue that the ban protects these women at least indirectly because it leads to a reduction in prostitution and trafficking, this claim is difficult to substantiate. Indeed, research indicates the opposite. Moreover, since the offence is based on mutual consent, the police and judiciary rely on monitoring sex workers to enforce the ban, and they remain excluded from the civic status and rights applicable to other working citizens (see Article IV).

The offence itself clashes with the legal principles that are accepted in a liberal state. Under defensive criminal law, as articulated by the Swedish government and legal doctrine, criminalisation is a last resort for the most reprehensible, blameworthy acts. Since punishments represent society's most 'intrusive and degrading sanction' (Jareborg 2001: 36) and are 'the ultimate expression of state power' (SOU 2013:38, 479), the state should aim to influence behaviour without

repressive measures, but rather through information and education. The philosophy of law has developed this precautionary principle, formulating the various guidelines and criteria to which legislators should adhere when considering new laws or extensions of existing criminal provisions (SOU 2013:38, 423-501). A Rechtsstaat – a constitutional state in which the government is constrained by the rule of law – should not use criminalisation to prevent behaviour that is regarded merely as immoral; such legislation is considered costly without demonstrable effects and can lead to human suffering, which goes against its ethical principles. Introducing a penal provision just because the legislator wants to 'make a statement' that society takes the matter seriously is thus not enough; there must be more substantial reasons, such as preventing harm. The punishment for a crime must also have the desired effect without unintended consequences. The penalised behaviour should decrease without innocent individuals suffering from the enforcement of the law (Jareborg 2001; Asp et al. 2010; Lernestedt 2003; SOU 2013:38).

Swedish jurisprudence that employs a critical legal positivist analysis – comparing the ban's alignment with legal principles – argues that it violates several fundamental principles and rules of defensive criminal law (Asp and Ulväng 2007; Lernestedt and Hamdorf 1999–2000, 2000–2001; Lernestedt 2003, 2004, 2010; Träskman 1998, 2005, 2009a, b; Ulväng 2009). The ban conflicts with the ideological legal principle that the state should tolerate citizens' behaviour and respect individual privacy and self-determination. It also contradicts the principle that penal provisions should target individual wrongful or 'evil' acts rather than socio-structural issues. When the ban was introduced, it lacked essential legal justifications, such as specifying what it aimed to protect and its relation to ideological principles and other penal provisions. Additionally, the ban lacks legal legitimacy because Parliament has not proven that criminalisation is the only possible means to achieve its goal and the ban has resulted in adverse consequences for innocent people. Because the ban hinges on consent, the offence exemplifies paternalistic, moral legislation (see Chapter 2 for their detailed critiques).

While acknowledging that the ban is a legal anomaly, some Swedish feminist legal scholars still defend it, arguing it is valid because prostitution violates human dignity, which transcends individual self-determination. The very idea that a woman can consent to selling sex is also questioned. Moreover, the ban provides a welcome shift from shaming women involved in prostitution to holding the

purchasers accountable for the harm caused by prostitution (Leijonhufvud 2009, 2011; Westerstrand 2008; Yttergren and Westerstrand 2016).

It is not uncommon for new legislation to collide with legal principles and rules, and the philosophical question of free will and consent is complicated. Some legal scholars also conclude that the sex-purchase ban can be legally justified from a gender perspective (see Dempsey 2005). Yet, legal collisions still occur, and we must acknowledge that it is quite unusual to introduce new prohibitions on sexual acts between consenting individuals in a liberal democracy. Thus, the Swedish ban on sex-purchase is not only surrounded by political conflicts but also in conflict with key principles of the Swedish legal system.

Aims, central questions and conclusions

The overarching question explored in this thesis is how the controversies, contradictions, and peculiarities of the sex-purchase ban can be understood. It does so by challenging the notion of the ban's uniqueness and contextualising the law in relation to other types of prostitution legislation and regulatory measures, both in Sweden and in other countries. Additionally, the study examines the governance of prostitution in relation to political issues that exhibit similar peculiarities and spark similarly irresolvable controversies.

By drawing on the analytical conceptual framework of 'morality politics', I connect the issue of prostitution with other issues that are subject to similarly contradictory views, such as drug use, abortion and euthanasia, and display similar features, evoking intense emotions that make ordinary policy compromises unthinkable. Ultimately, this study aims to understand what sort of politics the Swedish sex-purchase ban exemplifies, as well as what such prohibitions – and their opposites – offer to society and their proponents.

The thesis shows that the Swedish offence is a variant of other anti-prostitution laws directed at sex workers and their clients and therefore part of a common repressive prostitution policy. It also argues that the highly charged emotions surrounding the ban, and the associated conflicts, contradictions, and diverging policy trends, are comprehensible when analysed within the framework of morality politics, which is a 'unique' class of politics in Western societies (Meier 1999; Mooney 2001).

Although the definition of this class of issues is still disputed (Euchner 2019a; Mourão Permoser 2019), morality politics is characterised by the types of substantive issues it engages and by their governance. Issues regarding commercial sex, homosexuality, drug use, gambling, euthanasia, and abortion are united by their capacity to evoke emotions of a socio-existential nature and are examples of 'consensual crimes'. The governance of these issues is unified by their movement along a spectrum between repressive, restrictive, and integrative policies, reflecting a society's decision either to reject the phenomenon and reform the individuals engaging in what has been seen as sinful behaviour, or to integrate them and reform society so that these individuals are not treated as deviant or even antisocial. In the case of prostitution, integration means that people selling sexual services and others engaged in the sector have similar civic and legal status as citizens in other occupations and are subject to appropriate regulations. This conceptual refinement of morality politics, which is one of the major contributions of this thesis, raises new questions about countries' policy choices and facilitates comparisons within and between nations.

These conclusions are drawn from the research questions posed in the thesis's four articles and based on observations within the field of the sex-purchase ban between 2009 and 2019. The study employed a multisited methodology, 'following' (Marcus 1995) and 'studying through' (Reinhold and Wright 2011) the field's domains of law, discourse, implementation and impact. The material comes from informal and semi-structured interviews with sex workers, NGO representatives, politicians and other policymakers, such as government officials and social and legal authorities; their statements as expressed publicly in meetings and texts, such as articles and commentaries; legislation and other law and policy documents, such as government inquiries, official reports and juridical reasoning. The material is primarily from Sweden, and it is compared to similar material from New Zealand and other liberal democracies.

Although paying customers are the most obvious group affected by the sexpurchase ban, and I have gathered material on them and written about the issue (Johansson and Östergren 2021), I have not included this material in the thesis, as I have had to impose reasonable limitations on the scope of this study. Antitrafficking law is also set to one side, since in legal terms it is understood as nonconsensual. However, I recognise that prostitution and trafficking are discursive linked, and anti-trafficking law is used to target the consensual sex trade (see Articles II and IV).

The thesis's anthropological approaches

Since the subject of this thesis is a law, it might seem self-evident that my study would reside in the subcategories of legal anthropology or anthropology of law. But that is not the case. Nor does it neatly fit within the parameters of policy anthropology. Although it draws from theories and methods of both these traditions, it is not contained by them.

Law is anthropologically relevant because it codifies the majority society's norms. It deals with its organising, cohesive factors: how right and wrong are defined, questioned, and changed. These foundational pillars are studied from many anthropological perspectives, including 'legal', 'moral', 'governance', 'political' and 'policy' anthropology, each of which has its own key concepts, theoretical and empirical traditions, and canons.

For example, when legal anthropologists investigate power mechanisms in semi-autonomous fields (Moore 1972) which are not legally sanctioned, the study might as well fall under the anthropology of policy or governance. When we study norms and justice, moral anthropology is equally fitting, especially if the legal anthropologist Sally Falk Moore's 'social fields' (1972) can also be understood as 'normative fields' (Roberts 1998). And when a study pertains to how concepts and laws about issues such as human rights or biopolitics are 'assembled', 'translated', and implemented, this might as well belong to legal anthropology as to policy anthropology (Clarke et al. 2015).

Overlaps like these are common and understandable. The social phenomena that subfields of social anthropology encompass, such as the economy or religion, belong to more than one genre. Their classification depends on how the categories are defined and what is counted within them (von Benda-Beckman 2008). For legal anthropologists, this approach has been an active, strategic decision. The hope was that transcending genre boundaries would rejuvenate legal anthropology (Starr and Collier 1989) after a period that legal anthropologist Mark Goodale has called 'fermentation, transition and critique' (2017: 19). More recently, John Borneman (2016), also a legal anthropologist, has suggested that policy studies within anthropology may greatly benefit from Sally Falk Moore's approach to the study of law and the state. Indeed, Goodale's (2017) own understanding of contemporary legal anthropology as a response to and critique of the 'neoliberal world order' is close to policy anthropology, whose understanding of power,

norms, rules, and governance can also be said to be 'legally pluralistic' (see Shore and Wright 1997; Shore et al. 2011).

My study draws on these related disciplines primarily because neither legal nor policy anthropologists study a law or offence per se, especially not over an extended period. I also rely on the theoretical framework of morality politics, which developed within political science. Nonetheless, the study is firmly anchored in ethnographic methods.

As I observed a social phenomenon that seemed peculiar and asked what kind of criminal offence the ban on sex-purchase is, I have found a field charged with political and legal conflicts, followed what happened to the law over time and in different locations, and tried to make sense of these contradictions and changes. I have looked at the ban's history, how it relates to other laws, and the ideological principles that are supposed to guide its legal environment. As Michael Agar (1983) described the traditional ethnographic method, the anthropologist enters a relatively small field, notices something that seems odd, tries to understand the logic, and then seeks patterns and the universal in what seems singular and exotic. Political anthropologist James Ferguson (2011) explains the similarity between the multisited method and the traditional focus on a single site: phenomena become comprehensible by connecting and establishing relationships between different practices, creating 'systems' of relations among them that only become legible in relation to each other.

Outline of the thesis

This essay thesis consists of six introductory and summary chapters, two published articles, and two articles that have not yet been published. What follows is a description of the chapters and a summary of each article, its research questions, content, materials and methods, and conclusions, as well as an explanation of how the articles are linked. This chapter ends by defining the key terms used throughout this work.

The chapters

The second chapter, 'Understanding the ban: Disciplinary and political contexts', reviews previous scholarship, discussing commonalities and differences between

this study and the relevant work in anthropology, other social sciences, and specific studies of the sex-purchase ban that has been helpful in formulating this thesis.

The third chapter, 'Morality politics and prostitution law: Theoretical frameworks and concepts', summaries the thesis's theoretical framework and discusses its relationship to the scholarship, including some useful literature that was not consulted for the articles. Moreover, the chapter explains the analytical process, justifying my choice of concepts and frameworks and differentiating them from those that are otherwise common in studies of the regulation of prostitution.

The fourth chapter, 'To "follow" a law: Method and materials', introduces multisited ethnography and explains how the thesis developed its key concepts by 'following' the law over an extended period. It defines the 'activity field' of the sex-purchase ban, its extent, and what material has been gathered and why.

The fifth chapter, 'Banning sex-purchase in Sweden: The historical regulation of prostitution and the development of the new offence', provides a historical background to the introduction of the sex-purchase ban and an overview of how Swedish prostitution policy evolved during the ban's first two decades.

The final chapter, 'Conclusions: Toward an anthropological theory of morality politics', reflects on the conclusions of the four articles, discusses the responses they have evoked, and outlines future research. It explores how this study of the Swedish ban advances the study of the governance of prostitution, as well as the study of similarly controversial and highly charged political issues, and can lead toward an anthropological theory of morality politics.

The articles

Article I: Sweden

The first article has been published as a chapter in the anthology *Assessing prostitution policies in Europe* (Jahnsen and Wagenaar 2018). It describes Swedish prostitution policy: its legislation, implementation, and impact, as well as the prevailing discourse around it. What governing instruments are used, and how is the policy actually enforced by the authorities? What impact has the policy had on the sex work sector? What discourses prevailed in shaping the policy and continue today?

The article begins with a brief historical overview, demonstrating that the sexpurchase ban, far from being a major departure, is an extension of a long-standing, far-reaching commitment to eliminating commercial sex. I contend that the discourse about the ban facilitates the condemnation of prostitution through a lens of progressive gender equality, which diverges from traditional conservative perspectives. It enables Sweden to position itself as a modern, advanced country while maintaining its deeply rooted opposition to prostitution.

The material in the article consists of legislation and government documents concerning commercial sex and material from sex workers' organisations and other NGOs in Sweden; public statements by Swedish politicians and government representatives; and empirical research on the policy's consequences from the mid-1990s until 2016. Since no single document describes the Swedish policy in its entirety, key governance instruments have been identified based on my empirical research in Sweden, mainly through direct contacts with sex workers, their clients, and policymakers.

Situating and analysing the ban in its policy context illuminates its legal and historical similarities with other state measures intended to combat the sex trade. This finding represents a crucial analytical break from the common understanding of the sex-purchase ban as a 'unique,' gender-equitable law. The ban and other policy measures directed at the sex work sector in Sweden exemplify a repressive prostitution policy, which is shown concretely in Article II. The article also demonstrates that the ban's object of protection is public order, not the person selling sex, which also is crucial for the analysis and overarching conclusions of this thesis. The object of protection has theoretical implications, which I extend in Article III to the ban's implementation, which in turn impacts the legal and civic status of sex workers in Sweden, as I show in Article IV.

Article II: From zero tolerance to full integration: Rethinking prostitution policies

The second article, which has been published as a chapter in *The SAGE handbook of global sexualities* (Davy et al. 2020) asks: How should the sex-purchase ban be understood in relation to Swedish prostitution policy? How do we assess a particular prostitution policy, and how can it be understood in relation to how other countries regulate prostitution? How are we to categorise these various policies?

The article presents an empirically grounded, tripartite typology of prostitution policies, remedying the previous lack of a coherent system for classifying prostitution policies across national contexts. I distinguish between repressive prostitution policies, aimed at eliminating the sex industry through punitive

measures; restrictive policies, permitting the trade to operate under limited conditions regulated by a combination of criminal and civil law; and integrative policies, which do not criminalise consensual sex work but instead regulate the industry and protect sex workers through sector-specific labour and trade legislation. Significantly, the governance of other matters of morality politics, such as homosexuality, abortion, and drugs, can be classified similarly.

The typology serves as a tool for assessing, evaluating, and comparing prostitution policies, even in cases where they seem to contain contradictory or incoherent elements. To assist such work, the article presents an assessment protocol consisting of four components to be investigated: the intentions, instruments, implementation, and impact of a policy. Using the cases of Sweden, Germany and New Zealand, I show that the Swedish prostitution policy can be characterised as a predominantly repressive regime, given its aim to abolish the sex industry and its reliance on criminal law. The German policy is predominantly restrictive on the national level, but on the local level the policy has both repressive and integrative elements. The policy in Aotearoa New Zealand is an integrative regime, where all consensual sex work is legal for its citizens and the trade is regulated with sector-specific legislation as well as general laws.

This article is incorporated into the thesis for analytical and theoretical reasons. As comparative, cross-national policy studies make clear, the Swedish sexpurchase ban is only one of many variants of repressive measures directed toward the clients of sex workers. While the offence is often described as 'unique' or the 'first' to express a modern, feminist outlook and is justified as promoting gender equality, the Swedish prostitution policy directs many penal provisions against the act of purchasing sex. My methodological point is that when researching laws and other policy measures that politicians, as well as researchers, view as extraordinary, it is important to move away from all these statements about the object of study and instead make our own observations and analysis. In this case, closely examining what the ban actually does and comparing it with other similar prohibitions is essential for generating the thesis's overarching research question: If the Swedish ban of buying sex is not unique, then what sort of law is it?

The article's typology is developed through an inductive empirical method, a classification processes that takes its point of departure in my own and others' empirical studies of how prostitution is actually governed. This method is similar to the inductively formed 'indicator level classification' (K.D. Bailey 1994), that is, a process combining empirical analyses and theoretical knowledge (see also

Kluge 2000). The research material consists of legislation and government documents concerning prostitution from Sweden, Germany, and New Zealand; interviews and public statements by politicians, government representatives, NGOs, sex workers and their clients in these countries; and existing empirical research on prostitution policy in these and other countries. Moreover, guiding both the typology and the suggested assessment protocol is the key question: What does the policy seek to accomplish? That requires an analysis of policy as expressed through both symbols and social actions, since policy both 'says' and 'does' things that defy simple evaluations (Rabo 1997). This approach exemplifies the method of 'studying through' policy processes, as the anthropologist attempts to grasp the interactions and disjunctions between different sites and levels (Shore and Wright 1997), including political discourse as well as legislation and its implementation and impact.

We can understand the Swedish ban as a typical repressive anti-prostitution measure, and in that sense it is what Gayle Rubin (1992) refers to as a 'sex law'. Furthermore, the typology provides an empirical and theoretical link between prostitution policies and morality politics, indicating that we should also understand the ban in relation to this particular class of issues.

Article III: At the crossroads of destruction and civilisation: Morality politics and the Swedish ban on buying sex

The third article (status: revising for submission), suggests that the theoretical framework of morality politics best comprehends the idiosyncratic and contradictory aspects of the sex-purchase ban. The article defines this concept in a clear and concise manner. It asks: What does the ban on purchasing sex offer its supporters? Then it explores the new questions this framework raises for the study of prostitution policy.

In the article, I depart from the only previous anthropological work on the sexpurchase ban, an article by Don Kulick (2003). I question his use of the ban as an example of Sweden's 'harsh' sex laws and the result of a 'moral panic', but I continue his effort to make sense of its peculiarities. Considering how issues such as prostitution, homosexuality, abortion, and recreational drugs are perceived, discussed, and governed in liberal democracies, I show that these issues all involve

_

⁴ The editor of the journal to which this piece was submitted asked me to make specific minor changes before sending it out for external review.

'consensual crimes' and are portrayed as posing a risk to civilised society. The issues of morality politics are rooted in religious notions of sin and impurity, and today they are typically addressed by the three distinct policy models, while the governance agenda is either to reform marginalised citizens or to grant them equal civil rights.

I argue that considering prostitution policy in relation to the cluster of other issues of morality politics, especially from the perspectives of the actors involved in social movements, provides theoretical insights into the distinctive features of this class of controversial issues. For example, morality politics generates such fierce, never-ending conflicts because paternalistic moral law provokes intense reactions. While offending or worrying those directly targeted, the policies' intrusions into the private life of individuals also arouse objections from the public. And when a paternalistic policy does not have the desired effects, its proponents respond by attempting to impose further prohibitions, generating an escalating, emotional and political spiral.

On the other hand, if and when an integrative policy takes precedence, it is an indication that a society has shifted its understanding of what constitutes a 'civilised' community: it integrates groups and actions it may consider undesirable or unpleasant, rather than suppressing and prosecuting them. In sum, the concept of morality politics raises new questions about countries' policy choices and facilitates comparisons within and between nations.

The analysis is based on legislation and government documents describing the development of prostitution policy in Sweden and other liberal democracies countries from 1999 to 2019; reactions these changes have elicited among supporters and opponents of the policy as expressed publicly in the media and during meetings, as well as in interviews I conducted; and existing empirical research on Swedish prostitution and drug policy. The method represents a multisited 'long-term cumulative research trajectory' (Falzon 2009: 17) where I have 'followed' the sex-purchase ban across its different domains, observing and identifying patterns which I then compared with the governance of other issues of morality politics in Sweden as well as in other countries subscribing to the liberal rule of law.

Methodologically, the article shows how an anthropological analysis of a criminal offence such as the sex-purchase ban benefits when the material is broadened in scope and the analysis engages with jurisprudence. The conclusions of the were drawn by observing the ban's trajectory over an extended period,

examining the source of law and learning from critical work by legal scholars, rather than focusing only on the campaign to adopt it and on the discourses of its proponents. The merits of a multisited study of a criminal offence, where the source of law provides a significant portion of the material, is illustrated in the fourth and final article, which provides deeper insights into the logic of morality politics.

Article IV: 'What if it were your daughter?' Ambivalence and belonging in prostitution law

The fourth article, which has been submitted (status: revise and resubmit), asks how the ambiguous legal and civic status of Swedish sex workers can be understood, especially in relation to New Zealand sex workers' coherent status as individuals with access to the same rights as citizens engaged in other occupations. What is the underlying moral logic of nation-as-family in these countries? What parallels are there to the socio-legal treatment of other marginalised or stigmatised groups, historically and today?

This article compares the legal standing of sex workers in Sweden and Aotearoa New Zealand. In Sweden, political discourse, established law, and policy implementation cast sex workers in multiple roles, oscillating between victim, consenting individual, witness, entrepreneur, criminal, and sometimes as collateral damage—or nothing at all. While this ambivalence expresses social ambiguity and an exclusionary logic intrinsic to all anti-prostitution policies, the article argues that the malleable legal status of sex workers also helps to perpetuate these stigma-based discriminatory practices, providing authorities with a 'strategy of ambivalence' (Koch 2020). Conversely, the legislation in New Zealand expresses an inclusive logic and adherence to the liberal rule of law where individuals are not precluded from civic membership based on their occupation.⁵

٠

⁵ Yet, as scholars and the NZPC have argued, the PRA contains discriminatory elements in its language and regulations, such as the demand for mandatory condom use, the ability of local authorities to decide the location of enterprises, and remnants of a moralising and stigmatising 'risk' discourse (G. Abel 2019; Bruckert and Hannem 2013; Harrington 2012). The most blatant and widely criticised discriminatory provision is that foreign individuals are not encompassed within the law's protective framework, even for those whose legal status allows them to work in other sectors (Armstrong et al. 2020; Bennachie et al. 2021). Instead, any suspicion of involvement in the sex trade forms grounds for visa denial and deportation (PRA, clause 19).

The article suggests that research and debates on the governance of prostitution can benefit from focusing on legal principles, while recognising the historic parallels to the regulation of female labour as well as to the discriminatory treatment of 'sinners' and other social outliers.

My comparison of Sweden's and New Zealand's prostitution policies emphasises government representatives' reasoning about the status of sex workers in their respective countries as expressed in interviews and public meetings, and sex workers' understanding of their legal status as articulated in interviews. The status of sex workers has been traced to the different layers of the two countries' prostitution policies and legal systems.

The previous articles situate and analyse the ban on purchasing sex in broader empirical and theoretical contexts, as a part of the repressive Swedish prostitution policy and as an instrument of morality politics. This article shifts the research perspective as it turns to what the ban means according to established law.

By considering the Swedish source of law, including legislative histories, official government enquiries, evaluations and statements, case law, and legal doctrine, the article investigates the relationship between the ban, its object of protection, and the general principles that apply to the Penal Code. Thus, the article is linked to the thesis empirically and methodologically as it 'follows' the ban into its national legal system, providing insights into the ambiguous status of sex workers and how the offence has negatively affected them. When the object of protection is 'public order', law enforcement must gather evidence by surveilling sex workers and raiding their workplaces. The article elucidates the legal status of sex workers under two opposite policy regimes, using the nation-as-family metaphor to illustrate how one policy expresses an inclusionary logic and the other an exclusionary logic.

Key terms

I use various terms to denote my field of study, the laws and policy that regulate prostitution, sex work or commercial sex, alternating between equivalent phrases such as the sex trade, the sex industry, and the sex work or prostitution sector. When I refer to the people targeted by these regulations, I use sex workers and sellers, sex buyers and clients, and third parties such as managers or business owners.

The term stakeholder is used to encompass all people involved in and affected by prostitution policies, such as government agencies, experts, civil society organisations, and sex businesses, as well as the target group, sex workers and their clients. I follow political scientist and public policy scholar Hendrik Wagenaar's (2017) definition of stakeholders in his discussion of collaborative governance, that is, the formal, consensus-oriented process that relies on all stakeholders having sufficient capacity, organisation, status and resources to participate (see also Ansell and Gash 2008). Interestingly enough, this term can also correspond with ideological positions. When political scientists Josefina Erikson and Oscar Larsson (2022) apply Wagenaar's concept of collaborative governance to analyse the development of Swedish prostitution policy from 2008 on, sex workers are referred to solely as 'victims' and none of their organisations is included in their research material.

For the people who write, pass, and uphold these laws, I use the terms legislators, lawmakers and policymakers. When I speak of neo-abolitionists, I follow political scientists Eilís Ward and Gillian Wylie's (2017) definition: radical feminists, faith-based lobbyists and politicians who equate prostitution with male oppression and propagate the criminalisation of the purchase of sex, without the seller being subjected to legal punishment.

Sex work or prostitution?

Scholars are rightly expected to explain why we use 'sex work' instead of 'prostitution', but I am also wary of the risk that if researchers endlessly reproduce lengthy justifications, we will reproduce the anxiety surrounding the issue itself. Moreover, debates over terminology are often proxies for more fundamental matters that the discourse does not come to grips with. In my terminology, I take a slightly more relaxed approach, while still being precise.

Although sex work has been part of the English language since the early 1930s and sex worker has been in use since the early 1970s (OED 2024a, b), it was sex worker Carol Leigh (1997) who popularised the term in the early 1980s, as activists in the US sex workers' movement asserted that their occupation should be recognised and accorded rights similar to those of other working people. Other activists and scholars were quick to discuss and apply this phrase (see Chapkis 1997; Kempadoo and Doezema 1998; Nagle 1997; Perkins et al. 1994; Rubin 1992). Since then, the choice between sex work or prostitution and sex worker or

prostitute has been contentious and part of the struggle to define meanings in the feminist 'sex wars' (Snitow et al. 1983; Vance 1992a). In Sweden, when the term sex work was first used, social commentators likened it to 'The invasion of the body snatchers', the 1970s movie where the earth was insidiously invaded by aliens (Ohlsson 2002). Today, in upholding, defending and expanding Sweden's policy, the government sees it as one of its tasks to counteract the use of the term 'sex work' (Socialdepartementet 2017; Regnér et al. 2016).

In social science research, the choice of terminology has largely reflected divisions between differing understandings of commercial sex. Sex work and sex workers are used mainly by those with a multifaceted approach, and prostitution and prostitutes by those with an oppression paradigm (for these different approaches, see Chapter 2). Today, there are signs of a more relaxed use of 'prostitution', but 'prostitute' is rarely used because this term signals passivity, reflecting a person's social and psychological state rather than their actions and choices (see Kempadoo and Doezema 1998).

As anthropologists Susan Dewey, Treena Orchard and Tiantian Zheng (2015) say, using emic terminology presents challenges when even the use of the phrase 'sex work' ignites debates. Moreover, as researchers studying sex work reflect on our conversations with others, we realise that people have vastly different experiences of and attitudes toward selling sexual services. Some embrace the terms sex work and sex worker, while others distance themselves from this terminology because of its political or Western connotations. Still others regard the distinction between sex worker and prostitute as irrelevant; they see the activity as a practical way of securing drugs, housing, or money to meet their basic needs (Dewey et al. 2015; Lakkimsetti 2020; Östergren 2006, Skilbrei 2019).

I alternate between these terms to respect the diversity of experiences within and perspectives on the sex trade. As Susan Dewey, sociologist Isabel Crowhurst, and anthropologist and social work scholar Chimaraoke Izugbara (Crowhurst et al. 2021) say, I seek to account for the differing positions along the field's political spectrum, not to dilute those differences but to encompass them. Another reason to alternate terms is that they reflect how different legislatures define the sex trade and the legal status of individuals selling sex in their jurisdictions. While it is possible to talk about sex work and sex workers in law and policy terms in the New Zealand context, this is not the case in Sweden.

'Transactional sex' is a rather common term, but one that I do not employ. It describes the many realities in the field, as it denotes all forms of encounters where

a sexual service is rendered in return for some form of compensation, which can range from running a full-time prostitution business to an interaction where sex is traded for a night's housing or a meal. That kind of temporary, non-market transaction is a matter of social, rather than legal, concern.

Given the many stereotypical perceptions and negative connotations of 'the sex industry', trying out different terms has some benefits. It can challenge our own perceptions as researchers and bring analytical clarity to our thinking. Taking inspiration from the studies and policy recommendations regarding domestic work in the DemandAT project, I have sometimes used the term 'sector', which highlights the relationship between state power and the market. Just as speaking of the 'domestic labour sector' opened up the discussion to include how the state could regulate this sector in order to prevent people from being exploited in a market that occupies a grey area between the formal and informal economies, adopting a similar perspective on the sex sector facilitated my analysis of the main ways in which prostitution is regulated (see Article II). It also enabled me to consider which market sectors and actors are regulated in conventional ways and which are exempt—and why (see Articles III and IV).

Some nuances need to be considered when using the term sex work. In general, sex work is taken as an umbrella term for what is legally considered prostitution and other forms of commercial sex, such as pornography, striptease dancing, and private posing, where sexual services or performances are being traded for money and other forms of compensation. In truth, sex work encompasses all services and acts that have sexual meanings for the buyer. Not all interactions involve bodies or genitals touching, result in the buyer's sexual climax, or are perceived as erotic or sexual by those who are not the customer. Examples include sadomasochistic sex or role-playing and voyeurism. The boundaries between the myriad forms of sexual labour are often fixed by law, but in reality are much more fluid.

Another terminological aspect to note is that prostitution is not used in the Swedish statues, as the term is considered too abstract and too vague be one of the central criteria for defining a criminal offence (RP 2004/05:45, 105). Criminal provisions aimed at what is colloquially called prostitution are instead limited to those forms of commercial sex that fall within the scope of 'sexual acts', which include 'intercourse and other sexual acts of both a heterosexual and homosexual nature' where at least one of the parties' genitals touches the other's body (RP 2004/05:45, 30–31). In 'striptease' the sexual acts are performed in front of a limited group of people in an indoor locale without any physical contact occurring

between the dancers and customers, and the customers are not allowed to touch themselves sexually. 'Private posing' includes only seller and buyer, and the customer may satisfy themselves during sessions. Pornography refers to the performance of sexual acts in front of a camera.

These legal boundaries may or may not reflect what goes on in real life. Each form of commercial sex has its own dynamics, and those who provide the service possess special skills and knowledge. Yet posing can transition into what is considered prostitution, and what counts as pornography may involve nothing more than posing.

Consent in law versus life

The understanding of consent is central to my research questions and analysis. According to Swedish political discourse, prostitution is a non-voluntary act, whereas the anti-prostitution laws (both the ban on purchasing sex and the ban on procuring) depend on consent. Yet, according to legal principles, the state ought not to prohibit what consenting adults do in private and does not do harm. Contradictions such as these made me curious enough to pursue this research. Moreover, I argue that a defining feature of the issues belonging to morality politics is that they constitute 'consensual crimes'.

What consent entails is a central legal and feminist discussion, and different interpretations of what consent means in relation to commercial sex are closely linked to how the phenomenon is perceived and how it should be legally addressed. Aware of the complexity that consent entails in real life, I refer to consent as it is understood in legal terms. That is, if a person expresses consent to an act, that is what applies legally. In that sense, the issue is therefore simple and would not need to be discussed further in the thesis. However, since it is such a contested subject with varying understandings, even among Swedish legislators and legal authorities, I summarise the perspectives I have found most useful.

Examining the philosophical and legal debates on sexual exploitation and objectification in relation to ethnographic data, scholars have found that in sex work, the matter of consent varies depending on multiple conditions (Blanchette et al. 2021; Olivar and Farias 2021, Tremblay 2021). In her discussion of these and other studies on consent and coercion, sociologist Cecilia Benoit (2021) offers a conceptual framework that understands prostitution in terms of a continuum of social-economic exchanges between the seller and buyer that range from more or

less forced to free. Thus, 'commercial sex' should be studied 'as an incomegenerating activity where labour exploitation is possible, both within the work relationship and at the structural level' (2021: 2). Criminologist Belinda Brooks-Gordon and criminal justice recovery worker Euan Ebbitts (2021) propose the idea of a 'consent ladder' in their study on male-to-male 'chemsex', sexual activities while under the influence of drugs. An experience can begin willingly, be pleasurable and controllable, but the line of consent may become blurred and result in harm and exploitation. Yet they also suggest that under some circumstances and with certain skills and capacities, the sex worker can become empowered and exercise more control over what ensues.

As Benoit (2021) pointed out, a binary understanding of consent and coercion does not reflect reality. Politically, the conflation of consensual sex commerce with exploitative sex trafficking enables state actors to target people who sell sexual services through laws prohibiting trafficking. In their historical account of the theoretical development of sex work research, sociologists Helen Rand and Jessica Simpson (2023) question the binary formulation of coercion versus consent posited during the 1970s by radical feminists' theory of male dominance, which later became central to international legal frameworks on sex work and trafficking. Empirical studies show that this binary does not accurately reflect the more complex realities of many sex workers' lives, they argue, but this legal confusion nevertheless shapes the position of sex workers.

In their study of sex, crime and the law, criminologists Alexandra Fanghanel, Emma Milne, Giulia F. Zampine (2021) explain the challenges of understanding and applying the concept of consent. Since those who request or offer consent are rarely equal in their degree of autonomy and power, they may well have differing capacities to meet all the criteria for consent, such as the capacity to consent, the freedom to say no, and information about what they are consenting to and the consequences of that decision. Informed consent is not always easy to establish and may never be established, which generates 'some of the difficulties in determining, interpreting and communicating consent' (Fanghanel et al. 2021: 202).

Claes Lernestedt, a Swedish legal scholar who has analysed consent, maintains that the gender perspective rightly criticizes how law has treated male violence against women, as well as its critique of societal structures that systematically subordinate women. In his discussion of the ban on sex-purchase in relation to conceptual understandings of freedom and voluntariness on the levels of society, law, and legal application, Lernestedt (2004) concludes that these oppressive

structures might make women feel pressured to have sex even when they do not want to. What is 'voluntary' and what is not is difficult to determine. He credits the gender-based critique for a much-needed questioning and revision of the language and assumptions of sex-offence legislation and the application of these laws, for example, when the victim's behaviour prior to a rape unduly influences the assessment of a sexual offence.

The problem, Lernestedt (2004, 2010) explains, is that when legislation and the application of law is influenced by the structural forces and societal thinking about voluntariness, it departs from the liberal legal principles of freedom in a state governed by the rule of law. When both the public and the legal understanding assume, for instance, that a young woman feels social pressure to 'consent' to sex with a man even though she does not want to, the law will deem her unfree in such a way that the man is held responsible for sexual exploitation or rape. Even though the source of the problem in this case is structural oppression, and both parties are caught up in this oppressive social construction, this situation should not lead to criminal liability on an individual level.

Repressive – restrictive – integrative

Using the terms 'repressive', 'restrictive' and 'integrative' to categorise the varied legal regimes that govern commercial sex could be perceived as value-laden or provocative, which is hardly useful in an already charged and polarised political arena. However, I carefully chose these terms in order to reflect how the sex trade is regarded and treated, and to outline the kinds of policy options that are pursued in various countries, regions and cities. Legal scholar Jenny Westerstrand (2008), who conducted a detailed analysis of the models used to organise international prostitution discourse, has drawn a similar conclusion. The key question, she argued, is to ask is whether a particular discourse views prostitution as something that should be accepted and normalised, or whether it should be discouraged and 'not be allowed to seep in as a normalised part of society' (2008: 127). In her model, Westerstrand focused on discourses rather than policies. She named the two positions 'normalised' and 'abolitionist' and added subcategories within each of them, but the logic underlying her classification is the same as mine: a distinction based on whether commercial sex is dealt with as something to eliminate or to integrate into society.

These policies prefer or deter the use of a dominant language or a set of minority languages, and are linked to more overarching governance of ethnic minority groups. In a discussion of language policy, linguist and educational scholar Terrence Wiley (2015) expanded on a similar taxonomy. Restrictive policies constrain or even penalise the use of minority languages and make various social, political and economic rights and benefits contingent on knowing and using the dominant language. Repressive policies involve an overt attempt to eliminate minority languages and are linked to deculturation or linguistic genocide. Thus, the terminological revision that I propose can be understood as descriptive and not value-laden. Finally, we need to remember that classifications and concepts are scientific tools that help us organise data and how we think about the world. As political scientist Alberto Marradi (1990) puts it, concepts may be judged as more or less appropriate, but as tools they are neither scientific nor unscientific.

2. Understanding the ban: Disciplinary and political contexts

This review of the scholarship discusses commonalities and differences between my study and the relevant work in anthropology, other social sciences, and specific studies of the sex-purchase ban. It is especially important to survey the richness and breadth of understandings of sex work in anthropological research and other social scientific studies on the topic, since a narrow, anti-prostitution discourse is more prevalent in Sweden than it is elsewhere.

We must acknowledge that studies which question this paradigm are in the minority and have been critiqued by other scholars for 'bias' and 'disinformation' (Yttergren and Westerstrand 2016; Waltman 2011, 2021), and even reported as based on fraudulent research (Månsson and Westerstrand 2009). Politicians have also dismissed empirical research on sex work as substandard because sampling and interpretations are said to be skewed, or as biased because researchers and the sex workers they interview are 'pro-prostitution', 'sponsored by the sex industry', 'duped by the prostitution mafia', or 'pimps' (Aquilonius 2021; Sveriges Radio 2015; Hjelm et al. 2013; Världen Idag 2015). These attacks are directed at the research of Susanne Dodillet, Charlotte Holmström, Isabelle Johansson, Don Kulick, and May-Len Skilbrei, to mention but a few, as well as my own previous publications. Work that does not assume the superiority of repressive laws to the decriminalisation of prostitution has been criticised in the media for the same reasons. This context is important to mention, not only to counter these misconceptions for a Swedish audience but also to explain the political situation in Sweden for an international audience.

Swedish studies of prostitution have predominantly been conducted within the discipline of social work. Social workers engaged in the field as professionals and scholars have sought to combat prostitution and rehabilitate sex workers and their clients (see Dodillet 2009; Månsson 2017; Östergren 2006). In recent years, the

discipline has focused less on rehabilitation and more on the discourses and meanings of prostitution, the practices of social agencies and legal authorities, and the health and safety of sex workers (see, for example, de Cabo y Moreda 2018; Grönvall 2024; Holmström et al. 2020; Hulusjö 2013; Kuosmanen and de Cabo y Moreda 2021; Kuosmanen and Starke 2015; Olsson 2021). But these and most other Swedish studies are still characterised by an uneasy relationship between a supposedly 'neutral' academic approach and the state's anti-prostitution politics, reflected in cautious choices of research topics and terminology, as well as anxieties about keeping their research from being interpreted as 'taking sides' or criticising the sex-purchase ban. Neo-abolitionist academics, along with politicians, state authorities and journalists, have attempted to stop studies which they fear might criticise the ban, a situation I discuss in more detail when considering the methodological impact of this political climate (see Chapter 4). Given the Swedish academic and political context, I position my work within the international and anthropological research field, where approaches and studies like mine are acceptable.

Another important component of my research is the law and policy perspective and the theoretical framework it brings to studies on the governance of prostitution. As legal anthropologist Fernanda Pirie (2013) writes, the law plays multiple roles in society and culture. It offers a language to articulate what is regarded as right and just, creates categories of social phenomena and persons, and defines relationships between the state and individuals (see also Coombe 1998; Mundy 2002; Pottage and Mundy 2004). However, anthropological and other socio-legal studies tend to focus on 'law in action' rather than 'law on the books' to such an extent that they may exclude regulatory and legal texts, says Pirie (see also R.L. Abel 1995). Significantly, this critique applies to studies on the governance of prostitution, including the Swedish sex-purchase ban.

In my view, there is much to gain when we engage with the source of law – that is, legal texts, interpretations, evaluations and assessments – as well as with jurisprudence, a discipline that anthropologists tend to avoid because of its normative orientation (von Benda-Beckman 2008). As legal anthropologist Raúl Márquez Porras (2021) argues, legal documents are central to empirical research because they are the primary means of communication between the parties and institutions, and what may appear to be minor technical details can have major implications for how an offence is interpreted and the law defining it is implemented (see Article IV). In this study, I treat the sources of law as

fundamental ethnographic material, and jurisprudence has been crucial not only for finding and interpreting this data but also for highlighting the ban's internal conflicts and contradictions. Moreover, through this engagement with law and jurisprudence I have been able to apply and refine the concept of morality politics. As suggested by legal anthropologists (Donovan and Anderson 2003), importing legal concepts with their more precise definitions into anthropological thinking can advance our critical analyses. The legal concepts of 'consent' and 'paternalism' are particularly important to this study (see Chapter 3 and Article III).

This chapter reviews the anthropological literature on sex commerce and discusses the relatively few anthropological works that bring law and policy to the forefront, as well as the only study that has dealt specifically with the sex-purchase ban. Then it examines other social scientific research on prostitution, which is a much broader field. Next, the chapter surveys the main legal studies of the Swedish ban on purchasing sex, as well as studies from other disciplines that deal specifically with the ban. Since this research field is characterised by two diametrically different understandings of sex commerce, I consider them separately and then compare them. I conclude by discussing the commonalities and differences between my study and the relevant work in anthropology, other social sciences, and specific studies of the sex-purchase ban.

Anthropological studies of sex work

Anthropological studies provide a range of insights into sex work and prostitution. Detailed ethnographies show how cultural notions of sex and gender can be disrupted or reinforced, sometimes in surprising ways, when sex and money are exchanged (Brennan 2004; Koch 2020; Kulick 1998; Prieur 1998; Wardlow 2006). They also demonstrate that class, ethnicity, national governance, economic trends and globalisation shape and interact with the local sex trade (Kelly 2008; Kempadoo 2004; Gregory 2006; Lindquist 2009; Williams 2013; Wilson 2004). Some studies examine the innovative approaches to safety adopted by sex workers and their clients and explore how they manage to operate and resist when the sector is partially or fully criminalised (Day 2007; Koch 2021; Kotiswaran 2011; Zheng 2009). Recent studies have highlighted tensions and gains when sex workers' rights-based struggles overlap with those of other legally marginalised groups, such as gay and transgender activists (Lakkimsetti 2020; Vijayakumar 2021).

Anthropologists have taken great interest in the issue of trafficking for sexual purposes, but trafficking is not part of my research project since in legal terms it is understood as non-consensual. These studies are not reviewed here, but they challenge conventional notions of consent and exploitation, so they are mentioned when they reveal the ambiguity of key terms in the common understandings of prostitution. They also offer important insights into the complexity of what is labelled 'trafficking' and show how anti-trafficking policy under the banner of 'human rights' can adapt to different surroundings, influencing the situation of local sex workers as well (see Åsman 2018; Mahdavi 2011; Merry 2006a; Vance 2012).⁶

From a law and policy perspective, valuable conclusions can be drawn from anthropological and other ethnographic studies. For example, they demonstrate that sex work is a multifaceted social phenomenon that spans a range of experiences and interpretations (Kempadoo and Doezema 1998; Bernstein 2010a; Dewey and Kelly 2011; Jeffrey and MacDonald 2006). Most agree that criminalisation has an adverse impact on sex workers' lives and safety, whereas policies that decriminalise commercial sex work and give sex workers access to civil law and social programmes have positive effects (Dewey et al. 2015; Rottier 2018; Stewart 2014; Vuolajärvi 2019).

Bringing together their long-standing ethnographic research in China, Canada and the United States, Susan Dewey, Treena Orchard and Tiantian Zheng (2015) discuss the operations and effects of what they call 'exclusionary' prostitution regimes. These regimes consist of 'a dense coalescence of punitive forces' that involves both governance in the form of the criminal justice system and other state agents and 'dynamic interpersonal encounters in which individuals both enforce and negotiate stigma-related discrimination against sex workers' (2015: v). These coauthors show that, despite the significant cultural and socioeconomic differences between their field sites, criminalisation and stigma result in similar systemic harms and social exclusion of women who sell sex. Exclusionary regimes force them to work in dangerous areas and result in general mistrust of authorities, which limits their access to safety and support. They make it more difficult for individuals to change their lives on their own terms, as well as inhibiting sex workers' day-to-day solidarity and collective, rights-based organising.

When prostitution is not explicitly illegal, but the conditions under which a sex business can operate are vague and sex work is not formally recognised as

_

⁶ For a thematic review of anthropological studies on trafficking and sex work, see Dewey (2012).

labour, this regime is characterised by what Gabrielle Koch (2020) calls a legal 'greyness'. In her ethnography of the Japanese sex industry, Koch suggests that this ambiguity can benefit the state through 'strategic ambivalence' that allows authorities to crack down on the industry when it is perceived to flout the law or repressing it is politically convenient. As Thaddeus Blanchette and Cristiana Schettini (2017) show, the legal situation is similarly ambiguous in Brazil. Prostitution is not publicly condemned or criminalised, but the law specifies a diffuse offence of 'sexual exploitation', leaving it up to local law enforcement to make decisions regarding sex work. That discretionary power allows police to apply 'their own personal understandings, prejudices, and interests to the situation in accordance with whatever fashions are current in the surrounding society' (2017: 515). In these grey and ambivalent regimes, it is the women who sell sex who are harmed and socially excluded.

The Swedish sex-purchase ban presents a somewhat different puzzle, since its stated political rationale is to prevent women from being harmed by prostitution, even though the ban, like all anti-prostitution laws, worsens conditions for sex workers, diminishing their bargaining power, subjecting them to greater police surveillance, and making their workspaces more unsafe (de Cabo y Moreda and Hall 2021; Holmström and Skilbrei 2017; Levy and Jakobsson 2014; see also Benoit et al. 2018b). In the only previous anthropological work on the Swedish ban, Don Kulick (2003) takes this peculiarity as one of his analytical starting points. Why, he wonders, when feminists are confronted with the results of the ban, do they respond that the 'message' of a prostitution-free Sweden is more important than sex workers' well-being? Asking what else the ban signals, Kulick suggests we should understand it as a response to Sweden's 1995 accession to the European Union (EU). Swedes sought not only to protect their country from the threat of being engulfed by its more populous and powerful neighbours but also to appear as a shining moral example to them. Thus, for Swedes the criminalisation of purchasing sexual services functioned as both national projection and moral positioning in the new multinational community. In a later article, Kulick (2005a) sees the offence, other sex laws, and the discourse about sex buyers as signs of an ongoing reorganisation of Swedish sexuality. The ban and the pathologisation of the sex buyer, he believes, serve the Swedish state's determination to entrench a healthy national sexuality, which is twosome, egalitarian, and free.

Social science scholarship on prostitution

For decades, the sex trade has interested researchers from virtually all social science disciplines, and each discipline investigates the phenomenon according to its own theories and methods. Situated in a wide range of places, these studies examine various constellations of people, based on their abilities, age, class, ethnicity, gender and sexuality, to explore how prostitution is experienced and understood by sex workers, their clients, families and third parties, civil organisations, policymakers and the general public. Researchers have investigated how history, culture, notions of sex and gender, economics and politics affect participants, the trade, and policymakers, often scrutinising changes over time. Many projects are multidisciplinary, with contributors from anthropology, sociology, history, and geography, women's and queer studies, criminology, political science and policy, as well as public health and social work (see, for instance, Campbell and O'Neill 2006; de Cabo y Moreda et al. 2021; Dewey and Kelly 2011; Gangoli and Westmarland 2006; Hardy et al. 2010; Kempadoo and Doezema 1998; Munro and Della Giusta 2008; Outshoorn 2004; Phoenix 2009; Sanders et al. 2009; Showden and Majic 2014; Skilbrei and Spanger 2018; Ward and Wylie 2017; Weitzer 2022).

Recently, scholars have come together to explore specific aspects of sex commerce, such as the production and effects of stigma (Bjønness et al. 2022), how exploitation in consensual sex work can be understood and countered (Benoit 2021), how 'third sector organisations' providing support services to and advocacy for sex workers both participate in and are subject to normative power (Crowhurst et al. 2021), international perspectives on postsecondary students' participation in sex work (Jones and Sanders 2022), and historical comparisons of how prostitution has been practiced, perceived by the public, and regulated around the world (García et al. 2017). Others enrich the scholarship by exploring how central, but previously unexamined concepts such as 'human dignity' are invoked by different sides in the social, political, and legal debates (Cunningham 2021), and sex workers' own understandings of concepts such as health, care, and 'ideal' practices (Macon et al. 2023).

In this vast array of studies, the governing of prostitution holds an important place, although, as Hendrik Wagenaar (2018: 2) notes, few have analysed 'the more mundane' aspects of prostitution policy, which include the rules and procedures that make a national policy a feasible administrative programme. Instead, the

literature is mainly devoted to discussing how the sex trade is shaped by discourse and by external influences, such as national and international policy regimes and shifts in economics and governmentality. In social scientific studies on the governance of prostitution, as in anthropological studies, few have engaged directly with the instruments of policy, including specific legislation. Wagenaar and his colleagues have contributed to an increased focus on law and policy (see Wagenaar and Altink 2012; Wagenaar et al. 2013; Wagenaar et al. 2017; Wagenaar 2017; Jahnsen and Wagenaar 2018). The connections these scholars make between prostitution and morality politics has been especially significant for my study, and I will return to their work in the next chapter when I discuss the thesis's conceptual and theoretical frameworks. Morality politics is also the main topic of Article III.

Previous studies of the sex-purchase ban

According to Swedish legal scholars, the sex-purchase ban fails to meet the minimum standards of legal consistency, coherence and legibility. This set of arguments shapes my critique of the ban and my suggestions for an alternative approach, so it must come first in the analysis of previous studies of this law.

Legal studies of the ban

Several legal studies have analysed how the Swedish sex-purchase ban relates to fundamental criminal legal principles and other legal rules through a critical legal positivist analysis (Tuori 2002), which examines how well the 'surface' law corresponds with the 'deep level' of legal principles. Those who have scrutinised the ban from this perspective have found it seriously wanting.

Per Ole Träskman discusses the ban in terms of the interaction of sexual morality and criminal law (1998) and the ban's relationship to the principle of legality and *ultima ratio*, the idea that criminalisation and the use of force should be the last resort in combating unwanted behaviour (2005). He also examines the comprehensibility and clarity of the criminal provision (2009). Claes Lernestedt and Kai Hamdorf (1999–2000, 2000–2001) have explored the purpose of the ban based on its object of protection. In other works, Lernestedt has used the ban on purchasing sex as an example of legislation that is justified by the 'multitude of interests' at work in the criminal law (2003) and the general legal evolution of

a shift in understandings regarding freedom and voluntariness in penal law (2004). Ten years after the ban was instituted, he found that legal perceptions of sex purchase and the seller have evolved into a two-sided understanding: as a structural crime unrelated to a physical reality, and as an actual crime that causes individual damage (2010). Petter Asp and Magnus Ulväng (2007) analyse the ban in relation to fundamental legal principles of what ought to be criminalised, especially testing what they consider its premise: that buying sex involves undue exploitation. Ulväng (2009) has also discussed the penal provision as an example of the gradual shift in criminal law from a blaming to a controlling function. From these works, I summarise what I consider to be the most compelling critiques, which provided me with important insights that are especially valuable for scholars without formal training in law.

When the ban was introduced, it was unclear what lawmakers meant by key terms, such as what was included in 'sexual relations', what was to be considered 'temporary', and how to prove that someone was 'trying to obtain' a temporary sexual relation. These terms had not been discussed in the preparatory works, as is usually done. While the terminological ambiguities were resolved relatively easily in a state inquiry (RP 2004/05:45) and court case (Högsta Domstolen 2001), it was more troubling that the ban lacked a clear purpose (*straffbudsintresse*) and its object of protection (*skyddsobjekt*) was not defined, according to the scholars (Asp and Ulväng 2007; Lernestedt and Hamdorf 1999–2000, 2000–2001; Träskman 1998, 2005).

The purpose of a penal law should ideally be clear and well-defined, but the bill had had so many disparate goals, which were not ranked by priority, that Lernestedt (2003) has likened it to a 'smorgasbord of reasons'. While the ultimate goal is an equal society, the purposes of the prohibition include combatting the sex trade, deterring men from paying for sex, helping and protecting those who sell sex, and counteracting their social exclusion. The prohibition is also intended to prevent economic crimes, drug offences, and violence. Furthermore, it aims to 'signal' (*markera*) how Swedish society views the sex trade both to its own people and internationally, as well as to support those who wish to introduce a ban in their own countries (RP 1997/98:55, 104-105).

A multitude of objectives arise when there is no single predominant interest that supports a penal provision, Lernestedt explains, or when there is no single sufficiently strong argument for criminalisation. The legislators seek to pre-empt anticipated criticisms of the bill's shortcomings with a multiplicity of arguments.

This situation arises either because the legislators are attempting to conceal the true basis for criminalisation, Lernestedt suggests, or because they do not quite know why something should be criminalised – only that it must be done (2003: 171). This suggestion correlates with the critique that the law was passed despite the warnings of leading official bodies (see Dodillet 2009 and Kulick 2003). Träskman (2005) agrees with this criticism and points to other unusual features of the criminalisation process.

At the committee stage in Parliament, the arguments for and against the bill were not discussed in the customary 'factual, objective and unprejudiced way', and the decision was not made in accordance with the kind of rationality that is considered an absolute requirement, especially for new criminalisations, Träskman (2005: 78) maintains. Instead, like the public debate, the parliamentary discussion was dominated by a hegemonic discourse that dismissed critical voices as ideologically incorrect (2005: 89; see also Asp and Ulväng 2009). Moreover, as the principles of a defensive criminal law are formulated by the Swedish government and legal doctrine (Asp et al. 2013; SOU 2013:38), criminalisation should be a last resort, directed at only the most reprehensible or harmful acts when all other measures have proved insufficient. Further, criminalisation should be expected to decrease the prevalence of the illegal act without having adverse consequences for the innocent, but the ban failed to meet these requirements (Asp and Ulväng 2007; Träskman 2005).

Among the most striking legal peculiarities is that the object of protection was never specified in the legislation, although in 2001 the court found that the ban sought to protect public order (Högsta Domstolen 2001). Lernestedt and Hamdorf (1999–2000, 2000–2001) came to that conclusion before the court ruled. According to the critical legal scholars, public order means the public's perception of morally acceptable sexual behaviour. Since the ban also aims to protect 'equality' and 'dignity' in society and to protect individuals from a 'degrading' or 'destructive' lifestyle, it essentially involves safeguarding a particular morality, they argue. Asp and Ulväng (2007: 51) agree, maintaining that the ban is about protecting a form of sexual relations that is deemed morally 'good' or 'worthy', simply put, 'sex within a couple in the context of a loving relationship – where sex for money does not fit', which is not sufficient to justify the criminalisation.

Another problematic feature is that the crime is not ascribed to an individual's concrete, harmful actions, which is a fundamental requirement for criminalisation. In the preparatory works, the legislators described the criminal

act as men purchasing access to women's 'sex', that is their genitalia, and that men 'use the seller' to satisfy their own sexual urges and needs (RP 1997/98:55, 104; SOU 1995:15, 212). The legislators were not concerned with how the perpetrator (the buyer) physically violates the victim (the seller), but instead focused on what the buyer ultimately aims to achieve and how this undermines the ideal of a gender-equal society. Lernestedt (2004: 418) contends that individuals who purchase sex are punished for a socially structured male crime, which amounts to 'collective punishment,' or what the world of sports calls a 'team penalty'. In addition, Lernestedt (2010) draws attention to the contradictory police practice of waiting to apprehend the sex-purchaser until the offence has been committed, in order to obtain evidence that can be used to convict the purchaser or to target crimes that are more serious, such as procuring or human trafficking. But if purchasing sex is regarded as an act of violence and abuse, it should not be allowed to be completed before the police intervene.

Finally, legal scholars have criticised the sex-purchase ban for being paternalistic. In his classic essay on the relationship between the state, criminal law, and private morality, Herbert Hart (1963) discussed the legal status of paternalism, rooted in John Stuart Mills's libertarianism. In Hart's view, the liberal rule of law is only justified in obstructing the will of a citizen to prevent someone else from being harmed; otherwise the behaviour must be legal. Although it is not always possible to draw a clear line between individual and society, and there can be good cause to use the law for reasons other than preventing harm, nothing justifies criminalising what society considers immoral. 'Moral legislation' is therefore immoral; when the state tries to protect people from themselves it is unwanted paternalism, Hart maintained. Or, as Lernestedt (2003: 213) put it, it is paternalistic if an action is criminalised to protect a person from something that person is willing to do. That is exactly how the crime of buying sex is constructed. This crime depends on the sex worker giving consent; if they did not, it would be rape.

The objection that the provision is needed to protect sex workers from something they later regret, which has been stated in Swedish political and legal debate, carries no legal weight, Asp and Ulväng (2007) argue. Although, as the scholars concede, that might be true under some circumstances in real life (see also Lernestedt 2004), the rule of law precludes the prohibition of actions that people may regret later on. To explain what they mean, Asp and Ulväng draw on the legal principle of self-determination that is closely related to the principle of

tolerance: even if the majority of society perceives a person's choices or behaviours within the private sphere as strange, unusual, or morally indecent, they should still be permitted. The same principles mean that deliberately exposing oneself to potential harm through one's behaviour should be allowed as long as it does not adversely affect others. For example, the state is legally tolerant of people who wish to get tattoos, engage in dangerous sports, or participate in unusual sexual activities. Since the person selling sex is presumed to consent to the act, and the act is not considered to cause direct harm, the ban on buying sex creates a situation where the sex worker is prevented from exercising their right to self-determination, argue Asp and Ulväng (2007: 30), in effect declaring them legally incompetent (*omyndigförklarade*) (see also Lernestedt 2010).

In conclusion, according to Swedish legal doctrine the provisions of the ban on purchasing sexual acts on the basis of mutual consent lack legal legitimacy and do not conform to the rule of law. Hence, the ban may be understood as an example of paternalistic moral law, a contemporary variant of an older, Christian morality that prohibited extramarital and nonmarital sex (Asp and Ulväng 2007; Träskman 1998, 2005). According to Lernestedt (2003: 169), the concept of crimes of 'vice' (sedlighetsbrott) has been transformed into the less value-laden terms of offences against 'public order'.

These scholars highlight the contradictions and draw similar conclusions as the critical researchers in the social sciences: that the ban on purchasing sex does not have the desired consequences and ultimately aims to establish and maintain a norm of sexual morality.

Generally, jurisprudence seeks to resolve the internal legal ambiguities, logical gaps, and problems involving conflicting legal principles, but it evidently fails to do so when analysing the ban on purchasing sex. When this happens, legal scholars ask whether it is the principles or the laws that need to be changed (Lernestedt 2004; Ulväng 2009). But I regard legal contradictions and ambivalences differently. Paradoxes are especially interesting to anthropologists, and may even be the very phenomena we study. A person's or group's statement about what is or should be done and what is actually being done are often incongruent, but the gap between statements and the acts gives us real insight into what is going on in the society or culture. Thus, in my analysis there is no instrumental expectation for a 'solution' to inconsistencies; rather, the inconsistencies themselves constitute our field. In this thesis, it is the interpretation of the ban's legal ambivalence that is of greatest interest (Article IV).

Social science studies of the ban

The Swedish ban on purchasing sex initially aroused attention because of its perceived exceptionality, so it was first called the 'Swedish model'. As the act of purchasing sexual services from a consenting adult was criminalised in Canada, France, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Northern Ireland, and Norway, it was renamed the 'Nordic' or the 'End Demand' model (Crowhurst and Skilbrei 2022). Exactly what these models include is rather vague and arbitrary (see also FitzGerald and Skilbrei 2022; Skilbrei and Holmström 2016), but the criminalisation of buying sex is their key common element. These bans have been analysed in their own right and in relation to Swedish discourse and political advocacy (Levy-Aronovic et al. 2021; McMenzie et al. 2019; McGarry and FitzGerald 2019; Calderaro and Giametta 2019; Crowhurst and Skilbrei 2022; Skilbrei and Holmström 2016; Haak 2020; Ward and Wylie 2017). Moreover, as the ban has been increasingly connected with anti-trafficking measures, the literature has expanded even further.

This review does not include the body of empirical studies from Sweden that examine how sex workers and clients experience prostitution and how social and legal authorities relate to commercial sex. Although the sex-purchase ban can be included in these studies, it is an incidental matter and is rarely discussed in a critical manner (Bacio 2023; de Cabo y Moreda 2018; Grönvall 2024; Olsson 2021; Hulusjö 2013; Kuosmanen and de Cabo y Moreda 2021; Kuosmanen and Starke 2015; Scaramuzzino 2014).

When considering previous studies of the sex-purchase ban, it is helpful to acknowledge that most social scientific research on prostitution and sex work is based on one of two distinct understandings of commercial sex, which are closely aligned with different feminist theories.

Two distinct perspectives on the sex trade

In a review of studies on commercial sex in Anglo-American societies, sociologist Ronald Weitzer (2009) defines one strand as operating in a framework he calls 'the oppression paradigm', which is guided by a radical feminist theory that associates all forms of commercial sex with male dominance, violence, and structural oppression. The other strand belongs to what he terms the 'polymorphous' paradigm, which understands commercial sex as containing both oppressive and liberating elements. A review of more recent scholarship on the situation of people engaged in sex work around the world by Cecilia Benoit,

Michaela Smith, Mikael Jansson, Priscilla Healey, and Doug Magnuson (2018b) differentiates two main positions: one that understands commercial sex as an institution of hierarchal gender relations which legitimises male sex-buyers' exploitation of women who sell sexual services, and another that understands sex work as a form of commodified labour under capitalism where multiple forms of social inequality intersect. Despite their differing conceptual framings, both ways of defining these two strands posit fundamental differences in their philosophical and theoretical understandings of what constitutes consent, coercion and exploitation in and outside of the sex industry (Benoit 2021; Rand and Simpson 2023).

This assessment that studies of commercial sex are based on two different underlying notions is shared by several other scholars, although they use different terms. For instance, in her discussion of feminist views on prostitution, legal scholar Jane Scoular (2004) speaks of the radical feminist or domination theory versus the sex-radical and postmodern theory. Political scientist Joyce Outshoorn (2005) calls the two feminist frames that have informed prostitution debates at the state and supranational level the radical feminist 'sexual dominance' approach and the second-wave feminist 'pro-rights or sex work approach'. The historical account offered by sociologist Kamala Kempadoo (2017) identifies radical feminist abolitionist studies and sex work studies. Similarly, in her analysis of international discourses on prostitution and trafficking, legal scholar Jenny Westerstrand (2008) draws the line between 'abolitionistic' and 'normalised' positions, while sociologist Julia O'Connell Davidson (2002) speaks of 'abolitionist' and 'sex work' 'lobbyists' in Euro-American feminist debates.

Another major difference between the strands, according to Benoit et al. (2018b), Scoular (2004), and Weitzer (2009), is the disparity in the body of evidence that provides the empirical basis for these positions. While scholarly work based on the oppression paradigm/dominance theory is rather weak, the polymorphous/sex radical view is based on more solid data. Radical feminists, however, protest that this claim is unjust (for the international debates, see Moran and Farley 2019 and the response by Benoit et al. 2019; for the Swedish debate, see Yttergren and Westerstrand 2016).

By and large, previous studies on the Swedish sex-purchase ban are mainly based on these two understandings, which have differing empirical foundations.

Two takes on the ban

One body of research on the Swedish offence understands prostitution as an exploitative practice rooted in and reinforcing the structural and institutional oppression of women. These studies are primarily based on Swedish prostitution policy discourses, interviews with policymakers and people engaged in anti-prostitution NGOs, as well as large-scale surveys on how the ban has affected societal attitudes and the extent of the sex industry. The overall conclusion is that the ban is beneficial to women who sell sex, or at the very least advances equality in society because it combats prostitution, and it came about thanks to the prolonged efforts of a strong women's movement and a government commitment to gender equality (Eduards 2007; Ekberg 2004; Erikson 2011, 2017; Raymond 2004; Månsson 2017; Svanström 2004, 2006c; Waltman 2021; Westerstrand 2008). Yvonne Svanström (2017a) argues that the ban and the debate on prostitution must be situated in the context of Swedish state feminism, a 'woman-friendly' social welfare system that enables women to depend on the state rather than on a male partner.

While my understanding of commercial sex differs from these studies' viewpoint, I think they offer substantial knowledge and valuable insights. From her interviews with key actors behind the ban inside and outside Parliament, Josefine Erikson (2011, 2017) describes what have been called 'remarkable political ad hoc events' (Yttergren and Westerstrand 2016: 48) that led to its passage. Erikson emphasises that the way the ban's proponents framed the problem of prostitution - as gender inequality related to male violence - laid the basis for its solution through criminal law. Yvonne Svanström (2004, 2005, 2006a, b, c, 2017a, b, 2022) has traced the ideas behind the ban on purchasing sex to the 19th-century Swedish movement to abolish state-regulated prostitution, and shown that the offence of vagrancy was used to surveil sex workers and sentence them to forced labour during the interwar period. The detailed historical accounts by Svanström and ethnologist Rebecka Lennartsson (2002, 2019) on the grave injustices committed by law enforcement and society toward women selling sex from the 18th century on enable us to see the continuation of these exclusionary regimes in current Swedish prostitution policy.

The second body of studies comprehends commercial sex as a multifaceted phenomenon. While these works are also based on discursive material and interviews with policymakers, they combine this material with empirical data on how the ban and other policy measures are enforced and affect people who sell

sex, based on interviews with sex workers and clients. These studies conclude that the ban has led neither to a reduction in the extent of the sex trade nor to an improvement of the lives and working conditions of sex workers; on the contrary, the ban has put them in a more vulnerable situation (Bernstein 2012; Danna 2012; Garofalo 2016; Goodyear and Weitzer 2011; Gould 2001; Holmström and Skilbrei 2017; Kulick 2003; Levy 2015; Scoular 2004; Wagenaar et al. 2017). And while the long, hard work of feminists led to the introduction of the ban, this form of radical feminism fits well within an authoritarian Swedish political culture (Dodillet 2009; Gould 2001; Jakobsson and Levy 2014; Kulick and J. Rydström 2017; Levy 2015) and is characterised by white, heterosexual and cisgender normativity (Crowhurst and Skilbrei 2022).

According to the critical studies, the ban should therefore not be understood as an expression of modern equality politics but as a form of 'neoliberal governance' (Scoular 2010), 'carceral feminism' (Bernstein 2012), and 'punitive humanitarianism' (Vuolajärvi 2019). In the only previous anthropological studies, both conducted by Don Kulick (2003, 2005a), the ban is considered as what Gayle Rubin (1992) terms a 'sex law', an instrument for the Swedish state to reinforce a normative heterosexuality that also serves as a means of national projection and positioning.

My thesis aligns with the critical prostitution studies' multifaceted understanding of commercial sex. Like Kulick's work, it focuses on the peculiarities of the offence and explores the social, political and cultural roles the sex-purchase ban plays and the meanings, hopes and fears its proponents attach to the ban. As an anthropological study, it understands law as a language to articulate what is right and just, creating categories of social phenomena and people and defining relationships between state and individuals. But, since this thesis examines a criminal law, the concepts of exclusionary regimes and strategic ambivalence are of particular importance in understanding laws' effects on sex workers' civic and legal rights. The thesis diverges in some analytical and methodological respects from all these studies, with a specific set of research questions and new conclusions.

Next, I explain the fundamentally different research parameters I used, then show how these led to different questions and conclusions.

My approach

The ban is indeed a 'sex law' in Rubin's (1992) sense, as anti-prostitution law is one of the state instruments used to create and maintain sex hierarchies. But this thesis questions the understanding of the Swedish ban as a unique or unprecedented anti-prostitution measure. By comparing it with similar offences in other countries that also target the act of purchasing sexual services, I have found many variants of such laws, such as the ban on kerb crawling that England and Wales introduced in 1985. Soliciting, usually defined as offering to have sex in exchange for payment, can also include asking someone to have sex in exchange for payment. Prosecuting clients for soliciting sex increased during the mid-1990s in some cities in Canada and the US, even without formal changes in the law (Bernstein 2001; Campbell et al. 2018; Weitzer 2012; see also Jahnsen and Wagenaar 2018; García et al. 2017). Moreover, instead of treating the offence in isolation, as much of the literature does, I consider it in relation to all other Swedish laws and regulations directed toward the sex industry. This includes criminal law, such as the ban against procuring, and civil law, including tax legislation, contract law, and health and medical care laws, as well as how this regulatory framework is applied to the sector. Thus, I treat the sex-purchase ban in a comparative and contextual perspective and attempt to make sense of the ban in relation to the entire Swedish prostitution policy, which I characterise as repressive (see Article I and II).

Analysing the incentives behind and the effects of the sex-purchase ban and other exclusionary regimes at the intersection of social inequalities such as gender, sexuality, class, ethnicity, and location has led to many insights. So have investigations into political cultures, national aspirations, and macro-perspectives such as neoliberalism and globalism. This thesis situates the issue within the theoretical framework of morality politics, where these factors play a part. I consider the peculiarities of the ban of purchasing sex and other repressive anti-prostitution policies in relation to a cluster of other issues of morality politics, such as recreational drugs, homosexuality, and abortion. Moreover, approaching morality politics from an anthropological micro-perspective means that I attempt to understand the incentives behind changes in prostitution law from the viewpoints of the actors engaged in promoting and opposing the ban, rather than only the influence of macro-level forces.

Most of the current literature on the ban relies on discursive data, what policymakers and stakeholders say about what the sex-purchase ban is and does. This focus leads to analytical shortcomings, since what legislators and proponents describe as the purpose of the law is not always in accordance with what the offence means in a legal sense. This thesis draws on a much broader range of documentation: material stemming from the source of law; the statute itself; the legislative history as well as later official government inquiries; case law, that is, court judgements; and the legal doctrine, meaning commentaries, theses, and articles on jurisprudence. This extensive body of data from multiple perspectives has enabled me to identify not only the ban's political-legal peculiarities but also contradictions among its interpretations and between its theoretical assumptions and its implications in practice.

A final difference between this and other studies is that I have followed the ban over a longer period, which offers significant advantages. Legal processes are slow-moving. It can take decades for a parliamentary bill to reach a vote, become law, be implemented, and for its praxis to become established. It also takes time for legal dilemmas to become apparent, whether they are inherent in the law or arise from conflicts between it and other relevant laws; then their effects must be evaluated, and corrections may need to be made. These long-term developments yield crucial insights into the ban and the dynamics of morality politics.

Next, I discuss the impact of these differences in research parameters through a closer examination of the critical literature that discusses why Sweden implemented the sex-purchase ban and what the ban means to Swedes.

Why the ban was instituted and what it means

Kulick (2003) concludes that criminalising the clients of sex workers was an indirect way for Swedes to respond to the country's 1995 accession to the EU. He analysed Swedish prostitution discourse from 1993 to 2000, including politicians' statements, thousands of newspaper articles, and a handful of books and official reports. Kulick says that the sex-purchase ban served both as national positioning – Sweden taking the moral high ground over the other EU member countries – and as national projection – fear of how the other countries would challenge or undermine Sweden's distinctive culture. But it did so at the expense of sex workers' well-being. To an anthropologist, Kulick says, that is no surprise: prostitution is standard grounds for a 'moral panic', and sex workers are prime

examples of what anthropologist Mary Douglas (1966) called 'matters out of place'. They challenge boundaries and carry an 'electrifying taboo—in both senses of that word: forbidden and powerful' (Kulick 2003: 208). Hence, prostitution is 'a channel' through which public anxiety about social change can be expressed. Although social processes are not reducible to psychodynamic processes, Kulick argues that nations may be distinguished by how they are imagined by their citizens (see Anderson 1983) and that these imaginings involve psychosocial processes such as repression and projection. Hence, the Swedish discourse and sex-purchase ban served both as national positioning – Sweden taking the moral high ground over the other European countries – and as national projection – fear of what the other European countries would do to Sweden.

A similar conclusion was put forward earlier by criminologist Arthur Gould (2001), who examined inquiries and other official documents on prostitution and parliamentary and media debates between 1995 and 1999. He also interviewed representatives from women's sections of all the major political parties and from some prominent feminist NGOs. Gould relates the sex-purchase ban, as well as the country's repressive drug policy, to Swedish politics, which he says is characterised more by paternalism than by liberalism. Authoritarian radical feminism, with its zero tolerance of prostitution, would thus have considerable appeal and influence. Both prostitution and drug discourse intersect and present absolutist, emotionally charged portraits of victimhood: of sex workers coerced into the sex trade, just as drug users involuntarily become addicted. Liberal ideas in other countries are portrayed as a serious threat to Swedish society, with drugs and sex workers 'pouring' into the country through the EU and Eastern Europe. The nationalist trope posits that only Sweden has not 'capitulated' to the drug or prostitution problem and has a 'unique' drug or prostitution policy that other countries should follow.

Variations of these findings and arguments have continued to circulate since the ban's passage. During three years of fieldwork in Sweden in the early 2010s, cultural geographer and human rights investigator Jay Levy (2015) interviewed around a hundred stakeholders, including sex workers, social workers, police and NGO representatives, to explore the ideas framing the ban and its impact on people who sell sex. He contends that the Swedish goal to eradicate prostitution should be understood in terms of state control and social exclusion. Groups perceived as inferior, deviant and disruptive have been subject to compulsory treatment, sterilisation, and confinement to achieve the Swedish vision of creating a 'pure',

rational, and orderly welfare state, in which the nation was imagined as 'the people's home' (*folkhemmet*). Sociologist Greggory Mattson (2015) relied primarily on interviews with policymakers when he examined the changes in Swedish, Finnish, German and Dutch regulation of prostitution that took place during the early 2000s. Mattson too understands the new prostitution laws in the context of fears about the transfer of sovereignty to the EU and the consequences of globalisation. These laws provided states with means to govern 'loose' women, each according to its distinct cultural repertoire. The Swedish reform emphasised the welfare state and feminism, as well as protecting national values under external pressure.

Recently, criminologists Malcom Langford and May-Len Skilbrei (2021) have used branding theory in a comparative media content analysis of the 'Nordic prostitution model' in the period 2012–2017, showing that Sweden both drew on and tried to strengthen its national brand in its international promotion of the sex-purchase ban. According to gender scholar Lukas Bullock (2023), the continued work by the Swedish state to frame the ban in feminist terms functions as an important component of Sweden's feminist foreign policy. On the basis of research reports, published interviews and political statements between 2004 and 2020, Bullock concludes that the ban furthers the nation's international image as a progressive feminist state.

New conclusions raise new questions

That the sex-purchase ban can be understood as an expression of the desire to position Sweden as a morally superior nation is one of the conclusions of my previous work, which analysed three decades of Swedish anti-pornography and anti-prostitution discourse from the mid-1970s until the mid-2000s (Östergren 2003, 2006). I also had ongoing contact with about twenty sex workers and interviewed a handful of policymakers. As one of the sex workers said when we discussed the hegemonic view in Swedish debates, refusing to allow criticism of the nation's prostitution policy is a typically Swedish sentiment that 'we are the best, we know how to do everything' (2006: 207). When I asked one of the leading parliamentarians behind the ban for her thoughts about why other countries legalised prostitution while Sweden made the purchase of sex illegal, she responded that it was logical since Sweden is the most advanced country in the world when it comes to gender equality (2006: 208).

Certainly, Sweden has a long history of aspiring to be a 'moral' or 'humanitarian superpower' (see Dahl 2006), but examining this choice of prostitution policy and considering it within a framework of morality politics leads to different conclusion and new questions.

Given the country's strong commitment to labour rights, decriminalising prostitution and integrating the sector and its various parties into existing legal and civic frameworks could have been an alternative approach to the goal of claiming moral superiority. To grant people selling sexual services access to the same protections and benefits as other working individuals could arguably be perceived as a morally superior and progressive feminist move. Indeed, the overarching and explicit objectives of the New Zealand prostitution reform are to uphold the human rights of sex workers, shield them from exploitation, and champion their welfare, occupational health, and safety (PRA 2003).

As Gould (2001) observes, the nationalist trope posits that Sweden has 'unique' drug and prostitution policies that other countries should follow. When criminologist and historian Johan Edman and criminologist Henrik Tham (2022) consider Swedish drug policy in an international context from the mid-1980s on, they depict a political discourse and trajectory that is almost identical to that of its prostitution policy. Despite government efforts to picture its repressive drug policy as a success and influence other countries to adopt similar measures, Edman and Tham find that official claims of progress in combating drug use are based on inaccurate statistics and unfounded conclusions. When confronted with the ineffectiveness of its policy and its high levels of drug-related deaths, Sweden retreats from the claims of success and instead defends the policy by reference to the protection of democracy, welfare, and human rights, the very same buzzwords used to defend both its repressive prostitution policy and its integrative policies on abortion and same-sex relationships. Even the tensions are similar, and dissenting academic voices have been met by strong political and media opposition.

While it is indisputable that both policy topics and Sweden's 'international entrepreneurship' can serve as 'a national resource and is a moral mission with long historical roots' (Edman and Tham 2022: 79), we must acknowledge that its choice of drug policy is no more a given than its choice of prostitution policy. If Sweden wanted to make a global impact as a morally enlightened and advanced nation, it could have decriminalised recreational drugs and introduced evidence-based harm reduction measures, especially given its commitment to universal public healthcare. My point is this: Given the clear parallels, it makes sense to

analyse Swedish prostitution and drug policy choices in conjunction, as Gould (2001) and Levy (2015, 2017) have attempted to do. But while they and others argue that we should understand the choice of repressive policies as an outcome of an authoritarian political attitude (see also Dodillet 2009; Kulick and J. Rydström 2017), this argument does not hold if we consider these choices in relation to other issues of morality politics.

The literature on morality politics, which is discussed in detail in the next chapter, makes it abundantly clear that the debates on and governance of homosexuality, pornography, gambling and abortion share many similar features. These issues are exceptionally emotionally charged and inflammatory, fact-resistant, have symbolic rather than economic importance, and, despite being endlessly debated, are never resolved. Sweden's 'weak liberal and strong paternalist tradition' (Gould 2001: 452) might be relevant to its policies on prostitution and drugs, but not to its policies on homosexuality (decriminalised in 1944) and abortion (decriminalised in 1938). Therefore, approaching these issues as a cluster transforms the research question. Why have prostitution and drug use been met with repression, while abortion and homosexuality have been recognised as rights in Sweden? This thesis does not purport to answer this question through a comparative analysis, but rather to advance the empirical and theoretical foundation on which to consider it.

Levy's (2017) work on Swedish drug policy has been rightly critiqued for its methodology and analytical inconsistency (see, Edman 2019), and his book on prostitution policy (2015) is equally troubling. However, these books provide a wealth of insights into the reasoning of the stakeholders he interviews, and he has a point when he argues that the Swedish goal to eradicate prostitution and drug use should be understood in historical terms of control and social exclusion. As the concept of exclusionary regimes (Dewey et al. 2015) implies, these terms are not specific to Swedish law, but common to all repressive prostitution policy. Applied to the broader spectrum of morality politics, it means that when we consider a nation's policy choices, we must also examine its relationship with its different societal outliers. Returning to Kulick's (2003) suggestion, if societies' conceptions of themselves are pervaded by psychosocial processes, by definition these processes involve not only repression but also integration. We can understand morality politics and its laws as guarding the boundaries between notions of civilisation and barbarisms or decadence, which are connected with a country's self-image. So, rephrasing the question, we can consider why

proponents of the sex-purchase ban assume that something fundamental to prostitution is socially undesirable and must be expelled to achieve and maintain a civilised society. As I show in Articles III and IV, these policy decisions might be indicative of broader discourses surrounding notions of belonging and marginalisation, inclusion and exclusion within the national body and the country's imagined identity.

My research parameters also lead to different conclusions about why prostitution appeared on the political agenda in so many countries during the same period. As Kulick (2003), Gould (2001) and others have argued, it was a response to anxieties about changes in global power balances and the influx of immigrants from poorer countries. Yet considering prostitution policy in relation to the cluster of other issues of morality politics, in conjunction with the perspectives of the actors in the field, suggests a less abstract reason behind policy changes: that these states were responding to the demands of sex workers' rights movements. Changes in policies regarding same-sex relationships and abortion also came in response to campaigns by homosexuals and women opposed to involuntary motherhood.

Understanding the policy direction arising from factors related to morality politics suggests another perspective on which actors and agendas determined the Swedish sex-purchase ban. As previous studies conclude, Swedish women's movements played an instrumental role in the introduction of the ban. But, as work by Svanström (2006a), Erikson (2011) and myself (Östergren 2006) shows, this anti-prostitution advocacy, rooted in 19th-century century abolitionism, always consisted of coalitions between distinct interest groups, including the medical establishment, various Christian organisations, and progressive and conservative groups. Sociologist Elisabeth Bernstein (2010b), in her discussion of the politics of contemporary anti-trafficking campaigns, notes that neoabolitionist feminists and evangelical Christians come together to advocate for harsher penalties against traffickers and the customers of sex workers. Considering their renowned disagreements around the politics of sex and gender, Bernstein aptly calls them 'strange bedfellows' (see also Jackson et al. 2017). The literature on morality politics, however, identifies this characteristic as one of its common features. Political divisions on issues such as recreational drugs, surrogacy or assisted suicide do not fall along the usual lines of left vs. right or secular vs. religious; rather, umbrella coalitions allow the issue to be formulated and addressed as a 'general problem'.

Special interest groups always compete to shape policy and its implementation, but I suggest that in morality politics law and policy are contested between what are often called 'moral reform' and 'civil rights' movements over whether people who engage in 'sinful' behaviour should be restricted and punished or accorded individual rights. Hence, what is decisive for policy choices on prostitution is whether the government allies itself with actors who wish either to reform the 'other' or to reform society to ensure that the marginalised group enjoys the same rights as other citizens. In Sweden, it was the moral reform movements' agenda and rhetoric that Parliament adopted when it introduced the ban on buying sex.

As scholars in the field of prostitution studies employ a variety of concepts and theoretical frameworks drawn from political science, sociology, and criminology, in the next chapter I explain how I differ from them and why I adopted and modified the framework of morality politics, through which I arrived at these conclusions.

3. Morality politics and prostitution law: Theoretical frameworks and concepts

Numerous studies examine the Swedish sex-purchase ban and its international counterparts from a multitude of analytical perspectives. Since I too had written on the matter, for a long time I did not find theoretical frameworks and empirically grounded concepts that would enable me to contribute to this body of scholarship. It was by observing how people and states related to the ban over a long period of time, acquiring legal knowledge, and noticing the parallels with other contentious political issues, especially those related to homosexuality, abortion, gambling, and especially recreational drugs, that I recognised the ban could be analysed within a theoretical framework of morality politics. The ban's controversies, peculiarities, and contradictions can be understood as characteristic of that class of issues, providing a platform for new insights and questions.

While morality politics provides a fruitful framework to explore how issues such as prostitution are perceived, discussed, and governed in liberal democracies, the field is not clearly delimited. Moreover, few studies of prostitution law and policy have drawn on the theory of morality politics, which was developed by political scientists, and I have not found any anthropologists who have done so. In this thesis, I not only show how the framework of morality politics can be used to analyse the Swedish ban on sex-purchase, but also propose a refined definition that raises new questions and suggests perspectives that are relevant for anthropology.

For this conceptual work, besides utilising my own research and the literature on morality politics, I have turned to related fields of jurisprudence and its reasoning about moral law, as well as sociological studies of moral reform movements and other moral-political issues.

The second article in this thesis is devoted to the classification of prostitution policies, the third refines the concept of morality politics, and the fourth analyses the internal logics of two opposing prostitution policy regimes. This chapter summaries these findings and discusses them in greater detail in relation to the conceptual frameworks found in the literature, including scholarship that I did not consult in the articles. First, however, I discuss why I prefer not to use theoretical concepts and frameworks that are common in studies of the regulation of prostitution.

Common concepts and frameworks

Scholars in the field of prostitution studies employ a variety of concepts and theoretical frameworks drawn from political science, sociology, and criminology. Neoliberalism and governmentality are used most often, but the heated debates and repressive policy choices that characterise the issue of commercial sex are often regarded as expressions of a 'moral panic'. I therefore explain why I refrain from using these concepts and instead situate the issue within the framework of morality politics.

Neoliberalism, carceral feminism and governmentality

Many studies of prostitution politics connect neoliberalism with the turn to repressive measures, often with reference to Elisabeth Bernstein's (2010b, 2012) analysis of 'carceral feminism'. The idea is that since neoliberalism transfers responsibility for welfare from the state to the individual, countries can adopt and legitimise punitive rather than social welfare—oriented approaches to prostitution with reference to 'neo-abolitionist' ideology and policy. Hence, in neoliberal states such as Sweden, the neo-abolitionist proposal to criminalise the purchase of sex, without the seller being subjected to legal state punishment, was readily adopted, say political scientists Eilís Ward and Gillian Wylie (2017). Legal scholars Anne Carline and Jane Scoular (2017), discussing prostitution policy in England and Wales, find that although the two policies differ in some respects, both criminalise some forms of sex-purchase and impose rehabilitation and exit programmes on female sex workers. Both involve 'the proliferation of neoliberal responsibilisation', they conclude (2017: 107; see also Scoular and O'Neill 2007).

Other analyses credit the opposing trend toward the partial decriminalisation and commercialisation of the sex work sector to neoliberal politics. For instance, sociologist Barbara Brents and criminologist Teela Sanders (2010) contend that laws encouraging the economic integration and mainstreaming of some sex businesses in Las Vegas, US, and Wales, UK, were enabled by neoliberal policies and attitudes. While selling direct sexual services remains illegal, legal sex commerce in the form of lap-dancing clubs, 'gentlemen's clubs', and businesses offering erotic dancing and striptease thrive. At the same time, others argue that a neoliberal political context was an important driver behind the full decriminalisation of the sex industry in New Zealand, the legal reform that also granted domestic (but not immigrant) sex workers full civil and legal rights. Public health scholar Gillian Abel (2017) and sociologist Carol Harrington (2012) suggest that prevailing neoliberal principles of economic individualism, self-regulation, and freedom of choice fit nicely with the nation's tradition of 'fairness' and of focusing on justice and rights.

If neoliberalism is understood as the cause of all the differing directions that prostitution regimes take, whether repression through criminal sanctions directed against the sex trade, restriction allowing some forms of the industry to operate, or integration with full decriminalisation, its explanatory power ceases (see Outshoorn 2019 for a similar conclusion). Other problematics are inherent in the term 'carceral feminism', at least as it has been applied to studies of sex work and feminist policy (see, for example, Balfour 2021; Terwiel 2020; Lauri et al. 2023). While critical studies of feminist movements' reliance on the criminal justice system to address gender-based violence and commercial sex are valuable, the term criminalisation itself has negative connotations: Who wants to be seen as advocating putting people behind bars? More importantly, it does not distinguish between the different kinds of felonies that lead to incarceration, nor among the different feminist movements advocating the criminalisation of these distinct felonies.

While feminists agree that the act of forcing someone to have sex against their will ought to be criminalised, there is no consensus regarding paying someone to have sex when they consent to do so. Feminisms of all kinds can be said to be 'carceral' when they demand punitive measures for acts they deem harmful to women. The difference lies in their assessments of what makes an act so harmful that it warrants criminalisation. In Sweden, feminists who thought that purchasing or attempting to purchase a consenting sexual act should be

punishable by six months in prison advocated for the 1999 sex-purchase ban. In New Zealand, most feminists thought that attempts to force a sex worker to have unsafe sex or to engage in any non-consensual sexual act should be punishable by up to 15 years in prison, so they advocated for the Prostitution Reform Act of 2003. The term carceral feminism can be applied to acts that range from coercion to consent, so its imprecision renders it useless as an analytical concept.

The Foucauldian idea of governmentality has skilfully been applied in historical works on the regulation of prostitution and other forms of sexual deviance in Sweden and elsewhere (Lennartsson 2002; Söderblom 1992; Scott 2005; Weeks 1989). It has also been invoked in recent studies of regulatory practices, for instance those directed toward domestic and immigrant sex workers in Nordic countries (Vuolajärvi 2019) and policies that shape European sexual politics, including Swedish prostitution law (FitzGerald and Skilbrei 2022). I do not engage with the concept of governmentality because this study does not concern discursive anti-prostitution campaigns, or 'soft' governance, but a criminal offence that represents society's most 'intrusive and degrading sanction' (Jareborg 2001: 36) and 'the ultimate expression of state power' (SOU 2013:38, 479). David Graeber's (2004) sardonic comment is a good reminder of the difference. He cautioned academics against being seduced by Foucault's argument that identifies knowledge and power and imagining that 'brute force' is no longer a major factor in social control. Instead, Graeber said, 'the man with a big stick' is never far away; the threat of state-legitimised power 'permeates our world at every moment'. But most of us 'have given up even thinking of crossing the innumerable lines and barriers he creates, just so we don't have to remind ourselves of his existence' (2004:71-72).

Moral panic

The familiar concept of moral panic is often used en passant in anthropological studies of emotionally charged topics such as prostitution and human trafficking (Åsman 2009; Williams 2011; Molland 2019), female genital mutilation/cutting (Johnsdotter and Mestre 2017), child marriage (Razif 2022), and the relationship between sex and punishment (Lancaster 2011). The concept is more central in Don Kulick's (2003) analysis of the Swedish sex-purchase ban. He thinks that prostitution is standard grounds for a moral panic, and therefore a way for public anxiety about social change to be expressed; as examples, he points to fears of the

'white slave trade' at the turn of the 20th century, sexually transmitted diseases during the First World War, and HIV-AIDS in the 1980s.

Moral panic first received academic attention in the 1970s, when it was used to classify extreme reactions in the media, society, and politics to drug use and youth rebellion (Cohen 1972; Young 1971), a view that was influenced by classic 1960s studies of deviance (Becker 1963; Wilkins 1964) and 'victimless crime' (Schur 1965). Since then, sociologists and criminologists have used the term for public reactions to everything from porn, paedophilia, HIV-AIDS, teenage pregnancies, and immigration to food, squatting, terrorism, and Satanism (see, for example, Gannon and Sawyer 2007; Goode and Ben-Yehuda 2009; Fordham 2001). At the same time, it has been subject to searching criticism (Best 2016; Cornwell and Linders 2002; Horsley 2017; Waddington 1986). Despite serious efforts (for example, Garland 2008; Hier 2011), there is still no satisfactory definition of the nature and scope of a moral panic, which, as the critics point out, makes it analytically problematic. It is imprecise, polemical, and evaluative rather than explanatory. Who decides whether a public and media reaction is an irrational panic or a sensible, even helpful, concern? When a powerful public reaction is called a panic, it often signals a conservative reaction to something leftliberal researchers themselves sympathise with. Moreover, can all stridently negative reactions be classified as moral panic, or only some? Outrage about pornography and about the censorship of pornography? Outrage about prostitution and drugs and about the repressive laws against prostitution and drugs? As a concept, it stands outside accepted explanatory frameworks.

Anthropologist Johan Lindquist (2013) contends that moral panic adds nothing to anthropological efforts to conceptualise anti-trafficking discourses. Their melodramatic rhetoric may exaggerate the problem's magnitude, but, Lindquist reminds us, there is still a general conviction that human trafficking is a major problem, and this view is something researchers must make comprehensible without dismissing it as irrational.

Morality politics

The relatively young but expansive field of morality politics, which has mainly been developed by North American and European political scientists and policy scholars, seeks to understand what sets this class of political issues apart from other issues that are subject to what they consider more readily understandable processes of deliberation and decision making. Using traditional explanatory factors that figure in comparative public policy analysis, the scholarship deductively analyses why, how, and when morality policy reforms occur. These factors include the influence of political parties, institutions, interest groups, framings, and societal mobilisation, as well as variables related to cultural transformation such as secularisation and changes in social values (Euchner 2019a; Mourão Permoser 2019). For instance, some works describe, compare and assess policy changes in different countries over time to investigate political trends toward more repressive or liberal approaches to issues of morality politics and the factors that underlie them (see, for example, Budde et al. 2017; Engeli et al. 2012; Knill et al. 2015; Studlar and Burns 2015). Other works zoom in on one or two issues, such as drugs, gambling, abortion or gay rights, to investigate political processes and outcomes (see, for example, Mooney and Lee 1995; Mucciaroni 2011; Euchner et al. 2013).

Definitions in the field

While there is no agreement over the exact definition of morality politics, most scholars think it differs from 'regular' or 'instrumental' politics in its concern with fundamental, personal values about how citizens should live their lives. Political scientist Christopher Mooney (1999), one of the pioneers in the field, called these 'first-principle conflicts' of right and wrong behaviour when it comes to life, death and sexuality. Another political scientist who played a key role in the study of morality politics, Kenneth Meier (1994), who analysed US drug and alcohol policy in the 20th century, called it the politics of 'sin' – the regulation of acts that are generally deemed immoral, but many people (at least secretly) enjoy.

Taken together, the literature on morality politics explores a large and variable set of issues. Mooney (2000) mentions abortion, gambling, pornography, gay rights, sex education in schools, euthanasia, and the death penalty; others add prostitution, recreational drugs, tobacco and alcohol, contraception, stem cell therapy, religious schools, and the right to bear arms (see Engeli et al. 2012; Knill et al. 2015; Studlar 2008).

The field has developed a list of distinctive features exhibited by the issues that fall into this class: they are exceptionally emotionally charged and inflammatory because they concern personal values; are fact-resistant; have symbolic rather than

economic importance; and, despite being endlessly debated, are never resolved. Similarly, political positions are not polarised along the conventional right–left lines. Anyone can declare themselves an expert, and neither education nor personal experience is required (Engeli et al. 2012; Heichel et al. 2013; Meier 1999; Mooney and Schuldt 2008; Smith and Tatalovich 2003; Wagenaar et al. 2017). These characteristics are visible in the issue of prostitution in Sweden.

Moreover, the governance of this class of issues resides in the territory between the polar opposites 'illegal' and 'legal', 'restrictive' and 'permissive', 'condemnation and prohibition', and 'acceptance and decriminalisation' (Minkenberg 2000; Knill et al. 2015), which is clear in the governance of prostitution. Yet, despite these points of consensus, scholars disagree on the logic of these policy shifts while acknowledging that they are unable to explain them satisfactorily (Engeli et al. 2013; Knill et al. 2015).

The absence of a clear-cut definition of the object of study has prompted increased attention and attempts to delimit it (see Engeli et al. 2012; Euchner 2019b; Knill et al. 2015; Kreitzer et al. 2019; Mourão Permoser 2019). Recent reviews have identified the differing analytical approaches taken by scholars in the quest to define what makes morality politics stand out as a category: this class consists of substantive political issues, involves conflicts over values, generates a particular political process, involves a cultural conflict (as in the 'culture wars'), and exhibits a specific type of framing (Euchner 2019a; Mourão Permoser 2019). In her critical review essay, Julia Mourão Permoser (2019) draws attention to the role of religion and develops an alternative approach drawing on political theory. Morality politics, Mourão Permoser thinks, reflects liberalism's entangled relationship with religion and the moral controversies that arise regarding liberal principles in modern societies.

In sum, although the literature indicates that in Western democracies morality politics constitutes a 'unique political category' (Mooney 2001: vii), it is not clear what sets this class of politics apart from other, 'regular' issues. Nor is the scholarship clear about the premises on which this definition ought to be based.

The inconsistent use of the terms policy and politics is particularly confusing. While morality 'policy' is most commonly used, sometimes 'politics' and 'policy' are used side by side as if they are synonymous. This ambiguity might reflect the different American and European meanings of these terms, as well as the definitional struggles and differing approaches in the field. In an attempt to settle the question of what 'morality policies' really is, Mooney and political scientists

Rebecca Kreitzer and Kellen Kane (2019) suggest that the phrase they used for decades is in fact a 'chimera', and what scholars in the field are really studying is 'time-bound instances of morality *politics*, politics that evolve over time as new frames are introduced' (Kreitzer et al. 2019: 17, italics in original).

My analytical approach and terminology

The definition I propose party overlaps with the analytical approaches identified in the literature on morality politics, as it considers which political issues belong to the category of morality politics, how their governance is distinguished from that of ordinary political issues, and their political process or dynamic. This definition of the concept is substantive as well as processual. However, my methodological approach is inductive rather than deductive, as I did not test my cases against a certain political or policy theory. Instead, my own observations and empirical data were the point of departure, in which I sought to identify patterns and common denominators. Once I found some recurring features, I tested more data, continuing the cyclical process until I had refined and robust results.

To create clarity, I reserve the term 'morality politics' for this class of political issues, while I use 'policy' (by itself) for the distinct, different ways this class of issues can be governed. Moreover, in contrast to a common understanding in this body of scholarship, I do not use the term 'morality' to indicate that these politics, policies or legal instruments are more embedded in morals or values than others, as all governance includes moralising elements. Morality, in the sense of a system of understanding right and wrong, characterises all political projects and legislation, whether it concerns traffic regulations or setting boundaries for the sex trade. As Thomas Csordas (2013) puts it, morality can enter into every nook and cranny of human affairs. Cultural systems such as religion, ideology, and science may partially overlap, he says, but morality is uniquely distributed among them all: 'The critical feature of morality from an anthropological standpoint is thus not its systemic properties, because in fact it may be better conceived as a modality of action in any domain - a flavor, a moment, a valence, an atmosphere, a dimension of human action that may be more or less pronounced, more or less vividly discernible, and more or less urgent across settings and situations but always present whenever humans are present' (2013: 535-536).⁷

_

⁷ I do not discuss the expansive body of anthropological literature on morality because this thesis considers the dynamics of morality politics as a distinct political class, rather than the issues of

With all due respect to the sophisticated reasoning surrounding 'morality', by this term I mean what is called *synd* or *sedlighet* in Swedish (from the Germanic *Sittlichkeit*), in English 'sin' or 'vice'. Both in countries with established churches, such as Sweden and the UK, and constitutionally secular countries, such as France and the US, public opinions about matters of law, social norms and values are suffused by religious beliefs about virtue and vice, good and evil.

Before I discuss my definition in detail, I turn to the benefits of the connections Hendrik Wagenaar, Helga Amesberger and Sietske Altink (2017) make between the governance of prostitution and morality politics when we seek to understand the peculiarities of the Swedish ban on purchasing sex.

Benefits of the framework

Although prostitution is considered a typical issue of morality politics, it has only recently become a focus for research in this field (see Euchner 2022; Euchner and Knill 2015; Euchner and Zeegers 2022; Grohs 2020). Moreover, researchers who study prostitution policy rarely use morality politics as an analytical framework, and when doing so with the agenda to explain the lack of evidence-based policymaking (Hubbard et al. 2016; Ward and Wylie 2017). The collaborative work of Wagenaar, Amesberger and Altink is a notable exception.

Wagenaar and colleagues (2017) combine the literature on morality politics with ideas and insights from policy theory to make sense of results from their own studies of prostitution policy in Austria and the Netherlands, as well as empirical studies from Sweden, New Zealand and other liberal democracies. Their definition does not concern the substantive questions but rather the policymaking process, illustrating the benefits of the concept of morality politics when analysing prostitution policy.

Acknowledging the definitional difficulties, Wagenaar and colleagues maintain that issues of morality politics are characterised by seemingly 'irresolvable conflict over deep values'. They start with 'the *effects* that contestation over moral principles has on policymaking process', making 'the design and implementation of a pragmatic, effective and humane policy exceedingly difficult' (2017: 34, italics

moralities in politics and society and their many dimensions in daily life. See, for example, D'Andrade (1995); Fassin (2012); Fassin and Lézé (2014); Heintz (2009, 2021); Howell (1997); Laidlaw (2014); Shweder and Menon (2014); Zigon (2008). For a review, see Mattingly and Throop (2018).

in original). In their view, governance of the issues of morality politics falls between policymaking, with the collective goal of solving a recognised social problem, and symbolic positioning, with the goal of creating ideological hegemony. Policymaking is normal politics, and symbolic positioning is morality politics. Thus, when countries such as Sweden adopt symbolic prohibitions targeting the sex trade, this is morality politics, but when a society engages in collaborate governance with sex workers to improve their rights and safety, as in New Zealand, that is a prostitution policy.

Wagenaar, Amesberger and Altink make clear that the 'peculiarities' of the sexpurchase ban and other repressive prostitution policies display the key characteristics of morality politics. Since morality politics is mainly symbolic, the aim of any such policy is to shape public opinion, not to improve people's circumstances. The actual extent of the 'problem', such as how many people sell sex, is irrelevant; so is the impact of any policy measures, such as harming sex workers. What matters is the 'message'. In regard to this class of issues, formulating and broadcasting a policy will always trump its implementation and outcomes.

The symbolic nature of these issues has consequences for the political process, according to Wagenaar and colleagues. Self-positioning and trying to convince one's opponents becomes more important than sticking to the facts, learning from research, and examining alternatives to repressive measures. The arguments for the Swedish sex-purchase ban exhibit this preoccupation with asserting abstract principles rather than gathering and considering empirical evidence of its potential social consequences. This strategy casts alternatives as morally dubious, wrong, or incomprehensible, as Sweden's portrayal of other countries' more liberal policies does. Consequently, there is minimal emphasis on expertise, logical reasoning, effectiveness, and even adherence to the principles of the rule of law. Morally charged issues are especially open to utopian visions of total control, Wagenaar and colleagues contend, leading to an 'insatiable hunger' for more instruments of control, such as more and harsher anti-prostitution laws.

It makes sense to juxtapose symbolic measures against policymaking. Political logic and governance in the regulation of prostitution in Sweden and New Zealand are largely mirror images of each other (see Articles II and IV). Yet even a symbolic ban is a form of policy, if by policy we mean all the direct or indirect ways a political arena is governed (Shore and Wright 1997; Howlett and Cashore 2014). Moreover, even if a criminal provision might be interpreted or justified as

merely 'symbolic' rather than punitive, it ceases to be so if and when that provision is enforced. So, although I agree that the Swedish and New Zealand policies exemplify the distinction between 'morality politics' and 'policy', I do not entirely share Wagenaar, Amesberger and Altink's definition of this category, since this terminology risks becoming polemical rather than analytical. The governance that the researchers themselves sympathise with, such as regulations that recognise sex workers' rights, is deemed 'prostitution policy' and any other governance of the sex trade is dismissed as 'morality politics'. When applied to other issues, allowing drugs is drugs policy, while banning drugs is morality politics; allowing terminations is abortion policy, but banning abortions is morality politics; and so on. This way of explaining what is particular to the governance of the issues of morality politics expresses a political opinion, which means we could as well call morality politics involves more than prohibition or permission, so this distinction is lacking in specificity.

What, then, differentiates morality politics from other, more conventional classes of political issues? How can we recognise it when we see it?

My definition of morality politics

My refined definition of morality politics rests on two pillars, substantive issues and their governance, both of which consist of several elements. Firstly, it deals with political issues concerning what adults wish to do with their sexuality, reproduction, and their own death, as well as how they choose to enjoy themselves and what society is willing to permit them to do. These issues are also marked by intense fears, as these matters can be perceived as posing an existential threat to society. Furthermore, these issues and their perceived dangers are deeply rooted in religious notions of sin and impurity. Secondly, these issues are defined by how they are governed. Society may attempt to completely eliminate the phenomenon, permit it under strict conditions, or integrate it. This governance, which can fluctuate over time, is not driven by conventional partisan or ideological logic, but rather by whether society seeks to reform the individuals engaging in these undesirable, 'sinful' behaviours, or to reform societal structures so that these activities can be conducted safely and securely.

I expand on this definition by discussing how it builds upon and intersects with existing work on morality politics, alongside jurisprudence, and my own observations and empirical research on other issues. First we examine what constitutes the core of this set of political issues and then explore how their governance differs from that of ordinary political matters.

The issues of morality politics

The literature on morality politics covers a range of topics, and researchers examining causal patterns have sought to categorise them. In their reviews of the scholarship, political scientists Stephan Heichel, Christoph Knill, and Sophie Schmitt (Heichel et al. 2013; see also Knill 2013) identified four main subcategories. The first relates to issues of life and death, such as abortion, contraception, stem cell research, euthanasia, and the death penalty. The second pertains to sexual behaviour, including pornography, prostitution, and homosexuality. The third involves addiction, encompassing gambling, drugs, tobacco, and alcohol. Their fourth subcategory centres on the tension between individual freedoms and self-determination versus collective values and public security, in areas such as sex education, religious schools, and private gun ownership.

These subcategories are heuristically useful as they clarify what the field is interested in, but are not analytically sufficient to identify what these issues share. Furthermore, the final subcategory is much too broad. Many political issues can be characterised by the conflict between individual desires and collective needs. The risk is that, like moral panic, morality politics is so diffuse a category that it becomes meaningless. Moreover, the first three subcategories are also broad. The question of a national health service is nothing if not about life and death; heterosexuality is also a sexual behaviour.

In order to delimit what issues belong to morality politics, I suggest we start with the category used in jurisprudence when discussing the ban on sex-purchase: 'paternalistic moral law'.

Consensual crime

Many legal scholars argue that criminalising actions individuals consent to perform within the private sphere represents a form of paternalistic moral law that is incompatible with the principles of a liberal democracy. This type of offence was referred to as 'victimless crime' in criminological critiques from the 1960s. I suggest that the term 'consensual crime' is more accurate, as it captures a key characteristic of issues within morality politics: it exists at the intersection of what consenting adults choose to do in private and what society is or is not willing to permit. This perspective aligns with Mooney's concept of 'first-principle conflicts' (1999) and the fourth subcategory identified by Heichel and colleagues (2013), but it also refines the concept's scope. It is not merely a general conflict between self-determination and the collective, as Heichel describes it, but rather a situation where the state intervenes to punish an action even when all parties involved have consented to it.

With the help of this lowest common denominator – criminal offence despite consent – we can limit the issues discussed in the literature on morality politics. For instance, religious and sex education, and the death penalty do not make the cut. The regulation of religious and sex education concerns what a school can offer, not the individual's personal knowledge. The death penalty is about the state's power over its citizens, not individuals' right to make fundamental decisions about their own lives. What remain are Heichel's first three subcategories: matters of life and death; sex; and what are called addictions, such as gambling and recreational drugs. Each must be specified, however, since these categories are still overly broad.

The issues in morality politics are, I suggest, those that concern individuals' right to decide about their bodies, their sexuality, their pleasurable activities, their reproduction, and their death. Finally, each category should be described in neutral and precise terms. 'Addiction', for example, has negative connotations and can as easily be applied to sex, food or shopping.

Hence, the first element in an overarching definition is that issues in morality politics concern what consenting adults choose to do in private with their bodies and what society is prepared to let them do, whether it involves their sexuality, pleasure, reproduction or death. Because the issues vary according to the time and place, and the point here is to delimit and identify subject areas rather than to impose a rigorous classification, we need not determine exactly what the issues are in each case.

In his essay on paternalism, Herbert Hart (1963) discusses homosexuality and prostitution and their prohibition in UK and US legislation in the early 1960s, and holds that similar reasoning could be applied to sodomy, bigamy and polygamy, soliciting, abortion, suicide and euthanasia – to which we could add

trans issues, surrogacy and incest by mutual consent among adults. We also need to acknowledge that each issue involves philosophical complexities. In regard to abortion, for example, a fundamental difference arises from the question of whether there are only two parties concerned, the criminalising state and the consenting individual, or also a third, the foetus.

By framing the issues in this way, we can observe the parallels between morality politics and religious notions of sin. Specifically, the liberal state's inclination to restrict citizens' freedom to do as they wish with their bodies mirrors religious prohibitions against extramarital and nonmarital sexual acts and relationships, the use of intoxicants, gambling, contraception, and abortion, as well as the condemnation of suicide. This is what Mourão Permoser (2019) refers to in broader terms as the moral controversies that arise concerning religious and liberal principles in modern societies, or what Meier (1994) terms a 'politics of sin'. In the case of the Swedish sex-purchase ban, it chimes with Claes Lernestedt's (2003) understanding that what older Christian morality condemned as crimes of 'vice' evolved into the less value-laden phrase of offences against 'public order'.

My suggested definition involves a second element: the fear that surrounds these issues.

An existential threat to society

That emotions influence people's political actions is true of all politics. In what anthropologist F. G. Bailey (2008) likens to a competitive game, politics has rules that politicians consciously follow, manipulate or break. Politicians use heightened emotions to get their way, Bailey argues, but the issues in morality politics are of a different calibre. They are 'exceptionally' emotional because they concern personal values. Kulick speaks of an 'electrified taboo', and in Swedish politicians' minds a permissive attitude toward the sex and drug trades risks fatally undermining civilised society.

The idea that there are pathological social phenomena that threaten society with total collapse and therefore must be banned is common in morality politics. To allow homosexuality, abortion, euthanasia or drug use would endanger society's very existence. For instance, in the US, elected politicians have described same-sex marriage as an 'assault' or 'attack' on the institution of marriage and the family that will provoke a chain of events ending in the destruction of 'our civilization' (Mucciaroni 2011: 198). In Sweden, where euthanasia has been a subject of parliamentary debate over the past several decades, members of

Parliament argue that it is duty of the medical profession never to 'kill the patient' instead of curing the disease and relieving the pain; physicians should be forbidden to facilitate any patient's death in a 'civilised society, not even if the patient themselves requests it' (Oscarsson and Enochson 2010).

As we can see, there is something inherently disturbing in these social phenomena. They are perceived and portrayed as posing an extreme risk to everyone, not just those who practice these behaviours. It should be recognised, however, that the sentiment of what belongs in a civilised society or is anathema is expressed by actors on both sides, albeit in a different manner. Advocates of prohibitions perceive the actual phenomenon as problematic, whereas their critics express a more relaxed attitude toward the issue itself but are concerned about its governance. For them, the criminalisation of actions of consenting individuals has no place in what they see as a civilised society. This division is worth remembering when we look at the special way morality politics are governed.

The governance of morality politics

The scholarship on morality politics agrees that the governance of this class of issues resides in the territory between opposites such as 'illegal' and 'legal', while Wagenaar, Amesberger and Altink (2017) have a simpler solution: governance falls between policymaking, with the collective goal of solving a recognised social problem, and symbolic positioning, with the goal of creating ideological hegemony. As mentioned, my objection is that even a symbolic ban constitutes a form of policy, and it ceases to be symbolic when that provision is enforced. Moreover, as the case of prostitution legislation illustrates, such issues can also be tolerated under limited conditions regulated by the state.

Mode of politics: Moving between repression, restriction and integration

To resolve the question of classification by naming the different ways in which issues of morality politics are governed, I suggest the threefold classification of prostitution policies, which is based on how the sex trade is perceived, what the policy tries to achieve, and how it does so. Repressive policies view the sex trade negatively and set out to end it, primarily by using the criminal law. Restrictive policies also consider the trade problematic but seek to limit it using a mix of criminal and civil law. Integrative policies are broadly accepting and aim to

integrate the trade into society by using regulation that is specific to the sector (for the process of classification, see Article II).

Considering other issues that are also subject to morality politics, such as drugs, same-sex relationships and abortion, I found the same three types of governance, as well as a defining feature of what sets their governance apart from 'regular' political issues. A repressive policy does not arise in 'normal' politics in a liberal democracy, but is evident in the ways homosexuality, gambling, abortion and drug use are handled.

Another characteristic is that these issues can move between differing forms of governance. When an issue of morality politics is addressed by an integrative policy (like the prostitution policy of New Zealand), its governance can be equated with the form directed at comparable, 'normal' issues. Homosexuality is treated in the same way as heterosexuality; cannabis is regulated in a similar manner as recreational drugs such as alcohol or nicotine (or by medical law when used for pain reduction); and abortions are subject to general healthcare legislation. Where necessary, special protections are introduced, as in other risk-prone sectors.

In Sweden for instance, when homosexual acts were decriminalised in 1944 the formerly repressive policy gradually moved from restriction towards integration. Sex between adults of the same gender was no longer a crime, but homosexual individuals did not have the same civic and legal status as heterosexuals since the age of consent for sexual relations was higher, homosexuality was classified as a mental disorder, and same-sex couples were not allowed to marry or adopt children. Not until 2009 were all these stigmatising labels and discriminatory laws removed and homosexuals' relationships and rights equalised with those of heterosexuals. Abortion has undergone a similar development. Until 1938, both 'foetal expulsion' and attempts to induce a miscarriage were illegal, carrying penalties for the woman and anyone who assisted her. This repressive policy was replaced by restrictive legislation, which authorised a special medical council to decide whether an individual woman could undergo the procedure. Generally, abortion was permitted if the woman had been raped or her life was at risk, or if the foetus was at risk of being seriously damaged. In 1975, a new abortion law came into effect allowing women to decide on abortion themselves up to the eighteenth week of pregnancy, and the procedure was integrated into the existing medical regulatory framework.

Just because an issue of morality politics is governed by an integrative policy does not mean it has become 'normal' politics; it remains morality politics but lies dormant, rather than being what Knill (2013) calls 'manifest'. Social condemnation and legal prohibitions may return, as recent developments in US abortion policy demonstrate. Although the issue may move between modes of governance, its political classification remains.

What puzzles those who study morality politics is that there is no linear liberalising or modernist logic to policy shifts, making it difficult to 'make theoretical sense' of the empirical patterns observed in abortion policy (Nebel and Hurka 2015: 69), as well as the opposing trajectories of prostitution and drug policy. Further, there are disparate ideological forces behind each policy direction, as we see in prostitution policies. That leads us to the last step in my suggested definition of the governance of morality politics.

The actors behind the agenda

When political scientists Christoph Knill, Steffen Hurka, and Christian Adam (2015) examined how issues such as abortion, pornography, homosexuality, drugs, gambling and euthanasia were managed in nineteen European countries over the course of twenty years, they found none of the changes they expected. According to the logic of liberal modernism, policies should have moved away from what they call condemnation and prohibition towards acceptance and decriminalisation, but this was not the case. Nor did they find any connection between Christian political parties' influence and policy outcomes. This mixed ideological situation is also found in prostitution policies. The driving forces behind Sweden's policy were not only the left and the women's movement, but also Christian groups. As Elisabeth Bernstein (2010b) noted considering the renowned disagreements among neo-abolitionists, this makes them 'strange bedfellows'. Disparate sets of actors were behind the liberalisation of Germany's and New Zealand's policies (G. Abel et al. 2010; Euchner and Knill 2015).

According to the literature on morality politics, the way the issue is framed proves crucial for the policy direction. As political scientist Patrick Pierce and mathematician Donald Miller (1999) show in their analysis of lotteries and gambling policy, small shifts in terminology can move an issue between the poles. When a proposed policy is worded too vaguely, repressive policy entrepreneurs can wheel out anti-gambling sentiments that have religious roots, but when associated with something beneficial, such as supporting young people's

education, gambling policy seems more liberal and permissive. Or, as Kenneth Meier (1994) argues, the decisive factor is whether a pressure group succeeds in framing the issue as a 'sin'. Because the phenomena at stake in morality politics are multidimensional, they are open to transformation. Abortion can fall under philosophical questions about the sanctity of life, the health of the foetus or mother, or women's status. Both sides of any debate must try to control the social construction of the issue.

When it comes to prostitution policy, as the literature on morality politics suggests, its framing correlates with the direction taken by national policy. Interview studies show that Swedish members of Parliament who advocated the sex-purchase ban purposely associated prostitution with other phenomena the public regarded as undesirable, such as HIV, poverty and immigration, and succeeded when their understanding of commercial sex as a problem of equality converged with political interest in broader gender issues (Erikson 2011, 2017). In New Zealand, the actors carefully avoided gender politics and framed the issue in a context that would not hamper their political agenda, contending that selling sex is a livelihood and should be managed to ensure sex workers' safety (Aroney 2021; for a discussion on feminism and sex work activism in New Zealand, see Showden 2020). Given the range of governance in morality politics from repression to integration, casting prostitution as either 'work' or 'male violence' implies different legislative tools: labour law or criminal law.

As with all political issues, which actors and agendas are prioritised is decisive in morality politics, but the divisions are not along the usual lines of left vs. right or secular vs. religious. Instead, the political struggle is between actors who want to reform 'the other' to fit into society and those who want to reform society to include the marginalised.

From Alan Hunt's (1999) historical study of moral regulation, we know about the 'moral reformers' who fought sin and impurity. He has identified a common thread that runs from the social purity movements of the 19th century to the North American anti-porn activists of the 1980s. The people behind these projects were from the white middle class, many of them women, and regarded the behaviour of those in the lower classes as sinful and damaging to the social fabric. They campaigned to persuade others to change their behaviour and called for legal bans on acts they regarded as immoral. They came closest to success when they joined forces with other, often unexpected interest groups. The challenge was to unite people from different ideological and political positions under one

umbrella to address a general problem. Naturally, their opponents rarely feature in studies of social reform movements and are often absent from studies of morality politics. But, as anthropological, sociological and historical studies make clear, they organise as interest groups and form coalitions in civil rights movements to persuade society to treat marginalised people equally under law. These equal justice advocates include the 19th-century liberal suffrage and socialist labour movements and the late 20th-century movements against sexism, racism, ethnocentrism, and homophobia, as well as for sex workers' rights.

What is decisive for the policy choices in morality politics is not political ideology or religious versus secular beliefs, but whether the government allies with those who wish to reform the 'other' or to reform society to ensure that the marginalised group enjoys the same rights as other citizens.

It was social movements' anti-prostitution agenda and rhetoric that the Swedish Parliament adopted when it introduced the ban on buying sex, and the government joined with the activists when the policy was to be decided and defended. Sex workers and others pushing for equality before the law had no say, and still have no say today (see Chapter 5 and Article III). In New Zealand, by contrast, Parliament worked with the national sex workers' organisation. The government allowed activists to influence the new legislation and has collaborated with those who are most affected to evaluate and improve legislation and praxis (G. Abel 2014; Barnett et al. 2010; Healy et al. 2020).

Special interest groups always compete to shape policy and its implementation, but in morality politics, law and policy are contested between the reform and civil rights camp, those who believe that people who engage in 'sinful' or 'deviant' behaviour should be restricted and punished and those who believe that they should be accorded individual rights. From the government's viewpoint, these social phenomena should be either eliminated or integrated into society.

Theoretical insights and new questions

The concept of morality politics developed here can provide theoretical insights into the distinctive features of this class of issues. It also suggests new questions about countries' policy choices. Long-term, empirical studies of a range of such issues can contribute to an anthropology of morality politics that roots each issue in its specific social-historical context while facilitating comparisons among them and within and between nations.

One theoretical insight helps us to understand why morality politics generates such fierce, never-ending conflicts, and is a less abstract and more observable set of facts than references to 'personal values' or 'insatiable hunger'. Not only are the individuals targeted by paternalistic policies offended or worried, but those who are not directly targeted can object to these policies' intrusion into individuals' private lives and to the state's punishment and repression of consensual acts. When a paternalistic policy does not have the desired effects, its proponents react by attempting to impose further prohibitions and punishments, which are also doomed to failure and objection. The escalating spiral of morality politics continues perpetually. As criminologists Nils Christie and Kettil Bruun (1985: 209) put it in their classic analysis of the 'fruitless' war on drugs, 'It is a war that cannot be won. It can only be waged'. Moreover, morality politics concerns issues rooted in religious notions of sin and impurity, meaning its subjects are a stigmatised or marginalised and 'hidden population' (Heckathorn 1997). Empirical knowledge is limited or deemed irrelevant, so the political arena is more open to lay people, while those with experience or knowledge are set aside.

The concept of morality politics illuminates changes in the issues that most concern the public. Why did prostitution appear on the political agenda in so many countries during the same period? As Kulick (2003) and others have argued, it was a response to anxieties about shifts in global power balances and the influx of immigrants from poorer countries into wealthier ones (Gould 2001; Mattson 2015). Yet projection and positioning do not tell the whole story, particularly about what issues are brought to the fore at specific times and in specific places. If we consider prostitution policy in relation to the cluster of other issues of morality politics and view the situation from the perspectives of the actors involved in social movements, we can see that advocates of reform were influenced by the demands of newly organised sex workers for recognition.

Sex workers' rights movements began at the same time as other civil rights movements objecting to state paternalism and unfair treatment under law, both in Sweden (J. Rydström 2021) and elsewhere (Chateauvert 2015; Gall 2006). The official story in countries that liberalised their prostitution policy identifies sex workers' movements as the driving force behind the change (PLRC 2008). But the existence of those movements also registered in countries that took a repressive direction. Swedish legislators thought the ban on sex purchase was a necessary countermove to the forces of legalisation in the EU. Similarly, proponents of continuing Sweden's repressive drug policy argued that the forces advocating

liberalisation in the rest of Europe should not be allowed to engulf the nation. While describing these forces vaguely as 'drug lords' or 'the sex industry', legislators explicitly insisted that the ban was a vital instrument to oppose the influence that organised sex workers and their supporters had on the United Nations and in international trade unions.

The question then arises: How are we are to understand the historical development of morality politics within a country, when the threat cannot be perceived as solely coming from outside? That these two dimensions may be closely linked is clear, as the groups that are marginalised within the country may be perceived as more accepted and powerful in other countries. Some of the rights movements achieved legal success in a predictable modernist, liberal trajectory, such as equating gay relationships with straight ones, while others, such as sex workers and their allies and the advocates of the legalisation of recreational drugs, have faced increasingly restrictive policies. From a global perspective, Sweden's prostitution and drug polices grew more repressive just as its policies on abortion and homosexuality were liberalised, whereas the US restricted access to abortion at the same time it recognised same-sex marriage and some states decriminalised possession of cannabis for personal and medical use.

Why have prostitution and drug use been met with repression, while abortion and homosexuality have been recognised as rights in Sweden? The repressive prostitution and drug policy in Sweden has been attributed to the country's authoritarian political culture, described by Gould (2001: 452) as a 'weak liberal and strong paternalist tradition', which provided fertile ground for radical feminist anti-prostitution politics. The weakness of the country's liberal tradition is relevant to its policies on prostitution and drugs, but not to its policies on homosexuality and abortion. Certainly, Sweden has a long history of aspiring to be a 'moral' or 'humanitarian superpower' (see Dahl 2006). But, given the country's strong commitment to labour rights and universal public healthcare, decriminalising prostitution and drug use could have been an alternative approach to the same goal.

In order to reformulate the question, we can consider why proponents of the sex-purchase ban assume that something fundamental to prostitution is socially undesirable and must be expelled to achieve and maintain a civilised society. Unwelcome or threatening forms of sexuality – paid sex – must be suppressed in favour of acceptable expressions of sexuality – free sex. This repressive logic sees restrictions on personal privacy and violations of the principles of liberal

individualism as the price to pay for the maintenance of the sexual order on which society depends. Proponents of an integrative policy have a different philosophical starting point. While paid sex may not be the best way to have sex or to earn a living, it warrants inclusion in society to prevent further harm to an already vulnerable population. Accordingly, a 'civilised' or 'modern' society is achieved by integrating the undesirable or unpleasant rather than supressing or prosecuting those who deviate from it.

Hence, the argument of moral reformers and civil rights advocates alike, that the question is what kind of society we want to live in, displays the core of morality politics: social bodies' constant struggle between repression and integration, communities' ideas about what and who belongs to the group. If societies' conceptions of themselves (Anderson 1983) are distinguished for their psychosocial processes, as Kulick suggests, by definition these processes involve not only repression but also integration. In this process, morality politics and its laws guard the boundaries between notions of civilisation and destruction, providing a window into a country's image of itself.

In the case of Sweden, does the difference have to do with the social and spatial marginalisation of sex workers and drug users, whereas any 'normal' woman might want to terminate an unwanted pregnancy and every family might include some members who are not heterosexual but want to form families themselves? When we consider a nation's morality policy choices, we must also examine its relationship with its societal outliers. In the same vein, we can ask why New Zealand, despite integrating sex work into its socio-legal framework in 2003 and allowing for gay partnership in 2004, postponed the decriminalisation of abortion until 2020. These policy decisions might be indicative of broader discourses surrounding notions of belonging and marginalisation, inclusion and exclusion.

When we ask these questions and conduct these investigations, legal sources serve as crucial empirical material, as they reveal inconsistencies that political rhetoric may conceal. In Sweden, political discourse, established law, and policy implementation depict sex workers in multiple, often conflicting roles – oscillating between victim, consenting individual, witness, entrepreneur, criminal, and at times as collateral damage or simply disregarded altogether (see Article IV). While this ambivalence reflects broader societal ambiguity and an exclusionary logic inherent in all anti-prostitution policies, the malleable legal status of sex workers also perpetuates stigma-based discriminatory practices. Its flexibility provides authorities with what Gabrielle Koch (2020) terms a 'strategy of

ambivalence'. By not criminalising the act of selling sex, Swedes can claim this policy is feminist while continuing to monitor, harass, and exclude those who sell sex, thereby reinforcing the moral values of a repressive policy. This fundamental contradiction has been successfully obscured in discourse, though not entirely in law. Conversely, the legislation in New Zealand expresses an inclusive logic and adherence to the liberal rule of law where individuals are not precluded from civic membership based on their occupation.

In the next chapter, I describe the multisited method that allowed me to study the sex-purchase ban to probe its internal contradictions, as well discussing the materials I collected in the fields interacting domains of law, discourse, implementation and impact.

4. To 'follow' a law: Methods and materials

The articles in this thesis are based on my observations within the field of the sex-purchase ban between 2009 and 2019. Employing a long-term, multisited methodology, I 'followed' (Marcus 1995) the ban and 'studied through' (Reinhold and Wright 2011) the field's different domains of law, discourse, implementation and impact. I have approached the ban as surrounded by an observable field of activity where people speak, write, and take action. I analysed their statements, tangible acts, and law and policy measures by focusing on patterns and contradictions, contextualising and comparing them with other prostitution laws and policies, as well as seeing them in connection with the governance of other issues of morality politics.

The material comes from informal talks and semi-structured interviews with sex workers, NGO representatives, politicians and other policymakers, such as government officials and social and legal authorities; their statements as expressed publicly in meetings and texts, such as articles and commentaries; and legislation and other law and policy documents, such as government inquiries, official reports and juridical reasoning. The material comes primarily from Sweden, and it is compared to similar material from New Zealand and other liberal democracies.

The activity field of the sex-purchase ban is extensive, engaging and affecting people globally in diverse ways. It is the subject of heated debates, evaluations, and both commendation and condemnation in parliaments, media and public places. The ban has concrete effects on people's lives, influencing everyday interactions in the prostitution sector as well as legal proceedings and public discourse.

An ethnographic study must be rooted in specific sites that are closely observed and analysed. So I first explain my multisited method, which followed and studied through the ban to probe its differing contexts and internal contradictions. This approach required a longer-term investigation in the field than most doctoral dissertations. A 'long-term cumulative research trajectory' (Falzon 2009: 17) has both advantages and disadvantages, so next I discuss how have I dealt with this 'drawn-out, off-and-on' (Hannerz 2003: 213) research project. Then I summarise the materials about the ban I collected in four interrelated and interacting domains: law, discourse, implementation and impact. Finally, I reflect on how I managed the strong emotions and political tensions the issue of prostitution evokes, as well as my own engagement in the field.

A multisited method and its concepts

The choice of sites to study reflects anthropologists' fundamental questions, but also shapes their findings. A different mix of sites could lead to an entirely different study; for instance, it could focus on how clients, sex workers and courts handle the offence of purchasing sexual services, rather than seeking to understand what the ban exemplifies and the meanings attributed to it. Multisited ethnography has been criticised as arbitrary or imprecise (Candea 2010; Coleman and von Hellerman 2011; Hage 2005). Yet, these critiques have provided me with insights into how to conduct an ethnographic study of a single law over time, which is uncommon in anthropological and other socio-legal studies. This chapter contributes to the methodology of legal and policy anthropology that goes well beyond what appears in the articles.

In a well-known article on the rise of multisited ethnography, anthropologist George Marcus (1995) said that it encourages fresh approaches to ethnographic research, arguing that as societies, systems, and research subjects evolve, social scientists need an empirical method that can track this cultural process. Using examples of ethnographies past and present, Marcus argued that anthropologists follow various subjects – people, things, metaphors, stories, lives, and conflicts – and choose their sites strategically for their specific subject. Anthropologists who study policy examine the processes of policy making and enforcement (Shore and Wright 2011); I do that with law as well.

The term multisited was parallel with multilocal, which Marcus and Michael Fischer had previously introduced (Marcus and Fischer 1986). Their work contributed to a discussion of the methodological shifts that were needed to take global changes into account (see Gupta and Ferguson 1997; Hastrup and Olwig

1997; Shore and Wright 1997). Marcus's work sparked a wide-ranging debate that lasted almost two decades (see Coleman and von Hellermann 2011; Falzon 2009).

I address what scholars think it means to 'follow' an object or a narrative, what is 'multi' about a multisited method, how the ethnographer makes decisions about what sites to study, and how to create depth in an ethnography that spans numerous sites.

Following what, where?

'Following' a research topic conjures up an image of embarking on an ethnographic journey by watching events unfold in a well-defined field, whether a group of people, an object, a conflict or, in my case, legislation. It is not so straightforward. As James Fairhead (2011) say, when presented with many promising paths, the ethnographer must decide which path to take. No map shows ethnographers what, where, when, and how to follow what they want to pursue.

In all ethnographies, these decisions are shaped by time and trust in the anthropological research process, explain Fairhead (see also Hannerz 2003).⁸ Anthropologists take specific paths staked out by theoretical traditions and the insights of previous anthropologists. According to James Ferguson (2011), the initial question and its object gradually resolve into the essential research question, revealing the specific social activities, places, and processes that matter most. The objects of study become social practices, interaction patterns and relationships. Answering critics, Ferguson argues that multisited ethnography does not sideline accepted, 'old' methodologies; rather, it involves a continuous process of reflection, making full use of these traditions (2011: 201-202). Chris Shore and Susan Wright (2011) suggest that for policy studies the multisited method aims to achieve ethnographic sensitivity. Its critical, questioning disposition treats the

-

⁸ In a textbook example of how the temporal context and contingencies of fieldwork can lead to a redefinition of the object of study in multisited ethnographies, David Valentine (2007) began studying two distinct transgender communities in New York City, but after his first week in the field, discussion of transgender identities surged in the media. Valentine became aware of the concept's complexity and decided to explore the category itself. Subsequently, he let the field 'speak' as he moved between safer sex groups, drag balls, sex work districts, and clubs, and travelled to conferences and demonstrations about transgender issues. The sites where he conducted his fieldwork were suggested to Valentine by the people he studied.

familiar as foreign; its constant oscillation between inside and outside perspectives enables the critical reflexivity that is fundamental to the research process.

What counts as a 'site' is subject to a wide range of understandings. Some researchers concentrate on geographically anchored places (Amit 2000; Hannerz 2001; Marcus and Fisher 1986). Others believe that sites can include phenomena with no geographical attachment, whether relationships, moments in time, the archives, the media, or ecology (see Weissköppel 2009; Krauss 2011). The legal anthropologist Sally Falk Moore (2005, 2016), who treats the law as a 'logical nexus' between state and society, suggests that researchers must consider ongoing actions and ideas while focusing on discernible, large-scale, long-term processes over time. Moore does not define multisited studies as pertaining to geographical places, but sees the state as an organiser of specific projects, which are treated as different sites.

Sally Engle Merry (2006b), a legal anthropologist who is interested in how ideas, discourses, and laws about human rights move globally, makes an altogether different suggestion. For her, 'deterritorialized ethnography' is more suitable than a 'multisited' approach because it captures the 'disembodiment' of ordinary life, as phenomena exist in a range of places but are not anchored in any of them. On the other hand, Wright (2011) suggests that, whatever is understood by 'site' or its alternatives, it is important not to treat 'field' and 'site' as synonyms in studies of policy. All the people, activities, and institutions present in a given field are potentially relevant, so researchers must select appropriate sites in that field and develop methods for the ethnographic study of political processes as they change over time.

Achieving depth

When anthropological research is conducted across multiple sites, it can neglect 'thick description' (Geertz 1993). One way to avoid superficiality is to 'make a cut' and follow the object of study from there. The decision of what to select and what to exclude is not arbitrary. Mark-Anthony Falzon (2009) proposes an ethnographic approach that is both satisfactory and sufficient, which he calls 'satisficing' (a term coined by the economist Herbert Simon in 1997), and describes the compromise between a grand holistic ambition of studying 'the whole system' and making a careless 'cut'. Anthropologists are guided by the

literature, the methodological state of the art, and evolving ethnographic insight – in sum, the epistemological foundations of their discipline.

The legal anthropologist Laura Nader uses a similar metaphor. Having encouraged anthropologists to direct their attention 'upwards' as well as 'downwards' and 'to the sides' (Nader 1972), she did not initially call her method multisited, but later argued that her work is an example of this method (Nader 2002). In her analyses of power relations between individuals and institutions in the US, Nader used two methods to create depth. In one study, she analysed how multiple consumer complaints were handled by local consumer bureaus, the media, unions, and the White House's consumer affairs division (Nader 1979, 1980b); in another, she made a 'vertical cut' and followed a single complaint about a product to see how the case was handled by manufacturers, government agencies, and in election campaigns (Nader 1980a). In a study of how the notion of human rights moves globally and what actual impact it has locally, Merry (2006a) focused on a single issue and region – violence against women in Asia and the Pacific - by using participant observation at UN meetings. Noticing that similar terms and procedures were repeated, she then chose five places in the region where she could investigate the impact the discourse had on legislation.

Another way to address a lack of depth in multisited ethnographic studies is though temporal duration. Time generates and transforms ethnography, argues Falzon (2009), so in multisited ethnography the length of time can be extended. This solution, as Ulf Hannerz (2003) observes, is very demanding, especially when spending time in the field must be juggled with teaching and administration and is constrained by budgetary restrictions. Personal circumstances can make it impossible to spend one or two years away from home for concentrated fieldwork, a situation that women anthropologists have long had to manage (Amit 2000; Moore 2016) and now faces all anthropologists who are parents of young children and study places they cannot safely bring their family. Hannerz (2003) points out that their continuous time in the field may be shorter, but the total time spent on the research project can extend over many years. Intermittent fieldwork can be an advantage in multisited ethnographies, since it gives anthropologists time to reflect on the material they have gathered and consider their next step.

Studying a law through its different domains

Policies, with their many complex meanings found in many places, must be 'studied through' rather than just 'followed', say Shore, Wright, and Sue Reinhold (Shore and Wright 1997; Reinhold and Wright 2011). Policy anthropologists attempt to grasp the interactions and disjunctions between different sites and levels, and their broad understanding of the field enables them to trace a discussion or conflict 'back and forth and back again between protagonists, and up and down and up again', identifying connections between events at different local and national locations (Reinhold and Wright 2011: 101). Studying through includes the open-ended present, as researchers recognise that every event has multiple possible effects with unpredictable future meanings. This approach requires conscious reflection on larger historical and political contexts.

The combination of a broad view and a distinct object of study allowed me to follow the ban while being alert to unfolding events and making necessary detours around unexpected obstacles. A wide-angle perspective reveals themes that arise, reoccur, transform, or disappear in the field over time. I have watched social and political actors come and go, and arguments be formulated, reused, or reformulated in response to counterarguments. I have seen how the ban has been strengthened and increasingly opposed within Sweden, and both accepted and rejected internationally. People are emotionally affected – hopeful and proud, or frightened and angry – as they clash and occasionally reconcile. Whenever a theme stood out by recurring time and time again, or caught my attention because I could not make sense of it, I have explored it more closely, oscillating not only between inside and outside perspectives but also between the field's levels and domains.

Some lines of enquiry are self-evident, such as the ban's impact on sex workers and clients and how they react to, resist and reason about it. Sometimes I have 'gone where informants pointed' (Valentine 2007), especially when invited by sex workers and politicians to participate in meetings, seminars, or visits to other countries. Conversations with sex workers and policymakers in different countries drew my attention to certain issues, such as sex workers' legal status. In order explore this question, I made a 'vertical cut' (Nader 1980a), following sex workers' legal and civic status as expressed in the source of law in Sweden and New Zealand and by politicians.

Studying a significant number of sites and a substantial body of source material can be overwhelming, because it is time-consuming and difficult to determine

what is relevant. Although we might assume that gathering material over a long time would add to the complexities, in my experience an extended period of study over two decades has proven useful in understanding the law governing prostitution in Sweden. Legal change is a long, slow process, and laws pertaining to the sex trade have many features which seem immune to the changes that reformers imagine will follow from new legislation.

Looking at the sex-purchase ban over time reveals that, although many social and political actors in numerous countries initially showed an interest in the law, this positive response mostly stopped there, and internationally there has been least as much questioning and scepticism as support. Opposing views occur within and between nations. The ability to 'enter into' and 'exit from' the field, being there 'again and again' over long periods (Hannerz 2003), brought a healthy distance, especially from my native Sweden, and facilitated reflection. This perspective enabled me to turn to a different theoretical framework than those commonly used by anthropologists, sociologists, and criminologists to study state policies toward commercial sex.

I tend to agree with the criticism that some multisited studies seem imprecise or arbitrary in their choice of places, sites and sources. In order to move 'back and forth, up and down and back again', as the policy anthropologists put it, and to grasp the interactions and disjunctions between different sites and levels, we must identify them in the policy domains we investigate. I examine the sex-purchase ban in four distinct but intersecting domains: law, discourse, implementation and impact. Each domain is comprised of material from various geographical locations; sites, which include media and archives; and the key actors involved. Next, I discuss each domain in turn, specifying their various levels and areas, the material I included, and my reasons for excluding certain aspects of them.

Domains and materials

Only in retrospect, after thinking through and systematising my ethnographic material, have I been able to formulate and delimit this field's domains, as well as the places, sites, and groups who figured there. I agree with Wright (2011) that all the people, activities, and institutions operating in the ban's field are potentially relevant, and my choices of sites and sources material evolved as I became acquainted with the field. Moreover, as Wright suggests, sources which at first

glance appear to be mere background material warrant being analysed alongside all the other data. Policy anthropologists generally favour participant observation and interviews because research subjects readily disclose their concerns, ideas, and viewpoints on most political topics. Insights from these ordinary interactions sensitise what Wright calls anthropologists' 'fieldwork eyes' and 'ears', which enables them to scrutinise written material from national and international organisations, the media, and parliamentary debates and recognise key concepts, embedded assumptions, and nuances of meaning in light of social, economic, and political relationships and operations of power.

The legal domain consists of the ban's legal significance, legal context, and legal history. The discursive domain encompasses the beliefs, opinions, and emotions expressed by actors with active engagement in commercial sex and the Swedish ban. The domain of implementation concerns how the ban is enforced and influences the authorities who interact with various parties in the sex work sector. The domain of impact includes the multiple ways the ban's legal significance, discourse, and practice affect the sector, including sex workers' occupational and living situations.

My material from all the domains consists of both published and unpublished sources. Some are primary sources in the sense most often used by social scientists: I have collected or created materials that are otherwise unknown except to the parties most directly involved. I have studied and analysed documents that historians regard as among the most reliable and valuable primary sources in existence: materials that gather and compile direct evidence of what stakeholders, institutions, and lawmakers said and did at the time policies were being proposed, debated, decided and implemented. I have used the publications in my field of study both as secondary sources for information that is not otherwise available to me and, in some cases, as primary sources on the intellectual frameworks and arguments that scholars bring to this field, which has few shared definitions of the object under study and is subject to many of the same debates that occur among policymakers and the public.

The following overview of these domains describes the material I have gathered to examine each of them. It also demonstrates how it is methodologically possible to follow a law and study its field. Of course, not all of these sources and materials are analysed and cited in my articles. It is essential to limit any investigation and focus on key questions. Some may regard this field as too extensive and eclectic to form the basis of a study. But when the object of study is a controversial policy

whose grounds, meanings and consequences are understood in disparate ways by the main stakeholders, the key conflicts and contradictions often emerge only after studying through the material. The coherence of my findings does not lie in the material, but in the conceptual framework, analyses, and conclusions presented in the articles and this dissertation.

The domain of law

The legal domain of the ban falls into three areas: established law (*gällande rätt*), what a specific Swedish law means and how it should be applied according to the source of law (*rättskällan*); the ban's entire legal context, including the cluster of laws and regulations affecting the sector and its polity; and the legal history of the ban and the policy.

To understand a Swedish law such as the ban on purchasing sex – what it means, how it should be implemented, and the consequences of its implementation – it is not sufficient to read the legal text itself; we must engage with the full scope of the source of law. That consists of the statutory texts; preparatory works such as government inquiries; judicial practices such as judgements; and legal doctrines that discuss how the offence is to be interpreted. In Sweden, law is a continual, collective interpretation and decision-making process by experts and stakeholders from politics, the judiciary, and jurisprudence, where the legislative text itself and its preparatory works carry the most weight, followed by the courts, and finally legal doctrine.

My study rests on an analysis of Swedish government preparatory work from 1976 until 2022. I chose my starting point because that year's government report on sexual offences (SOU 1976:9) also discussed other morals offences, such as homosexuality, and sparked a strong public reaction that scholars think paved the way for the sex-purchase ban (see Dodillet 2009; Eduards 2007; Månsson 2017).

I have not systematically studied all judicial practices related to commercial sex, but I did examine court judgements that are identified as relevant in the preparatory works or the legal doctrine. The legal literature on the ban includes the authors whose works are discussed in Chapter 2.

The second area is the legal context of the ban. There is no official document that sets out government policy on prostitution, but from various written sources, the public discourse, and what policy executives and sex workers said, I have identified the policy instruments the authorities and law enforcement use to

combat the sex trade and examined both them and the related laws and regulations. I then charted the regulations which support these actions and comments.

The third area is the legal history of the ban, which is essential for contextualisation. Here too no single work provides a complete history of Sweden's prostitution policy, but it can be pieced together from the literature discussed in chapters 2 and 5.

The domain of discourse

In the discursive domain of the sex-purchase ban, I include the beliefs, opinions, and emotions expressed by social actors with active engagement in the issue of commercial sex and the Swedish ban from 2009 to 2019. I chose the end-point of 2019 because it marked the 20th anniversary of the sex-purchase ban. In addition to those who sell and buy sex, these people and groups include politicians and officials, intellectuals, journalists, and activists, as well as public authorities such as the police, judiciary, and health and social services. Some defend the ban and others criticise it. My material does not extend to general discourses or public opinions about the sex-purchase ban; it is limited to individuals who are invested in the law because of their work or direct engagement. I have followed op-eds and reporting in the national and international media to some extent, treating it as complementary to the main body of this material.

My primary source material for the discourse comprises politicians' statements in parliamentary debate, which are documented as interpellations or questions to ministers and other members of government; their posts in traditional and social media; their writings in newspaper columns and books; and their speeches at conferences and meetings in and outside of Sweden. I have had occasional formal or informal conversations with Swedish parliamentarians, government officials, and representatives of the authorities and, following freedom of information requests, I have gained access to internal email correspondence. Naturally, the material in the legal and discursive domains overlaps. The inquiries into prostitution deal with much more than the law. They contain reflections on the nature of the sex trade and the general and specific purposes of the law; they express values and norms regarding gender, sexuality, and power, along with beliefs, fantasies, and emotions on these highly charged subjects.

All of the parliamentarians I interviewed wish to remain anonymous, with the significant exception of Fredrick Federley from the Centre Party, who has openly criticised the ban on purchasing sex. The others are a Social Democrat who sat in Parliament before the ban was introduced, a Moderate who served two terms after the ban was passed, and a Liberal who has been in Parliament for many years. The government officials, all of whom wish to remain anonymous, are a former highlevel administrator in the Ministry of Justice, an official in another national government office, and officials at the Ministry of Social Affairs, the Public Health Agency, and the County Administrative Board. These conversations covered the parliamentary process and the workings of government and discussed how these informants handled the prostitution debate and sex-purchase ban. They lasted between 45 minutes and 2 hours. When agreed upon, I recorded the interviews, but also took notes during and after them. I had ongoing contact with one of the officials from 2009 to 2015. I also conducted two recorded interviews with Anna Skarhed, the judge who conducted the government inquiry into the ban on purchasing sex (2008–2010) when she was Chancellor of Justice (2009–2018) and continued to be an open advocate for the ban. Apart from one interview with Skarhed and one with an anonymous official, these semi-structured interviews occurred in a public place such as a café, the others were conducted in the privacy of a home or workplace.

The cabinet ministers engaged in prostitution policy whom I did not interview but whose opinions I have particularly considered are the Deputy Prime Minister and Minister for Gender Equality Margareta Winblad (2000–2005), a Social Democrat; Minister of Justice Beatrice Ask (2008–2012), a Moderate; and Minister for Foreign Affairs Margot Wallström (2012–2018), a Social Democrat. They all played active roles in the promotion and defence of the sex-purchase ban.

My contacts with foreign political representatives and officials included delegations and individuals I met in Stockholm at the invitation of the Swedish Institute, as part of its effort to influence other countries to introduce a sexpurchase ban. I was asked to meet these delegations because I was among the few Swedish researchers who was critical of the ban. Sometimes I was the only person who expressed this view; at other times, I was joined by sex-worker activists and NGOs. In total, I met with four delegations at locations chosen by them or the Swedish Institute, such as a conference room in a hotel or NGO office. The meetings lasted 60–90 minutes and had a question-and-answer format, typically after I gave a short introduction.

Other interested politicians and officials from Australia, Belgium, Finland, France, Germany, the Netherlands, Northern Ireland, and Norway contacted me on their own initiative by telephone or while they were visiting Sweden. They asked to meet me at a restaurant, typically for lunch, or at their embassy. Similarly, when visiting Australia, Austria, the Netherlands, and New Zealand, I came into contact with political representatives and officials when I was an invited speaker in parliamentary and other public forums, but we also had individual conversations at my or their initiative. These talks took place in public settings or at home. I had contact with approximately 35 individuals and ten groups. With one exception these meetings were not recorded; instead, I took notes during these events.

A third group is comprised of intellectuals, journalists, and activists who have tried to influence Sweden's prostitution policy. This source material consists of texts and statements in traditional and social media by supporters and opponents of the sex-purchase ban, and my observations at public and closed meetings, as well as informal conversations with individuals and groups, especially sex-worker activists.

My engagement in the field made it difficult to gain access to closed meetings with proponents of the ban, and I was able to conduct recorded interviews only with the British writer Judy Bindel. However, it has opened other doors. I have had long-term or repeated contact with about 30 sex-worker activists in Sweden, New Zealand, and Australia. I have also had occasional, brief meetings with activists from Italy, Spain, Thailand, Taiwan, Turkey, and the US, in conjunction with conferences in Sweden and other countries.

Some of these contacts date back to when I began studying Swedish prostitution policy in 1998. In Sweden, my key contacts have been Lilian Anderson, Pye Jakobsson, Carina Edlund, 'Emma', Eva Marree Kullander Smith, 'Greta Garbo', Christina Persson, Ingegärd Granath, and 'Isabelle Lund', under the umbrella of the Fuckförbundet, Red Umbrella Sweden, and Rose Alliance. In Aotearoa New Zealand, I have had long-term and recurring contact with sex workers and staff at the New Zealand Prostitutes Collective, especially Catherine Healy and Calum Bennachie. We have spent hundreds of hours in personal conversations and meetings at home, in restaurants, or community centres. I did not record these individual or group discussions, but took notes at the time and later wrote out my observations in the classic form of ethnographic fieldnotes.

Besides these personal contacts, I have attended about 40 public meetings and seminars in Sweden on the sex-purchase ban and the national prostitution and

anti-trafficking policy, which were arranged by Swedish authorities, institutions, political parties and NGOs. Some were set up by the sex-worker organisations Rose Alliance and Fuckförbudet, the LGBTQ+ organisations National Association for Sexual Equality (RFSL) and Pride, and the National Association for Sexuality Education (RFSU). Other seminars were arranged by the County Administrative Board in Stockholm, which was in charge of developing Sweden's anti-prostitution and anti-trafficking policy until 2017, the Swedish Institute, and the National Board of Health. Debates were organised by universities, adult study circles, and local branches of various political parties. I recorded and transcribed some of these meetings; during others I took notes.

While media coverage is not a central component of my study, I have examined articles and radio and TV programmes that did not take an explicit position on the ban. I gathered this material systematically during the initial years of my doctoral studies and when there were responses to specific events, for instance in 2015 when several Swedish reports critical of the sex-purchase ban were published. In addition, I have conducted thematic searches on specific topics, such as how politicians and police expressed their opinions about Swedish sex workers paying income tax, or the ways writers and speakers approached the dichotomy of work and oppression in the sex trade.

The secondary publications which serve as source material for the discourse are previous studies of the ban on purchasing sex. Three in particular stand out for the richness of their primary sources. The intellectual historian Susanne Dodillet (2009) has compared the ideas behind German and Swedish prostitution policies, using printed parliamentary sources, the media debate, and literature from the mid-1970s to 1998. The political scientist Josefina Erikson (2011, 2017) has analysed the legislative history of Sweden's ban on purchasing sex, examining printed material and conducting interviews with key actors in and beyond Parliament to elucidate the interaction between ideas about gender and feminism and policy decisions. The geographer Jay Levy (2015) conducted an interview-based study of the ideas framing the ban and its impact on women and men who sell sex. I also draw on my previous research based on interviews and discourse (2003, 2006).

The domain of implementation

Implementation involves agencies and officials with a direct mandate to ensure the ban on purchasing sex is enforced and integrated into their practices, as well as those who are indirectly affected by the ban in their exercise of authority. Examples of the former are the institutions of the judicial system, especially the police, prosecutors, and the courts; examples of the latter are the national and local social authorities who encounter the parties to the sex trade, as well as official bodies such as the Tax Agency.

I have focused on the way the ban is applied in practice by the police and to some extent on the indirect influence the ban has on other public authorities. I have excluded the judiciary, otherwise a common site in legal anthropological studies. While following cases through the legal process can provide valuable information about how the legal institutions responsible for the country's security and its citizens' safety interpret and perform their mission, as well as how individuals taken to court understand and react to the legal process, the sheer volume of material is so large that it would have to be sampled, coded, and analysed quantitatively instead of ethnographically.

My openly critical stance on the ban has complicated access to certain parts of the domain, including the police. To understand how Swedish police apply the ban, I have relied on vice units' own descriptions as documented in the media, various publications, and public meetings where they have spoken. Specifically, I concentrated on Kajsa Wahlberg and Simon Häggström, two high-profile police officers who are vocal supporters of the sex-purchase ban, and to some extent on Häggström's predecessors Anders Gripenlöf and Jonas Trolle.⁹

In examining the law's indirect effects on officials and government employees who encounter the parties to the sex trade in the course of their work, I have relied

_

⁹ Wahlberg, the Swedish Police's National Operations Department rapporteur on human trafficking, was the first to hold the post, which was created when the offence of human trafficking was introduced in 2002. Although the crime of human trafficking targets only the non-consensual sex trade, the sex-purchase ban is integral to the Swedish government's anti-trafficking program and vice versa (Article IV). Häggström was head of the Stockholm Police Human Trafficking and Prostitution Unit (2009–2017) and now leads the National Police Authority's work against prostitution and human trafficking. Häggström is active in the media, attends national and international conferences, and writes newspaper columns and books about the sex trade. He has published accounts of police operations on the ground (Häggström 2016, 2017), although he has acknowledged that his descriptions of events and accounts of conversations are not always authentic (2016: 413).

on existing studies and reports. Social workers have a distinct relationship to those engaged in the sex sector. They are governed by the Social Services Act, so they are supposed to support the help-seeking person based on their circumstances when making decisions in custody disputes or granting financial support. Local politicians and officials may intervene in the harm-reducing work of social services and civil society, particularly in relation to Sweden's anti-prostitution commitments and decisions by the Tax Agency.

Finally, I have traced the implementation of Sweden's prostitution policies back in time. Historically, as in other countries, Sweden had special police units responsible for prostitution and related crimes (see Chapter 5).

The domain of impact

In this domain, I have focused on how law, discourse, and practice affect the prostitution sector, particularly its extent and sex workers' circumstances, and how sex workers respond to, manoeuvre around, and resist the power of law.

To understand the ban's impact on the sector, it is worth considering the perspective proposed by Sally Falk Moore (1972), who contended that individuals and groups in a governed domain are not entirely controlled by the laws designed to control their actions but have their own lives, rules, and practices. Gayle Rubin (1992) observed that people always find the 'loopholes' in repressive laws directed at commercial sex. A ban on buying sex does not seem to lessen the extent of the trade, but only changes where and how it takes place. Sex workers exhibit individual and collective agency as they pursue their occupation despite the legal measures marshalled against it.

Although there are no studies that systematically investigate how Sweden's sex-purchase ban and prostitution policy affects sex workers' circumstances, several publications provide partial information. Government reports focus mainly on the extent of the sex industry, societal attitudes toward prostitution, how well interventions against it have worked, and the wider population's experiences of selling and buying sex, but they offer some information about the ban's impact on sex workers' situation. The most important sources are the government's public inquiries and propositions (RP 1997/98:55; SOU 1995:15; SOU 2010:49; SOU 2016:42; SOU2016:70), studies from the National Board of Health and Welfare (Socialstyrelsen 2000, 2004, 2007), and specific reports from the County Administrative Board in Stockholm (Mujaj and Netscher 2015), the Gender

Equality Authority (de Cabo y Moreda and Hall 2021), and the Crime Prevention Council (BRÅ 2000; Holmberg et al. 2011; Forsman and Korsell 2008; Fjelkegård et al. 2022), in addition to academic publications (Holmström et al. 2008; Svedin et al. 2012), a report by The National Association for Sexuality Education (Holmström 2015), including a study by Malmö University (Holmström et al. 2020) that looks at sexual and reproductive health and the rights of people who have sex for money.

The only study that specifically addresses how the ban affects people who sell sex is a community report by the sex workers' association Fuckförbundet (2019). The National Association for Sexual Equality (RFSL) and the Rose Alliance, funded by the City of Malmö and HIV-Sweden, have conducted quantitative and qualitative studies focusing on sex workers' health that include sex workers' comments on the ban and their treatment by the authorities (Edlund and Jakobsson 2015; Jakobsson 2008; Larsdotter et al. 2011; Olsson 2007, 2010). The sex workers and sex-work activists in Sweden I have been in contact with described the impact the ban has on them and their colleagues and explained how they view the policy. Their views are also documented in their publications and media posts.

Paying customers are the most obvious group affected by the sex-purchase ban, although they are beyond the scope of this thesis. Elsewhere, Isabelle Johansson and I have explored male customers' reasoning and actions when they suspect that someone is being forced to sell sex against their will or subjected to violence by a third party, and compared it to other policies (Johansson and Östergren 2021). Third parties, such as managers, landlords, and security staff, as well as sex workers' families and friends, are not studied here either. Moreover, this domain does not include individuals' experiences of selling sex and the meanings they and others ascribe to it. This topic is commonly considered in studies of sex work; I explored it in earlier work on Swedish prostitution policy (Östergren 2003, 2006) and compared to international studies (Östergren 2011).

Concrete contributions this method made possible

A few examples illustrate the valuable insights generated by studying through these interconnected domains, as well as the gaps this thesis has not addressed.

In Article IV on the status of sex workers in Sweden and New Zealand, I start with discursive statements by politicians and sex workers and give examples from

police work in the two countries and their actual effects on the sex trade. Next I explain the different policies. Here I particularly consider the Swedish source of law, analysing the complex and even contradictory relationship between the sexpurchase ban, its object of protection, and the general principles that apply to the Penal Code. Finally I examine these discrepancies in relation to the ban's political justifications as expressed in policy documents, public discourse and statements by politicians and legal authorities.

A less obvious result of this method is in Article II, where 'studying through' the material alerted me to the most salient features of differing prostitution policies and guided my formulation of a typology. In Article III about morality politics, recurring themes and observations contributed to my formulation of this key concept. The contrasting, powerful emotions expressed by proponents of the ban and sex workers when other countries banned the purchase of sex led me to realise that the ban on purchasing sex is not only a typical example of repressive prostitution policy but also should be understood in terms of morality politics.

Considering the legal domain of the ban, in particular the source of law, revealed its legal and political discrepancies, which often arose from underlying contradictions. For instance, the statutory text states simply that it is illegal to pay or attempt to pay for a sexual service and that this crime is punished by a fine or imprisonment. The statue does not say whom or what the ban is meant to protect. Nor does it deal with the ban's relationship to adjacent laws and regulations, such as incitement to crime, although these provisions pertain to the courts' treatment of the person offering sexual services. As I explain in Article IV, we learn through legal practice and legal doctrine that the ban on buying sex is based on the person selling sex consenting to the crime and that 'public order', not the sex worker, is the object of protection, underlining the discrepancy between the ban's legal and political justifications. Since there is no individual victim who can testify against the alleged perpetrator, the police need to conduct invasive surveillance in order to gather evidence. No wonder sex workers feel 'hunted by the police' even though selling sexual services is not criminalised.

A notable weakness of this thesis is the lack of traditional ethnographic material in the articles, such as detailed accounts of my observations and the voices of the people I interacted with. This limitation, however, is more a consequence of the format. Nuanced, thick descriptions of field activities are inherently more restricted in a compilation thesis than a monograph. Nevertheless, the insights and conclusions drawn in the articles are firmly grounded in my contacts with the

people in the field. I consistently compared what I saw and heard with what I was reading, adding a crucial dimension to a study that includes law. I first became aware of the contrasting emotions aroused by morality politics, a phenomenon discussed in Article III, when I was a participant as well as observer at a group meeting.

On October 20, 2014, I was in Sweden giving the opening address at a Labour Party pensioners' club meeting to discuss the ban. I was followed by an advocate of the ban from a large anti-prostitution NGO, who began enthusiastically that it could hardly be a better time to consider the issue: 'Last night, I received an email from Northern Ireland where they joyfully announced that they've taken the first step towards a sex-purchase law based on the Swedish–Nordic model!' The audience applauded, and she continued: 'And as if that wasn't enough, Canada too has adopted a ban in the Swedish–Nordic style, which also deserves applause! And in France, it is almost done; France has a sex-purchase law.' I too had received a message overnight from one of the Swedish sex workers I was in contact with asking if I could speak with her colleague from Northern Ireland at a conference they were attending, who was in her hotel room in tears about what would happen once the sex-purchase ban was passed.

While I was familiar with the fear, anger, and sadness anti-prostitution laws evoke, the event highlighted the emotional drive and intent behind these repressive measures. The speaker from the anti-prostitution NGO did not wish evil on anyone, but was happy because the expansion of the ban signified hope – understandably so, since the sex trade, like other issues of morality politics, is portrayed as an all-encompassing threat to civilised society. After all, as I show in Article III, the official inquiry that preceded the sex-purchase ban proclaimed that Sweden was at 'a crossroads', facing a choice between 'unleashing destructive forces' or insisting that 'prostitution is unacceptable' (SOU 1995:15, 227). Examining the emotions triggered by policy developments and comparing them to the legislative text resulted in a better understanding of what is at stake in the 'games' (F.G. Bailey 2008) of morality politics.

Nonetheless, studying a question that is saturated with such deeply held, yet conflicting opinions presents methodological challenges.

Doing research in a highly politicised field

Since first hearing about the Swedish sex-purchase ban in 1998, I have played a variety of different roles in the field. Individually and with sex workers, activists, and other intellectuals and academics, I have problematised the law's consequences for people who buy and sell sex. I have written and contributed to articles debating the policy (see, for example, Andersson and Östergren 1998a, b; Östergren 2000; Östergren 2004; Östergren 2007; Bankier et al. 2007; Dodillet et al. 2008) and participated in interviews for the Swedish and foreign media. Based on my research, I have evaluated the ban and formulated policy recommendations (Dodillet and Östergren 2011; Östergren 2017b; Johansson and Östergren 2021), participated in political debates, and met with individual politicians from Sweden and other European countries, Australia, and New Zealand when my expertise has been sought. In addition, I have participated in formal and informal meetings with groups of sex workers in Sweden and other countries to share my research and discuss strategies for improving sex workers' legal situation.

It is generally uncontroversial for anthropologists to build relationships with individuals in the marginalised groups we study and to publicly support them. Dying languages, land rights for indigenous peoples, environmental disasters, women's rights: these issues often sparked our interest in social anthropology and bring meaning to our research.

Although some disagree with Laura Nader (2002) that anthropological studies inevitably create knowledge with political consequences we must act on, Maia Green (2006) makes a strong case. When anthropologists who work for governments and make knowledge instrumental are criticised by other anthropologists, we recognise that anthropology is shaped by its institutional environments. Whatever we do as ethnographers is always part of a political agenda. Others emphasise that anthropologists acquire specialised knowledge about people, groups, and their societies and cultural practices. When those who share their culture with us seek our help to access this knowledge in order to improve their lives, we must respond (Marvin 2006).

Anthropologists have supported sex workers' campaigns to have a voice in the political decisions that affect their lives. Susan Dewey, Treena Orchard, and Tiantian Zheng (2015: 6) say that as feminist anthropologists researching and writing about sex work in their home communities in Canada, China, and the

US, they 'share a deep political commitment to working against the exclusionary forces that destroy the lives and communities of the women we have come to know and care deeply about' (see also Day 2007; Koch 2021; Kulick 1998, 2003; Prieur 1998; Wardlow 2006; Williams 2013; Wilson 2004).

Siding with the marginalised groups we meet through our research is not unproblematic. By studying the law and government policy, which are fundamental moral and political matters, we inevitably become part of the field. Social actors might use our research, and perhaps even fund it, to guide them in making decisions. Others might use our research to argue for their position, even if it differs from ours. We are invited to sign petitions and join delegations to lobby politicians. Our very presence at seminars and meetings, in the press and online, is unavoidably political.

Whatever we do and say, whatever opinions we express, and even if we do our utmost to remain 'neutral', we cannot escape the fact that we are implicated in the controversies that surround the social and cultural questions we study. But our discipline gives us ways to handle our participation. When we position ourselves or are given roles by others, we must be aware of the complications as well as advantages this creates when entering and exiting the field, conducting participant observation and writing up our findings.

The morally, emotionally, and politically charged nature of sex work and its governance can result in a hostile research environment that directly impacts researchers. I have tried to face the dilemmas that inevitably arose in this project and to address them creatively, so my participation in the field generates new understandings and more refined definitions of core concepts.

Taking a stand on a political controversy makes it difficult for us to engage with those who take a different stand on the basis of mutual trust, which is a precondition of ethnography. My openly critical stance toward the ban has led its proponents, who are in the majority among Swedish legislators, government representatives, and public officials, to refuse to speak with me or fail to invite me to observe forums they organise. Yet these suspicions and the ways rejections are formulated convey valuable information about the workings of anti-prostitution policy and morality politics. At the same time, my stance has been an advantage in contacts with sex workers and others on the international stage, who seek information that does not come from official channels. Reciprocally, they have given me insights and perspectives I would not have had without them.

Representativeness

The representativeness of research is often questioned, which is usually taken to mean that generalisations made on the basis of an empirical study are not valid. My previous work has been criticised as biased by academics who favour the ban on purchasing sexual services (see Eduards 2007; Erikson et al. 2015; Waltman 2011), although they define their own studies as 'objective'. The works they target are my undergraduate thesis (Östergren 2003), a book (Östergren 2006), and a brief article published online (Östergren n.d.) based on the statements of sex workers interviewed. As the issue of representativeness is continuously raised in the Swedish debates and among some academics (Ekman 2011; Waltman 2021; Yttergren and Westerstrand 2016), I briefly address the matter. Others object to the anthropological approach of 'listening to the voices' because there are many different voices within the sex industry, including those who support its criminalisation. Individuals who have suffered from the business and subsequently left it are among them (Eek 2005; Moran 2013).

I have never claimed that the sex workers I interviewed were representative of all those in Sweden. People who sell sex are rarely open about it because of the stigma and social exclusion it entails, as well as its association with criminal behaviour (Shaver 2005). In fact, solid estimates of the number of people in Sweden who work in the prostitution sector are still lacking. Interviews with sex workers in a repressive, highly politicised climate such as Sweden's are fraught with difficulties. For example, many of the sex workers Jay Levy (2015) interviewed in three years of fieldwork were hesitant to voice any criticism of Swedish policy because they feared their views would not be regarded as credible. When sex workers were interviewed in a survey conducted for the National Board of Health and Welfare (Socialstyrelsen 2007), potential informants were hesitant because they did not trust how the interview material would be handled. Some feared it would be used to make the ban even stricter and further complicate their lives; others were sceptical because they had been interviewed before, but their voices were removed from the final report.

In contrast, I have not faced these difficulties with informants because I have been open about my belief in equal rights for individuals selling sexual services, and the sex workers I met knew where I stood. Unlike earlier Swedish researchers, I am not concerned with their reasons for selling sex but rather with their views of feminism and their analysis of Sweden's prostitution policy.

Moreover, my analysis is based on multiple sources of information, not only my contacts with sex workers in Sweden and other countries where prostitution is largely illegal. Similarly, the secondary sources are based on interviews with people involved in the sale of sexual services which are conducted by people with differing perspectives on commercial sex. This form of triangulation means that I can identify recurring themes and common patterns. Similar findings emerge from studies in Norway (Amnesty International 2016b; Bjørndahl 2012), Canada (McBride et al. 2021), and France (Le Bail et al. 2019), which have also criminalised the purchase of sex, as well as meta-analyses of the consequences of stigma and various forms of criminalisation (Benoit et al. 2018a; Platt et al. 2018). Taken together, these studies form a reliable body of material.

Anthropological researchers rarely worry about whether their findings are representative of some larger group because qualitative research does not seek to establish generalisations about populations; that requires quantitative analysis of statistical data, which is more common in sociology. We seek to understand experiences, interactions, and the meanings people see in them. Instead of focusing on what is typical, anthropologists sometimes explore what is exceptional in order to illuminate the unstated norms that are seldom revealed until they are broken. Temporary sexual interactions between sex workers and clients are very different from the Swedish ideal of long-term relationships between intimate partners.

Hostility toward researchers

The stigma surrounding sex work, coupled with a strongly repressive political climate, affect not only how our findings are received but also how researchers in this field are treated. As Gail Pheterson (1996) asserted, the 'whore stigma' is contagious, so public association with women who sell sex is self-incriminating.

Anthropologists studying sex work in other countries have discussed how stigma affects the research process (Dewey and Zheng 2013). So have other sex work researchers (Bjønness et al. 2022; for a review, see Benoit et al. 2018a). As Susan Dewey (2013) puts it, anthropologists' research places them firmly in the midst of the heated debates on sex work and prostitution. Tiantian Zheng (2013) agrees that all those who study sex work are 'at the forefront of extremely contentious debates between self-identified abolitionists, who view sex work as a form of violence against women, and sex workers' rights activists, who contend that sex work is both an enduring reality and an individual choice' (2013: 39).

In discussing the ethics of research on sex work, Dewey (2013) documents the severity and public ramifications of these controversies among scholars. Those who have engaged with sex workers and presented their findings in sex workers' own terms have been denounced by abolitionist academics in scholarly journals, at professional conferences, on listservs and organisational websites. Abolitionists target scholars who do not share their understanding of sex commerce and who point out flaws in their research designs, while calling for evidence-based legislation and policy. Dewey gives several examples of academics dismissing empirical research on grounds that researchers were 'siding with pimps'; they have refused to engage in dialogue but attacked other scholars in print and in person. Such a hostile environment can make researchers cautious about undertaking collaborative work with others and presenting their findings to their academic colleagues and the public. Younger scholars may well fear professional repercussions, and research proposals that challenge the prevailing opinion may be rejected by institutional review boards.

This situation poses ethical dilemmas researchers should consider as they formulate the questions they investigate. They must 'ask themselves if they are willing to risk libellous accusations of sexism, immorality, or threats of lawsuits when their findings do not corroborate the abolitionist assumption that all forms of sex work constitute violence against women', Dewey concludes (2013: 14). According to Zheng (2013), this hostility affects researchers' ability to gain access to the sex industry and maintain their own and others' safety and privacy in the field. In Sweden, Don Kulick (2005b) describes 'his agenda' being questioned at academic conferences and audiences asking whether he himself buys sex. Isabelle Johansson, who interviews those who do, has been called a 'pimp' (Aquilonius 2021), and Susanne Dodillet's doctoral thesis on Swedish and German prostitution law was reported as based on fraudulent research (Månsson and Westerstrand 2009). Recently, a survey of the sex trade on behalf of the Swedish Gender Equality Agency (Jämy) by social work scholars Annelie de Cabo y Moreda and Anna Hall (2021) revealed that the current prostitution policy tends to increase the vulnerability of those it is intended to protect. This result was not taken on board by the agency (de Cabo y Moreda and Hall 2022). Meanwhile, the study was portrayed as a mouthpiece for the 'pro-sex-purchase lobby' (Ekman 2022), and anti-prostitution organisations demanded a new study based on politically correct terminology and established conceptions of the sex trade (Andersson et al. 2022). De Cabo y Moreda and Hall were not allowed to proceed

with the training for programme coordinators and university lecturers on teaching about prostitution and human trafficking which they had been commissioned to conduct on behalf of Jämy.¹⁰

The ramifications of these controversies were particularly clear when scholars, journalists and politicians tried to discredit and close down DemandAT, an EUfunded, interdisciplinary research project on measures to combat trafficking.

In the spring and summer of 2015, scholars Catherine MacKinnon and Max Waltman sent email messages to the Swedish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Ministry of Health and Social Affairs, the Chancellor of Justice, and EU politicians in an attempt to discredit the project. They alleged that the consortium had a biased 'pro-sex trade agenda' and its design had been manipulated to conceal 'Sweden's brilliant success' in banning sex-purchase. The fact that I was in charge of the Swedish research was particularly troublesome; MacKinnon emphasised that I was a PhD candidate and a known critic of Sweden's prostitution law, and went so far as to describe me as a 'proponent of legalisation of brothels'. MacKinnon and Waltman drafted petitions to protest the funding awarded to the project, asking the recipients to send the email message to members of the EU Commission. Chancellor of Justice Anna Skarhed

122

¹⁰ Initially, no reasons were given for this decision, but when de Cabo y Moreda and Hall insisted on an explanation, it emerged that it was because, in Jämy's opinion, the researchers were critical of the sex purchase law. What this was based on was never stated (personal communication from Anna Hall).

¹¹ MacKinnon is American feminist lawyer and law school professor who belongs to the Coalition Against Trafficking in Women (CATW). On her faculty website, she states that she and the radical feminist writer and activist Andrea Dworkin proposed the Swedish Model to abolish prostitution (https://hls.harvard.edu/faculty/catharine-a-mackinnon/). Waltman is a Swedish political scientist who has published on the politics of legal challenges to prostitution, sex trafficking, and pornography, including its association with gender-based violence and sex inequality. MacKinnon was Waltman's PhD supervisor.

¹² C. MacKinnon, personal communication to A. Wrange and M. Waltman, 30 March 2015; M. Waltman, personal communication to K. Bengtson, 17 April 2015; M. Waltman, personal communication to K. Bengtson, 24 April 2015.

¹³ C. MacKinnon, personal communication to M. Björk, L. Naraghi, A. Skarhed, M. Wallström, M. Waltman, 2 June 2015; C. MacKinnon, personal communication to M. Björk, A. Skarhed, M. Wallström, 16 June 2015.

forwarded MacKinnon's first emails to civil servants in charge of Sweden's antiprostitution and anti-trafficking policy, wondering what 'could be done'. 14

The ministries politely thanked MacKinnon and Waltman for the information, but pointed out that the EU Commission is independent and does take instructions from any government. The Swedish government cannot influence the issue, nor is it their responsibility to attempt to do so.¹⁵ However, the government could 'see no obstacle' to MacKinnon approaching and informing the European Commission herself.¹⁶

In her correspondence with MacKinnon, the Chancellor of Justice stated that while the petition 'gives a correct picture of the situation' and agreed that the commission should be informed, she said that it should be signed by scholars such as MacKinnon herself.¹⁷ MacKinnon replied to the ministries that it would be 'inappropriate and ineffective' for her to raise the issue.¹⁸ She explained why in an email to Chancellor Skarhed:¹⁹

Anna, I am glad the letter presents the accurate situation and appreciate your strategic assessment and suggestions. I think you are the right person to sign the letter. Other scholars are automatically regarded as disgruntled potential grantees with an axe to grind. Also, although we have kept it very quiet, everyone who knows anything knows that I conceived and proposed the Swedish Model in 1990, initiating the organizing that eventually produced it, and have been actively behind it ever since on multiple fronts, which makes me precisely the wrong person to be raising these objections. It needs to come from an official source, in my opinion, to have any effect.²⁰

¹⁴ A. Skarhed, personal communication to P. Cederlöf, S. Häggström, L. Tamm and K. Wahlberg, 1 April 2015.

¹⁵ A. Wrange, personal communication to C. MacKinnon, 2 April 2015; A. Wrange, personal communication to M. Waltman, 24 april 2015; A. Wrange, personal communication to M. Waltman, 27 april 2015

¹⁶ K. Bengtsson, personal communication to C. MacKinnon, 21 Juli 2015.

¹⁷ A. Skarhed, personal communication to C. MacKinnon, 16 June 2015.

¹⁸ C. MacKinnon, personal communication to K. Bengtson, 21 July 2015.

¹⁹ C. MacKinnon, personal communication to A. Skarhed, 16 June 2015; also, C. MacKinnon, personal communication to M. Björk, 5 June 2015.

²⁰ It is difficult to assess the accuracy of MacKinnon's claim to have conceived and proposed the 'Swedish model' of a ban on purchasing sex, but MacKinnon and Andrea Dworkin

'Fortunately', according to MacKinnon, 'other officials understand the need for action'. ²¹ Among these officials was EU politician Malin Björk, who said she did not think it would be possible to cancel the grant, but that they must 'discredit the programme' and suggested various ways of doing this, such as engaging MEP in the petitions and organising EU workshops where other researchers could counteract DemandAT. ²² The matter also reached Swedish media, where journalist and writer Kajsa Ekis Ekman questioned the validity of the research project (Ekman 2015; see also Erikson et al. 2015, Sveriges Radio 2015). The project went ahead, but its findings have not been considered by Swedish authorities.

Theoretical insights from this stigmatised field

The first lesson to be drawn from the experiences of other anthropological researchers as well as my own with DemandAT is that it is those who study this field cannot avoid being drawn into the debates on policies toward commercial sex. But these experiences also provide theoretical insights.

In their article on reflexivity and the research process, Eilís Ward and Gillian Wylie (2014) describe the hostile reactions to their decade-long study of prostitution and trafficking in Ireland. Their characterisation of the sex trade as contingent, complex and ambiguous placed them outside the dominant feminist and neo-abolitionist consensus in public discourse. Their stance precluded their being invited to submit proposals for publicly funded research, and their results, which were initially used by Irish and US authorities, were subsequently buried. Their increasing 'emotional and intellectual' discomfort as that policy position gained support yielded valuable epistemic insights. It revealed the exclusion of

collaborated with the Swedish women's shelter movement (Roks) during the 1980s and 1990s and participated in a conference that drew a large number of politically influential women and was opened by the Minister of Justice. Their speeches were translated and published in a conference book by Roks. Later, the 1993 Inquiry into Prostitution copied long sections of Dworkin's speech when she graphically described 'violent pornography' and 'torture pornography' (see Östergren 2006: 52).

²¹ C. MacKinnon, personal communication to K. Bengtson, 21 July 2015.

²² M. Björk, personal communication to C. MacKinnon, A. Skarhed and M. Waltman, 5 June 2015.

dissenting voices, the denial of complexity in favour of a singular overarching analysis, and 'the politics of discourse domination' that characterised the neo-abolitionist campaigns advocating for the 'Swedish approach'. 'Our primary role as feminist scholars makes distinct demands: fealty to research methods and to critical thinking,' they explained. 'However, our personal loyalty to the women's movement and to the feminist cause, our sensitivity to the criticisms of those seen to oppose the Swedish approach – that they comforted pimps, traffickers and abusers of women – exerted a psychosocial pressure on us not to disrupt the universalizing discourse. In this situation we discerned the power politics of knowledge production and policy formation as we realised our work and voices were being marginalized by the truth claims and tactics of ToRL', the Turn off the Red Light campaign against prostitution and sex trafficking, an influential Irish NGO (Ward and Wylie 2014: 260).

The hostility expressed by neo-abolitionists shows how anti-prostitution law and discourse function not only to exclude sex workers from the national community, which I write about in Articles III and IV, but also to silence those who challenge this repressive order. Viewed through the lens of morality politics, the ostracism imposed by neo-abolitionist academics, politicians, and activists comes into focus. We see the same dynamic in the study of the regulation of abortion, homosexuality, and drugs. When I linked the tactics of the neo-abolitionists with those of 19th and early 20th century moral reformers, I gained insight into the recurring features of morality politics. The charged nature of sex work and societal condemnation, once better understood, can advance our analysis.

My political stand

Before turning to the history of Sweden's policies and practices regarding prostitution, I follow the examples set by Dewey and Zheng, Ward and Wylie and reflect on the implications of my political stance on the issue of prostitution and its governance.

In 1998, my position was based on the political conviction that when laws are enacted, those directly affected should be consulted, as women's movements and advocates for LGBTQ+ rights have proclaimed. 'Nothing about us without us' has become a common refrain for sex workers' rights. My engagement and

advocacy was informed and reinforced by the attention paid in critical anthropology to whose voices are heard and whose are not.

As I have learned more about the criminal law in a liberal state, what I regard as the core question has shifted to a simple but fundamental principle. Should a Rechtsstaat use law to criminalise the actions of consenting adults in private that are not injurious to other interests? Or should it use law in a way that gives vulnerable groups access to the protection of the law and law enforcement? In Swedish jurisprudence, public law, which includes criminal law, is described as regulating the vertical relationship between the state and the citizen, while civil law is described as regulating the horizontal relationships among citizens (Jareborg 2001). It is precisely because the legislature holds so much power over citizens through penal law that the liberal rule of law is built on carefully drafted legal principles that must be followed, especially when introducing new prohibitions.

Under liberal, defensive criminal law, as articulated by the Swedish government and legal doctrine, criminalisation is a last resort for the most reprehensible, blameworthy actions. Since punishments represent society's most 'intrusive and degrading sanction' (Jareborg 2001: 36) and 'the ultimate expression of state power' (SOU 2013:38, 479), the state should aim to influence behaviour without repressive measures, through education and information. This precautionary principle has developed ideological principles and criteria, formulated within various frameworks or models, to which legislators should adhere when considering new offences or extensions of existing criminal provisions (SOU 2013:38, 423–501).

A Rechtsstaat should not use criminalisation to prevent immoral behaviour which does adversely affect others. Such legislation may have no demonstrable positive effects and can lead to human suffering. The liberal state should be tolerant of citizens' behaviour and respect the individual's privacy and self-determination. Introducing a penal provision just because a legislator wants to 'make a statement' that society takes the matter seriously is not enough. The punishment for a crime must also have the desired effect without unintended consequences; the penalised behaviour should decrease without causing the innocent to suffer.

The conclusion I draw from research-based knowledge on the design and effects of various prostitution laws and policy models is that an integrative policy, like the one in New Zealand, is preferable to repressive prostitution policies, like that in Sweden.

5. Banning sex-purchase in Sweden: The historical regulation of prostitution and the development of the new offence

Prostitution has never been legally accepted in Sweden. That is, it has never been possible to sell and buy sexual services on the same basis as other types of services. Instead, state and society have attempted to restrict or eradicate the sex trade through specific laws, which the police, prosecutors, courts and councils have enforced to varying degrees. The authorities have also used other regulations to try to control or prevent prostitution. These measures aimed to combat vice, protect public order, promote health, prohibit certain types of sexual relationships, and ensure that everyone has an acceptable means of subsistence rather than resorting to vagrancy. The laws often overlapped, and which ones the authorities relied on most varied widely over time and place. Nonetheless, general trends toward leniency or strictness have prevailed in some cities and regions.

At the national level, the governance of prostitution can be broadly divided into three historical eras: a policy of prohibition from the 18th century to the mid-19th century; a policy of regulation from then until 1918; and a laissez-faire policy that lasted until the 1970s, when the current repressive prostitution policy took shape.

A historical perspective offers several valuable insights into the sex-purchase ban. In contrast to the political, and to some extent academic, understanding of the ban as a break from previous prostitution policies, it has substantial continuities with earlier repressive measures. Since the Swedish state has always used multiple legal provisions to maintain its anti-prostitution stance, it is essential to analyse a specific legal instrument such the sex-purchase ban in its full

policy context. Moreover, we can see parallels between past and present popular movements against prostitution. Despite the narrative that casts women who sell sex as victims, as well as the fact that they have suffered from the nation's various anti-prostitution regimes, the campaigners have never demanded that these women be granted civil and legal rights. Instead, the civil actors have sought to reform them, their clients and society at large.

This history, I argue, helps us to understand why Sweden introduced the ban on purchasing sex in 1999. Moreover, by applying the framework of morality politics to the ban's history and development, we see that what may seem special and unusual are, in fact, characteristic features of this class of political issues.

The chapter begins with an overview of the period from the 18th century to the mid-1970s. Then it outlines the social movements and parliamentary manoeuvres that culminated in the passage of the ban on purchasing sex. Finally, it analyses the developments after the ban was introduced in Sweden.

The historical regulation of prostitution

Despite the plethora of historical studies on prostitution, almost all focus exclusively on the heterosexual sex trade. Society's responses to the sex trade between men have been touched upon by historians of crimes such as sodomy and bestiality (J. Rydström 2003), and social work scholars have analysed the discourse surrounding it (de Cabo y Moreda 2018), but the legal situation has seldom been examined. Consequently, it is difficult to determine how earlier prohibitions and regulations were applied to men who sold sexual services to men, which makes our understanding of the sex trade and its participants incomplete.

Prohibition: From the 18th century to the mid-19th century

Sweden's longest-standing prohibitions against the sex trade were introduced in 1734, with a new code that gave the state authority over matters previously handled by the Lutheran church. It permitted sexual acts only within marriage, making the trade in sexual services illegal, and established new crimes of vice (*sedlighetsbrott*) and harsher punishments. Specific provisions pertained to procuring by third parties, and sexual behaviours such as 'fornication' (*otukt*) and 'lewdness' (*skörlevnad*) were punishable by public shaming, flogging, or hard labour. Women involved in the sex

trade faced these punishments, as they 'allowed themselves to be used for lewdness', but there were no legal sanctions against men who paid for sexual services. The law's penalties for immoral sexual behaviour were primarily intended as deterrents and seldom strictly enforced (Lernestedt 2003). Women whose clients were from higher social classes seem to have escaped punishment, as influential men protected them and the intermediaries who organised the sex trade. Moreover, prostitution driven by economic necessity, rather than personal desire, was deemed more legitimate (Lennartsson 2019).

By the 19th century, prohibitions against extramarital and nonmarital sexual relations had largely ceased to be enforced. But women suspected of resorting to prostitution were targeted by a national system intended to control sexually transmitted or venereal diseases (STDs, VD). Established in 1812, it compelled poor, rural, and wandering women to undergo compulsory medical inspections and treatment. In cities, single, poor and working-class women were often forcibly examined for STDs, though men who paid for sex were exempt. Despite these laws, local authorities concerned about the spread of VD allowed at least one semi-official brothel to operate in Stockholm in the years 1838–1841, which could be more easily policed (Lundquist 1982; Svanström 2006a).

The 1864 Penal Code, which replaced the 1734 law, focused less on vice and more on violations of social norms (Lernestedt 2003). Authorities used laws against the unemployed and vagrants to address the sex trade, criminalising those without an 'orderly' means of support. The effects of these practices on women who sold sex in 18th century Stockholm have been analysed by historical ethnographer Rebecka Lennartsson (2019), and she has also examined how those who sold sex were treated at the turn of the 19th century (Lennartsson 2002).

Lennartsson applies a Foucauldian power perspective, confirming that no matter how the regulations were formulated, the women who sold sexual services suffered. Women could be imprisoned or forced to labour in spinning houses, where they were supposed to be rehabilitated through work and religious instruction. But, as Tomas Söderblom (1992) has shown, they lacked access to legal representation or the ability to appeal decisions made by police and county administrative boards, in contrast to those accused of non-sexual criminal offences. Procurers faced punishment under both procuring and vagrancy laws, while clients did not. In the 19th century, as Yvonne Svanström (2006a) explains, women found to have a sexually transmitted disease were transported to a sanatorium for compulsory treatment, where doctors attempted to cure the

infection with starvation and medication. The sanatoriums also sought to eradicate undesirable behaviours, such as smoking, drinking alcohol, gambling, or flirting among the inmates. When inmates protested against the rules, acted rebelliously, or tried to escape, the gates could be barred and windows bricked up, which made the sanatoriums more like prisons than hospitals.

Restriction: From the mid-19th century to the early 20th century

By the mid-19th century, local authorities were allowed to regulate the sex trade under strict conditions, marking a shift from a repressive approach with exceptions to a more coherent restrictive policy.

Inspired by continental policies, Sweden's regulation of prostitution aimed to combat sexually transmitted diseases and immorality. Women selling sex had to register with special police bureaus and follow strict rules, including regular reporting and medical examinations. These regulations limited their freedom, prohibiting open advertisement, conspicuous dressing, gathering in groups, visiting cultural establishments, and being outdoors after 11 PM. At times they were also forbidden to live in affluent areas or together in pairs. Women who broke these rules faced forced labour. Unregistered sex sellers were convicted of vagrancy under laws that defined their behaviour as a threat to public safety, order, and morality.

The 1885 Vagrancy Act (*lösdriverilagen*) mandated forced labour in separate institutions, where women worked in the institution's operations and in profit-making commercial activities such as sewing and laundry (Lundquist 1982; Svanström 2006a). Small-scale Christian rescue and rehabilitation homes supported by charities emerged in the 1870s, offering an alternative to compulsory registration or punishment. Based on Catholic Magdalene asylums for unwed mothers, these homes provided religious instruction and training in other occupations. Women could be placed there by the authorities or their families, or admit themselves to avoid legal penalties for prostitution (Jansdotter 2004).

The system of state regulation (*reglementeringssystemet*) was described by Tommie Lundqvist (1982), who analysed the arguments used by supporters and critics of the policy and found major regional differences in its implementation. Yvonne Svanström (2006a) has focused on prostitution in 19th century Stockholm and analyses discourses and the regulatory system from a class and gender perspective.

The regulation system faced national and international protests, with women's organisations and moral reform associations (sedlighetsrörelser) arguing that it unfairly targeted women while their male clients went unpunished. Critics also claimed it indirectly encouraged prostitution by tolerating it under specific conditions. The movement gained momentum in the late 1870s with the establishment of a Swedish branch of the British Federation for the Abolition of Prostitution. The international reformers chose to call themselves abolitionists because they linked the fight against regulated prostitution to the abolition of slavery in the British Empire a generation earlier. This organised opposition included women's rights activists, male doctors, intellectuals, and church associations. Liberal middle-class women led the campaign, criticising both the regulation system and societal immorality, advocating for premarital chastity and marital fidelity for men and women alike. This movement marked Sweden's first feminist mass mobilisation (Lundqvist 1982) and included early calls to criminalise men who paid for sex, arguing that men's demand drove the sex trade (Svanström, 2005, 2006a).

The coalition's campaign for the abolition of state-regulated prostitution succeeded in 1918, ushering in an approach that was more tolerant toward the sex trade and lasted for the next fifty years.

Relative laissez-faire: From the early 20th century to the 1980s

When the regulation system was ended after the First World War, laws against procuring were amended to target third parties and organised prostitution, but selling sex itself was no longer illegal. Throughout the 20th century, the influence of religion and concerns about morality on Sweden's criminal law was gradually reduced. Laws against fornication were abolished in 1937, those banning bestiality and homosexual relations were repealed in 1944, and those punishing offences against religion were ended in 1948. Vice offences were restructured to focus narrowly on sexual acts (Lernestedt 2003).

Despite these changes, the Vagrancy Law continued to prohibit the sale of sex, viewing it as a threat to public order. This law allowed authorities to surveil and arrest women suspected of engaging in prostitution, and those convicted of 'lewd living' that was detrimental to 'decency' could be punished by being sentenced to forced labour institutions well into the mid-20th century. In a recent work, Svanström (2022) draws on the records of the police court in Stockholm and the

last standing institution, the Landskrona penitentiary, through the interwar period. In his remarkable but little known earlier work, Tomas Söderblom (1992) drew on the letters and diaries kept by women who were sent to Landskrona, rather than relying only of official institutional sources, so he was able to present their experiences inside as well as outside the penitentiary in their own voices and from their own viewpoints. In this account, the arbitrary and punitive practices of the authorities stand out clearly.

Although the institution in which they were forced to labour was not designated as a prison but was supervised by the Ministry of Social Affairs, Söderblom describes how the women were deprived of their freedom and strictly controlled. Their letters and diary entries were read and censored. Their history, appearance, and personality were documented, not in order to help rehabilitate them but to contribute to studies of racial biology. In practice, their punishment was worse than prisoners', since they had no legal representation or recourse and their sentences were indefinite, until the institution's director deemed them reformed. The women were not allowed to visit each other, socialise in groups larger than two, and have their own clothing or anything else indicating personal identity. They had to follow all these commands without complaining, swearing, or contradicting those who imposed them. Women who defied the rules were deprived of coffee, subjected to cold showers, and could even be locked up for 30 days in the punishment cell of the prison tower. Attempts to escape or organise strikes and uprisings were suppressed by the guards and severely punished.

The Landskrona penitentiary was closed in 1940, and from then on, women convicted of vagrancy were sent to do forced labour in ordinary women's prisons. Yet until the 1950s hundreds of women were arrested for prostitution, and in 1963, seventeen women were sentenced to forced labour. At that time, intellectuals criticised this punishment as archaic, but there was no general public outcry. In 1964, the Vagrancy Law was replaced by the Asociality Law (asocialitetslagen), which despite changing the name of the offence to stress its deviance from social norms continued to target sex workers. The last known case of a woman being punished under these laws occurred in 1967 when the Supreme Court acquitted a 'vagrant woman' (Söderblom 1992; Svanström 2022). By then, nonmarital sex was becoming more generally acceptable in Sweden, as well as other Western European countries.

Sweden's policy of involuntary sterilisation could be used to target sex workers, as well as physically and mentally disabled people. From 1934 to 1976, around

63,000 people were forcibly sterilised, 95 percent of whom were women deemed unfit to contribute to the Swedish population because of their 'immoral' behaviour. Although the proportion of them who were assumed to be sex workers is unknown, many were judged to have unacceptable lifestyles associated with 'uninhibited' (ohämmad) sexuality (Runcis 1998). Linking eugenics, prostitution, and 'sexual promiscuity', the state inquiries that designed and evaluated the policy singled out women who sold sex. Local councils, not courts, decided on sterilisations, and anyone could report a woman, a process that left women with no right to appeal (Runcis 1998; Söderblom 1982).

Until the late 20th century, laws criminalising procuring remained place but were rarely enforced, as the authorities often ignored pimping as well as brothels. The period up to the mid-1970s is characterised by what can be called a laissez-faire approach (Svanström 2017b; see also Weitzer 2012) with no clear and consistent state control over the sex trade. While those who sold sex might be punished under other statutes, procuring was often overlooked (SOU 1976:9; SOU 1981:71; Söderblom 1992). A significant shift occurred in the mid-1970s with the rise of a grassroots movement against pornography and prostitution. This movement provided the ideological basis for the ban on buying sexual services and pushed the state to institute a unified, repressive national prostitution policy.

The policy pendulum

As this brief history shows, the governance of prostitution has not always been uniform or explicitly stated, but by interpreting the messages conveyed by the state and law enforcement through the regulations and practices directed at the sex trade we can discern a movement from repression to restriction and then to relative tolerance. After this period of laissez-faire, the governance pendulum swung back to repression, a shift that produced the ban on purchasing sex.

By using a pendulum metaphor to describe the changes in Swedish prostitution policy over time, I do not posit that societies necessarily swing back and forth between two equal and opposite extremes. Nor do I mean that that each successive period reacts against the current one and reestablishes the same order that prevailed before it, or imply that each of the two poles remains fundamentally the same throughout all these swings, suggesting a static, even circular system. Those assumptions would be as mistaken as the presumption that history is linear and can be understood in terms of continuous progress or moral decline. Rather, each

regime differs from any preceding one because of the significant societal and legal changes that occur over time in a dialectical process of policy development. Nonetheless, by applying the typology of repressive, restrictive and integrative policy while observing how the governance of prostitution changes over time, we can discern movements between these policy poles.

In her general historical account of the continuities and changes of the prostitution market and its regulation, Svanström (2017b) argues that the current policy is based on a complete ideological turnaround in how the sex trade is conceptualised. Instead of focusing on the myriads of regulations and the differing ways state representatives and popular movements ideologically justified legal changes to solve the 'problem of prostitution', we should recognise the similarities in their intentions, not only to repress or restrict the sex trade but also toward women who sell sex. Regardless of the regime and its justifications, under repression as well as restriction and laissez faire, the core concern has not been to reform the unjust legal situation of those who engage in prostitution, but instead to reform them into socially acceptable women who comply with prevailing moral standards, such as chastity and respectable forms of labour.

Just as women as a sex had only limited rights, when they were regarded as sexually immoral (regardless of whether they sold sex) by more powerful social superiors (who might well be women as well as men), they were subject to involuntary detention. Moreover, these institutions were exempt from legal certainty, as the incarcerated women had no legal representation and no right to appeal. In sum, women who were assumed to be selling sex did not have legal status as workers, and when they were imprisoned, they did not even have the status of prisoners.

This approach permeated civil society, as well as the authorities and the state, a theme of particular importance to keep in mind when we consider the history of the sex-purchase ban. In exclusionary prostitution regimes, punitive forces converge on multiple levels, resulting in systemic harm to women who sell sex (Dewey et al. 2015). It also leads to 'strategic ambivalence' (Koch 2019), which I discuss in relation to the sex-purchase ban and sex workers' legal status in Sweden in Article IV, but also return to at the end of this chapter.

The origins of the ban on purchasing sex

Prostitution has been intensively debated in and out of the Swedish Parliament since the mid-1970s. The first demands for a ban on purchasing sexual services came in the early 1980s and gradually gained strength. By 1997 a majority of parliamentary parties and members supported the ban, and it was passed in the spring of 1998. This trajectory deserves to be analysed in detail because the process had many unusual features, including cross-party alliances among women and manoeuvres to avoid formal parliamentary rules. Examining the process contributes to our understanding of how and why the ban passed and illuminates key features of morality politics.

Civil society movements: The shift to repression in the 1970s and 1980s

In 1976, the end of Sweden's sterilisation policy coincided with the rise of the first modern movement against commercial sex, the People's movement against porn and prostitution (Folkrörelsen mot porr och prostitution). This coalition united an estimated fifty organisations which believed that the 1960s sexual revolution had led to increased exploitation of women through commercial sex, including an otherwise heterogenous mix of leftist, liberal, women's, sexual health, anti-drug and Christian groups. The movement was sparked when a government report on sexual offences (SOU 1976:9), which included 'morals offences' such as prostitution and homosexuality, was deemed anti-feminist and too liberal (see Dodillet 2009; Eduards 2007; Månsson 2017). They protested against pornography and prostitution through demonstrations, public rallies, articles, books, reports, media campaigns, and political lobbying, eventually gathering support from half a million Swedes out of a total population of eight million (Dodillet 2009; Månsson 2017; Östergren 2006).

The movement objected to commercial sex because of its societal causes, harmful content and negative consequences. The rhetoric combined contemporary leftist theories, feminist analyses, and ideas of healthy sexuality and love. Commercial sex was attributed to unhealthy home environments, capitalism and patriarchy, which were believed to hinder solidarity and genuine relationships between men and women (Dodillet 2009; Östergren 2006). The movement's legal demands included closing sex clubs and strengthening laws against

procuring, as well as some calls for the criminalisation of clients. Significantly, this broad coalition opposed sex workers' attempts to organise.

Sex workers responded to the misrepresentation of their profession by founding the organisation Sexualpolitisk Front, which advocated for the extension of societal support and legal rights to sex workers. Initially supported by social workers, academics and feminists in the anti-porn and anti-prostitution group, as well as the Left Party, they were soon abandoned in their struggle and faced strong opposition. Media debates suggested that sex workers could only gain labour movement sympathy by abandoning their trade. They were depicted as 'strikebreakers' in the struggle for women's rights, and Sexualpolitisk Front members were barred from public meetings and dismissed as victims needing help. They faced widespread societal opposition, including police harassment, evictions, and increased punitive measures, exacerbating their marginalisation and violence against them (Östergren 2006; J. Rydström 2021).

Anti-porn and anti-prostitution activism led to significant parliamentary activity, resulting in two government inquiries: one on prostitution legislation (SOU 1981:71) and another on sexual offences (SOU 1982:61). Activists who were part of the committee for the prostitution inquiry withdrew, deeming it too sexually liberal, and instead published a shadow report (Borg et al. 1981) along with books and doctoral theses (see Månsson 1981; Larsson 1983; Liljeström 1981; Persson 1981). The legal outcomes included expanded and stricter enforcement of anti-procuring laws and the prohibition of sex clubs displaying intercourse on stage.

In the early and mid-1980s, a second wave of the movement against commercial sex focused on pornography. The Swedish Association for Sexuality Education (RFSU) and the Social Democratic women's association (S-kvinnorna) argued against pornography while promoting positive erotica. S-kvinnorna targeted 'violent pornography' and proposed stricter censorship laws to prohibit depictions that sexualise violence against women. Radical feminists, organised in groups like Kvinnofronten, took dramatic direct action against porn clubs and burned pornography in public places. Concurrently, one of their collaborators, the National organisation for women's shelters (Roks), became the fastest-growing non-governmental group of the 1980s. It was primarily funded by grants from the Swedish government, and had paid staff in its national office. Roks not only operated voluntary local shelters and provided services for abused women but also aimed to raise awareness about male violence against women. Inspired by

North American radical feminist theory, which viewed commercial sex as a form of male sexual violence, the group advocated for the criminalisation of clients (Dodillet 2009; Erikson 2011; Östergren 2006). Among the founders and driving forces behind Roks were women members of parliament, municipalities and county councils, and other women's organisations. For example, MP Inger Segelström, a strategic leader and chair of S-kvinnorna from 1995 to 2003, was one of the founders of Roks.

Female MPs unite: The sex-purchase ban gains approval

The first parliamentary motions demanding the criminalisation of clients were written by Liberal and Centre Party women in the early 1980s. They were soon joined by women from other parties, with the exception of the Moderates. The number of motions increased significantly during the 1980s, but did not win approval (Dodillet 2009; Erikson 2011).

During the 1990s, the rhetoric and ideology of these movements against commercial sex were incorporated into other sectors of society. Feminism was becoming mainstream, and Roks garnered media attention and parliamentary influence through radical feminist slogans, conferences, and lobbying MPs by its paid staff (Dodillet 2009; Erikson 2011; Östergren 2006). In Parliament, female MPs (except the Moderates) continued to collaborate on criminalising clients by writing cross-party motions. Through a unique combination of different formal legislative processes and what has been described as extraordinary disregard for parliamentary procedures, as well as a timely reframing of the issue in terms of gender (Erikson 2011; Erikson et al. 2015), they paved the way for the ban's passage.

The Swedish legislative process

Knowledge of the Swedish legislative process helps us to understand these political manoeuvres and places the events discussed in the articles of this thesis in context.

The quickest route for a law to be enacted in Sweden is for it to be proposed directly by the government. To ensure the law is legitimate, the government first seeks comments from the Council on Legislation (*Lagrådet*), consisting of high court judges and other prominent judges. The council ensures that the legislative proposal adheres to legal principles, such as whether it is consistent with

constitutional laws, whether it is designed to fulfil its purposes, and what problems might arise when the law is applied. The government then submits its proposal to the parliamentary committee responsible for the issue. There are around fifteen different committees, including those that handle matters related to the labour market, finance, defence, transport, education, social insurance, and the judiciary. The committees consist of members from all parties, but the chairperson, who holds the most power, usually comes from the ruling party. The committee discusses the legislative proposal and writes a report stating whether it should become law, more knowledge is needed, or it should be rejected. This proposal is then discussed internally within the parliamentary parties and subsequently presented to Parliament for debate and voting. The 349 members can vote yes, no, or abstain. If the proposal receives a majority, the new law is published in the Swedish Code of Statutes (Svensk författningssamling, SFS).

Another route begins with motions written by members of Parliament explaining why the law is needed. These motions are treated like a government bill by the relevant committee, which assesses whether the motions should be rejected or—very rarely—proceed directly to a legislative proposal and vote. The more influential the people and parties supporting a motion, the greater its significance. A motion signed by a member of Parliament from a small party does not have the same chances as a party motion or a cross-party motion.

If the knowledge base on an issue is considered weak, the government or the committee can propose a state inquiry. The inquiry can be a committee consisting of politicians, officials, and experts, or a one-person inquiry, where the responsible investigator brings in experts. The more importance placed on the inquiry, or the more difficult the task is considered, the more people are engaged, and the more time they have to carry out their assignment. However, the inquiry does not have free rein to shape its work but must adhere to the guidelines provided in the government's or committee's directives.

When the inquiry is finished, it presents its conclusions and proposals in a report called a state public inquiry (Statens offentliga utredningar, SOU), which is sent out for a round of consultation (remiss). State and civil society actors identified by the inquiry as important and competent are asked to comment on the proposal, but any person or group can also submit a response. When the comments have been received, they are compiled by the relevant government department, such as the Ministry of Social Affairs, Ministry of Justice, or Ministry of Employment. The department processes all the material, writes a legislative

proposal, sends it again to the committee and the Council on Legislation for comments, and finally presents the bill in Parliament for voting.

In practice, the path to the final vote in Parliament is often much more complex, as members who want to push through a legislative proposal can use a variety of strategies and political manoeuvres both within and outside this framework. The normative rules, which are supposed to be followed and done in public, can be replaced by pragmatic moves. In that case, as anthropologist F.G. Bailey (2008: 5-6) says, the process is guided by what is effective, not what is correct. This behind-the-scenes parliamentary 'game' can be decisive, as it was for the ban on purchasing sex.

Combining normative rules and pragmatic, extraordinary strategies

One of the MPs' most significant strategic choices was to ensure that jurisdiction over the issue of prostitution was shifted from social policy to criminal policy (for a perspective on the ban as a matter of gender and sexuality policy within social welfare, see Månsson 2017). By equating prostitution with violence against women, the clients of sex workers became perpetrators, justifying criminal justice measures. A Christian Democrat serving on the Justice Committee, who would not normally have much influence over motions on prostitution, also managed to get the committee to approve the demand for a new inquiry by threatening to topple the current centre-right coalition government (Erikson 2011: 129-131).

This startling departure from the normal procedure led to three different new inquiries into prostitution, a necessary step in the formal process: one on social work against prostitution (SOU 1995:16), one on homosexual prostitution (SOU 1995:17), and one appointed to 'unconditionally' examine whether criminalisation was a suitable method to counteract prostitution (Kommittédirektiv 1993:31; SOU 1995:15).

The inquiry into the criminalisation of prostitution, which was completed in 1995, aligned with the prevailing equality rhetoric, asserting that treating women as commodities was incompatible with a modern society. Yet its proposals were unexpected: to expand the prohibition on procuring to include the production of pornography; and to criminalise both those who sold sex and those who bought it, including those involved in posing and striptease. The proposal surprised the women MPs and lobbyists, stirring protests among supporters of the ban on purchasing sex but not a ban on selling sexual services (Dodillet 2009; Erikson

2011). Vociferous objections came from those outside and inside Parliament, and the proposal was harshly condemned by Mona Sahlin, then the Deputy Prime Minister (Sahlin 1995). The Social Democratic leader's stance and the cross-party women MPs' opposition were unusual, since the inquiry's report had not yet gone out for the standard consultation process and the government had not yet given its opinion.

When the controversial inquiry was sent out for consultation, the majority of respondents criticised the 'double' criminalisation, whereby both buying and selling sex would be illegal. Additionally, two-thirds of the respondents were also opposed to the unilateral criminalisation of clients (Dodillet 2009). The ban's parliamentary proponents allowed the idea to rest for a few years, and when it was eventually presented, it was not introduced as a standalone legislative proposal. Instead, the criminal provision was included in a broader package of laws and measures aimed at combating violence and discrimination against women, known as the Kvinnofrid reform (RP 1997/98:55). The term Kvinnofrid refers to a 13th century law that made raptus (brudrov) illegal: that is, abducting a woman to rape or marry her. In the 20th century, the term could be translated as the safety, peace and protection of women. Besides the new anti-prostitution law, the omnibus bill introduced law and policy measures concerning domestic violence, sexual offences, sexual harassment at work, and female genital cutting and mutilation. As political scientist Maud Eduards (2007) has argued, by that time the criminalisation of clients seemed to be one way for the state to support women who were at risk of sexual violence.

This broader context facilitated the passage of the ban on purchasing sexual services, despite the criticisms expressed by official bodies with strong legal ties when the proposal went out for consultation. The National Police Board, National Courts Administration, Chancellor of Justice, and Prosecutor General, along with the National Board of Health and Welfare, all rejected the criminalisation of clients. They argued that criminalising only one party in a mutual agreement could lead to difficulties in enforcement and potential abuse (Dodillet 2009). Yet, the legislative proposal secured a parliamentary majority with support from the Social Democrats, the Left Party, the Green Party, and most members of the Centre Party.

During the 1990s, the Left Party and the Green Party had come out in support of the ban on purchasing sex, but proponents knew that gaining the support of the Social Democrats was essential to secure a parliamentary majority. The party

leadership had repeatedly rejected the demand made by S-kvinnorna, believing it was not the right way to address prostitution. In response, S-kvinnorna strategically sought to gain the annual party congress's support, as positions approved there become the party's official stance and MPs must vote accordingly. They waited until the party accepted the egalitarian proposal that half of the delegates must be women, knowing that meant they only needed a few supportive men to achieve a majority. They lobbied men to speak on the issue to add weight to their cause (Erikson 2011; Östergren 2006). In 1997, S-kvinnorna succeeded in winning the party congress's approval, ensuring its parliamentarians' favourable votes.

The vote on the sex-purchase ban took place on 29 May 1998. Out of all 349 MPs, 181 (52%) voted in favour of the proposal, 92 voted against it, 13 abstained, and 63 were absent (Riksdagens protokoll 1997/98:115).

The multiple forces and actors behind the ban

I propose we understand the recent criminalisation of clients in relation to Sweden's centuries-old repressive and restrictive approaches to the governance of prostitution, rather than as a radical break from previous prostitution policy. Moreover, as Lundqvist (1982) noted, prostitution was the first issue around which the Swedish women's movement organised. So, as Svanström (2006a: 303) has concluded, perceptions that activists and politicians see as unique and innovative can, in a historical perspective, be regarded 'as repetitions of ideas and debates that were conducted much earlier on the issue'.

The ban on sex-purchase was passed because politically active women skilfully and unwaveringly collaborated both within and outside of Parliament, using a combination of ordinary and extraordinary strategies. In addition to the persistence and unusual interventions of the ban's proponents, the discursive efforts of the broader grassroot movements had rendered alternative understandings of commercial sex almost completely unthinkable for Swedes. Prostitution was now seen as a form of male violence, and those who purchased sexual services were perpetrators. There was no way to discuss the issue in terms of work, to suggest that women who sold sexual services might have made their own decisions to do so, or to argue that the industry should be regulated through labour legislation. Moreover, no tangible opposition to the criminalisation of clients arose within or outside Parliament. The MPs who thought the proposal flawed remained silent (Erikson 2011: 139-142) and, apart from a few sex workers

and intellectuals, no protests were heard in the public debate (Dodillet 2009: 418-421; Gould 2001).

This political process exhibits characteristic features of morality politics. The ban was adopted because the legislators gave interpretative precedence and power to the movements aiming to reform individuals engaged in commercial sex, rather than the movements seeking to reform society so sex workers and others engaged in prostitution have access to standard civil rights and obligations. The relationship between the two approaches was adversarial rather than collaborative (Wagenaar 2017), although political positions were not polarised along the conventional right-left lines (Knill et al. 2015). Significantly, the reformers realised that they had to change the framing of the issue in order to persuade others to support their proposal (Meier 1994).

A few analysts, including Josefine Erikson, argue that the ban came about through an 'unlikely series of events involving both institutional anomalies and highly unusual individual interventions', and therefore could not have been adopted either earlier or later (Erikson et al. 2015). One of these anomalies was the shift in the jurisdiction over prostitution in the mid-1990s; from being discussed within the framework of social policy, it became a criminal policy. However, criminal law had long been used to combat prostitution and continued in the ban on procuring. Therefore, the jurisdictional shift is logical because it aligned with existing repressive legislation.

Erikson's understanding draws on political scientist John Kingdon's (2011) conceptual framework. Kingdon asserts that a policy proposal can only be adopted during the brief period when a 'window of opportunity' opens. If those advocating for the idea fail, it can be difficult to muster the energy to fight again, and if the window opens because of a crisis or a 'focusing event' it closes quickly, since crises, by nature, are short-lived. People do not remain outraged over an event indefinitely, Kingdon concludes.

Questions concerning sexuality and other issues of morality politics work differently. The intense social concern, political excitement, and fear expressed in a 'moral panic' persist for longer periods and recur repeatedly. The 'moral reformers' (Hunt 1999) who, like entrepreneurs, fan the flames of morality politics and benefit from the resulting turmoil are not dependent on external incidents; they can open a window of opportunity themselves. 'The issue will return to Parliament every year', as one of the most active women MPs promised

in 1986, 'until the members understand their responsibility as legislators' (Riksdagens protokoll 1985/86:130).

These characteristics of morality politics, I believe, relate to the centrality of issues closely connected to the body and their implicit appeal to older religious beliefs and mores. As I observed over the course of two decades, the proponents of repressive measures have an advantage over those challenging preconceived notions of prostitution and advocating for equal treatment under the law.

Two decades with the ban

Since it became illegal to pay for sex in Sweden, parliamentary support for the ban has continued and the policy has become increasingly repressive, yet a dispersed, but growing resistance to it has emerged. These two opposing forces, which aim either to eliminate prostitution and reform those engaged in the trade, or to reform society so individuals in the sector gain access to civil and legal rights, interact both discursively and legally, but not on equal terms. This final section reflects on that dialectical process as it continues to exhibit the features of morality politics.

Increased state repression

Initially several parliamentary parties and members were openly critical of criminalisation. Within a few years, however, opposition in Parliament vanished, and successive governments, regardless of party affiliation, backed the law. Most authorities that expressed scepticism during the consultations leading up to the prohibition also came to support it. Gradually, legislation expanded the scope of the offence and raised the penalties for buying sex and for aggravated procuring. A ban on trafficking for sexual purposes was passed in 2002, which has subsequently been used to combat consensual prostitution as well. In addition to anti-prostitution and anti-trafficking police units in the major cities, specific positions and units tasked with combating the sex trade have been implemented at the national governmental and agency level.

The sex-purchase ban has become a political baton passed from one government to the next, each outdoing its predecessor in promoting antiprostitution measures and more severe sentences. A brief outline of the policy history and the events that followed the introduction of the ban illuminates the dynamics involved.

Margareta Winberg, Minister for Gender Equality and Deputy Prime Minister in the 2002 Social Democratic government, joined forces with leading Swedish and international feminist anti-prostitution activists to shape 'opinion for the Swedish legislation' through campaigns, conferences and articles (Winberg 2008: 165). She appointed neo-abolitionist activists to the newly founded ministry in order to work against prostitution. Even the official line was largely in agreement with the radical feminists' views. Prostitution, which in the 1980s and 1990s had been increasingly associated with gender inequality rather than social inequality or emotional problems, was now categorised as male violence against women per se (Näringsdepartementet 2004). Gradually, prostitution was equated with human trafficking, and Sweden, like many other countries, made it a criminal offence in the early 2000s (Merry 2016). Resources allocated to combat human trafficking, which was in theory limited to cross-border sex trafficking under duress, were also used to combat the domestic consensual market in sexual services (de Cabo y Moreda and Hall 2021; Vuolajärvi 2019).

The centre-right government switched sides on criminalisation when it took office in 2006. The same parties which had previously thought that government should not attempt to solve social problems with criminal law strengthened Sweden's repressive policy. They launched a comprehensive reform package to target prostitution and human trafficking, including an official inquiry into the sex-purchase ban (SOU 2010:49). Funding earmarked for the judiciary and universities was directed to new projects that investigated how the sex trade could be eliminated, and an existing programme that proclaimed the benefits of Sweden's policy to foreign countries and international groups was expanded. The government launched and funded several anti-prostitution campaigns, along with a special agency placed under the County Administrative Board in Stockholm, The National Task Force against Prostitution and Human Trafficking (NMT) to initiate and coordinate measures against prostitution and trafficking, but also conduct studies and reports and hold conferences (Regeringens skrivelse 2007/8:167). When a proposal was presented to Parliament to increase the minimum sentence for sex-purchasers to one year in prison, only one member, affiliated with the Centre Party, opposed it (Riksdagens protokoll 2010/11: 101).

Whereas support had previously been limited to left-wing parties and individual members of centre and right-wing parties, parliamentary consensus was the order of the day ten years later (see also Svanström 2017a).

The next government, a red–green coalition that held power from 2014 to 2022, was unable to pass a 'sex-purchase ban 2.0', which would have criminalised Swedish citizens' purchase of sexual services in other countries, but it did increase the minimum sentence to one year in prison. The sentences for procuring and human trafficking were also increased (Riksdagsskrivelse 2017/18:303, 2021/22:433). Moreover, the Foreign Minister, Margot Wallström, appointed a special 'ambassador' to 'maintain awareness of the Swedish Sex Purchase Ban both nationally and internationally' (Regnér and Wallström 2016a, 2016b). The National Task Force was placed under the Swedish Gender Equality Agency when it started in the 2018 and continues to serve as a strategic and operative resource in developing and coordinating government agencies and NGOs that work against prostitution and trafficking.

Emerging criticism and resistance

The opposition is voiced by groups outside Parliament. Although there were almost no public objections from sex workers, intellectuals, academics, and social rights organisations when the ban was introduced, they have been questioning its premises and arguing that the ban has neither reduced the sex trade nor improved the situation for people who sell sex. Significantly, associations of sex workers and their allies organised and expressed their views publicly even though they had been excluded from the debate before its passage. The Rose Alliance, Fuckförbundet, and Red Umbrella Sweden all criticised the ban's harmful effects on their livelihood, safety, and health and suggested alternative policies while providing concrete support and services to those working in the commercial sex sector.

Other individuals, networks, and groups have various ideological, political, and organisational affiliations. Their engagement stems from liberal, left-libertarian, or queer convictions, and they study or work with health and sexual rights in Sweden and international settings. They have attempted to influence the ban and repressive policy through traditional and social media, political activism, and research, and have undertaken collaborative initiatives to support people in sex work on their own terms, both online and through direct contact.

Some published studies describe and analyse these developments. Yvonne Svanström (2017a) traces the parliamentary process from the ban's enactment in 1999 until 2011, highlighting that prostitution became conflated with trafficking and alternative views were subsumed by neo-abolitionist thought. Josefina Erikson and Oscar Larsson (2022) survey the many arrangements between state and civil society organisations dedicated to combatting prostitution and human trafficking during the period 2009–2019. Existing organisations of sex workers never participated in this supposedly collaborative policymaking and implementation process, although their exclusion is not mentioned; people selling sex only figure as victims.

In this repressive climate, as social work scholars Gabriella Scaramuzzino and Roberto Scaramuzzino (2015, 2019) show, sex workers in Sweden chose not to engage in policy issues at the public domestic level, but rather online and through international networks and organisations. Their examples of supranational conflicts between national membership organisations and their meta organisations, such as UN Women, in the 2010s illustrate the intense pushback sex worker organisations face when they receive funding or ideological support. In his account of sex workers' organisations in Denmark, Norway and Sweden from the 1970s on, historian Jens Rydström (2021) demonstrates that their initiatives in Sweden have been repeatedly blocked and silenced by authorities and politicians and ignored by mainstream media. Gender scholar Lukas Bullock (2023), who examines how the Swedish state has utilised the sex-purchase ban to promote its image as a moral and humanitarian state between 2004 and 2020, contends that this campaign depends on sidelining critical research and the voices of sex workers.

An uneven battle

The distinctive features of morality politics return in the developments since the introduction of the sex-purchase ban, as does its inherently unequal dialectical process.

Deputy Minister Winberg joined with the anti-prostitution activists when the policy agenda and rhetoric was decided, while sex workers and their expressed interests have been omitted from decision-making processes through direct exclusion and pushback. The repressive policy, characterised by an 'insatiable hunger' for more prohibitions and harsher penalties (Wagenaar et al. 2017), is

maintained and reinforced through a strategic framing of prostitution that associates and, indeed, equates it with trafficking. As shown in previous chapters, empirical knowledge about the ban's actual impact on those selling sex is either limited or deemed irrelevant by policymakers, exhibiting the fact-resistance that characterises morality politics.

Other examples include the Social Democrats' rejection of all demands to evaluate the ban, saying it would be as absurd as evaluating (and thus questioning) the law against rape (Sahlin 2004). When an official state evaluation (SOU 2010:49) was conducted under the next centre-right government and presented at a press conference, the rapporteur, Chancellor of Justice Anna Skarhed, concluded that the prohibition had been successful and that sex purchasers should face harsher penalties. When asked how she felt about reaching these conclusions, she responded that she was not surprised as they were 'self-evident' and aligned with the objectives of the inquiry. The crucial aspect of the investigation had been 'to gather the necessary evidence to draw these conclusions' (Skarhed 2010).

But we also see that this repressive policy carries within it the seeds of resistance. In the preface, I mentioned that my interest in studying prostitution policy was sparked by what I perceived to be strange and unjust: that policymakers seemed uninterested in involving sex workers in the political process and unconcerned about the law's negative impact on them. I share this concern with many other observers who have engaged in research and politics since then. Repressive policies generate engagement and protest from others beyond those directly affected, which in turn creates a need for more and harsher repressive measures.

That power and resistance go hand in hand is nothing new, but in morality politics, this spiral of never-ending conflict is inevitable. Individuals targeted by paternalistic policies feel offended and worried, while those not directly targeted can also object to these policies' intrusion into private lives and their negative effects. When a paternalistic policy fails to achieve its desired effects, its proponents react by attempting to impose further prohibitions and punishments, which are also doomed to failure and opposition. Hence, 'consensual crimes' such as prostitution, drug use, and abortion generate particularly fierce, never-ending conflicts, not only because they involve core values but also because resolving them is inherently impossible, leading to an escalating emotional spiral. Moreover, the moral-political struggle is fought on unequal terms.

This unequal dialectical process is manifest in the continuous struggle around the framing of prostitution, as politicians does not allow the sale of sex to be discursively equated with work. In response to sex workers' demands that sex work be recognised as a legal occupation by the UN, the government's equality minister, Åsa Regnér (a Social Democrat) replied that 'the Swedish view' on prostitution is that it is always exploitation and should never be thought of as a normal job (Socialdepartementet 2017). Together with the special ambassador against trafficking and prostitution, Regnér and Wallström have warned Sweden that criminal networks 'engaging in aggressive lobbying' advocate for the term sex work rather than prostitution, aiming to normalise and legalise prostitution and human trafficking. Therefore, it is crucial that Sweden counter this shift in terminology, as the fundamental issue concerns the 'ruthless exploitation of women and girls' by the men who buy them (Regnér et al. 2016).

These political statements, however, are inconsistent with the legal understanding of prostitution. As I discuss in Article IV, according to fiscal regulation and praxis, the sale of sex is considered an income-generating activity and sex workers must pay taxes on their earnings. This discrepancy exemplifies not only the importance and struggles of framing in morality politics, but also one of the ban's political-legal contradictions.

Another manifestation of the continuous dialectical process concerns the responses when authorities are confronted with facts that does not fit the official stance on prostitution and the sex-purchase ban.

The 2010 official state evaluation of the ban included a few responses from a short survey where sex workers said they felt that the stigma against them had increased, they felt hunted by the police, and they felt they were 'declared legally incompetent (*omyndigförklarade*) because their actions were tolerated but their wishes and choices were not respected' (SOU 2010:49, 129). According to the rapporteur, Chancellor of Justice Skarhed, the 'negative effects of the ban they describe must be viewed as a positive from the perspective that the purpose of the ban is indeed to combat prostitution' (SOU 2010:49, 130). On another other occasion, when the Chancellor was to present 'the ban and its merits' during a visit to the Pope together with the Swedish queen and other prominent guests, she turned to the chief of the task force and the special rapporteur against trafficking asking for 'new facts' and statistics. Yet, she insisted in writing, she was determined to say that the ban had led to a 'significant decrease' in prostitution, and hence trafficking, 'regardless of the latest reports'.²³ The reports the

⁻

²³ A. Skarhed, personal communication to P. Cederlöf and K. Wahlberg, 20 April 2015.

Chancellor referred to, which had been commissioned by RFSU (Holmström 2015) and the National Task Force Against Prostitution and Trafficking (Mujaj and Netscher 2015), concluded that it was not possible to substantiate a reduction in the sex trade. Later the same year, Amnesty International voted to back decriminalisation of prostitution. From the organisation's research on different policy settings, such as Norway where the purchase of sex is illegal, it concluded that all forms of criminalisation harm sex workers (Amnesty International 2015, 2016b). In response, Foreign Minister Wallström tweeted that she could not understand why Amnesty International wished to 'support the legalisation of commercial sexual exploitation' and invited the human rights group to instead come to Sweden to learn from their system (*The Local* 2015; *Världen Idag* 2015), an example of both reframing and fact-resistance.

While we can understand this rebuttal of research as the feature of fact-resistance stemming from the symbolic importance of repressive morality politics, I want to draw attention to how these events demonstrate the unequal terms of the political, dialectical battle, and the historical roots of these politics, which is far from symbolic.

The proponents of repressive measures have access to and are ensconced in the highest offices in the Swedish state, while those challenging preconceived notions of prostitution and advocating for equal treatment under the law are blocked from this power and recognition. But, as the articles that follow demonstrate, this imbalance of power of power goes beyond discourse and access to political arenas. The extensive legal framework directed at the sex trade negatively affects all parties engaged in the sector, and these repressive measures are legally justified for precisely that reason.

In spite of the fact that the person who sells sex is not the direct subject of the sex-purchase ban, a close scrutiny of how the ban relates to general legal principles and rules according to the source of law demonstrate that sex workers are cast in multiple roles, as consenting individuals, victims, criminals, workers and witnesses (see Article IV). While the anti-prostitution policy expresses an exclusionary logic whereby individuals are precluded from civic membership based on their occupation, the malleable and multilayered legal status of sex workers can serve as a form of strategic ambivalence. This leeway, I suggest, provides the authorities with means to block every instance where sex workers' legal standing approaches that of other citizens, or whenever sex workers challenge the system to attain equal status. Moreover, the sense of being declared 'legally incompetent', as sex workers

reported in the inquiry into the ban and in other interview-based studies (see Edlund and Jakobsson 2015: 123; Östergren 2006: 227) is paralleled by the legal understanding that, by criminalising consensual sex-purchase, sellers of sex as a collective are stripped of their self-determination and bodily autonomy (Asp and Ulväng 2007: 29-30; Lernestedt 2010: 476). In short, if sex workers have a sense of being declared legally incompetent, it is because they are.

Historically, this is not new to women, sex workers, and other groups seen as deviants. As seen in the historical overview, women who sold sex were exempt from legal certainty, as they did not have legal status as workers, were subjected to repressive laws, and could be involuntary detained with no right to appeal. The situation has obvious historical parallels to all women's legal position: not being allowed to own or control property or to vote, being barred from specific jobs and occupations, and being unprotected from rape by the husband. Ironically, the 13th century Kvinnofrid law, whose name was applied to the reform that included the sex-purchase ban, did not respect the will and bodily autonomy of women either. The crime of 'raptus' meant both the abduction of a woman against her will, where a man kidnapped a woman whom he then forced into marriage or subjected to rape, and abduction with the woman's consent, where the woman willingly allowed herself to be taken away to elope with the man and marry him.

Morality politics, rooted in religious notions of sin and impurity, is applied to subjects who are already stigmatised or marginalised, and the political struggle is not conducted on equal terms. As the development of the two decades after the introduction of the Swedish sex-purchase ban shows, morality politics can also create new stigmatised subjects who come to occupy an uncertain legal position. Moreover, this process seems to trigger societal demands for outdated punishments guided by shame and disgust, feelings that philosopher Martha Nussbaum (2004) warns are alien to liberal criminal law.

Some legislators and authorities regard the current legal penalties directed at the clients of sex workers as inadequate and argue that men who purchase sex should also face social condemnation. In 2010, the then-Minister of Justice, Beatrice Ask of the Moderate Party, reacted strongly upon learning that the police were sending notification letters to men suspected of sex-purchase to their workplaces rather than their homes. Developed over the decade following the implementation of the ban, this practice was intended to decrease the risk that the men's family members would discover these charges. Ask criticised this approach as overly lenient, insisting instead that the notifications should be dispatched

directly to the suspects' homes in order to maximise the social repercussions by exposing the allegations to wives, children, and neighbours. It would be like 'being shamed in the town square', she said. For maximum impact, the Minister of Justice proposed that these notifications be delivered in a bright purple envelope (*Aftonbladet* TV 2010).

This latter proposal ignited political protests, compelling Ask to retract her statement (Sveriges Radio 2010), as it is contrary to the principle that a person accused of a crime should be presumed innocent until proven guilty. Yet, this incident did not precipitate any reflection on why men who are merely suspected – or even those who are convicted – of purchasing sexual services should face such profound stigmatisation, sometimes being compelled to leave their homes and workplaces when the charge has come to public attention in the media. Likewise, there is a lack of societal indignation in response to reports of men who purchase sex being subjected to extortion or violence. Rather, the practice of social branding is implicitly endorsed in both political and public arenas.

For instance, on Police Officer Simon Häggström's Facebook page, his posts concerning clients frequently garner several hundred likes and comments, many of which applaud his efforts and express sentiments like 'filthy animals, throw away the key,' accompanied by angry emojis (Anonymous 2015). When the police shifted their policy to send notifications to suspects' homes, Häggström posted a screenshot of a message from a man lamenting the severe consequences of this decision: his wife had left him, and his life was in ruins. Among the responses was a comment from a former police officer who served as an adviser to the National Board of Health and Welfare and at the time was vice chairman of the anti–child trafficking organisation ECPAT. She expressed gratitude to Häggström for 'ruining the sex buyer's life' and congratulated him on a job well done (Dahlström-Lannes 2015).

This mix of criminal legal penalties and social condemnation directed at men who purchase sex has far-reaching implications. Alternative understandings of purchasing sex are rendered incomprehensible, and solidarity with those who buy sexual services becomes emotionally and politically challenging. Those who buy and those who sell sex suffer from a shared stigma. But while sex workers can be regarded as victims of men, men who buy sex are more often imagined as responsible for the degradation and violation of women. Support for imprisoning them and shaming them publicly can all too easily shade into dehumanisation.

During a 2016 conference organised by the Task Force Against Prostitution and Trafficking, all speakers voiced support for the Swedish model. But a Norwegian international prosecutor introduced a contentious issue: what approach should be taken in regard to sharing information with countries where men accused of buying sex could be subject to the death penalty? While most participants, who were mainly professionals from various authorities, appeared to consider this question carefully, a woman seated behind me openly exclaimed, 'Go for it!' When I asked whether she genuinely believed that men who purchase sex should be executed, she responded with a nonchalant shrug, briefly glancing at the ceiling, perhaps mildly embarrassed, but still as if to say, 'Well, why not?' or 'Why should we care?'

6. The articles

7. Conclusions: Toward an anthropological theory of morality politics

What sort of criminal offence is the Swedish ban on purchasing sex? What do its internal contradictions reveal? What do its peculiar features tell us about law and society in contemporary liberal democracies?

Anthropologists are particularly interested in the inconsistencies and gaps between the dominant ideologies and principles of a society and the common practices of its members. Rather than considering these contradictions mainly as problems to be resolved, ethnographers explore what they tell us about the dilemmas that arise in society and the issues that remain troubling, which are often more useful clues to their fundamental dynamics than what everyone agrees with and carries out unquestioningly. Understanding worldviews and moral universes is therefore an anthropologist's task. So is avoiding uncritically adopting their subjects' views: in the case of the sex-purchase ban, the government's and majority society's description of reality.

In this thesis, instead of assuming the ban represented an entirely new form of criminal legislation, I examined similar laws targeting the prostitution sector in other liberal democracies and analysed the offence within its policy context. I identified laws that criminalise only the actions of clients of sex workers but not those who sell sex and categorised the Swedish policy as repressive, with the objective of eradicating the sex trade. This policy contrasts with both the restrictive model, which permits the trade under strictly limited conditions, and the integrative model, which incorporates the prostitution sector and its participants within the legal frameworks governing other service industries.

I then sought to understand the political conflicts and contradictions surrounding the ban, its inherent legal problems, and the strong emotions present

in the field. These peculiarities were made comprehensible through the conceptual framework of morality politics. Using my typology, legal understandings of moral legislation, and ethnographic observations, I then refined the concept, arguing that morality politics encompasses practices related to the body that are traditionally perceived as sinful such as commercial sex, as well as those related to homosexuality, abortion, drug use and gambling.

My refined definition of morality politics rests on two pillars, substantive issues and their governance, both of which consist of several elements. Firstly, it deals with political issues concerning what adults wish to do with their sexuality, reproduction, and their own death, as well as how they choose to enjoy themselves and what society is willing to permit them to do. These issues are also marked by intense fears, as these matters can be perceived as posing an existential threat to society. Furthermore, these issues and their perceived dangers are deeply rooted in religious notions of sin and impurity. Secondly, these issues are defined by how they are governed. They are typically addressed by the three distinct policy models, where society may attempt to completely eliminate the phenomenon, permit it under strict conditions, or integrate it. This governance, which can fluctuate over time, is not driven by conventional partisan or ideological logic, but rather by whether society seeks to reform the individuals engaging in these undesirable, 'sinful' behaviours, or to reform societal structures so that these activities can be conducted safely and securely. When these actions are made illegal in a liberal democracy such as Sweden, they represent a paradoxical type of crime, since both parties to the interaction consent to the act.

By analysing the ambiguous legal status of sex workers in Sweden and comparing it to the integrative prostitution policy in New Zealand, I demonstrate that a malleable rather than consistent status can serve as a form of strategic ambivalence that allows authorities to vary their practices in ways that are politically useful, seeming to protect sex workers while actually surveilling, controlling and punishing them. This outcome is a continuation of the exclusionary logic inherent in repressive prostitution regimes. Finally, I have suggested that the way a country regulates issues of morality politics is linked to contemporary notions of what the majority society considers to constitute a 'modern' and 'civilised' nation, where certain individuals who engage in 'sinful' behaviour are regarded as either belonging or as unfit to belong to the nation-as-family.

The multisited method I have used enabled me to trace the offence through the four domains of law, discourse, implementation, and impact. I have placed

particular emphasis on the legal domain. Methodologically, this thesis contributes to socio-legal studies, both within and beyond anthropology, by emphasising the importance of the 'law on the books' as well as its enforcement. Scrutiny of how an offence relates to general legal principles and rules according to the source of law reveals not only how the wording influences police practices, but also underlying political-legal and intra-legal contradictions, providing rich data to be analysed.

In this concluding chapter, I discuss the scholarly reception of my work, how the thesis advances the study of prostitution policy, and directions for future research and conceptual development.

Acceptance and critiques of this project

In an extensive literature review, Cecilia Benoit, Michaela Smith, Mikael Jansson, Priscilla Healey and Doug Magnuson (2018b: 1905) adopted the typology when they evaluated the impact of prostitution policies across and within countries, examining 'which responses are most effective in reducing the social exclusion of sex workers in societal institutions and everyday practices'. In a broad, comparative study of third sector organisations operating in the field of sex work and prostitution in Africa, the Americas and Europe, Isabelle Crowhurst, Susan Dewey and Chimaraoke Izugbara (2021) make use of the typology in order to understand the scope and reach of these organisations. The typology and my 4-i assessment protocol (examining a policy's intentions, instruments, implementation, and impact) have also been used to examine and analyse prostitution law and policy in individual countries, including Poland (Ratecka 2023), Senegal (Foley 2018), and New Zealand (Rottier 2018) (see also Armstrong and G. Abel 2020; Oliveira et al. 2023; Mai et al. 2021; Weitzer 2022).

Not everyone has found the typology satisfying. In an analysis of the 2019 Israeli 'End demand law', legal scholars Inga Thiemann and Hila Shamir (2022) argue that in order to capture the dynamics of changing prostitution policies, there is a need for a fourth category, that of 'permissive' policies that sit between the restrictive and integrative. In Israel, the policy toward sex work shifted from restrictive on the books and permissive in action, to repressive on the books and mostly restrictive in action. Moreover, they believe that the German policy I

describe as restrictive with integrative elements is better characterised as 'permissive', partly because the policy assumes a multifaceted, rather than a negative understanding of commercial sex.

As Article II makes clear, the three categories I introduced are to be understood as 'ideal types' in the Weberian sense: a type is an empirical entity but does not exist in its conceptual purity since real-life conditions corrupt and transform it (see K.D. Bailey 1994). Moreover, given the many changes policies undergo, we can only assess a country's policy regime at a particular time and place, such as in a city or neighbourhood, because these regimes are dynamic, moving in cycles or zigzagging. In some cases, restrictive or repressive regulations are not enforced, or an absence of governing results in a 'laissez-faire' situation at the local level. Hence, while Thielmann and Shamir regard the typology I proposed as inadequate, it does address situations they term permissive.

The typology has also been critiqued by May-Len Skilbrei (personal communication, 23 November 2023), arguing that the typology assumes what is to be proven, as I chose three countries whose policies fall neatly into the three categories I then treat as types. She also objected to what she saw as a personal bias in categorisation and terminology; classifying Sweden as a predominantly repressive policy mirrored my own preference for an integrative policy which is defined as the 'best practice'.

I have already touched upon one aspect of Skilbrei's objection, and it is also discussed in the article: no national policy falls neatly into a single type. Germany is predominantly restrictive, but local policies and practices also have integrative and repressive elements. Sweden is predominantly repressive with some restrictive elements, but other elements are integrative, as sex workers are required to pay taxes and can access the social security system under some conditions. The integrative policy in New Zealand does not include immigrant and non-citizen sex workers and allows for restrictive local ordinances.

The other parts of the critique require a more thorough response, as the discussions are not included in the articles (but see the working paper and policy brief, Östergren 2017a; 2017b).

The three countries were chosen for the comparative DemandAT study since they were identified as having different approaches to the issue of 'demand' and prostitution. The empirical data that forms the basis of the tripartite typology not only includes information gathered in the study, but is also drawn from my previous work on Swedish prostitution policy as well as ethnographically

informed studies from several countries (Dewey et al. 2015; Dewey and Kelly 2011; Doezema and Kampadoo 1998; Gangoli and Westmarland 2006; Kempadoo et al. 2015; Kotiswaran 2011; Outshoorn 2004; Weitzer 2012). Moreover, the typology was formed on the basis on available theoretical approaches to sex work and policy analysis generally, including the 'anthropology of policy' (Shore and Wright 1997; Shore et al. 2011).

Let me expand on the comparative DemandAT study, which demonstrates the depth of this data. The study analysed existing research on legislation, its implementation and its effects as documented in English and Swedish. The German partner in DemandAT contributed information from publications in German. Furthermore, expert and stakeholder interviews were conducted in two cities in each country to gain additional insights into the national debates and regulations that would have escaped our attention if we had relied entirely on written sources. Local actors provided their own observations and interpretations related to their contexts of practice. This local knowledge provided access to nuanced, contextual and site-specific aspects of policy.

A combination of different approaches was chosen since it allows for an understanding of policy texts as well as how local actors interpret them (Yanow 2000). In each country, we conducted interviews in the capital and another city with a relatively large population, under the assumption that local conditions could generate different interpretations: in New Zealand, Wellington and Auckland; in Germany, Berlin and Cologne, situated in different states with distinctively different implementation practices; and in Sweden, the capital and Malmö, which in contrast to Stockholm is known for adopting 'unconventional' methods' emphasising harm reduction.

Following Ronald Weitzer (2015), we chose an approach with a few cases that facilitates in-depth analysis, outlining major similarities and differences and identifying best practices. Interviews were semi-structured, focusing on general questions as well as specific questions relevant to each context. They were recorded and later transcribed.²⁴ Interviews were conducted with representatives of NGOs focusing on topics such as sex workers' rights, sexual health, trafficking in human beings or political lobbying, as well as with social workers, authorities and government officials, researchers, and other interest groups.

²⁴ Isabelle Johansson was in charge of conducting and transcribing the interviews.

The comparative three-country study provided nuanced, in-depth data, as did ethnographic studies from several other countries. Moreover, I went to great lengths to find a terminology that mirrored the intent of the policy, not personal or political values, which I discuss in Chapter 1.

Articles III and IV have not been published, but other scholars have reviewed and commented on both. While I plan to make revisions in response to the questions these reviewers raised, they offered positive evaluations of both draft articles. A commentator on Article III said it is positioned to make a theoretical contribution to anthropology by proposing an analytical framework for morality politics. This conceptualisation facilitates the comparative examination of how diverse social actors become engaged in defining a societal problem, advocating for either 'moral reform' or 'justice' approaches, which emphasise either changing individuals' behaviour to conform to social norms (which may be accepted, ignored, or disputed) or ensuring that marginalised groups enjoy the same rights as other citizens. The ever-shifting balances and boundaries between those two approaches complicate effective policy making. Finally, the commentator agreed that my refined concept of morality politics contributes to an underdeveloped field in anthropology and suggests a range of future studies.

A reviewer of Article IV found the analysis of sex workers' ambivalent legal status in Sweden persuasive and thought it posed fascinating questions about how policymakers and politicians might approach the law concerning sex work in terms of a moral system centred on imagined familial relationships, which would be a clear contribution to the anthropological literature. As the 'nation-as-family' metaphor is underdeveloped, it was suggested that I draw on the broad and varied anthropological literature discussing the relationship between morality, family and politics, including the dynamic interaction between personal and national identities that are mediated by gender, class, and region.

These comments and suggestions are in line with how I envision the findings of this thesis could be developed in regard to the governance of prostitution and extended to other contentious issues that include sexual and other behaviours related to the body which carry a high emotional charge and are traditionally perceived as sinful.

Contributions and further research

This thesis advances the study of prostitution policy by situating and analysing the much-debated Swedish sex-purchase ban within a broader policy context, and through a focused intra-legal approach. Because the study refines the classification of prostitution policies, clarifying how a country or city regulates the sector, it contributes to comparative studies and makes it possible to discuss the opportunities available for sex workers to work safely in different legal environments.

By 'studying through' the policy with an emphasis on legal sources, the thesis offers an analysis of the contradictory legal status of sex workers in repressive policy regimes such as Sweden's and demonstrates that this ambivalence can be understood as a legal measure for maintaining a historically entrenched social and sexual hierarchy in which women who sell sex are excluded from or marginalised by the dominant society. This analysis makes an empirical contribution to studies on the governance of commercial sex, most of which are based on interviews with sex workers and policy and discourse analyses.

The thesis links the governance of prostitution to the regulation of other moral-political issues, such as drugs, abortion, homosexuality, and gambling. By refining the definition of morality politics, based on its substantive and processual characteristics, this framework establishes a foundation for studying and understanding the peculiarities of the governance of prostitution in a more comprehensive context. The refinement of the concept enables studies of policies on drugs, abortion, and so forth to be more clearly linked to issues of prostitution. Research on morality politics benefits from being grounded in a long-term, multisited study of a specific law. As the previous chapters and articles have demonstrated, this conceptual contribution advances the empirical and theoretical basis on which to consider new questions as well. Approaching these issues as a cluster transforms the research question, such as why certain behaviours are met with repression and others are integrated into the societal and legal framework.

Finally, through the development of the concept of 'consensual crimes' and the classificatory typology of repressive, restrictive, and integrative policies, in conjunction with the application of previous concepts and understandings of paternalistic legislation, morality laws, moral reform movements, exclusionary regimes, and strategic ambivalence, this thesis lays a sturdy foundation for an

anthropological theory of morality politics. It proceeds with an anthropological methodology, rather than merely an empirical study, and its key concepts are based on anthropological theory, which is distinguished by its concern with all those involved in a complex, deeply contested issue. In many ways, these opposing parties do not directly engage with each other. Instead, they act out an impasse that suggests the unresolved dilemmas in their society.

My findings point toward several research paths that would extend or deepen insights into this field. How can we explain and understand morality politics? How does it function? What are its origins, and what drives it today?

Historically, morality politics is rooted in religious notions of sin, but it is enacted in contemporary liberal democracies that are at least in principle based on individual rights and whose laws and justice systems are secular. Kenneth Meier called it a 'politics of sin', but I have set that idea aside because, although it is well-known in the field, it does not tell us why some taboos continue to exist when they are no longer reinforced by an established religion. At the same time, the idea that fundamental conflicts between religion and the polity are inevitable in all liberal societies, as suggested by Julia Mourão Permoser (2019) seems a dubious generalisation. Some contested issues are readily resolved, while others are endlessly played out in morality politics. Still, the legacy of religious beliefs and practices is evident in the tensions and controversies, prohibitions and counterforces that surround certain values and behaviours. What makes these lines of conflict within communities so universal and irresolvable?

A development could expand its empirical basis through ethnographic research and formulate a theory that extends beyond contemporary liberal democracies. Such a study would need to be grounded in legal history and linked to the rich array of anthropological studies on morality and politics, citizenship, feminism, body politics, and kinship. It would also be comparative and multisited in its methodology, as well multidisciplinary in its approach.

One potential avenue for further research is the relationship between morality politics and the 'family-as-nation' concept. In Article IV, I note this connection, but as the reviewers commented, it is not fully developed. Here, engagement with historical works is crucial. As studies of global anti-vice politics in the decades before and after the turn of the last century show, issues closely related to the body have served as a particularly strong foundation for national modernisation projects both in and outside of Western contexts. In fact, there has been substantial cross-collaboration between activists in different parts of the world. These repressive

politics target not only commercial sex but also tobacco and alcohol, while advocating for health and purity in terms of their respective religious and philosophical ideologies (Pliley et al. 2016). Moreover, recent work shows that American social reformers and the US government conducted a 'war on sexual vice', criminalising prostitution and restricting migration in the same period, and this political view was used to justify American inventions around the world (Payne 2024). What makes the issues of morality politics so appealing for various national modernisation projects?

There is more to explore here, such as the relationship between imagining women who sell sex as daughters and other kinswomen who belong to the nation-as-family and imagining them as working women who are active in the market economy and civil society and therefore should be equal members. This project might fit in the field of feminist citizenship studies that have developed and modified the British historical sociologist T.H. Marshall's schema, contending that for women there is no 'natural' or historical progression from any one form of rights to the rest, that is, equal membership in the welfare state. Emphasising the varied disparities that exist within and among nations/societies, historians analyse different ways that welfare benefits include women, for example as wives of working men and mothers of children (as in France, see Frader 2008) or as gainfully employed individuals (as in Sweden, see Kessler-Harris 2001, 2014).

Differences in family rhetoric also offer a lot to unpack. Politicians in New Zealand refer to multiple family members, while in Sweden only 'daughter' is mentioned. Does that reflect a successful strategy by the New Zealand sex workers' movement to humanise those who sell sex? Or is it merely a rhetorical move for proponents of repressive policies, while for politicians in smaller communities, where it is clearer that these individuals are, in fact, family members, it becomes a more pragmatic concern?

Importantly, how can these global historical perspectives and nuanced gendered approaches contribute to general understandings of the functions and workings of morality politics? Anthropologists have offered remarkable insights into how, especially at times of perceived threat, the female body and its orifices are symbolically 'sealed', as if women embody the community or nation. Analyses of 'embodying morality' and 'gendered morality of care' (H. Rydström 2003, 2009, 2023), which refer to women's sense of themselves and others' perceptions of them, might also generate a fruitful theoretical discussion of the linkages between my framework and works on gender, sexuality, and the body in socioeconomic crises,

and protracted, irresolvable political conflicts. Ethnographers in both sociology and anthropology have also conducted a wealth of studies examining the processes of excluding and/or including social outliers, such as homosexuals and drug users, not to mention those analysing how states and their majority societies handle ethnic minority groups. Recent studies that examine the often overlapping rights-based struggles undertaken by gay activists, transgender groups and sex workers provide insights into how marginalised groups appeal to the state for legal recognition and the state's response (Lakkimsetti 2020), as well as how 'catastrophic crises' such as AIDS can make a state consider the claims of these citizens and confront its fraught legacies of regulating sexuality (Vijayakumar 2021).

Moreover, we need to consider what determines the different directions governments take on these issues. How do other forces beyond single nations, such as the position of nation-states as they are affected by globalisation, competition, and comparison with other countries, determine the shifting of these boundaries? What micro factors lend morality politics such special intensity, beyond those inherent in most polities, societies, and cultures, which after all are never homogeneous or entirely free of internal contradictions and conundrums? The thesis has shown that the decisive factor for policy is whether legislators listen to reformers or rights movements and that framing is essential. It has also suggested that this depends on the majority society's perceptions of what and who are included in the social community. And, as I have argued, paternalistic policies create a cycle of power and resistance, particularly when they concern what consenting adults choose to do with their bodies – actions that may be perceived as pleasurable or necessary. These issues' roots in older, religions notions of sin and moral transgression set the scene for an inherently unequal dialectical process. But not all moral-political struggles are similar. What about issues such as gambling and lotteries, which are not directly related to the body and might not stir objections and political engagement among those who are not directly targeted? For instance, when gambling policy is called into question and shifts to normalise this commercial activity, the business sector is the primary critic of repressive or restrictive policies. When the contest is not between gamblers and their allies on one hand and the state and those who condemn games of chance on the other, but pits business interests against the regulatory state, is the political battle fought on more equal terms? And, if so, what role, if any, do consumers play? Similar questions can be asked when considering changes in policies targeting recreational drugs.

Since laws designed to repress prostitution, such as the ban on purchasing sex, are transformations of crimes of vice, I am curious about the political-legal process that has either turned these and other offences that are based on consent into crimes against 'public order' or removed them from criminal law altogether. How is this process connected to changing perceptions of what constitutes a good society and who is considered to fit within its boundaries?

One possible research project could select several issues that have evolved in different directions in Sweden and compare their political-legal development. The study could include familiar issues, such as abortion, drugs, gambling, and homosexuality, but also more recent and newly emerging issues, such as transgender identities, assisted dying, surrogacy, and cousin marriages. In essence, this study would trace the evolution of morality offences in penal law from the mid-18th century to the present, examining their governance and the justifications behind these shifts. What social movements were involved, what changes did they demand, and how did they argue their positions? How did politicians respond? Examining how these conflicts and changes affected the law, it would ask what legislative changes occurred and how they were justified by legislators and policymakers. What kinds of congruences and inconsistencies did these changes create within legal principles and reasoning? Did the various legal authorities have any influence on the formulation of new regulations on these issues? Why or why not?

Furthermore, we could investigate whether the axioms Gayle Rubin identified in discourses on sexuality are present in other issues of morality politics. For example, can 'sex negativity', which condemns all forms of non-normative sexual behaviour by focusing on the most extreme cases, be discerned in the discourses around abortion and same-sex relations? The 'domino theory of sexual peril', the idea that accepting something that in itself seems harmless can undermine other moral constraints on sexual behaviour and lead to disorder, is evident in the Swedish debates about the sex-purchase ban. A similar logic, which requires strict boundaries between acceptable activities and those which threaten social order, is clearly recognisable in the Swedish drug debates. Allowing cannabis will inevitably lead to Sweden being flooded with harmful drugs like heroin, some allege. If these patterns are found in laws that concern both sexual and non-sexual behaviour, then what is the link between these axioms and the basis of morality politics?

Regardless of the directions and dimensions of such a study, the political-legal process of constructing (and deconstructing) the offender, or rather the criminal

act, in these contemporary consensual crimes needs to be examined. So do the civic and legal status of newly defined perpetrators and the implications of the offence for those individuals. I did not address this aspect of the ban in my thesis; in fact, given that all research studies are constrained by time, available resources, and opportunities to conduct original research on difficult subjects, I did not investigate how the sex-purchase ban and political discourse target men who buy or attempt to buy sexual services and its ramifications in and out of court. Yet it is clear that, as in the case of sex workers, the Swedish discourse and policy directed at their clients is multifaceted and malleable (see Olsson 2021). Legally, they are viewed as perpetrators, but in political discourse they are also portrayed as victims of a structure that makes them unable to form loving, long-term, and monogamous relationships, as suffering from their own sex addiction, or as having failed to make the 'right choices'. Perspectives that see them as victims of society or of their own personal weaknesses are evident in information campaigns aimed at men who purchase sex and in specialised client therapy programmes provided by social services.

Like studies of prostitution, social science research on clients in Sweden tends to focus on the experiences and meanings of purchasing sex (Grönvall 2024; Johansson forthcoming). Again, it is Don Kulick (2005a) who has analysed the discursive process that justifies state interventions into people's sexuality. He argues that pathologisation paved the way for demonisation and criminalisation, indicative of a transformation of the governance and significance of sexuality. In this process, men who purchase sex have replaced the figure of the 'sodomite' in Swedish discourse, representing the negative figure with whom the good, egalitarian man can be contrasted. As this discursive framework mirrors that which surrounded homosexuality, Kulick calls for an analysis that departs from the process that renders clients as problems. I want to endorse his recommendation and emphasise the importance of turning to the law, its formulations, implications and guiding logic when examining and assessing this process as it has implications not only for those targeted, but also for the very premises of liberal law.

In his work, Claes Lernestedt (2004, 2010) sees the sex-purchase ban as an example of a problematic shift in Swedish criminal law, where liberal legal principles of consent, freedom and tolerance are replaced by societal thinking about voluntariness as determined by gendered and structural oppressive forces.

In the case of the sex-purchase ban, the individual sex buyer is punished for a structural crime committed by men as a collective.

Here, it is worth considering the work by Martha Nussbaum (2004) on the role of emotions in criminal law. Legal culture, Nussbaum argues, reflects the 'political psychology' of the liberal regime. For social institutions to be accepted, they must be supported by the psychology of the citizens. While acknowledging that emotions like anger can be reasonable responses to genuine harm, she contends that disgust and shame, which are rooted in irrational fears of contamination and unrealistic ideals of purity, are unsuitable for guiding public policy and criminal law (2004: 336-337). For societies that aim to create equality and respect among people, these feelings are destructive and provide poor guidance. These emotions matter to those who experience them but should not form the basis of criminal law. It damages the entire society when groups such as homosexuals or Jews are turned into embodiments of the dominant social group's fears and revulsions of those they do not accept as fellow citizens. These emotions create opportunities for discrimination and stigmatisation, argues Nussbaum, resulting in precisely the problems John Stuart Mill diagnosed in On Liberty: the tyranny of the 'normal' over the unusual, the devastating effects that laws enforcing dominant social norms have on the lives of those who refuse to conform.

Acknowledgements

I extend my deepest gratitude to those who laid the groundwork to make this thesis possible: Karl-Olov Arnstberg, who believed I should embark on this doctoral project and introduced me to individuals and institutions that made it a practical reality; Jonathan and Kajsa Ekholm Friedman, who not only anchored the project within the Division of Social Anthropology at Lund University but also warmly welcomed me into their home; The Axel and Margaret Ax:son Johnson Foundation, whose generous funding during my first three years, along with their intellectually stimulating environments, have been invaluable. I am grateful to the Helge Ax:son Johnson Foundation, the Lars Hierta Memorial Foundation, RFSU's Ottar Fund, and the Swedish Society for Anthropology and Geography for their support through research grants and travel funding, and the EU 7th Framework programme that funded the DemandAT project.

My heartfelt thanks to those who made the realisation of this thesis possible. My supervisors, Don Kulick and Steven Sampson, for granting me the intellectual freedom to think creatively and independently, while also ensuring that I brought my findings into focus, allowing me to present my knowledge in the most refined way possible; Simon Turner and Sebastien Tútenges, who took on the challenge of steering the thesis to completion with joyful and steadfast guidance. May-Len Skilbrei, the opponent at my final seminar, brought extensive knowledge and invaluable feedback, offering the constructive criticism I needed. Ulf Johansson Dahre also deserves special mention for his encouraging and insightful readings of my texts in many forms.

I am indebted to those at the Division of Social Anthropology for their encouragement and support: Nina Green, Tova Höjdestam, Christer Lindberg and my former doctoral colleagues Matthias Abelin, Anna Berglund, Lotta Granbom, Anna Hedlund, Anna Kovasna, and Hanna Wittrock. Special recognition goes to Isabelle Johansson for her invaluable collaboration and support.

My thanks also go to the leadership and staff at the Department of Sociology, whose persistence and constructive approach have overcome every obstacle, especially Gunnar Andersson, Christofer Edling, Sara Eldén, Bo Isenberg, Susanne Lindberg, Åsa Lundqvist, Rose-Marie Olsson, Britt-Marie Persson, and David Wästerfors. I would also like to sincerely thank Erik Lindholm at Media Tryck.

I am immensely grateful to the researchers beyond my doctoral programme who have inspired, influenced, and supported my project in various ways: Sietske Altink, Helga Amesberger, Daniella Danna, Susanne Dodillet, Basil Donovan, Ola Florin, Michael Goodyear, Paul Pascalau, Rebecca Pates, Joep Rottier, Jens Rydström, Hendrik Wagenaar, Ronald Weitzer, Marjan Wijers, and Saskia E. Wieringa; my colleagues on the research project DemandAT, especially Norbert Cyrus, Albert Kraler, and Ditta Vogel; my colleagues in the Swedish Network for Research on Sex for Compensation (FOSME), particularly Annelie de Cabo, Ylva Grönvall; Anna Hall, Charlotte Holmström, Jari Kuosmanen, Emilia Ljungberg, Narola Olsson, and Nina Vulojärvi; the leaders and participants in the European research network Comparing European Prostitution Policies: Understanding Scales and Cultures of Governance (PostPol); and all who participated in Don Kulick's writing courses at Uppsala University and provided insightful feedback.

The second cornerstone of this thesis is the people I have had the privilege of meeting, speaking with, and listening to. My special thanks to Lilian Anderson, Alvina Chamberland, Ryan Cole, Carina Edlund, 'Emma', Ingegärd Granath, Pye Jakobsson, Eva Marree Kullander Smith, 'Isabelle Lund', Christina Persson, and Rosinha Sambo, along with others I encountered through Fuckförbundet, Red Umbrella Sweden, Rosea and Rose Alliance. My thanks also go to Calum Bennachie and Catherine Healy, and others from the New Zealand Prostitutes Collective, members of Scarlet Alliance in Australia, the European Sex Workers' Rights Alliance, and other sex workers and their allies I have met around the world. I extend my thanks to the many politicians and officials in Sweden and abroad who have contributed in various ways.

I am deeply grateful to my friends and family for their unwavering support and for the discussions we had about both the content and the writing process. Special thanks to Johan Alvner, Alexander Bard, Louise Belfrage, Alexandra and Galina Berggren, Torsten Björnfot, Orlando Boström, Peter Galatius, Evalena Glad, Jessica and Nicklas Gunnarsson, Gabriella Henriksdotter, Maria Karlsson, Roger Kemi, Lena and Jonas Kohkoinen, Åsa Larsson, Peter Leimdörfer, Kjell A. Nordström, Hans Peterson, Margaret von Platen, Mats Rehnström, Pär Roosvall,

Ola Rönn, Nathan Shachar, Rosemary Taylor, Peet Tüll, Ulla le Vau, Valentina Vermandois and Kajsa Östergren.

Finally, my most profound thanks go to Grey Osterud, whose masterful editing and insightful understanding of the content have transformed this thesis into a work I am truly proud of.

References

- Abel G (2017) In search of a fair and free society: The regulation of sex work in New Zealand. In: Ward E and Wylie G (eds) *Feminism, prostitution and the state*. Routledge, pp.140-154.
- Abel G (2019) The problem with sex work policies. *Archives of Sexual Behavior* 48(7): 1925-1929.
- Abel G, Fitzgerald L, Healy C, et al. (eds) (2010) Taking the crime out of sex work: New Zealand sex workers' fight for decriminalisation. Policy Press.
- Abel G (2014) A decade of decriminalization: Sex work 'down under' but not underground. *Criminology & Criminal Justice* 14(5): 580-592.
- Abel RL (1995) The law and society reader. NYU Press.
- Aftonbladet TV (2010) Beatrice Ask vill hänga ut misstänkta brottslingar. 19 March. Available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=pNEYCW5axWk.
- Agar M (1986) Speaking of ethnography. SAGE Publications.
- Amit V (2000) Constructing the field. Routledge.
- Amnesty International (2015) *Global movement votes to adopt policy to protect human rights of sex workers.* 11 August. Available at: https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2015/08/global-movement-votes-to-adopt-policy-to-protect-human-rights-of-sex-workers/.
- Amnesty International (2016a) *Policy on state obligations to respect, protect and fulfil the human rights of sex workers.* Available at: www.amnesty.org/en/documents/pol30/4062/2016/en/.
- Amnesty International (2016b) *The human cost of 'crushing' the market: Criminalization of sex work in* Norway. London: Amnesty International. Available at: https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/eur36/4034/2016/en/.
- Anderson B (1983) *Imagined communities: Reflections on the origin and spread of nationalism.* Verso.
- Andersson L and Östergren P (1998a) Lag förvärrar för sexarbetare. *Aftonbladet*, 11 May. Andersson L and Östergren P (1998b) Med lögner blev sexarbetarnas kunder kriminella. *Aftonbladet*, 15 June.
- Andersson M, Altenstedt P, Brink J, et al. (2007) Sexköp är brutalt utnyttjande av svaga. *Expressen*, 5 February.

- Anonymous (2015) Comment on Simon Häggström's post, 5 November [Facebook].

 Available at: https://www.facebook.com/simon.haggstrom (accessed 10 November 2015).
- Ansell C and Gash A (2008) Collaborative governance in theory and practice. *Journal of public administration research and theory* 18(4): 543-571.
- Aquilonius J (2021) Forskar om sexhandel blev kallad hallick. *Universitetsläraren*, 16 November.
- Armstrong L and Abel G (eds) (2020) Sex work and the New Zealand model: Decriminalisation and social change. Bristol University Press.
- Armstrong L, Abel G and Roguski M (2020) Fear of trafficking or implicit prejudice? Migrant sex workers and the impacts of Section 19. In: Armstrong L and Abel G (eds) Sex work and the New Zealand model. Decriminalisation and social change. Bristol University Press, pp.113-134.
- Aroney E (2021) Changing minds and changing laws: How New Zealand sex workers and their allies shaped decriminalisation in New Zealand. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy* 18(4): 952-967.
- ASIJIKI (Coalition to decriminalise sex work in South Africa) (2015) Sex work: The Swedish model. The partial criminalisation of sex work. Fact sheet 2015.

 Available at: https://genderjustice.org.za/publication/sex-work-the-swedish-model/.
- Asp P, Jareborg N and Ulväng M (2010) Kriminalrättens grunder. Iustus.
- Asp P and Ulväng M (2007) Tvång, utnyttjande och kriminalisering av sexköp. In: Asp P and Lernestedt C (eds) *Josefs resa: Vänbok till Josef Zila.* Iustus, pp.27-69.
- ASWA (Australian Sex Workers Association) and RA (Rose Alliance) (2011) *The Swedish model of criminalising sex work since 1999*, Briefing Paper. Available at: scarletalliance.org.au/issues/swedish_model/Swedish_briefing/.
- Bacio M (2023) Masculinities at work. Male-to-male internet escorting in Italy and Sweden. PhD Thesis, Department of Gender Studies, Lund University, Sweden.
- Bailey FG (2008) Stratagems and spoils: A social anthropology of politics. Westview Press.
- Bailey KD (1994) Typologies and taxonomies. An introduction to classification techniques. Sage.
- Balfour G (2021) Decriminalizing domestic violence and fighting prostitution abolition: Lessons learned from Canada's anti-carceral feminist struggles. *International Journal for Crime, Justice and Social Democracy* 10(4): 66-77.
- Bankier C, Creighton R, Meyer P, et al. (2007) Kan en hora få rätt mot en polis? Expressen, January 30.
- Barnett T, Healy C, Reed A, et al. (2010) Lobbying for decriminalisation. In: Abel G, Fitzgerald L, Healy C, et al. (eds) *Taking the crime out of sex work*. Policy Press, pp.57-74.
- Becker HS (1963) Outsiders: Studies in the sociology of deviance. Free Press of Glencoe.

- Bennachie C, Pickering A, Lee J, et al. (2021) Unfinished decriminalization: The impact of Section 19 of the Prostitution Reform Act 2003 on migrant sex workers' rights and lives in Aotearoa New Zealand. *Social Sciences* 10(5): 179.
- Benoit C (2021) Understanding exploitation in consensual sex work to inform occupational health and safety regulation: Current issues and policy implications. *Social Sciences* 10(7): 238.
- Benoit C, Jansson SM, Smith M, et al. (2018a) Prostitution stigma and its effect on the working conditions, personal lives, and health of sex workers. *The Journal of Sex Research* 55(4-5): 457-471.
- Benoit C, Smith M, Jansson M, et al. (2018b) 'The prostitution problem': Claims, evidence, and policy outcomes. *Archives of Sexual Behavior: The Official Publication of the International Academy of Sex Research* 48(7): 1905-1923.
- Bernstein E (2001) The meaning of the purchase: Desire, demand and the commerce of sex. *Ethnography* 2(3): 389-420.
- Bernstein E (2010a) *Temporarily yours: Intimacy, authenticity, and the commerce of sex.* University of Chicago Press.
- Bernstein E (2010b) Militarized humanitarianism meets carceral feminism: The politics of sex, rights, and freedom in contemporary antitrafficking campaigns. *Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society* 36(1): 45-71.
- Bernstein E (2012) Carceral politics as gender justice? The 'traffic in women' and neoliberal circuits of crime, sex, and rights. *Theory and Society* 41(3): 233-259.
- Best J (2016) The problems with moral panic: The concept's limitations. In: Krinsky C (ed) *The Ashgate research companion to moral panics*. Routledge, pp.67-78.
- Bjønness J, Nencel L and Skilbrei ML (eds) (2022) *Reconfiguring stigma in studies of sex for sale.* Routledge.
- Bjørndahl U (2012) Dangerous Liaisons. A survey of the violence experienced by women working as prostitution in Oslo. Report commissioned by the Municipality of Oslo.
- Blanchette T, Da Silva AP and Camargo G (2021) 'I Will Not Be Dona Maria': Rethinking exploitation and objectification in the context of work and sex work. *Social Sciences* 10(6): 204.
- Blanchette T and Schettini C (2017) Sex work in Rio de Janeiro: Police management without regulation. In: Rodríguez García M, Heerma van Voss L and van Nederveen Meerkerk E (eds) *Selling sex in the city: A global history of prostitution, 1600s-2000s* Brill, pp.490-516.
- Borg A, Elwien F, Frühling M, et al. (1981) *Prostitution: Beskrivning, analys, förslag till åtgärder.* Liber.
- Borneman J (2016) Recording uncertainty and disorder on the ethnographic Scene. In: Moore SF (ed) *Comparing impossibilites. Sellected essays of Sally Falk Moore* HAU Books, pp.xv-xxx.

- Brennan D (2004) What's love got to do with it?: Transnational desires and sex tourism in the Dominican Republic. Duke University Press.
- Brents BG and Sanders T (2010) Mainstreaming the sex industry: Economic inclusion and social ambivalence. *Journal of law and society* 37(1): 40-60.
- Brooks-Gordon B and Ebbitt E (2021) The chemsex 'consent ladder' in male sex work: Perspectives of health providers on derailment and empowerment. *Social Sciences* 10(2): 69.
- Brottsförebyggande rådet (BRÅ) (2000) Förbud mot köp av sexuella tjänster. Tillämpningen av lagen under det första året. BRÅ-rapport 2000:4.
- Bruckert C and Hannem S (2013) Rethinking the prostitution debates: Transcending structural stigma in systemic responses to sex work. *Canadian Journal of Law and Society/La Revue Canadienne Droit et Société* 28(1): 43-63.
- Bucken-Knapp G, Karlsson J and Persson Strömbäck K (2009) Prostitution policy reform and the causal role of ideas: a comparative study of policy-making in the Nordic countries. *APSA 2009 Toronto Meeting Paper*.
- Budde ET, Knill C, Fernández-i-Marín X, et al. (2017) A matter of timing: The religious factor and morality policies. *Governance* 31(1): 45-63.
- Bullock L (2023) Exporting sexköpslagen: Sweden, sex work, and the moral stakes of externalizing feminist policy. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy* 21(2): 503-513.
- Calderaro C and Giametta C (2019) 'The problem of prostitution': Repressive policies in the name of migration control, public order, and women's rights in France.

 Anti-Trafficking Review 12: 155-171.
- Campbell R, Hubbard P, Sanders T, et al. (2018) England and Wales. In: Jahnsen SØ and Wagenaar H (eds) *Assessing prostitution policies in Europe*. Routledge, pp.31-46.
- Campbell R and O'Neill M (eds) (2006) Sex work now. Willan.
- Candea M (2010) Multi-sited ethnography. In: Barnard AJ and Spencer J (eds) *The Routledge encyclopedia of social and cultural anthropology*. Routledge, pp.485-486.
- Carline A and Scoular J (2017) Almost abolitionism: The peculiarities of prostitution policy in England and Wales. In: Ward E and Wylie G (eds) *Feminism*, *prostitution and the state*. Routledge, pp.103-120.
- CATW (Coalition Against Trafficking in Women) (n.d) Advocating for strong laws. Available at: https://catwinternational.org/home/advocating-for-strong-laws/.
- Chapkis W (1997) Live sex acts: Women performing erotic labor. Routledge.
- Chateauvert M (2015) Sex workers unite: A history of the movement from Stonewall to SlutWalk. Beacon Press.
- Clarke J, Bainton D, Lendvai N, et al. (2015) *Making policy move: Towards a politics of translation and assemblage.* Policy Press.

- Cohen S (1972) Folk devils and moral panics: The creation of mods and rockers. Mac Gibbon and Kee.
- Coleman S and Von Hellermann P (eds) (2011) Multi-sited ethnography: Problems and possibilities in the translocation of research methods. Routledge.
- Coombe RJ (1998) *The cultural life of intellectual properties: Authorship, appropriation, and the law.* Duke University Press.
- Cornwell B and Linders A (2002) The myth of 'moral panic': An alternative account of LSD prohibition. *Deviant Behavior* 23(4): 307-330.
- Christie N and Bruun K (1985) *Den goda fienden. Narkotikapolitik i Norden.* Raben & Sjögren.
- Crowhurst I, Dewey S and Izugbara C (2021) Third sector organizations in sex work and prostitution: Contested engagements in Africa, the Americas and Europe. Taylor & Francis.
- Crowhurst I and Skilbrei M-L (2022) Swedish, Nordic, European: The journey of a 'model' to abolish prostitution. In: Christensen MJ, Lohne K and Hörnqvist M (eds) *Nordic criminal justice in a global context: Practices and promotion of exceptionalism.* Routledge, pp.95-110.
- Csordas TJ (2013) Morality as a cultural system? Current Anthropology 54(5): 523-546.
- Cunningham S (2020) Sex work and human dignity: Law, politics and discourse. Routledge.
- D'Andrade R (1995) Moral models in anthropology. Current Anthropology 36(3): 399-408.
- Dahl A-S (2006) Sweden: Once a moral superpower, always a moral superpower? *International Journal* 61(4): 895-908.
- Dahlström-Lannes, M (2015) Comment on Simon Häggström's post, 25 May [Facebook]. Available at: https://www.facebook.com/permalink.php?story_fbid=1445312405785170&i d=100009192743255&substory_index=0 (accessed 25 May 2015).
- Danna D (2012) Client-only criminalization in the city of Stockholm: A local research on the application of the 'Swedish Model' of prostitution policy. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy* 9(1): 80-93.
- Davidson JOC (2002) The rights and wrongs of prostitution. Hypatia 17(2): 84-98.
- Davy Z, Santos AC, Bertone C, et al. (eds) (2020) *The SAGE handbook of global sexualities*. SAGE Publications.
- Day SE (2007) On the game: Women and sex work. Pluto Press.
- de Cabo y Moreda A (2018) Brott eller passion? Myndighetsdiskurser om manlig sexhandel från 1930- till 2000-tal. PhD Thesis, Department of Social Work, University of Gothenburg, Sweden.

- de Cabo y Moreda A and Hall A (2021) *Omfattningskartläggning av prostitution och människohandel för sexuella ändamål.* Department of Social Work, University of Gothenburg, Sweden.
- de Cabo y Moreda A, Holmström C and Kuosmanen J (eds) (2021) *Sex mot ersättning.* Säljare, köpare, makt och moral. Studentlitteratur.
- Dempsey MM (2005) Rethinking Wolfenden: Prostitute-use, criminal law, and remote harm. *Criminal Law Review* June: 444-455.
- Dewey S (2012) The feminized labor of sex work: Two decades of feminist historical and ethnographic research. *Labor* 9(2): 113-132.
- Dewey S (2013) Anthropological research with sex workers: An introduction. In: Dewey S and Zheng T *Ethical research with sex workers: Anthropological approaches*. Springer, pp.1-22.
- Dewey S and Kelly P (eds) (2011) *Policing pleasure: Sex work, policy, and the state in global perspective.* New York University Press.
- Dewey S, Orchard T and Zheng T (2015) Sex workers and criminalization in North America and China: Ethical and legal issues in exclusionary regimes. Springer.
- Dodillet S (2009) Är sex arbete? Svensk och tysk prostitutionspolitik sedan 1970-talet. Vertigo Förlag.
- Dodillet S, Meyer P, Persson L, et al. (2008) Feministerna tål inte fallna kvinnor. *Expressen*, 15 January.
- Dodillet S and Östergren P (2013) The Swedish sex purchase act: Claimed success and documented effects. In: Wagenaar H, Altink S and Amesberger H (eds) *Final Report of the International Comparative Study of Prostitution Policy* Platform 31, pp.109-136.
- Donovan JM and Anderson HE (2003) Anthropology & Law. Berghahn Books.
- Edlund C and Jakobsson P (2015) *En annan horisont. Sexarbete och HIV/STI-prevention ur ett peer-perspektiv.* HIV-Sverige and Rose Alliance.
- Edman J (2019) The war on good research: Debating research ethics and methods on the basis of Jay Levy's The war on people who use drugs: The harms of Sweden's aim for a drug-free society (Routledge, 2017). *Nordic Studies on Alcohol and Drugs* 36(4): 387-396.
- Edman J and Tham H (2022) To be both in the world and yet not of it: Swedish drug policy and the international context. In: Christensen MJ, Lohne K and Hörnqvist M (eds) *Nordic criminal justice in a global context: Practices and promotion of exceptionalism.* Routledge, pp.79-94.
- Eduards M (2007) Kroppspolitik: Om moder Svea och andra kvinnor. Stockholm: Atlas. Eek L (2005) Att köpa eller köpas: Frihet och makt i sexindustrin. Atlas.
- Ekberg G (2004) The Swedish law that prohibits the purchase of sexual services: Best practices for prevention of prostitution and trafficking in human beings. *Violence Against Women* 10(10): 1187-1218.

- Ekman KE (2011) Varat och varan. Prostitution, surrogatmödraskap och den delade människan. Leopard.
- Ekman KE (2015) EU-projekt kuppat av prostitutionslobbyn. ETC, 13 May.
- Ekman KE (2022) Forskare i knät på sexköpslobbyn. ETC, 30 January.
- Engeli I, Green-Pedersen C and Larsen LT (2012) Morality politics in Western Europe: Parties, agendas and policy choices. Springer.
- Engeli I, Green-Pedersen C and Larsen LT (2013) The puzzle of permissiveness: Understanding policy processes concerning morality issues. *Journal of European Public Policy* 20(3): 335-352.
- Erikson J (2011) Strider om mening. En dynamisk frameanalys av den svenska sexköpslagen. PhD Thesis, The Department of Political Science, Uppsala University, Sweden.
- Erikson J (2017) Criminalising the client. Institutional change, gendered ideas, and feminist strategies. Rowman and Littlefield International.
- Erikson J and Larsson O (2022) Beyond client criminalization: Analyzing collaborative governance arrangements for combatting prostitution and trafficking in Sweden. *Regulation & Governance* 16(3): 818-835.
- Erikson J, Yttergren Å and Westerstrand J (2015) Skev prostitutionsdebatt börjar påverka forskningen. *Feministiskt Perspektiv*, 16 June.
- Euchner E-M (2019a) Morality policy. In: Thompson WR (ed) Oxford research encyclopedia of politics. Oxford University Press.
- Euchner E-M (2019b) Morality politics in a secular age. Springer.
- Euchner E-M (2022) Ruling under a shadow of moral hierarchy: Regulatory intermediaries in the governance of prostitution. *Regulation & Governance* 16(3): 836-857.
- Euchner E-M, Heichel S, Nebel K, et al. (2013) From 'morality' policy to 'normal' policy: Framing of drug consumption and gambling in Germany and the Netherlands and their regulatory consequences. *Journal of European Public Policy* 20(3): 372-389.
- Euchner E-M and Knill C (2015) Prostitution: Sin, unavoidable evil, or recognized profession. In: Knill C, Adam C and Hurka S (eds) *On the road to permissiveness?: Change and convergence of moral regulation in Europe*. Oxford University Press, pp.129-156.
- Euchner E-M and Zeegers N (2022) Indirect moral governance in prostitution policy: How regulators incorporate stigmatized actors in intermediation processes. *Regulation & Governance* 16(3): 801-817.
- EWL (European Women's Lobby) (n.d.) *Together for a Europe free from prostitution*.

 Available at: https://www.womenlobby.org/Together-for-a-Europe-Free-From-Prostitution?lang=en.

- Fairhead J (2011) Introduction part C. In: Coleman S and von Hellerman P (eds) *Multi-sited ethnography. Problems and possibilites in the translocation of research methods.*Routledge.
- Falzon M-A (2009) Multi-sited ethnography: Theory, praxis and locality in contemporary research. Routledge.
- Fanghanel A, Milne E, Zampini GF, et al. (2021) Sex & Crime. SAGE Publications.
- Fassin D (2012) A companion to moral anthropology. Wiley.
- Fassin D and Lézé S (2014) Moral anthropology: A critical reader. Routledge.
- Ferguson J (2011) Novelty and method: Reflections on global fieldwork. In: Coleman S and von Hellerman P (eds) *Multi-sited ethnography. Problems and possibilities in the translocation of research methods.* Routledge, pp.194-207.
- FitzGerald S and Skilbrei M-L (2022) Sexual politics in contemporary Europe: Moving targets, sitting ducks. Springer.
- Fitzgerald SA and McGarry K (eds) (2018) Realising justice for sex workers: An agenda for change. Rowman & Littlefield.
- Fjelkegård L, Franke Björkman K and Patel E (2022) Köp av sexuella tjänster. En uppföljning av lagens tillämpning. Rapport 2022:3. Brottsförebyggande rådet.
- Foley EE (2019) 'The prostitution problem': Insights from Senegal. *Archives of Sexual Behavior* 48(7): 1937-1940.
- Fordham G (2001) Moral panic and the construction of national order: HIV/AIDS risk groups and moral boundaries in the creation of modern Thailand. *Critique of Anthropology* 21(3): 259-316.
- Forsman M and Korsell L (2008) Sexuell människohandel: En fråga om tillgång och efterfrågan. Rapport 2008:24. Brottsförebyggande rådet.
- Frader LL (2008) Breadwinners and citizens: Gender in the making of the French social model. Duke University Press.
- Fuckförbundet (2019) Twenty years of failing sexworkers: A community report on the impact of the 1999 Swedish Sex Purchase Act. Available at: https://www.nswp.org/sites/default/files/20_years_of_failing_sex_workers.pdf.
- Gangoli G and Westmarland N (eds) (2006) International approaches to prostitution: Law and policy in Europe and Asia. Policy Press.
- Gannon S and Sawyer W (2007) 'Whole language' and moral panic in Australia. *International Journal of Progressive Education* 3(2): 30-51.
- García MR, van Voss LH and van Nederveen Meerkerk E (eds) (2017) Selling sex in the city: A global history of prostitution, 1600s-2000s. Brill.
- Garland D (2008) On the concept of moral panic. Crime, Media, Culture 4(1): 9-30.
- Garofalo G (2016) Köpa och sälja sex. Mellan njutning, arbete och utnyttjande. Daidalos.
- Geertz C (1993) The interpretation of culture. Fontana Press.
- Goodale M (2017) Anthropology and law: A critical introduction. NYU Press.

- Goode E and Ben-Yehuda N (2009) *Moral panics: The social construction of deviance.* Wiley.
- Goodyear M and Weitzer R (2011) International trends in the control of sexual services. In: Dewey S and Kelly P (eds) *Policing Pleasure: Sex Work, Policy, and the State in Global Perspective.* New York University Press, pp.16-30.
- Gould A (2001) The criminalisation of buying sex: The politics of prostitution in Sweden. *Journal of Social Policy* 30(3): 437-456.
- Graeber D (2004) Fragments of an anarchist anthropology. Prickly Paradigm Press.
- Green M (2006) International development, social analysis, ... and anthropology?

 Applying anthropology in and to development. In: Pink S (ed) *Applications of anthropology: Professional anthropology in the twenty-first century*. Berghahn Books.
- Gregory S (2006) The devil behind the mirror: Globalization and politics in the Dominican Republic. University of California Press.
- Grohs S (2020) Contested boundaries: The moralization and politicization of prostitution in German cities. *European Urban and Regional Studies* 27(2): 156-170
- Grönvall Y (2024) *The purchase of sex: Perceptions, experiences, and social work practices.* PhD Thesis, Department of Social Work, Malmö University, Sweden.
- Gupta A and Ferguson J (1997) *Culture, power, place: Explorations in critical anthropology.* Duke University Press.
- Göteborgs Tingsrätt (2002) Mål nr B 668-02, 24 September.
- Göteborgs Tingsrätt (2007) Mål nr B 9271-05, 2 February.
- Haak DM (2021) The good governance of empirical evidence about prostitution, sex work, and sex trafficking in constitutional litigation. *Queen's Law Journal* 46: 187-242.
- Hage G (2005) A not so multi-sited ethnography of a not so imagined community. *Anthropological Theory* 5(4): 463-475.
- Hammond N and Kingston S (2014) Experiencing stigma as sex work researchers in professional and personal lives. *Sexualities* 17(3): 329-347.
- Hannerz U (ed) (2001) Flera fält i ett: Socialantropologer om translokala fältstudier. Carlsson.
- Hannerz U (2003) Being there... and there... and there! Reflections on multi-site ethnography. *Ethnography* 4(2): 201-216.
- Harcourt C, O'Connor J, Egger S, et al. (2010) The decriminalisation of prostitution is associated with better coverage of health promotion programs for sex workers. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Public Health 34(5): 482-486.
- Hardy K, Kingston S and Sanders T (eds) (2010) *New sociologies of sex work.* Ashgate Harrington C (2012) Prostitution policy models and feminist knowledge politics in New Zealand and Sweden. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy* 9(4): 337-349.

- Hart HLA (1963) Law, liberty, and morality. Stanford University Press.
- Healy DC, Pickering A and Hati C (2020) Stepping forward into the light of decriminalisation. In: Armstrong L and Abel G (eds) *Sex work and the New Zealand model.* 1 ed.: Bristol University Press, pp.39-60.
- Heckathorn DD (1997) Respondent-driven sampling: A new approach to the study of hidden populations. *Social Problems* 44(2): 174-199.
- Heichel S, Knill C and Schmitt S (2013) Public policy meets morality: Conceptual and theoretical challenges in the analysis of morality policy change. *Journal of European Public Policy* 20(3): 318-334.
- Heintz M (2009) The anthropology of moralities. Berghahn Books.
- Heintz M (2021) *The Anthropology of Morality: A Dynamic and Interactionist Approach.*Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Hier SP (ed) (2011) Moral panic and the politics of anxiety. Routledge.
- Hjelm G, Mattson C and Ånöstam K (2013) Åtta faktafel om prostitution. *Svenska Dagbladet*, 4 April.
- Holmberg S, Hols Salén L, Lennartsson Hartman Y, et al. (2011) Prostitution och människohandel för sexuella ändamål. Slutredovisning av regeringens handlingsplan. Rapport 2011:18. Brottsförebyggande Rådet.
- Holmström C (2015) Förbud mot köp av sexuell tjänst i Sverige. En kunskapsöversikt om avsedda effekter och oavsedda konsekvenser. RFSU.
- Holmström C, Plantin L, Green E, et al. (2020) Sexuell och reproduktiv hälsa och rättigheter för personer som har sex mot ersättning. Faculty of Health and Society, Malmö University, Sweden.
- Holmström C and Skilbrei M-L (2017) The Swedish sex purchase act: Where does it stand. *Oslo Law Review* 4(2): 82-104.
- Holmström C, Skilbrei M-L and Westlund J (2008) *Prostitution i Norden:* Forskningsrapport. Nordiska Ministerrådet.
- Horsley M (2017) Forget 'moral panics'. *Journal of Theoretical & Philosophical Criminology* 9(2): 84 98.
- Howell S (1997) The ethnography of moralities. Routledge.
- Howlett M and Cashore B (2014) Conceptualizing public policy. Palgrave Macmillan UK.
- Hubbard P, Sanders T and Scoular J (2016) Prostitution policy, morality and the precautionary principle. *Drugs and Alcohol Today* 16(3): 194-202.
- Hulusjö A (2013) *The multiplicities of prostitution experience: Narratives about power and resistance.* PhD Thesis, The Faculty of Health and Society, Malmö University, Sweden.
- HRW (Human Rights Watch) (2019) Why sex work should be decriminalized. Questions and answers. 7 August. Available at: https://www.hrw.org/news/2019/08/07/why-sex-work-should-be
 - decriminalized.

- Hunt A (1999) *Governing morals: A social history of moral regulation.* Cambridge University Press.
- Häggström S (2016) *Skuggans lag. En spanares kamp mot prostitutionen.* Kalla kulor. Häggström S (2017) *Nattstad.* Kalla kulor.
- Högsta Domstolen (2001) Straffmätning vid köp av sexuell tjänst. NJA 2001 s. 527. Mål nr B3947-00.
- ILGA (International Lesbian & Gay Association) (2018) Empowering LGBTI sex workers towards the full respect of their human rights. ILGA-Europe position paper, 21 June. www.ilga-europe.org/policy-paper/empowering-lgbti-sex-workers-towards-the-full-respect-of-their-human-rights/.
- Jackson CA, Reed JJ and Brents BG (2017) Strange confluences: Radical feminism and evangelical Christianity as drivers of US neo-abolitionism. In: Ward E and Wylie G (eds) *Feminism, prostitution and the state. The politics of neo-abolitionism.* Routledge, pp.66-85.
- Jahnsen SØ and Wagenaar H (eds) (2018) Assessing prostitution policies in Europe. Routledge.
- Jakobsson P (2008) Mellan lögn och verklighet. Önskemål och behov bland sexarbetare i Finland och Sverige. PRO Tukipiste.
- Jansdotter A (2004) Ansikte mot ansikte: Räddningsarbete bland prostituerade kvinnor i Sverige 1850-1920. Symposion.
- Jareborg N (2001) Allmän kriminalrätt. Iustus.
- Jeffrey LA and MacDonald G (2011) Sex workers in the Maritimes talk back. UBC Press.
- Johansson I (Forthcoming) Criminalized, stigmatized, and intimate: Exploring paid sexual exchanges through the analysis of public attitudes, personal experiences, and policy implications. PhD Thesis, Department of Sociology, Lund University.
- Johansson I and Östergren P (2021) Vem avgör? Om ansvar och brottsförebyggande åtgärder när sexköp är olagligt. In: de Cabo y Moreda A, Holmström C and Kuosmanen J (eds) *Sex mot ersättning: Säljare, köpare, makt och moral.* Studentlitteratur, pp.169-194.
- Johnsdotter S and Mestre RM (2017) 'Female genital mutilation' in Europe: Public discourse versus empirical evidence. *International Journal of Law, Crime and Justice* 51: 14-23.
- Jones D and Sanders T (eds) (2022) Student sex work. International perspectives and implications for policy and practice. Springer International Publishing.
- Kelly P (2008) *Lydia's open door: Inside Mexico's most modern brothel.* University of California Press.
- Kempadoo K (2004) Sexing the Caribbean: Gender, race and sexual labor. Routledge.
- Kempadoo K (2017) Prostitution and sex work studies. In: Essed P, Goldberg DT and Kobayashi A (eds) *A companion to gender studies*. Blackwell, pp.255-265.

- Kempadoo K and Doezema J (eds) (1998) Global sex workers: Rights, resistance, and redefinition. Routledge.
- Kempadoo K, Sanghera J and Pattanaik B (eds) (2015) *Trafficking and prostitution reconsidered: New perspectives on migration, sex work, and human rights.*Routledge.
- Kessler-Harris A (2001) In pursuit of equity: Women, men, and the quest for economic citizenship in 20th-century America. Oxford University Press.
- Kessler-Harris A (2014) A woman's wage: Historical meanings and social consequences. University Press of Kentucky.
- Kilvington J, Day S and Ward H (2001) Prostitution policy in Europe: A time of change? *Feminist Review* 67(1): 78-93.
- Kingdon JW (2011) Agendas, alternatives, and public policies. Longman.
- Kluge S (2000) Empirically grounded construction of types and typologies in qualitative social research. Forum Qualitative Socialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research 1(1).
- Knill C (2013) The study of morality policy: Analytical implications from a public policy perspective. *Journal of European Public Policy* 20(3): 309-317.
- Knill C, Adam C and Hurka S (2015) On the road to permissiveness?: Change and convergence of moral regulation in Europe. Oxford University Press.
- Koch G (2020) *Healing labor: Japanese sex work in the gendered economy.* Stanford University Press.
- Koch G (2021) Twenty-four ways to have sex within the law: Regulation and moral subjectivity in the Japanese sex industry. *Journal of Legal Anthropology* 5(2): 30-49.
- Kommittédirektiv 1993:31 Utredning om prostitutionen i Sverige.
- Kotiswaran P (2011) *Dangerous sex, invisible labor: Sex work and the law in India.* Princeton University Press.
- Krauss M (2011) Migratory birds, migratory scientists, and shifting fields: The political ecology of a northern coastline In: Coleman S and von Hellerman P (eds)

 Multi-sited ethnography: Problems and possibilities in the translocation of research methods. Routledge.
- Kreitzer RJ, Kane KA and Mooney CZ (2019) The evolution of morality policy debate: Moralization and demoralization. *The Forum* 17(1): 3-24.
- Kulick D (1998) *Travesti: Sex, gender, and culture among Brazilian transgendered prostitutes.* University of Chicago Press.
- Kulick D (2003) Sex in the new Europe: The criminalization of clients and Swedish fear of penetration. *Anthropological Theory* 3(2): 199-218.
- Kulick D (2005a) Four hundred thousand Swedish perverts *GLQ: A Journal of Lesbian & Gay Studies* 11(2): 205-235.
- Kulick D (2005b) Queersverige. Natur och Kultur.

- Kulick D and Rydström J (2015) Loneliness and its opposite. Duke University Press.
- Kuosmanen J and de Cabo y Moreda A (2021) Men selling sex to men in Sweden: Balancing safety and risk. *Journal of interpersonal violence* 36(5-6): 2601-2623.
- Kuosmanen J and Starke M (2015) The ideal victims? Women with intellectual disability as victims of prostitution-related crime. *Scandinavian Journal of Disability Research* 17(1): 62-75.
- Laidlaw J (2014) *The subject of virtue: An anthropology of ethics and freedom.* Cambridge University Press.
- Lakkimsetti C (2020) *Legalizing sex: Sexual minorities, AIDS, and citizenship in India.* New York University Press.
- Lancaster RN (2011) Sex panic and the punitive state. University of California Press.
- Langford M and Skilbrei M-L (2021) Branding the Nordic model of prostitution policy. In: Byrkjeflot H, Mjøset L, Mordhorst M, et al. (eds) *The making and circulation of Nordic models, ideas and images.* Routledge, pp.165-191.
- Larsdotter S, Jonsson J and Gäredal M (2011) Osynliga synliga aktörer: Hbt-personer med erfarenhet av att sälja och/eller köpa sexuella tjänster.: RFSL.
- Larsson S (1983) Könshandeln: Om prostituerades villkor. Skeab.
- Latour B (2013) The making of law: An ethnography of the Conseil d'Etat. Polity Press.
- Lauri M, Carbin M and Linander I (2023) The rise of carceral feminism in Sweden: Analysing political debate and policy on men's violence against women. Women's Studies International Forum 99: 102780.
- Le Bail H, Giametta C and Rassouw N (2019) What do sex workers think about the French Prostitution Act? A Study on the Impact of the Law from 13 April 2016 Against the 'Prostitution System' in France. Médecins du Monde.
- Le Drian J-Y and Wallström M (2019) Vi tar kampen mot prostitution. *Svenska Dagbladet*, 8 March.
- Leigh C (1997) Inventing sex work. In: Nagle J (ed) Whores and other feminists. Routledge, pp.225-231.
- Leijonhufvud M (2009) Meningen med sexköpslagen är att avskräcka män från att köpa sex. *Newsmill*, 11 November
- Leijonhufvud M (2011) Straffrätt och straffrättare? i förändring. In: Andersson U, Wong C and Örnemark Hansen H (eds) *Festskrift till Per Ole Träskman*. Norstedts juridik, pp.308-315.
- Lennartsson R (2002) Malaria urbana: Om Anna Johannesdotter och prostitutionen i Stockholm kring 1900. Symposion.
- Lennartsson R (2019) Mamsell Bohmans fall: Nattlöperskor i 1700-talets Stockholm. Kriterium.
- Lernestedt C (2003) Kriminalisering: Problem och principer. Iustus.

- Lernestedt C (2004) Sexualitet är i betraktarens öga? Tendenser i svensk sexualstraffrätt, sedda bl.a. genom ett rättsfall och debatten kring det. *Tidskrift utgiven av Juridiska Föreningen i Finland 3-*4: 398-434.
- Lernestedt C (2010) Finns det grader i helvetet? Om köp (och försäljning) av sex. Nordisk tidsskrift for Kriminalvidenskab 97(3): 466-481.
- Lernestedt C and Hamdorf K (1999-2000) Sexköpskriminaliseringen till skydd av vad?: Del I. *Juridisk Tidskrift*.(4): 846-858.
- Lernestedt C and Hamdorf K (2000-2001) Sexköpskriminaliseringen till skydd av vad?: Del II. *Juridisk Tidskrift*.(1): 111-131.
- Levy J (2015) Criminalising the purchase of sex: Lessons from Sweden. Routledge.
- Levy J (2017) The war on people who use drugs: The harms of Sweden's aim for a drug-free society. Routledge.
- Levy J and Jakobsson P (2014) Sweden's abolitionist discourse and law: Effects on the dynamics of Swedish sex work and on the lives of Sweden's sex workers. Criminology & Criminal Justice 14(5): 593-607.
- Levy-Aronovic S, Lahav-Raz Y and Raz A (2021) Who takes part in the political game? The sex work governance debate in Israel. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy* 18(3): 516-526.
- Liljeström R (1981) Det erotiska kriget. Liber.
- Lindquist J (2013) Beyond anti-anti-trafficking. Dialectical anthropology 37(2): 319-323.
- Lundquist T (1982) Den disciplinerade dubbelmoralen: Studier i den reglementerade prostitutionens historia i Sverige 1859-1918. PhD Thesis, Department of History, Gothenburg University, Sweden.
- Lyon W (2014) Client criminalisation and sex workers' right to health. *Hibernian Law Journal* 13: 58-97.
- MacKinnon CA, Fairley M, Waltman M, et al. (2011) A response to: Prohibition against purchase of sexual service. An evaluation 1999-2008 (SOU 2010:49).
- Macon C, Tai E and Lane S (2023) *Understanding Health and Care Among Sex Workers:*Perspectives From Rhode Island. Springer International Publishing.
- Mahdavi P (2011) *Gridlock: Labor, migration, and human trafficking in Dubai.* Stanford University Press.
- Mai N, Macioti PG, Bennachie C, et al. (2021) Migration, sex work and trafficking: The racialized bordering politics of sexual humanitarianism. *Ethnic & Racial Studies* 44(9): 1607-1628.
- Marcus GE (1995) Ethnography in/of the world system: The emergence of multi-sited ethnography. *Annual Review of Anthropology* 24: 95-117.
- Marcus GE and Fischer MMJ (1986) Anthropology as cultural critique: An experimental moment in the human sciences. University of Chicago Press.
- Márquez Porras R (2021) A call for ethnographying the judiciary (beyond the courtroom). *The Journal of Legal Pluralism and Unofficial Law* 53(3): 419-423.

- Marradi A (1990) Classification, typology, taxonomy. *Quality & Quantity* 24(2): 129-157.
- Marvin G (2006) Research, representations and responsibilites. An anthropologist in the contested world of foxhunting. In: Pink S (ed) *Applications of anthropology:*Professional anthropology in the twenty-first century. Berghahn Books, pp.191-208.
- Mattingly C and Throop J (2018) The anthropology of ethics and morality. *Annual Review of Anthropology* 47: 475-492.
- Mattson G (2015) The cultural politics of European prostitution reform: Governing loose women. Palgrave Macmillan.
- McBride B, Shannon K, Murphy A, et al. (2021) Harms of third party criminalisation under end-demand legislation: Undermining sex workers' safety and rights. *Culture, Health & Sexuality* 23(9): 1165-1181.
- McGarry K and FitzGerald SA (2019) The politics of injustice: Sex-working women, feminism and criminalizing sex purchase in Ireland. *Criminology & Criminal Justice* 19(1): 62-79.
- McMenzie L, Cook IR and Laing M (2019) Criminological policy mobilities and sex work: Understanding the movement of the 'Swedish model' to Northern Ireland. *The British journal of criminology* 59(5): 1199-1216.
- Meier KJ (1994) The politics of sin: Drugs, alcohol and public policy. ME Sharpe.
- Meier KJ (1999) Drugs, sex, rock, and roll: A theory of morality politics. *Policy Studies Journal* 27(4): 681-695.
- Merry SE (2006a) Human rights and gender violence: Translating international law into local justice. University of Chicago Press.
- Merry SE (2006b) New legal realism and the ethnography of transnational law. *Law & Social Inquiry* 31(4): 975-995.
- Merry SE (2016) The seductions of quantification. University of Chicago Press.
- Messing U and Wallström M (1999) Unik chans att stoppa sexhandeln. *Aftonbladet*, 1 January.
- Minkenberg M (2002) Religion and public policy: Institutional, cultural, and political impact on the shaping of abortion policies in Western democracies.

 Comparative political studies 35(2): 221-247.
- Molland S (2019) What happened to sex trafficking? The new moral panic of men, boys and fish in the Mekong region. *Sojourn: Journal of Social Issues in Southeast Asia* 34(2): 397-424.
- Mooney CZ (1999) The politics of morality policy: Symposium editor's introduction. *Policy Studies Journal* 27(4): 675-680.
- Mooney CZ (2000) The decline of federalism and the rise of morality-policy conflict in the United States. *Publius: The Journal of Federalism* 30(1): 171-188.

- Mooney CZ (2001) *The public clash of private values: The politics of morality policy.* Chatham House Publishers of Seven Bridges Press.
- Mooney CZ and Lee M-H (1995) Legislative morality in the American states: The case of pre-Roe abortion regulation reform. *American Journal of Political Science* 39(3): 599-627.
- Mooney CZ and Schuldt RG (2008) Does morality policy exist? Testing a basic assumption. *Policy Studies Journal* 36(2): 199-218.
- Moore SF (1972) Law and social change: The semi-autonomous social field as an appropriate subject of study. *Law & Society Review* 7: 719-746.
- Moore SF (2005) Comparisons: Possible and impossible. *Annual Review of Anthropology* 34(1): 1-11.
- Moore SF (2016) Comparing impossibilities: Selected essays of Sally Falk Moore. Hau Books.
- Moran R (2013) Paid for: My journey through prostitution. Gill & Macmillan.
- Moran R and Farley M (2019) Consent, coercion, and culpability: Is prostitution stigmatized work or an exploitive and violent practice rooted in sex, race, and class inequality? *Archives of Sexual Behavior* 48(7): 1947-1953.
- Mourão Permoser J (2019) What are morality policies? The politics of values in a post-secular world. *Political Studies Review* 17(3): 310-325.
- Mucciaroni G (2011) Are debates about 'morality policy' really about morality? Framing opposition to gay and lesbian rights. *Policy Studies Journal* 39(2): 187-216.
- Mujaj E and Netscher A (2015) *Prostitutionen i Sverige 2014. En omfattningskartläggning.* Länsstyrelsen i Stockholms Län.
- Munro V and Giusta MD (eds) (2008) Demanding sex: Critical reflections on the regulation of prostitution. Ashgate.
- Månsson S-A (1981) Könshandelns främjare och profitörer: Om förhållandet mellan hallick och prostituerad. Doxa.
- Månsson S-A (2017) The history and rationale of Swedish prostitution policies. *Dignity:* A Journal of Analysis of Exploitation and Violence 2(4): 1-16.
- Månsson S-A and Westerstrand J (2009) Anmälan om oredighet i forskning. *Socialpolitik*, 9 May.
- Nader L (1972) Up the anthropologist: Perspectives from studying up. In: Hymes DH (ed) *Reinventing Anthropology*. Pantheon Books.
- Nader L (1979) Disputing without the force of law. *The Yale Law Journal* 88(5): 998-1021.
- Nader L (1980a) No access to law: Alternatives to the American judicial system. Academic Press.
- Nader L (1980b) The vertical slice: Hierarchies and children. In: Britan GM and Cohen R (eds) *Hierarchy and Society: Anthropological Perspectives on Bureaucracy.* ISHI Press.

- Nader L (2002) Moving on: Comprehending anthropologies of law. In: Starr J and Goodale M (eds) *Practicing ethnography in law. New dialogues, enduring methods*. Palgrave MacMillian, pp.190-202.
- Nagle J (1997) Whores and other feminists. Routledge.
- Nebel K and Hurka S (2015) Abortion: Finding the impossible compromise. In: Knill C, Adam C and Hurka S (eds) *On the road to permissiveness*. Oxford Press, pp.58-78.
- NSWP (Global Network of Sex Work Projects) (2018) The impact of 'End Demand' legislation on women sex workers. Available at: https://www.nswp.org/resource/nswp-policy-briefs/policy-brief-the-impact-end-demand-legislation-women-sex-workers.
- Nussbaum MC (2004) *Hiding from humanity: Disgust, shame, and the law.* Princeton University Press.
- Näringsdepartementet (2004) Faktablad: Prostitution och handel med kvinnor. Jämställdhetsenheten, Regeringskansliet.
- Ohlsson B (2002) Slaget om våra tankar. Moderna Tider, March.
- Olivar JMN and Farias N (2021) 'Sexual exploitation' as logic, and its effects of power in contemporary Brazil. *Social Sciences* 10(2): 1-19.
- Oliveira A, Lemos A, Mota M, et al. (2023) Understanding the impact of EU prostitution policies on sex workers: A mixed study systematic review. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy* 20(4): 1448-1468.
- Olsson N (2007) När prostitutionen flyttade in i vardagsrummet: En kartläggning kring hur Internet används för att erbjuda/marknadsföra sexuella tjänster i Skåne/Öresundsregionen och som ger en bild av ungdomars attityder till och erfarenheter av fenomenet. Prostitutionsenheten, Stadsdelsförvaltningen Centrum, Malmöstad.
- Olsson N (2010) Handlar det om val? Sexhandel via community, chatt och portal: en rapport kring försäljning och köp av sexuella tjänster via Internets olika kontaktformer samt ungas användning av webcam i sexuella sammanhang. Sociala resursförvaltningen, Malmö Stad.
- Olsson N (2021) Crime, punishment, and counselling: A study of the local judicial and social work application of prostitution policy in Sweden. PhD Thesis, Department of Social Work, Gothenburg University, Sweden.
- Olwig KF and Hastrup K (1997) *Siting culture: The shifting anthropological object.* Routledge.
- Oscarsson, M and Enochson, A (2010) *Livshjälp, inte dödshjälp,* Riksdagsmotion 2010/11:So463.
- Outshoorn J (ed) (2004) The politics of prostitution: Women's movements, democratic states and the globalisation of sex commerce. Cambridge University Press.

- Outshoorn J (2005) The political debates on prostitution and trafficking of women. *Social politics: International studies in gender, state and society* 12(1): 141-155.
- Outshoorn J (2019) Review: Ward, Eilís and Gillian Wylie (eds.), Feminism, Prostitution and the state. The politics of neo-abolitionism. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy* 16(2): 251-253.
- Oxford English Dictionary (OED) (2024a) sex work, n. Oxford University Press.
- Oxford English Dictionary (OED) (2024b) sex worker, n. Oxford University Press.
- Pascalau P (2018) Den olustiga lustan och lagen: Kriminaliseringarna av sexköp och koppleri under straffrättslig lupp. Master's Thesis, Department of Law, Stockholm University, Sweden.
- Payne E (2024) *Empire of purity: The history of Americans' global war on prostitution.*Princeton University Press.
- Perkins R, Prestage G, Sharp R, et al. (eds) (1994) Sex work & sex workers in Australia. UNSW Press.
- Persson LGW (1981) Horor, hallickar och torskar. En bok om prostitutionen i Sverige. Norstedt.
- Pheterson G (1996) The prostitution prism. Amsterdam University Press.
- Phoenix J (ed) (2009) Regulating sex for sale: Prostitution policy reform in the UK. Policy Press.
- Pierce PA and Miller DE (1999) Variations in the diffusion of state lottery adoptions: How revenue dedication changes morality. *Policy Studies Journal* 27(4): 696-706.
- Pirie F (2014) The anthropology of law. Oxford University Press.
- Platt L, Grenfell P, Meiksin R, et al. (2018) Associations between sex work laws and sex workers' health: A systematic review and meta-analysis of quantitative and qualitative studies. *PLoS medicine* 15(12): e1002680.
- Pliley JR, Kramm R and Fischer-Tiné H (eds) (2016) *Global anti-vice activism, 1890-1950: Fighting drinks, drugs, and 'immorality'*. Cambridge University Press.
- Pottage A and Mundy M (2004) Law, anthropology, and the constitution of the social: Making persons and things. Cambridge University Press.
- Prieur A (1998) Mema's house, Mexico City: On transvestites, queens, and machos. University of Chicago Press.
- Rabo A (1997) Free to make the right choice? In: Shore C and Wright S (eds)

 Anthropology of Policy: Perspectives on Governance and Power. Routledge, pp.83103.
- Rand H and Simpson J (2023) Sex work politics and consent: The Consequences of sexual morality. In: James-Hawkins L and Ryan-Flood R (eds) *Consent. gender, power and subjectivity*. Taylor and Francis, pp.279-292.
- Ratecka A (2023) Sex work policy in Poland and its impact on the lived experience of sex workers. *Politička misao: časopis za politologiju* 60(4): 35-60.

Raymond JG (2004) Prostitution on demand. Violence Against Women 10(10): 1156-1186.

Razif NHM (2022) Between intention and implementation: Recent legal reforms on child marriage in contemporary Malaysia. *Journal of Legal Anthropology* 6(1): 1-23.

Regeringens proposition (RP) 1981/82:187 Om vissa åtgärder mot prostitutionen.

Regeringens proposition (RP) 1997/98:55 Kvinnofrid.

Regeringens proposition (RP) 2004/05:45 En ny sexualbrottslagstiftning.

Regeringens proposition (RP) 2021/22:231 Skärpt syn på våldtäkt och andra kränkningar.

Regeringens proposition (RP) 2004/05:45 En ny sexualbrottslagstiftning.

Regeringens proposition (RP) 2005/06:60 Nationella strategin mot hiv/aids och vissa andra smittsamma sjukdomar.

Regeringens proposition (RP) 2010/11:77 Skärpt straff för köp av sexuell tjänst.

Regeringens proposition (RP) 2017/18:123 Det straffrättsliga skyddet mot människohandel och människoexploatering.

Regeringens proposition (RP) 2017/18:177 En ny sexualbrottslagstiftning byggd på frivillighet.

Regeringens proposition (RP) 2021/22:224 Utvisning på grund av brott – ett skärpt regelverk.

Regeringens proposition (RP) 2021/22:231 Skärpt syn på våldtäkt och andra sexuella kränkningar.

Regeringens skrivelse 2007/08:167 Handlingsplan mot prostitution och människohandel för sexuella ändamål.

Regnér Å and Wallström M (2016a) Vi måste lära fler länder om vår sexköpslag. Expressen, 23 April.

Regnér Å and Wallström M (2016b) Ny ambassadör ska arbeta mot människohandel. *Dagens Nyheter*, 4 May.

Regnér Å, Wallström M and Sunesson P-Å (2016) Varning för 'sex workers'-lobbyn. *Dagens Arena*, 18 October.

Riksdagens protokoll 1985/86:130, Anf. 118, M. Persson.

Riksdagens protokoll 1997/98:115, 29 May.

Riksdagens protokoll 2010/11:10, 12 May.

Riksdagsskrivelse 2010/11:251.

Riksdagsskrivelse 2017/18:303.

Riksdagsskrivelse 2021/22:433.

Roberts S (1998) Against legal pluralism. *The Journal of Legal Pluralism and Unofficial Law* 30(42): 95-106.

Rottier J (2018) Decriminalization of sex work: The New Zealand model: An analysis of the integrative sex industry policy in New Zealand (Aotearoa). Eleven International Publishing.

- Rubin G (1992) Thinking sex: Notes for a radical theory of the politics of sexuality. In Vance CS (ed) *Pleasure and danger: Exploring female sexuality.* Pandora pp.267-319.
- Runcis M (1998) Steriliseringar i folkhemmet. Ordfront.
- Rung N (2017) Därför ska vi vara stolta över vår sexköpslag. Metro, 21 March.
- Rydström H (2003) *Embodying morality: Growing up in rural northern Vietnam*. University of Hawai'i Press.
- Rydström H (2009) Moralizing sexuality: Young women in rurual Vietnam. In: Heintz M (ed) *Rethinking morality in anthropology*. Berghahn, p.118-36.
- Rydström H (2023) Gendering morality and providing a feminized ethics of care. Welfare, crises, and tinh cam in contamporary Vietnam. *HAU Journal of Ethnographic Theory* (13)3: 587-600.
- Rydström J (2003) Sinners and citizens: Bestiality and homosexuality in Sweden, 1880-1950. University of Chicago Press.
- Rydström J (2021) Sexarbetarrörelser, sexarbetares organisering och samhällelig respons. In: de Cabo y Moreda A, Holmström C and Kuosmanen J (eds) *Sex mot ersättning. Säljare, köpare, makt och moral.* Studentlitteratur, pp.37-64.
- Sahlin M (1995) Bara köparna är brottslingar. Expressen, 16 March.
- Sahlin M (2004) Sexistisk reklam kan förbjudas i lag. Dagens Nyheter, 7 February.
- Sanders T, O'Neill M and Pitcher J (2009) *Prostitution: Sex work, policy and politics.* Sage.
- Scaramuzzino G (2014) Sexsäljares och sexköpares kollektiva handlande på internet: En svensk 'fuckförening'?, PhD Thesis, Department of Social Work, Linnaeus University, Växjo, Sweden.
- Scaramuzzino G and Scaramuzzino R (2015) Sex workers' rights movement and the EU: Challenging the new European prostitution policy model. In: Johansson H and Kalm S (eds) *EU civil society: Patterns of cooperation, competition and conflict.*London: Palgrave Macmillan UK, pp.137-154.
- Scaramuzzino G and Scaramuzzino R (2019) Questioning the Swedish model or exporting It? Identity Europeanization in the prostitution policy field. In: Meeuwisse A and Scaramuzzino R (eds) Europeanization in Sweden:

 Opportunities and challenges for civil society organizations. Berghahn Books, pp.209-229.
- Schur EM (1965) Crimes without victims: Deviant behavior and public policy: Abortion, homosexuality, drug addiction. Prentice-Hall.
- Scott JG (2005) How modern governments made prostitution a social problem: Creating a responsible prostitute population. Edwin Mellen Press.
- Scoular J (2004) Current developments: Criminalising 'punters': Evaluating the Swedish position on prostitution. *Journal of Social Welfare and Family Law* 26(2): 195-210.

- Scoular J (2010) What's law got to do with it: How and why law matters in the regulation of sex work. *Journal of Law and Society* 37(1): 12-39.
- Scoular J (2015) The subject of prostitution. Sex work, law and social theory. Routledge.
- Scoular J and O'Neill M (2007) Regulating prostitution: Social inclusion, responsibilization and the politics of prostitution reform. *The British Journal of Criminology* 47(5): 764-778.
- Sexual humanitarianism: Migration, sex work and trafficking (Sexhum) (2020) Sexual Humanitarianism: Understanding agency and exploitation in the global sex industry. Sexhum policy report. ERC European Research Council CoG-2015 68245. Available at: https://sexhum.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/SEXHUM-Policymaking-Report-Final-2.pdf.
- Shaver FM (2005) Sex work research: Methodological and ethical challenges. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 20(3): 296-319.
- Shore C and Wright S (eds) (1997) *Anthropology of policy: Critical perspectives on governance and power.* Routledge.
- Shore C, Wright S and Però D (eds) (2011) *Policy worlds: Anthropology and the analysis of contemporary power.* Berghahn Books.
- Showden CR (2020) The future of feminism and sex work activism in New Zealand. In: Armstrong L and Abel G (eds) *Sex work and the New Zealand model.* Bristol University Press, pp.61-86.
- Showden CR and Majic S (eds) (2014) *Negotiating sex work: Unintended consequences of policy and activism.* University of Minnesota Press.
- Shweder RA and Menon U (2014) Old questions for the new anthropology of morality: A commentary. *Anthropological Theory* 14(3): 356-370.
- Skarhed, A (2010) Presskonferens, Regeringskansliet. 3 June. Available at: https://rwww.regeringen.se/sb/d/133301/a/149143 (accessed 15 June 2010).
- Skilbrei M-L (2019) Assessing the power of prostitution policies to shift markets, attitudes, and ideologies. *Annual Review of Criminology* 2(1): 493-508.
- Skilbrei M-L and Holmström C (2016) *Prostitution policy in the Nordic region: Ambiguous sympathies.* Routledge.
- Skilbrei ML and Spanger M (eds) (2018) *Understanding sex for sale: Meanings and moralities of sexual commerce.* Taylor & Francis.
- Smith TA and Tatalovich R (2003) *Cultures at war: Moral conflicts in Western democracies.*University of Toronto Press.
- Snitow AB, Stansell C and Thompson S (1983) *Powers of desire.* New York University Press.
- Socialstyrelsen (2000) Kännedom om prostitution 1998-1999.
- Socialstyrelsen (2004) Kännedom om prostitution 2003.
- Socialstyrelsen (2007) Kännedom om prostitution 2007.

- SOU 1976:9 Sexuella övergrepp. Förslag till ny lydelse av brottsbalkens bestämmelser om sedlighetsbrott angivet av sexualbrottsutredningen. Betänkande angivet av Sexualbrottsutredningen.
- SOU 1981:71 *Prostitutionen i Sverige: Bakgrund och åtgärder.* Betänkande av Prostitutionsutredningen.
- SOU 1982:61 *Våldtäkt och andra sexuella övergrepp*. Betänkande av Sexualbrottsutredningen.
- SOU 1995:15 Könshandeln. Betänkande av 1993 års prostitutionsutredning.
- SOU 1995:16 Socialt arbete mot prostitution: En dokumentation och utvärdering. Rapport för 1993 års prostitutionsutredning.
- SOU 1995:17 *Homosexuell prostitution: En kunskapsinventering*. Rapport för 1993 års prostitutionsutredning.
- SOU 1995:60 Kvinnofrid. Huvudbetänkande av Kvinnovåldskommissionen.
- SOU 2001:14 Sexualbrotten Ett ökat skydd för den sexuella integriteten och angränsande frågor. Betänkande av utredningen om sexualbrotten.
- SOU 2010:49 Förbud mot köp av sexuell tjänst. En utvärdering 1999-2008. Betänkande av utredningen om utvärderingen av förbudet mot köp av sexuell tjänst.
- SOU 2013:38 *Vad bör straffas? Del I-II*. Betänkande av Straffrättsanvändningsutredningen.
- SOU 2016:42 Ett starkt straffrättsligt skydd mot köp av sexuell tjänst och utnyttjande av barn genom köp av sexuell handling, m.m. Delbetänkande av 2014 års människohandelsutredning.
- SOU 2016:60 Ett starkare skydd för den sexuella integriteten. Delbetänkande av 2014 års människohandelsutredning.
- SOU 2016:70 Ett starkt straffrättsligt skydd mot människohandel och annat utnyttjande av utsatta personer. Slutbetänkande av 2014 års människohandelsutredning.
- SOU 2021:43 Ett förstärkt skydd mot sexuella kränkningar. Betänkande av 2020 års sexualbrottsutredning.
- Socialdepartementet (2017) Tal av jämställdhetsminister vid FN:s säkerhetsråd, New York. Regeringskansliet, 17 March. Available at: https://www.regeringen.se/contentassets/ab040c8e7bb74fd8ab0e4f55b51be07c/barn--aldre--och-jamstalldhetsminister-asa-regner-tal-2014-2019.pdf
- Stardust Z, Treloar C, Cama E, et al. (2021) 'I wouldn't call the cops if I was being bashed to death': Sex work, whore stigma and the criminal legal system.

 International Journal for Crime, Justice and Social Democracy 10(3): 142-157.
- Starr J and Collier JF (eds) (1989) *History and power in the study of law: New directions in legal anthropology.* Cornell University Press.
- Stewart C (2014) Name, shame and blame: Criminalising consensual sex in Papua New Guinea. ANU Press.

- Studlar DT (2008) US tobacco control: Public health, political economy, or morality policy? *Review of Policy Research* 25(5): 393-410.
- Studlar DT and Burns GJ (2015) Toward the permissive society? Morality policy agendas and policy directions in Western democracies. *Policy Sciences* 48(3): 273-291.
- Svanström Y (2004) Criminalising the john: A Swedish gender model? In: Outshoorn J (ed) *The politics of prostitution: women's movements, democratic states and the globalisation of sex commerce.* Cambridge Press, pp.225-244.
- Svanström Y (2005) Through the prism of prostitution: Conceptions of women and sexuality in Sweden at two fins-de-siècle. *NORA-Nordic Journal of Feminist and Gender Research* 13(1): 48-58.
- Svanström Y (2006a) Offentliga kvinnor: Prostitution i Sverige 1812-1918. Ordfront.
- Svanström Y (2006b) Prostitution as vagrancy: Sweden 1923–1964. *Journal of Scandinavian Studies in Criminology and Crime Prevention* 7(2): 142-163.
- Svanström Y (2006c) Prostitution in Sweden: Debates and policies 1980-2004. In: Gangoli G and Westmarland N (eds) *International approaches to prostitution:* Law and Policy in Europe and Asia. Policy Press, pp.67-90.
- Svanström Y (2017a) From contested to consensus: Swedish politics on prostitution and trafficking. In: Ward E and Wylie G (eds) *Feminism, prostitution and the state*. Routledge, pp.29-45.
- Svanström Y (2017b) Prostitution in Stockholm: Continuity and change. In: García MR, van Voss LH and van Nederveen Meerkerk E (eds) *Selling sex in the city: A global history of prostitution, 1600s-2000s*. Brill, pp.201-229.
- Svanström Y (2022) Prostitution as non-labour leading to forced labour. Vagrancy and Gender in Sweden and Stockholm, 1919–1939. *European Review of History:* Revue européenne d'histoire 29(2): 145-169.
- Svedin CG, Jonsson L, Kjellgren C, et al. (2012) Prostitution i Sverige: Kartläggning och utvärdering av prostitutionsgruppernas insatser samt erfarenheter och attityder i befolkningen. Huvudrapport. Linköping University Press.
- Sveriges Radio (2010) Ask förklarar uttalandet om grälla kuvert. Ekot. 25 March.
- Sveriges Radio (2015) Forskargrupp om trafficking ifrågasatt. P1 Morgon. 20 May.
- Söderblom T (1992) Horan och batongen: Prostitution och repression i folkhemmet. Gidlund.
- Terwiel A (2020) What is carceral feminism? Political Theory 48(4): 421-442.
- The Local (2015) Sweden asks Amnesty to study its sex legislation. 20 August.
- Thiemann I and Shamir H (2022) A social-legal analysis of reforms in the regulation of sex work: The case study of end demand legislation in Israel. *International Journal of Gender, Sexuality and Law* 2(1): 19-47.
- Tremblay F (2021) Labouring in the sex industry: A conversation with sex workers on consent and exploitation. *Social Sciences* 10(3): 86.

- Träskman P-O (1998) Går det att tygla lustan: Om straffbar pornografi, pedofili och prostitution. *Tidskrift utgiven av Juridiska Föreningen i Finland* 134(34): 352-373.
- Träskman P-O (2005) Den som betalar för sex är en brottsling. Om den svenska kriminaliseringen av sexköp som ett medel för att motverka prostitutionen. *Nordisk tidsskrift for Kriminalvidenskab* 92(1): 73-92.
- Träskman P-O (2009a) Sexuella och andra (farliga) förbindelser samt försök därtill: Legalitetsprincipen och köp av sexuell tjänst. In: Heuman L, Leijonhufvud M and Norée A (eds) *Festskrift till Suzanne Wennberg*. Nordstedts juridik, pp.383-410.
- Träskman P-O (2009b) Purchase of a sexual service A lawful private delight or an offence? A study of criminal legislation in the Nordic countries. *Scandinavian Studies in Law (Criminal law)* 54: 289-306.
- Tuori K (2002) Critical legal positivism. Ashgate.
- Ulväng M (2009) Vem dömer? En text om straffrättens roller och funktioner. In: Asp P, Lernestedt C and Ulväng M (eds) *Katedralen: Tre texter om straffrätt* Iustus, pp.11-48.
- UNAIDS (Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS) (2012) *Guidance note on HIV and sex work*. Geneva: UNAIDS. Available at: https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/sub_landing/JC2306_UNAIDS-guidance-note-HIV-sex-work_en.pdf.
- UNDP (Global Commission on HIV and the Law) (2012) HIV and the law: Risk, rights and health. New York: Bureau for Development Policy. Available at: https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/zskgke326/files/publications/Commissions %20report%20final-EN.pdf.
- Valentine D (2007) *Imagining transgender: An ethnography of a category.* Duke University Press.
- Vance CS (1992a) More danger, more pleasure: A decade after the Barnard sexuality conference. In Vance CS (ed) *Pleasure and danger: Exploring female sexuality.* Pandora.
- Vance CS (1992b) Pleasure and danger: Toward a politics in sexuality. In Vance CS (ed) *Pleasure and danger: Exploring female sexuality.* Pandora, pp.1-27.
- Vance CS (2012) Innocence and experience: Melodramatic narratives of sex trafficking and their consequences for law and policy. *History of the Present* 2(2): 200-218.
- Vanwesenbeeck I (2017) Sex work criminalization is barking up the wrong tree. *Archives of Sexual Behavior* 46(6): 1631-1640.
- Vijayakumar G (2021) *At risk: Indian sexual politics and the global AIDS crisis.* Stanford University Press.

- von Benda-Beckmann F (2008) Riding or killing the centaur? Reflections on the identities of legal anthropology. *International Journal of Law in Context* 4(2): 85-110.
- Vuolajärvi N (2019) Governing in the name of caring. The Nordic model of prostitution and its punitive consequences for migrants who sell sex. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy* 16(2): 151-165.
- Världen idag (2015) Amnesty ställer sig på maffians sida. 14 August.
- Waddington PA (1986) Mugging as a moral panic: A question of proportion. *British Journal of Sociology*. 245-259.
- Wagenaar H (2017) Why prostitution policy (usually) fails and what to do about it? *Social Sciences* 6(2).
- Wagenaar H (2018) Introduction: Prostitution policy in Europe—an overview. In: Jahnsen SØ and Wagenaar H (eds) Assessing prostitution policies in Europe. Routledge, pp.1-28.
- Wagenaar H and Altink S (2012) Prostitution as morality politics or why it is exceedingly difficult to design and sustain effective prostitution policy. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy* 9(3): 279-292.
- Wagenaar H, Altink S and Amesberger H (2013) Final report of the international comparative study of prostitution policy: Austria and the Netherlands. Platform.
- Wagenaar H, Altink S and Amesberger H (2017) *Designing prostitution policy: Intention and reality in regulating the sex trade.* Policy Press.
- Waltman M (2011) Sweden's prohibition of purchase of sex: The law's reasons, impact, and potential. *Women's Studies International Forum* 34(5): 449-474.
- Waltman M (2021) Pornography: The politics of legal challenges. Oxford University Press.
- Ward E and Wylie G (2014) 'Reflexivities of discomfort': Researching the sex trade and sex trafficking in Ireland. *European Journal of Women's Studies* 21(3): 251-263.
- Ward E and Wylie G (eds) (2017) Feminism, prostitution and the state: The politics of neo-abolitionism. Routledge.
- Ward E and Wylie G (2017) Introduction. In: Ward E and Wylie G (eds) *Feminism*, prostitution and the state: The politics of neo-abolitionism. Routledge, pp.1-11.
- Wardlow H (2006) Wayward women: Sexuality and agency in a New Guinea society. University of California Press.
- Weeks J (1989) Sex, politics and society: The regulation of sexuality since 1800. Routledge.
- Weissköppel C (2009) Traversing cultural sites: Doing ethnography among Sudanese migrants in Germany. In: Falzon M-A (ed) *Multi-sited ethnography: Theory, praxis and locality in contemporary research.* Routledge, pp.251-270.
- Weitzer R (2009) Sociology of sex work. Annual review of sociology 35: 213-234.
- Weitzer R (2012) Legalizing prostitution: From illicit vice to lawful business. New York University Press.

- Weitzer R (2015) Researching prostitution and sex trafficking comparatively. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy* 12: 81-91.
- Weitzer R (ed) (2022) Sex for sale: Prostitution, pornography, and erotic dancing. Routledge.
- Westerstrand J (2008) Mellan mäns händer. Kvinnors rättssubjektivitet, internationell rätt och diskurser om prostitution och trafficking. PhD Thesis, The Department of Law, Uppsala University.
- WHO (World Health Organization), UNPF (United Nations Population Fund), UNAIDS (Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS), NSWP (Global Network of Sex Work Projects) and the World Bank (2013) *Implementing comprehensive HIV/STI programmes with sex workers: Practical approaches from collaborative interventions*. Geneva: WHO. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241506182.
- Wiley TG (2015) Language policy and planning in education. In: Wright WE, Boun S and Garcí O (eds) *The handbook of bilingual and multilingual education*. Wiley Blackwell pp.164-184.
- Wilkins LT (1964) Social deviance: Social policy, action and research. Tavistock.
- Williams EL (2011) Moral Panic. Sex tourism, trafficking and the limits of transnational tourism in Bahia. In: Dewey S and Kelly P (eds) *Policing pleasure: Sex work, policy, and the State in global perspective*. New York University Press, pp.189-200.
- Williams EL (2013) Sex tourism in Bahia: Ambiguous entanglements. University of Illinois Press.
- Wilson A (2004) The intimate economies of Bangkok: Tomboys, tycoons, and avon ladies in the global city. University of California Press.
- Winberg M (2008) Lärarinna i politikens hårda skola. Bonnier.
- Wright S (2011) Studying policy: Methods, paradigms, perspectives. In: Shore C, Wright S and Pero D (eds) *Policy worlds: Anthropology and the analysis of contemporary power*. Berghahn Books pp.27-31.
- Wright S and Reinhold S (2011) 'Studying through': A strategy for studying political transformation. Or sex, lies and British politics. In: Shore C, Wright S and Pero D (eds) *Policy worlds: Anthropology and the analysis of contemporary power*. Berghahn Books, pp.86-104.
- Yanow D (2011) A policy ethnographer's reading of policy anthropology. In: Shore C, Wright S and Pero D (eds) *Policy worlds: Anthropology and the analysis of contemporary power*. Berghahn Books, pp.313-314.
- Young J (1971) The drugtakers: The social meaning of drug use. Paladin.
- Yttergren Å and Westerstrand J (2016) The Swedish legal approach to prostitution.

 Trends and tendencies in the prostitution debate. NORA Nordic Journal of Feminist and Gender Research 24(1): 45-55.

- Zheng T (2009) Red lights: The lives of sex workers in postsocialist China. University of Minnesota Press.
- Zheng T (2013) Ethical research in a fraught environment. In: Dewey S and Zheng T Ethical research with sex workers: Anthropological approaches. Springer, pp. 38-55.
- Zigon J (2008) Morality. An anthropological perspective. Berg Publishers.
- Åsman S (2009) The moral order and worries about trafficking in Nepal. *Pakistan Journal of Women's Studies* 16(1-2): 207-211.
- Åsman S (2018) Bombay going: Nepali migrant sex workers in an anti-trafficking era. Rowman & Littlefield.
- Östergren P (1999) Västerländska tankedrag som påverkat den svenska sexköpslagens förarbeten. Bachelor's Thesis, Department of Social Anthropology, Stockholm University, Sweden.
- Östergren P (2000) Varför får man inte handla med sex? Expressen, 19 October.
- Östergren P (2003) Synden ideologiserad: Modern svensk prostitutionspolicy som identitetsoch trygghetsskapare. Master's Thesis, Department of Social Anthropology, Stockholm University, Sweden.
- Östergren P (2004) Farlig hetsjakt på sexköpare. Expressen, 28 September.
- Östergren P (2006) Porr, horor och feminister. Natur och kultur.
- Östergren P (2007) Lyssna på sexsäljarna! Aftonbladet, 14 January.
- Östergren P (2010) Att förstå prostitution. In: Lundberg PO and Löfgren-Mårtenson L (eds) *Sexologi*. Liber, pp.192-197.
- Östergren P (2017a) From zero tolerance to full integration: Rethinking prostitution policies. Working paper 10. DemandAT. FP7 Framework Programme for Research of the European Union Collaborative project Activity 8.5 17 June
- Östergren P (2017b) Preventing exploitation and trafficking in the sex work sector.

 European policy brief. DemandAT. FP7 Framework Programme for Research of the European Union Collaborative project Activity 8.5 June 17.
- Östergren P (2018) Sweden. In: Jahnsen SØ and Wagenaar H (eds) Assessing prostitution policies in Europe. Routledge, pp.169-184.
- Östergren P (2020) From zero tolerance to full integration: Rethinking prostitution policies. In: Davy Z, Santos AC, Bertone C, et al. (eds) *The SAGE handbook of global sexualities*. SAGE Publications, pp.569-599.

Publikationer från Sociologiska institutionen Lunds universitet

Beställning och aktuella priser på: bokshop.lu.se Böckerna levereras mot faktura eller kortbetalning.

Lund Dissertations in Sociology (ISSN 1102-4712)

- 13 Neergaard, Anders Grasping the Peripheral State: A Historical Sociology of Nicaraguan State Formation 401 sidor ISBN 91-89078-00-4 (1997)
- 14 Jannisa, Gudmund The Crocodile's Tears: East Timor in the Making 328 sidor ISBN 91-89078-02-0 (1997)
- 15 Naranjo, Eduardo *Den auktoritära staten och ekonomisk utveckling i Chile: Jordbruket under militärregimen 1973–1981* 429 sidor ISBN 91-89078-03-9 (1997)
- 16 Wangel, Arne Safety Politics and Risk Perceptions in Malaysian Industry 404 sidor ISBN 91-89078-06-3 (1997)
- 17 Jönhill, Jan Inge Samhället som system och dess ekologiska omvärld: En studie i Niklas Luhmanns sociologiska systemteori 521 sidor ISBN 91-89078-09-8 (1997)
- 18 Lindquist, Per *Det klyvbara ämnet: Diskursiva ordningar i svensk kärnkraftspolitik* 1972–1980 445 sidor ISBN 91-89078-11-X (1997)
- 19 Richard, Elvi I första linjen: Arbetsledares mellanställning, kluvenhet och handlingsstrategier i tre organisationer 346 sidor ISBN 91-89078-17-9 (1997)
- 20 Einarsdotter-Wahlgren, Mia *Jag är konstnär! En studie av erkännandeprocessen kring konstnärskapet i ett mindre samhälle* 410 sidor ISBN 91-89078-20-9 (1997)
- 21 Nilsson-Lindström, Margareta *Tradition och överskridande: En studie av flickors* perspektiv på utbildning 165 sidor ISBN 98-89078-27-6 (1998)
- 22 Popoola, Margareta *Det sociala spelet om Romano Platso* 294 sidor ISBN 91-89078-33-0 (1998)
- 23 Eriksson, Annika En gangster kunde kanske älska sin mor... Produktionen av moraliska klichéer i amerikanska polis- och deckarserier 194 sidor ISBN 91-89078-36-5 (1998)
- 24 Abebe Kebede, Teketel 'Tenants of the State': The Limitations of Revolutionary Agrarian Transformation in Ethiopia, 1974-1991 364 sidor ISBN 91-89078-38-1 (1998)
- 25 Leppänen, Vesa Structures of District Nurse Patient Interaction 256 sidor ISBN 91-89078-44-6 (1998)
- 26 Idof Ståhl, Zeth *Den goda viljans paradoxer: Reformers teori och praktik speglade i lärares erfarenheter av möten i skolan* 259 sidor ISBN 91-89078-45-4 (1998)

- 27 Gustafsson, Bengt-Åke Symbolisk organisering: En studie av organisatorisk förändring och meningsproduktion i fyra industriföretag 343 sidor ISBN 91-89078-48-9 (1998)
- 28 Munk, Martin Livsbaner gennem et felt: En analyse af eliteidrætsudøveres sociale mobilitet og rekonversioner of kapital i det sociale rum 412 sidor ISBN 91-89078-72-1 (1999)
- 29 Wahlin, Lottie Den rationella inbrottstjuven? En studie om rationalitet och rationellt handlande i brott 172 sidor ISBN 91-89078-85-3 (1999)
- 30 Mathieu, Chris The Moral Life of the Party: Moral Argumentation and the Creation of meaning in the Europe Policy Debates of the Christian and Left-Socialist Parties in Denmark and Sweden 1960–1996 404 sidor ISBN 91-89078-96-9 (1999)
- 31 Ahlstrand, Roland Förändring av deltagandet i produktionen: Exempel från slutmonteringsfabriker i Volvo 165 sidor ISBN 91-7267-008-8 (2000)
- 32 Klintman, Mikael *Nature and the Social Sciences: Examples from the Electricity and Waste Sectors* 209 sidor ISBN 91-7267-009-6 (2000)
- 33 Hultén, Kerstin *Datorn på köksbordet: En studie av kvinnor som distansarbetar i hemmet* 181 sidor ISBN 91-89078-77-2 (2000)
- 34 Nilsén, Åke "En empirisk vetenskap om duet": Om Alfred Schutz bidrag till sociologin 164 sidor ISBN 91-7267-020-7 (2000)
- 35 Karlsson, Magnus Från Jernverk till Hjärnverk: Ungdomstidens omvandling i Ronneby under tre generationer 233 sidor ISBN 91-7267-022-3 (2000)
- 36 Stojanovic, Verica *Unga arbetslösas ansikten: Identitet och subjektivitet i det svenska och danska samhället* 237 sidor ISBN 91-7267-042-8 (2001)
- 37 Knopff, Bradley D. Reservation Preservation: Powwow Dance, Radio, and the Inherent Dilemma of the Preservation Process 218 sidor ISBN 91-7267-065-7 (2001)
- 38 Cuadra, Sergio Mapuchefolket i gränsernas land: En studie av autonomi, identitet, etniska gränser och social mobilisering 247 sidor ISBN 91-7267-096-7 (2001)
- 39 Ljungberg, Charlotta Bra mat och dåliga vanor: Om förtroendefulla relationer och oroliga reaktioner på livsmedelsmarknaden 177 sidor ISBN 91-7267-097-5 (2001)
- 40 Spännar, Christina Med främmande bagage: Tankar och erfarenheter hos unga människor med ursprung i annan kultur, eller Det postmoderna främlingskapet 232 sidor ISBN 91-7267-100-9 (2001)
- 41 Larsson, Rolf Between Crisis and Opportunity: Livelihoods, diversification, and inequality among the Meru of Tanzania 519 sidor Ill. ISBN 91-7267-101-7 (2001)
- 42 Kamara, Fouday Economic and Social Crises in Sierra Leone: The Role of Small-scale Entrepreneurs in Petty Trading as a Strategy for Survival 1960-1996 239 sidor ISBN 91-7267-102-5 (2001)
- 43 Höglund, Birgitta *Ute & Inne: Kritisk dialog mellan personalkollektiv inom psykiatrin* 206 sidor ISBN 91-7267-103-3 (2001)
- 44 Kindblad, Christopher Gift and Exchange in the Reciprocal Regime of the Miskito on the Atlantic Coast of Nicaragua, 20th Century 279 sidor ISBN 91-7267-113-0 (2001)
- Wesser, Erik "Har du varit ute och shoppat, Jacob?" En studie av Finansinspektionens utredning av insiderbrott under 1990-talet 217 sidor ISBN 91-7267-114-9 (2001)

- 46 Stenberg, Henrik Att bli konstnär: Om identitet, subjektivitet och konstnärskap i det senmoderna samhället 219 sidor ISBN 91-7267-121-1 (2002)
- 47 Copes, Adriana Entering Modernity: The Marginalisation of the Poor in the Developing Countries. An Account of Theoretical Perspectives from the 1940's to the 1980's 184 sidor ISBN 91-7267-124-6 (2002)
- 48 Cassegård, Carl Shock and Naturalization: An inquiry into the perception of modernity 249 sidor ISBN 91-7267-126-2 (2002)
- Waldo, Åsa Staden och resandet: Mötet mellan planering och vardagsliv 235 sidor ISBN 91-7267-123-8 (2002)
- 50 Stierna, Johan *Lokal översättning av svenskhet och symboliskt kapital: Det svenska rummet i Madrid 1915–1998.* 300 sidor ISBN 91-7267-136-X (2003)
- 51 Arvidson, Malin Demanding Values: Participation, empowerment and NGOs in Bangladesh 214 sidor ISBN 91-7267-138-6 (2003)
- 52 Zetino Duartes, Mario Vi kanske kommer igen, om det låser sig: Kvinnors och mäns möte med familjerådgivning 246 sidor ISBN 91-7267-141-6 (2003)
- 53 Lindell, Lisbeth *Mellan frisk och sjuk: En studie av psykiatrisk öppenvård* 310 sidor ISBN 91-7267-143-2 (2003)
- 54 Gregersen, Peter Making the Most of It? Understanding the social and productive dynamics of small farmers in semi-arid Iringa, Tanzania 263 sidor ISBN 91-7267-147-5 (2003)
- 55 Oddner, Frans *Kafékultur, kommunikation och gränser* 296 sidor ISBN 91-7267-157-2 (2003)
- 56 Elsrud, Torun Taking Time and Making Journeys: Narratives on Self and the Other among Backpackers 225 sidor ISBN 91-7267-164-5 (2004)
- 57 Jörgensen, Erika Hållbar utveckling, samhällsstruktur och kommunal identitet: En jämförelse mellan Västervik och Varberg 242 sidor ISBN 91-7267-163-3 (2004)
- 58 Hedlund, Marianne Shaping Justice: Defining the disability benefit category in Swedish social policy 223 sidor ISBN 91-7267-167-X (2004)
- 59 Hägerström, Jeanette Vi och dom och alla dom andra andra på Komvux: Etnicitet, genus och klass i samspel 234 sidor ISBN 91-7267-169-6 (2004)
- 60 Säwe, Filippa Att tala med, mot och förbi varandra: Samtal mellan föräldrar och skolledning på en dövskola 215 sidor ISBN 91-7267-173-4 (2004)
- 61 Alkvist, Lars-Erik *Max Weber och kroppens sociologi* 271 sidor ISBN 91-7267-178-5 (2004)
- 62 Winsvold, Aina *Når arbeidende barn mobiliserer seg: En studie av tre unioner i Karnataka, India* 300 sidor ISBN 91-7267-183-1 (2004)
- 63 Thorsted, Stine *IT-retorik og hverdagsliv: Et studie af fødevarehandel over Internet* 219 sidor ISBN 91-7267-186-6 (2005)
- 64 Svensson, Ove *Ungdomars spel om pengar: Spelmarknaden, situationen och karriären* 308 sidor ISBN 91-7267-192-0 (2005)
- 65 Lundberg, Anders P. Om Gemenskap: En sociologisk betraktelse 248 sidor ISBN 91-7267-193-9 (2005)

- 66 Mallén, Agneta *Trygghet i skärgårdsmiljö: En studie om rädsla för brott i Åland* 218 sidor ISBN 91-7267-1955 (2005)
- 67 Ryding, Anna Välviljans variationer: Moraliska gränsdragningar inom brottsofferjourer 222 sidor ISBN 91-7267-188-2 (2005)
- 68 Burcar, Veronika Gestaltningar av offererfarenheter: Samtal med unga män som utsatts för brott 206 sidor ISBN 91-7267-207-2 (2005)
- 69 Ramsay, Anders *Upplysningens självreflexion: Aspekter av Theodor W. Adornos kritiska* teori 146 sidor ISBN 91-7267-208-0 (2005)
- 70 Thelander, Joakim *Mutor i det godas tjänst: Biståndsarbetare i samtal om vardaglig korruption* 194 sidor ISBN 91-7267-211-0 (2005)
- 71 Henecke, Birgitta Plan & Protest: En sociologisk studie av kontroverser, demokrati och makt i den fysiska planeringen 272 sidor ISBN 91-7267-213-7 (2006)
- 72 Ingestad, Gunilla *Dokumenterat utanförskap: Om skolbarn som inte når målen* 180 sidor ISBN 91-7267-219-6 (2006)
- 73 Andreasson, Jesper *Idrottens kön: Genus, kropp och sexualitet i lagidrottens vardag* 267 sidor ISBN 91-628-7009-2 (2007)
- 74 Holmström, Ola Skolpolitik, skolutvecklingsarena och sociala processer: Studie av en gymnasieskola i kris 249 sidor ISBN 91-7267-229-3 (2007)
- 75 Ring, Magnus Social Rörelse: Begreppsbildning av ett mångtydigt fenomen 200 sidor ISBN 91-7267-231-5 (2007)
- 76 Persson, Marcus *Mellan människor och ting. En interaktionistisk analys av samlandet* 241 sidor ISBN 91-7267-238-2 (2007)
- 77 Schmitz, Eva Systerskap som politisk handling: Kvinnors organisering i Sverige 1968–1982 362 sidor ISBN 91-7267-244-7 (2007)
- 78 Lundberg, Henrik *Filosofisociologi: Ett sociologiskt perspektiv på filosofiskt tänkande* 225 sidor ISBN 91-7267-245-5 (2007)
- 79 Melén, Daniel Sjukskrivningssystemet: Sjuka som blir arbetslösa och arbetslösa som blir sjukskrivna 276 sidor ISBN 91-7267-254-4 (2007)
- Kondrup Jakobsen, Klaus The Logic of the Exception: A Sociological Investigation into Theological Foundation of Political with specific regard to Kierkegaardian on Carl Schmitt 465 sidor ISBN 91-7267-265-X (2008)
- 81 Berg, Martin Självets garderobiär: Självreflexiva genuslekar och queer socialpsykologi 230 sidor ISBN 91-7267-257-9 (2008)
- 82 Fredholm, Axel Beyond the Catchwords: Adjustment and Community Response in Participatory Development in Post-Suharto Indonesia 180 sidor ISBN 91-7267-269-2 (2008)
- 83 Linné, Tobias *Digitala pengar: Nya villkor i det sociala livet* 229 sidor ISBN 91-7267-282-X (2008)
- Nyberg, Maria *Mycket mat, lite måltider: En studie av arbetsplatsen som måltidsarena* 300 sidor ISBN 91-7267-285-4 (2009)
- 85 Eldén, Sara Konsten att lyckas som par: Populärterapeutiska berättelser, individualisering och kön 245 sidor ISBN 91-7267-286-2 (2009)

- 86 Bjerstedt, Daniel Tryggheten inför rätta: Om rätten till förtidspension enligt förvaltningsdomstolarna under tre decennier 240 sidor ISBN 91-7267-287-0 (2009)
- 87 Kåhre, Peter *På AI-teknikens axlar: Om kunskapssociologin och stark artificiell intelligens* 200 sidor ISBN 91-7267-289-7 (2009)
- 88 Loodin, Henrik *Biografier från gränslandet: En sociologisk studie om psykiatrins förändrade kontrollmekanismer* 118 sidor ISBN 91-7267-303-6 (2009)
- 89 Eriksson, Helena Befolkning, samhälle och förändring: Dynamik i Halmstad under fyra decennier 212 sidor ISBN 91-7267-313-3 (2010)
- 90 Espersson, Malin Mer eller mindre byråkratisk: en studie av organisationsförändringar inom Kronofogdemyndigheten 182 sidor ISBN 91-7267-315-X (2010)
- 91 Yang, Chia-Ling Othering Processes in Feminist Teaching: A case study of an adult educational institution 184 sidor ISBN 91-7267-318-4 (2010)
- 92 Isaksson, Anna Att utmana förändringens gränser: En studie om förändringsarbete, partnerskap och kön med Equal-programmet som exempel 206 sidor ISBN 91-7267-321-4 (2010)
- 93 Hilding, Lars-Olof "Är det så här vi är": Om utbildning som normalitet och om produktionen av studenter 200 sidor ISBN 91-7267-326-5 (2011)
- 94 Berg, Pernille *The Reluctant Change Agent: Change, Chance and Choice among Teachers Educational Change in The City* 196 sidor ISBN 91-7267-331-1 (2011)
- 95 Rahman, Mashiur Struggling Against Exclusion: Adibasi in Chittagong Hill Tracts, Bangladesh 202 sidor ISBN 91-7267-334-6 (2011)
- 96 Eklund, Lisa Rethinking Son Preference: Gender, Population Dynamics and Social Change in the People's Republic of China 218 sidor ISBN 978-91-7473-108-8 (2011)
- 97 Gustavsson, Klas Det vardagliga och det vetenskapliga: Om sociologins begrepp 260 sidor ISBN 91-7267-336-2 (2011)
- 98 Sjödin, Daniel *Tryggare kan ingen vara: Migration, religion och integration i en segregerad omgivning* 268 sidor ISBN 91-7267-337-0 (2011)
- 99 Ringström, Jonas Mellan sanning och konsekvens: En studie av den tredje generationens kognitiva beteendeterapier 268 sidor ISBN 921-7267-338-9 (2011)
- 100 Norstedt, Maria Berättelser om stroke och arbetsliv: Att upptäcka styranderelationer 204 sidor ISBN 978-91-7473-182-8 (2011)
- 101 Anving, Terese *Måltidens paradoxer: Om klass och kön i vardagens familjepraktiker* 228 sidor ISBN 91-7267-339-2 (2012)
- 102 Basic, Goran Samverkan blir kamp: En sociologisk analys av ett projekt i ungdomsvården 287 sidor ISBN 91-7267-346-X (2012)
- 103 Zettervall, Charlotta Reluctant Victims into Challengers: Narratives of a Kurdish Political Generation in Diaspora in Sweden 315 sidor ISBN 978-91-7473-412-6 (2013)
- 104 Apelmo, Elisabet *Som vem som helst: Kön, funktionalitet och idrottande kroppar* 272 sidor ISBN 978-91-7473-408-9 (2012) Utgivare: Bokförlaget Daidalos, Bergsjödalen 54b, 415 23, Göteborg, www.daidalos.se
- 105 Sandgren, Mikael Europa som nation: En ny stil i nationalismens genre 242 sidor ISBN 91-7267-356-7 (2013)

- 106 Sandberg, Johan Social Policy of Our Time? An Inquiry into Evidence, Assumptions, and Diffusion of Conditional Cash Transfers in Latin America 182 sidor ISBN 91-7267-365-6 (2014) Kan ej beställas av Media-Tryck. Beställs av författaren.
- 107 Frees Esholdt, Henriette *Når humor, leg og lyst er på spil: Social interaktion på en multietnisk arbejdsplads* 260 sidor ISBN 978-91-7623-215-6 (2015).
- 108 Vaide, Johan, Contact Space: Shanghai. The Chinese Dream and the Production of a New Society 215 sidor ISBN 978-91-7623-231-6 (2015)
- 109 Kolankiewicz, Marta Anti-Muslim Violence and the Possibility of Justice 226 sidor ISBN 978-91-7623-257-6 (2015)
- Boethius, Susanne Män, våld och moralarbete: Rapporter från män som sökt behandling för våld i nära relationer 262 sidor ISBN 978-91-7623-450-1 (2015)
 Görtz, Daniel Etnifierade polispraktiker: Hur etnicitet görs i polisens vardag 337 sidor
- ISBN 978-91-7267-380-9 (2015) 112 Stjärnhagen, Ola Ekonomisk tillväxt i välfärdskapitalismen: En jämförande studie av
- BNP per capita-tillväxten i rika OECD-länder 1970–2000. 168 sidor ISBN 978-91-7623-490-7 (2015)
- 113 Hedman, Karl Managing Medical Emergency Calls 281 sidor ISBN 978-91-7623-690-1 (2016)
- 114 Solano, Priscilla Assisting in the Shadows: Humanitarianism, Shelters and Transit Migration Politics 250 sidor ISBN 978-91-7753-102-9 (2017)
- 115 Ennerberg, Elin Destination employment? Contradictions and ambiguities in Swedish labour market policy for newly arrived migrants 232 sidor ISBN 978-91-7753-204-0 (2017)
- 116 Sunnercrantz, Liv Hegemony and the Intellectual Function Medialised Public Discourse on Privatisation in Sweden 1988–1993. 338 sidor ISBN 978-91-7753-471-6 (2017)
- 117 Kaya, Gökhan Aspirations, Capital and Identity: Four studies on the determinants of life chances for young Swedes with an immigrant background 163 sidor ISBN 978-91-7753-771-7 (2018)
- Hylmö, Anders Disciplined reasoning: Styles of reasoning and the mainstream-heterodoxy divide in Swedish economics 360 sidor ISBN 978-91-7753-788-5 (2018)
- 119 Yakhlef, Sophia *United Agents: Community of Practice within Border Policing in the Baltic Sea Area* 220 sidor ISBN: 978-91-7753-806-6 (2018)
- 120 Flower, Lisa *Loyalty Work: Emotional interactions of defence lawyers in Swedish courtrooms* 266 sidor ISBN 978-91-7753-820-2 (2018)
- 121 Jack, Tullia Negotiating Conventions: cleanliness, sustainability and everyday life 166 sidor ISBN 978-91-7267-400-4 (2018)
- 122 Hemmaty, Mona On the Margins: Migrants, Status Mobility and Recent Turns in Swedish Migration Politics 203 sidor ISBN 978-91-7895-036-2 (2019)
- 123 Kloppenborg M
 øller, Henrik Spectral Jade. Materiality, Conceptualisation, and Value in the Myanmar-China Borderland Jadeite Trade 377 sidor ISBN 978-91-7895-346-2 (2019)

- 124 Franzén, Alexandra Brottslingar av en mycket speciell sort. Spionskandalen som en maktkamp mellan visselblåsare, grävande journalister och underrättelsetjänster 237 sidor ISBN 978-91-7895-943-3 (2021)
- 125 Sahlin Lilja, Hanna *The Emergence, Establishment and Expansion of Fear of Crime Research in Sweden* 300 sidor ISBN 978-91-8039-025-5 (2021)
- 126 Klitgaard, Vibeke Social (u)orden i distriktspsykiatrien En systemteoretisk analyse af psykiatriske patienters kommunikation og adfærd samt stigmatisering fra omverdenen 445 sidor, ISBN 978-91-8039-063-7 (2021)
- 127 Ahlstrand, Rasmus Structures of subcontracting: Work organisation, control, and labour in the Swedish building sector 272 sidor, ISBN 978-91-8039-108-5 (2022)
- 128 Flaherty, Colm A politics of community: Identity, Stigma, and Meaning in the Extra-Parliamentary Left 315 sidor, ISBN 978-91-8039-246-4 (2022)
- 129 Quaglietta Bernal, Oriana In Her Words: Women's Accounts of Managing Drug-related risk, Pleasure, and Stigma 338 sidor, ISBN 978-91-8039-391-1 (2022)
- 130 Rasan, Imad *Women in the public sphere in Egypt: 2011–2014* 331 sidor, ISBN 978-91-8039-487-1 (2023)
- 131 Chan, Elton *The Last Urban Frontier: Commodification of Public Space and the Right to the City in Insurgent Hong Kong* 208 sidor, ISBN 978-91-8039-592-2 (2023)
- 132 Crusefalk, Lars Financial journeys: Reasoning about debt and money among young adults in Sweden 314 sidor, ISBN 978-91-8039-648-6 (2023)
- 133 Larsson, Marie *The work of contracepting: young people's experiences and practices with contraceptives in Sweden* 341 sidor, ISBN 978-91-8039-854-1 (2023)
- 134 Alenius Wallin, Linn Bonusbarnbarn och bonusförföräldrar: Om omsorgsrelationer mellan generationer i ombildade och valda familjer 328 sidor, ISBN 978-91-8104-129-3 (2024)
- 135 Karlsson, Daniel At least I have this freedom: Subjectivity and self-precarization among digital freelancers in the Swedish cultural industries 300 sidor, ISBN 978-91-8104-173-6 (2024)
- 136 Kazi, Uzma Swedish-(Par)Desi: Belonging Narratives of Second-Generation Pakistani Muslims in Sweden 404 sidor, ISBN 978-91-8104-231-3 (2024)
- 137 Edling, Staffan *Political Epistemology: Knowledge and Advocacy in Trade Union Research* 205 sidor, ISBN 978-91-8104-249-8 (2024)

Licentiate's Dissertations in Sociology (ISSN-1403-6061)

- 1996:1 Forsberg, Pia Välfärd, arbetsmarknad och korporativa institutioner: En studie av Trygghetsrådet SAF/PTK 147 sidor ISBN 91-89078-07-1
- 1996:2 Klintman, Mikael Från "trivialt" till globalt: Att härleda miljöpåverkan från motiv och handlingar i urbana sfärer 171 sidor ISBN 91-89078-46-2
- 1996:3 Höglund, Birgitta Att vårda och vakta: Retorik och praktik i en rättspsykiatrisk vårdkontext 215 sidor ISBN 91-89078-68-3

- 1997:1 Jacobsson, Katarina Social kontroll i dövvärlden 148 sidor ISBN 91-89078-18-7
- 1997:2 Arvidsson, Adam Den sociala konstruktionen av "en vanlig Människa": Tre betraktelser kring reklam och offentlighet 122 sidor ISBN 91-89078-26-8
- 1998:1 Lundberg, Magnus Kvinnomisshandel som polisärende: Att definiera och utdefiniera 136 sidor ISBN 91-89078-40-3
- 1998:2 Stojanovic, Verica Att leva sitt liv som arbetslös... Svenska och danska ungdomars relationer, ekonomi, bostadssituation och värdesättning av arbete 148 sidor ISBN 91-89078-54-3
- 1998:3 Wesser, Erik Arbetsmarknad och socialförsäkring i förändring: En studie av långtidssjukskrivning och förtidspensionering på 90-talet 150 sidor 91-89078-57-8
- 1999:1 Radmann, Aage Fotbollslandskapet: Fotboll som socialt fenomen 167 sidor ISBN 91-89078-81-0
- 1999:2 Waldo, Åsa Vardagslivets resor i den stora staden 288 sidor ISBN 91-89078-88-8
- 1999:3 Säwe, Filippa *Om samförstånd och konflikt: Samtal mellan föräldrar och skolledning på* en specialskola 159 sidor ISBN 91-89078-93-4
- 1999:4 Schmitz, Eva Arbetarkvinnors mobiliseringar i arbetarrörelsens barndom: En studie av arbetarkvinnors strejkaktiviteter och dess inflytande på den svenska arbetarrörelsen 138 sidor ISBN 91-89078-99-3
- 2000:1 Copes, Adriana Time and Space: An Attempt to Transform Relegated Aspects in Central Issues of the Sociological Inquiry 177 sidor ISBN 91-7267-003-7
- 2000:2 Gottskalksdottir, Bergthora Arbetet som en port till samhället: Invandrarakademikers integration och identitet 89 sidor ISBN 91-7267-012-6
- 2000:3 Alkvist, Lars-Erik *Max Weber och rationalitetsformerna* 176 sidor ISBN 91-7267-019-3
- 2001:1 Bergholtz, Zinnia Att arbeta förebyggande: Tankar kring ett hälsoprojekt 50 sidor ISBN 91-7267-043-6
- 2005:1 Bing Jackson, Hannah Det fragmenterede fællesskab: Opfattelser af sociale fællesskabers funktion og deres udvikling i det senmoderne samfund 162 sidor ISBN 91-7267-190-4
- 2005:2 Lundberg, Henrik Durkheim och Mannheim som filosofisociologer 88 sidor ISBN 91-7267-200-5

Lund Studies in Sociology (ISSN 0460-0045)

- 1 Goodman, Sara & Mulinari, Diana (red) Feminist Interventions in Discourses on Gender and Development: Some Swedish Contributions 250 sidor ISBN 91-89078-51-9 (1999)
- 2 Ahlstrand, Roland Norrköpingsmodellen ett projekt för ny sysselsättning åt personalen vid Ericsson Telecom AB i Norrköping 114 sidor ISBN 91-7267-026-6 (2001)
- 3 Djurfeldt, Göran & Gooch, Pernille *Bondkäringar kvinnoliv i en manlig värld* 60 sidor ISBN 91-7267-095-9 (2001)
- 4 Davies, Karen Disturbing Gender: On the doctor nurse relationship 115 sidor ISBN 91-7267-108-4 (2001)

Nilsson, Jan-Olof & Nilsson, Kjell Old Universities in New Environments: New Technology and Internationalisation Processes in Higher Education 116 sidor ISBN 91-7267-174-2 (2004)

Research Reports in Sociology (ISSN 1651-596X)

- 1996:1 Ahlstrand, Roland En tid av förändring: Om involvering och exkludering vid Volvos monteringsfabrik i Torslanda 1991–1993. 116 sidor ISBN 91-89078-15-2
- 1997:1 Lindbladh, Eva, et al. *Unga vuxna: Berättelser om arbete, kärlek och moral* 192 sidor ISBN 91-89078-14-4
- 1997:2 Lindén, Anna-Lisa (red) Thinking, Saying, Doing: Sociological Perspectives on Environmental Behaviour 103 sidor ISBN 91-89078-13-6
- 1997:3 Leppänen, Vesa *Inledning till den etnometodologiska samtalsanalysen* 76 sidor ISBN 91-89078-16-0
- 1997:4 Dahlgren, Anita & Claezon, Ingrid Nya föräldrar: Om kompisföräldraskap, auktoritet och ambivalens 117 sidor ISBN 91-89078-08-X
- 1997:5 Persson, Anders (red) Alternativ till ekonomismen 71 sidor ISBN 91-89078-22-5
- 1997:6 Persson, Anders (red) Kvalitet och kritiskt tänkande 67 sidor ISBN 91-89078-25-X
- 1998:1 Isenberg, Bo (red) Sociology and Social Transformation: Essays by Michael Mann, Chantal Mouffe, Göran Therborn, Bryan S. Turner 79 sidor ISBN 91-89078-28-4
- 1998:2 Björklund Hall, Åsa *Sociologidoktorer: Forskarutbildning och karriär* 84 sidor ISBN 91-89078-31-4
- 1998:3 Klintman, Mikael Between the Private and the Public: Formal Carsharing as Part of a Sustainable Traffic System an Exploratory Study 96 sidor ISBN 91-89078-32-2
- 1998:4 Lindén, Anna-Lisa & Carlsson-Kanyama, Annika *Dagens livsstilar i framtidens* perspektiv 74 sidor ISBN 91-89078-37-7
- 1998:5 Ahlstrand, Roland En tid av förändring: Dominerande koalitioner och organisationsstrukturer vid Volvo Lastvagnars monteringsfabriker i Tuve 1982–1994 94 sidor ISBN 91-89078-37-3
- 1998:6 Sahlin, Ingrid *The Staircase of Transition: European Observatory on Homelessness.*National Report from Sweden 66 sidor ISBN 91-89078-39-X
- 1998:7 Naranjo, Eduardo *En kortfattad jämförelse mellan den asiatiska och chilenska socioekonomiska erfarenheten* 42 sidor ISBN 91-89078-42-X
- 1998:8 Bosseldal, Ingrid & Esseveld, Johanna Bland forskande kvinnor och teoretiserande män: Jämställdhet och genus vid Sociologiska institutionen i Lund 103 sidor ISBN 91-89078-59-4
- 1998:9 Bosseldal, Ingrid & Hansson, Carl Kvinnor i mansrum: Jämställdhet och genus vid Sociologiska institutionen i Umeå 82 sidor ISBN 91-89078-60-8
- 1998:10 Bosseldal, Ingrid & Hellum, Merete Ett kvinnligt genombrott utan feminism? Jämställdhet och genus vid Sociologiska institutionen i Göteborg 83 sidor ISBN 91-89078-61-6

- 1998:11 Morhed, Anne-Marie *Det motstridiga könet: Jämställdhet och genus vid Sociologiska institutionen i Uppsala* 103 sidor ISBN 91-89078-62-4
- 1998:12 Bosseldal, Ingrid & Magdalenic, Sanja *Det osynliga könet: Jämställdhet och genus vid Sociologiska institutionen i Stockholm* 71 sidor ISBN 91-89078-63-2
- 1998:13 Bosseldal, Ingrid & Stina Johansson *Den frånvarande genusteorin: Jämställdhet och genus vid Sociologiska institutionen i Linköping* 62 sidor ISBN 91-89078-64-0
- 1998:14 Hydén, Håkan & Lindén, Anna-Lisa (red) *Lagen, rätten och den sociala tryggheten:*Tunnelbygget genom Hallandsåsen 154 sidor ISBN 91-89078-67-5
- 1998:15 Sellerberg, Ann-Mari (red) *Sjukdom, liv och död om samband, gränser och format* 165 sidor ISBN 91-89078-66-7
- 1999:1 Pacheco, José F. (ed.) Cultural Studies and the Politics of Everyday Life: Essays by Peter Dahlgren, Lars Nilsson, Bo Reimer, Monica Rudberg, Kenneth Thompson, Paul Willis.

 Introductory comments by Ron Eyerman and Mats Trondman 105 sidor ISBN 91-89078-84-5
- 1999:2 Lindén, Anna-Lisa & Rinkevicius, Leonardas (eds.) Social Processes and the Environment Lithuania and Sweden 171 sidor ISBN 91-7267-002-9
- 2000:1 Khalaf, Abdulhadi *Unfinished Business Contentious Politics and State-Building in Bahrain* 120 sidor ISBN 91-7267-004-5
- 2000:2 Pacheco, José F. (red.) Kultur, teori, praxis: Kultursociologi i Lund 238 sidor ISBN 91-7267-015-0
- 2000:3 Nilsson, Jan Olof Berättelser om Den Nya Världen 92 sidor ISBN 91-7267-024-X
 2001:1 Alkvist, Lars-Erik Max Webers verklighetsvetenskap 147 sidor ISBN 91-7267-099-1
- 2001:2 Pacheco, José F. (red) Stadskultur: Bidrag av Eric Clark, Richard Ek, Mats Franzén,
 Camilla Haugaard, Magnus Carlsson, Charlotte Kira-Kimby, José F. Pacheco,
 Margareta Popoola, Ingrid Sahlin, Catharina Thörn, Magnus Wennerhag, Niklas
 Westberg 125 sidor ISBN 91-7267-115-7
- 2002:1 Wendel, Monica Kontroversen om arbetstidsförkortning: En sociologisk studie av tre försök med arbetstidsförkortning inom Malmö kommun 209 sidor ISBN 91-7267-166-5
- 2002:2 Thelander, Joakim "Säker är man ju aldrig": Om riskbedömningar, skepsis och förtroende för handel och bankärenden via Internet 58 sidor ISBN 91-7267-117-3
- 2002:3 Dahlgren, Anita *Idrott, motion och andra fritidsintressen: En enkätundersökning bland* 17-åriga flickor och pojkar i Landskrona, Kävlinge och Svalöv 39 sidor ISBN 91 7267-123-8 (2002)
- 2002:4 Wendel, Monica Mot en ny arbetsorganisering: En sociologisk studie av några försöksprojekt med flexibla arbetstider och distansarbete inom Malmö kommun 144 sidor ISBN 91-7267-129-7
- 2002:5 Sörensen, Jill *Utvärderingsmodell för flexibla arbetstider inom Malmö kommun* 76 sidor ISBN 91-7267-132-7
- 2003:1 Klintman, Mikael & Mårtensson, Kjell med Johansson, Magnus *Bioenergi för* uppvärmning hushållens perspektiv 98 sidor ISBN 91-7267-148-3
- 2004:1 Johnsdotter, Sara FGM in Sweden: Swedish legislation regarding "female genital mutilation" and implementation of the law 68 sidor ISBN 91-7267-162-9

- 2004:2 Carlsson-Kanyama, Annika, Lindén, Anna-Lisa & Eriksson, Björn *Hushållskunder på* elmarknaden: Värderingar och beteenden 133 sidor ISBN 91-7267-166-9
- 2005:1 Lindén, Anna-Lisa et al. *Mat, hälsa och oregelbundna arbetstider* 216 sidor ISBN 91-7267-187-4
- 2006:1 Lindén, Anna-Lisa et al. *Miljöpolitik och styrmedel Två fallstudier: Kött och kläder* 90 sidor ISBN 91-7267-220-X
- 2006:2 Heidegren, Carl-Göran FOSS-galaxen En empirisk undersökning kring fri och öppen programvarurörelsen 93 sidor ISBN 91-7267-218-8
- 2006:3 Apelmo, Elisabet & Sellerberg, Ann-Mari "Shit, jag kan också lyckas" Om genus, funktionshinder och idrottande kroppar 43 sidor ISBN 91-7267-225-0
- 2007:1 Sellerberg, Ann-Mari Världsbäst och i periferin Om att vara funktionshindrad kvinna i idrotten 40 sidor ISBN 91-7267-248-X
- 2007:2 Thorsted, Stine Måltidet i tidsfällan Måltidspraksis og brug af färdigmat i vardagen 56 sidor ISBN 91-7267-250-1
- 2008:1 Klintman, Mikael, Boström, Magnus, Ekelund, Lena & Lindén, Anna-Lisa *Maten*märks Förutsättningar för konsumentmakt 134 sidor ISBN 91-7267-266-8
- 2008:2 Anving, Terese "Man måste ligga steget före" Måltidsarbetets planering och organisering i barnfamiljen 56 sidor ISBN 91-7267-267-6
- 2008:3 Sellerberg, Ann-Mari En het potatis Om mat och måltider i barn- och tonårsfamiljer 96 sidor ISBN 91-7267-268-4
- 2008:4 Nyberg, Maria, Lindén, Anna-Lisa, Lagnevik, Magnus *Mat på arbetet dygnet runt?*Arbete Tid Måltid Inventering av kunskap genom svensk forskning 49 sidor
 ISBN 91-7267-275-7
- 2008:5 Lindén, Anna-Lisa Hushållsel Effektivisering i vardagen 84 sidor ISBN 91-7267-280-3
- 2009:1 Lindén, Anna-Lisa Klimat och konsumtion Tre fallstudier kring styrmedel och konsumtionsbeteende 72 sidor ISBN 91-7267-294-3
- 2009:2 Lindén, Anna-Lisa, Jörgensen, Erika, Thelander, Åsa *Energianvändning Konsumenters beslut och agerande* 264 sidor ISBN 91-7267-298-6

Working Papers in Sociology (1404-6741)

- 1997:1 Sjöberg, Katarina (red) Vetenskapsteori 92 sidor ISBN 91-89078-10-1
- 1997:2 Lindholm, Jonas & Vinderskov, Kirstine Generationen der blev kulturpendlere: Et kvalitativt studie af unge muslimers hverdag 171 sidor ISBN 91-89078-19-5
- 1999:1 Jörgensen, Erika *Perspektiv på social hållbarhet i Varberg och Västervik* 65 sidor ISBN 91-89078-75-6
- 1999:2 Holmström, Ola En utvärdering av en utvärdering eller Berättelsen om hur jag förlorade min sociologiska oskuld 93 sidor ISBN 91-89078-91-8
- 2000:1 Kimby, Charlotte Kira & Haugaard, Camilla Kroppen i den computermedierede kommunikation 93 sidor ISBN 91-7267-007-X

- 2000:2 Bing Jackson, Hannah Forandringer i arbejdslivet og i familjelivet: Om kvinders livsformer ved årtusindeskiftet 43 sidor ISBN 91-7267-017-7
- 2000:3 Bing Jackson, Hannah Family and Fertility Patterns in Denmark a "Postmodern" Phenomenon: On the relationship between women's education and employment situation and the changes in family forms and fertility 52 sidor ISBN 91-7267-018-5
- 2002:1 Henecke, Birgitta & Khan, Jamil Medborgardeltagande i den fysiska planeringen: En demokratiteoretisk analys av lagstiftning, retorik och praktik 38 sidor ISBN 91-7267-134-3
- 2003:1 Persson, Marcus & Thelander, Joakim Mellan relativism och realism: Forskarstudenter om vetenskapsteori 89 sidor ISBN 91-7267-146-7
- 2003:2 Barmark, Mimmi Sjuka hus eller sjuka människor? Om boenderelaterad ohälsa bland malmöbor 46 sidor ISBN 91-7267-151-3
- 2004:1 Persson, Marcus & Sjöberg, Katarina (red) Om begrepp och förståelse: Att problematisera det enkla och förenkla det svåra 61 sidor ISBN 91-7267-171-8
- 2007:1 Lindén, Anna-Lisa Sociala dimensioner i hållbar samhällsplanering 30 sidor ISBN 91-7267-236-6

Evaluation Studies

- 1997:1 Persson, Anders Räddningstjänstutbildning för brandingenjörer en utvärdering 37 sidor ISBN 91-89078-12-8
- 1997:2 Björklund Hall, Åsa *På spaning efter tillvaron som doktorand med hjälp av forskarstuderandes röster* 72 sidor ISBN 91-89078-21-7
- 1998:1 Bierlein, Katja, Misirli, Leila & Nilsson, Kjell Arbetslivsrehabilitering i samverkan: Utvärdering av Projekt Malmö Rehab 2000. 63 sidor ISBN 91-89078-30-6
- 1998:2 Mulinari, Diana Reflektioner kring projektet KvinnoKrami/MOA 84 sidor ISBN 91-89078-55-1
- 1998:3 Mulinari, Diana & Neergard, Anders *Utvärdering av projektet "Steg till arbete"* 72 sidor ISBN 91-89078-56-X
- 1998:4 Misirli, Leila & Wendel, Monica Lokal samverkan till allas fördel? En utvärdering av Trelleborgsmodellen – ett arbetsmarknadspolitiskt försök med "friår", inom Trelleborgs kommun 45 sidor ISBN 91-89078-58-6
- 1998:5 Bierlein, Katja & Misirli, Leila Samverkan mot ungdomsarbetslöshet: Utvärdering av projekt Kompassen i Helsingborg 80 sidor ISBN 91-89078-69-1
- 1999:1 Bierlein, Katja & Platzer, Ellinor Myndighetssamverkan i projekt Malmö Rehab 2000: Utvärdering 1997–98. 75 sidor ISBN 91-89078-74-8
- 1999:2 Ahlstrand, Roland & Wendel, Monica Frågor kring samverkan: En utvärdering av Visionsbygge Burlöv ett myndighetsövergripande projekt för arbetslösa invandrare 51 sidor ISBN 91-89078-82-9

- 1999:3 Nilsson Lindström, Margareta *En processutvärdering av projektet Trampolinen: Ett* vägledningsprojekt riktat till långtidsarbetslösa vid Arbetsförmedlingen i Lomma 104 sidor ISBN 91-89078-94-2
- 1999:4 Nilsson Lindström, Margareta En processutvärdering av projektet New Deal: Ett vägledningsprojekt för långtidsarbetslösa kvinnor inom kontor och administration 107 sidor ISBN 91-89078-95-0
- 1999:5 Wendel, Monica *Utvärdering av projekt arbetsLÖSningar: En arbetsmarknadsåtgärd i samverkan för långtidssjukskrivna och långtidsarbetslösa* 63 sidor ISBN 91-7267-000-2
- 2005:1 Nilsson Lindström, Margareta Att bryta traditionella könsmönster i arbetslivet: En grupp långtidsarbetslösa kvinnors erfarenheter av kursen "Teknik för kvinnor med begränsat utbud" 50 sidor ISBN 91-7267-209-9

Afrint Working Paper (ISSN 1651-5897)

- Larsson, Rolf, Holmén, Hans & Hammarskjöld, Mikael Agricultural Development in Sub

 Saharan Africa 48 sidor ISBN 91-7267-133-5
- 2 Djurfeldt, Göran & Jirström, Magnus Asian Models of Agricultural Development and their Relevance to Africa 47 sidor ISBN 91-7267-137-8

Studies in Bodies, Gender and Society (ISSN 1652-1102)

- 1 Hansson, Adam Det manliga klimakteriet: Om försöket att lansera ett medicinskt begrepp 50 sidor ISBN 91-7267-158-0 (2003)
- 2 Norstedt, Maria Att skapa dikotomier och bibehålla genusordningar: An analys av tidningen Taras berättelser om kropp. kön och medelålder 52 sidor ISBN 91-7267-159-9 (2003)

Lund Dissertations in Social Anthropology (ISSN 1101-9948)

- 3 Pérez-Arias, Enrique *Mellan det förflutna och framtiden: Den sandinistiska revolutionen i Nicaragua* 322 sidor ISBN 91-89078-01-2 (ak. avh. 1997)
- 4 Karlsson, B. G. Contested Belonging: An Indigenous People's Struggle for Forest and Identity in Sub-Himalayan Bengal 318 sidor ISBN 91-89078-04-7 (ak. avh. 1997)
- 5 Lindberg, Christer (red) *Antropologiska porträtt 2.* 342 sidor ISBN 91-89078-05-5 (1997)
- 6 Gooch, Pernille At the Tail of the Buffalo: Van Gujjar pastoralists between the forest and the world arena 391 sidor ISBN 91-89078-53-5 (ak. avh. 1998)

- 7 Persson, Johnny Sagali and the Kula: A regional systems analysis of the Massim 245 sidor ISBN 91-89078-87-X (ak. avh. 1999)
- 8 Malm, Thomas Shell Age Economics: Marine Gathering in the Kingdom of Tonga, Polynesia 430 sidor ISBN 91-89078-97-7 (ak. avh. 1999)
- 9 Johansson Dahre, Ulf *Det förgångna är framtiden: Ursprungsfolk och politiskt* självbestämmande i Hawai'i 228 sidor Ill. ISBN 91-7267-107-6 (ak. avh. 2001)
- Johnsdotter, Sara Created by God: How Somalis in Swedish Exile Reassess the Practice of Female Circumcision 301 sidor ISBN 91-7267-127-0 (ak. avh. 2002)
- 11 Andersson, Oscar *Chicagoskolan: Institutionaliseringen, idétraditionen & vetenskapen* 336 sidor ISBN 91-7267-153-X (ak. avh. 2003)
- 12 Carlbom, Aje *The Imagined versus the Real Other: Multiculturalism and the Representation of Muslims in Sweden* 234 sidor ISBN 91-7267-154-8 (ak. avh. 2003)
- 13 Antoniusson, Eva-Malin Överdosens antropologi: En kontextuell studie 232 sidor ISBN 91-7267-161-0 (ak. avh. 2003)
- 14 Parker, Peter How Personal Networks Shape Business: An Anthropological Study of Social Embeddedness, Knowledge Development and Growth of Firms 156 sidor ISBN 91-7267-182-3 (ak. avh. 2004)
- 15 Lindberg, Christer (red) *Nya antropologiska porträtt* 355 sidor ISBN 91-7267-182-3 (2005)
- 16 Sliavaite, Kristina From Pioneers to Target Group: Social change, ethnicity and memory in a Lithuanian power plant community 206 sidor ISBN 91-7267-202-1 (ak. avh. 2005)
- 17 Göransson, Kristina Conflicts and Contracts Chinese Intergenerational Relations in Modern Singapore 187 sidor ISBN 91-7167-202-1 (ak. avh. 2006)
- Bourgouin, France *The Young, the Wealthy, and the Restless: Trans-national Capitalist Elite Formation in Post-Apartheid Johannesburg* 342 sidor ISBN 91-7267-249-8 (ak. avh. 2007)
- 19 Matsson, Anna The Power to do Good: Post-Revolution, NGO Society, and the Emergence of NGO-Elites in Contemporary Nicaragua 208 sidor ISBN 91-7267-251-X (ak. avh. 2007)
- 20 Holm, Hilma Knowledge as Action An Anthropological Study of Attac Sweden 144 sidor ISBN 91-7267-317-6 (ak. avh. 2010)
- 21 Wittrock, Hanna *Säg inte mötesplats! Teater och integration i ord och handling* 268 sidor ISBN 91-7267-332-X (ak. avh. 2011)
- 22 Hedlund, Anna Exile Warriors: Violence and Community among Hutu Rebels in the Eastern Congo 244 sidor ISBN 978-91-7473-983-1 (ak. avh. 2014)
- 23 Capelán Köhler, Annika *Fibre Formations: Wool as an anthropological site* 260 sidor ISBN 978-91-7753-202-6 (ak. avh. 2017)
- 24 Granbom, Lotta *The Second Wave: The Urak Lawoi After the Tsunami in Thailand.* 356 sidor ISBN 978-91-7753-397-9 (ak. avh. 2017)
- 25 Krantz, Anna Sarri *Tredje generationens överlevande En socialantropologisk studie om minne, antisemitism och identitet i spåret av Förintelsen* 194 sidor ISBN 978-91-7753-852-3 (ak. avh. 2018)

- 26 Abelin, Matthias A Swedish Dilemma A Culture and Rule of Law in Swedish Sickness Insurance 256 sidor ISBN 978-91-7895-018-8 (ak. avh. 2019)
- 27 Berglund, Anna Ambiguous hopes: an ethnographic study of agricultural modernisation in a Rwandan village 223 sidor ISBN 978-91-7895-269-4 (ak. avh. 2019)
- 28 Östergren, Petra Sweden's Ban on Sex-Purchase. Morality politics and the governance of prostitution 312 sidor ISBN 978-91-8104-159-0 (ak. avh. 2024)

Licentiate's Dissertation in Social Anthropology (ISSN 1404-7683)

- 1999:1 Parker, Peter Cognition and Social Organisation: A Framework 125 sidor ISBN 91-89078-76-4
- 1999:2 Johansson Dahre, Ulf *Politik med andra medel: En antropologisk betraktelse av rättens politiska och ideologiska förhållanden* 137 sidor ISBN 91-7267-006-1

Research Reports in Social Anthropology

- 2006:1 Johansson Dahre, Ulf (ed.) The Reconstruction of Good Governance in the Horn of Africa – Proceedings of the 4th SIRC Conference on the Horn of Africa, October 14–16, 2005. 232 sidor ISBN 91-7267-216-1
- 2007:1 Johansson Dahre, Ulf (ed.) *The Role of Diasporas in Peace, Democracy and Development in the Horn of Africa* 226 sidor ISBN 91-7267-237-4
- 2008:1 Johansson Dahre, Ulf (ed.) Post-Conflict Peace-Building in the Horn of Africa: A Report of the 6th Annual Conference on the Horn of Africa, Lund, August 24–26, 2007. 288 sidor ISBN 91-7267-256-0
- 2009:1 Svensson, Nicklas (ed.) Initiative Report Horn of Africa: Co-operation Instead of Wars and Destruction, 11–12 May, 2002 Lund, Sweden 106 sidor ISBN 91-7267-290-0
- 2009:2 Svensson, Nicklas (ed.) Final Report Conference Horn of Africa: II No Development without Peace, 23–25 May, 2003 Lund, Sweden 136 sidor ISBN 91-7267-291-9
- 2009:3 Svensson, Nicklas (ed.) Horn of Africa: Transforming Itself from a Culture of War into a Culture of Peace, 27–29 August 2004 Lund, Sweden 312 sidor ISBN 91-7267-292-7
- 2009:4 Sthlm Policy Group (ed.) Faith, Citizenship, Democracy and Peace in the Horn of Africa: A Report of the 7th Annual Conference on the Horn of Africa, Lund, October 17–19, 2008. 216 sidor ISBN 91-7267-293-5

Working Papers in Social Anthropology (ISSN 1652-442X)

2004:1 Göransson, Kristina Filial Children and Ageing Parents: Intergenerational Family Ties as Politics and Practice among Chinese Singaporeans 26 sidor ISBN 91-7267-175-0

2005:1 Granbom, Ann-Charlotte *Urak Lawoi: A Field Study of an Indigenous People in Thailand and their Problems with Rapid Tourist Development* 98 sidor ISBN 91-7267-206-4

Övrigt

Från seminarium till storinstitution: Sociologi i Lund 1947–1997 (Sociologiska institutionens Årsbok 1996) 105 sidor
Institution i rörelse: Utbildning och forskning inför år 2000 (Sociologiska institutionens Årsbok 1997) 153 sidor ISBN 91-89078-29-2